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or
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2011. In addition, as of such date, there were®@bexchangeable shares of RG Exchangeco Inchsidsary of registrant, outstanding which are excjeable at any time into shares of the
Company's common stock on a one-for-one basis titteetheir holders to dividend and other right®eomically equivalent to those of the Companytsmmmn stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for tb@ 2Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled thdld on November 16, 2011, and to be filed witi2@ Hays after June 30, 2011, are
incorporated by reference into Part 1, Items 1D, 12, 13 and 14 of this Annual Report on FornK10-




Table of Contents

INDEX

PART I.

ITEM 1. Business

ITEM 1A. Risk Factor

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

ITEM 2. Properties

ITEM 3. Legal Proceeding

ITEM 4. (Removed and Reserve

PART II.

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Ehotder Matters and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securi

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Da

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Consolil&teancial Condition
and Results of Operatiol

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MaArRisk

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary [

ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants @ouwing and Financi:
Disclosure

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedur

ITEM 9B.  Other Informatior

PART IlI.

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveos

ITEM 11. Executive Compensatic

ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Mahagement an
Related Stockholder Matte

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsParattor Independenc

ITEM 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servi

PART IV.

ITEM 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Sched!

SIGNATURES

EXHIBIT INDEX

PAGE

15
15

28

29
30

30
45
46
81

81
83

83
83

83
83

84

85

87




Table of Contents

This document (including information incorporategtéin by reference) contains "forward-looking stagnts" within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and @@L E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, winicolve a degree of risk and uncertai
due to various factors affecting Royal Gold, Inedats subsidiaries. For a discussion of some e$éifactors, see the discussion in Item 1A,
Risk Factors, of this report. In addition, pleas®e $ur note about forwa-looking statements included in Item 7, Managemdditcussion and
Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition andsRls of Operations ("MD&A"), of this repol

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Royal Gold, Inc. ("Royal Gold", the "Compadn“we", "us", or "our"), together with its subgdlies, is engaged in the business of acqu
and managing precious metals royalties and sinmtarests. Royalties are passive (non-operatirtgyésts in mining projects that provide the
right to revenue or production from the projeceafieducting specified costs, if any. We seek tae existing royalties or to finance projects
that are in production or in development stagexchange for royalties or similar interests. Weemgaged in a continual review of
opportunities to acquire existing royalties, toadeenew royalties or similar interests throughfthancing of mine development or exploration,
or to acquire companies that hold royalties or lsininterests. We currently, and generally at amgf have acquisition opportunities in various
stages of active review, including, for exampler, eagagement of consultants and advisors to anaglgaeular opportunities, analysis of
technical, financial and other confidential infoitina, submission of indications of interest, pap#tion in preliminary discussions and
involvement as a bidder in competitive auctions.

As of June 30, 2011, the Company owns t@sbn 36 producing properties, 21 developmemestaoperties and 128 exploration stage
properties, of which the Company considers 38 tevaduation stage projects. The Company uses "atiatustage" to describe exploration
stage properties that contain mineralized matandl on which operators are engaged in the searchderves. We do not conduct mining
operations, nor are we required to contribute fmtahcosts (except as contractually obligatedspart of the Mt. Milligan transaction
described below), exploration costs, environmerats or other mining costs on the properties iichvive hold royalty interests. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, we focused om#dreagement of our existing royalty interests aredatquisition of royalty and similar
interests.

As discussed in further detail throughdnig teport, some significant developments to owifess during fiscal year 2011 were as follc

Q) Our royalty revenues increased 59% to $216.5 millcompared with $136.6 million during fiscal y&ax10;

2) We acquired the right to purchase 25% of the paygbld produced from the Mt. Milligan copper-golaject located in British
Columbia, Canada;

3) We acquired an additional 0.75% Net Smelter Resliding-scale royalty on the Pas(-Lama project located on the bort
between Argentina and Chile;

(4) We made an investment in Seabridge Gold, Inc. @iBege") and obtained an option to acquire up 28@aNet Smelter Return
royalty on their Kerr-Sulphurets-Mitchell projecicited in British Columbia, Canada; and

(5) We increased our calendar year dividend to $0.44asic share, which is paid in quarterly instalitsethroughout calendar y¢
2011. This represents a 22% increase comparedtvéttlividend paid during calendar year 2010.

1
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Certain Definitions

Additional Mineralized Material: Additional mineralized material is that partaofmineral system that has potential economic
significance but cannot be included in the proved probable ore reserve estimates until furthdlirdgiand metallurgical work is completed,
and until other economic and technical feasibfiégtors based upon such work have been resolveriS€hurities and Exchange Commission
(the "SEC") does not recognize this term. Invesémescautioned not to assume that any part oif #ifleomineral deposits in these categories
will ever be converted into reserves.

Gross Proceeds Royalty (GPR)A royalty in which payments are made on corgdiounces rather than recovered ounces.

Gross Smelter Return (GSR) RoyaltyA defined percentage of the gross revenue figesource extraction operation, in certain cases
reduced by certain contract-defined costs paidrlgharged to the operator.

g/t: A unit representing grams per tonne.

Metal Streaming: A metal purchase agreement that provides, éhaxge for an upfront deposit payment, the righttuiechase all or a
portion of one or more metals produced from a méne, price determined for the life of the trangacby the purchase agreement.

Net Profits Interest (NPI): A defined percentage of the gross revenue fiaesource extraction operation, after recovergesfain
contract-defined pre-production costs, and afteludgon of certain contract-defined mining, millingrocessing, transportation, administrative,
marketing and other costs.

Net Smelter Return (NSR) RoyaltyA defined percentage of the gross revenue fagesource extraction operation, less a proportigona
share of incidental transportation, insuranceniedj and smelting costs.

Net Value Royalty (NVR): A defined percentage of the gross revenue fiorsource extraction operation, less certain aotittefined
transportation costs, milling costs and taxes.

Proven (Measured) ReservesReserves for which (a) quantity is computednfrdimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, wgekor
drill holes, and the grade is computed from thelteof detailed sampling, and (b) the sites fapiection, sampling and measurement are
spaced so closely and the geologic charactervugefialefined that the size, shape, depth and mimerstent of the reserves are well establis

Probable (Indicated) Reserves:Reserves for which the quantity and grade angputed from information similar to that used fooyen
(measured) reserves, but the sites for inspectEmpling and measurement are farther apart orthezviise less adequately spaced. The dt
of assurance of probable (indicated) reservespadth lower than that for proven (measured) reseigsdsgh enough to assume geological
continuity between points of observation.

Payable Metal: Ounces or pounds of metal in concentrate payabihe operator after deduction of a percentdgeetal in concentrate
that is paid to a third-party smelter pursuantteking contracts.

Reserve: That part of a mineral deposit which could beremically and legally extracted or produced etttime of the reserve
determination.

Royalty: The right to receive a percentage or other gemation of mineral production from a resource agtion operation.
Ton: A unit of weight equal to 2,000 pounds or 90kil@grams.
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Tonne: A unit of weight equal to 2,204.6 pounds or0D,&ilograms.
Recent Business Developments
Investment in Seabridge Gold, Inc. and the -Sulphurets-Mitchell Project

On June 16, 2011, the Company, througWlhitslly-owned subsidiary RG Exchangeco, Inc., (fodjmw&nown as RGLD Gold
Canada, Inc.), entered into a Subscription Agre¢rmed an Option Agreement with Seabridge, pursteanthich the Company acquired
1,019,000 common shares ("Initial Shares") of Segler approximately 2% of Seabridge's issued amstanding common stock, in a private
placement for $30.7 million (C$30.0 million) at erpshare price equal to $30.14 (C$29.44), whichesmted a premium of 15% to the volL
weighted-average trading price of Seabridge comshames on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") fivaday trading period that ended
June 14, 2011.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, if thenPany holds the Initial Shares for a period of 8a@s, the Company will have the option to
acquire a 1.25% NSR royalty (the "Initial Royaltgl) all of the gold and silver production from &err-Sulphurets-Mitchell project (the
"Project") in northwest British Columbia, CanadaeTpurchase price of the Initial Royalty is C$100iam, payable in three installments over
a 540 day period, subject to currency exchangeadjtestments.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Camédso has an option, exercisable until DecemBe@12, to acquire, in a private
placement, additional common shares of Seabridge @mmount up to C$18 million (the "Subsequent &i3ar The purchase price for the
Subsequent Shares will be a 15% premium to thenvelweighted-average trading price of the Seabrdgemon shares on the TSX for the
specified period. If the Company exercises itsaptd acquire the Subsequent Shares and holdsithee§uent Shares for a period of 270 d
the Company will have the option to increase thigglnRoyalty to a 2.0% NSR royalty (the "Increadedyalty”) for a purchase price of
C$60 million, payable in three installments ové&4@ day period, subject to currency exchange @jtesaments.

The options to acquire the Initial Royadtyd the Increased Royalty will remain exercisalyiéhle Company for 60 days following the
Company's satisfaction that, among other thingsPttoject has received all material approvals amchjts and that Seabridge has demonsti
that it has sufficient funding for constructionasfd commencement of commercial production fromPggect. Pursuant to the Option
Agreement, proceeds of the exercise of the InR@}alty and the Increased Royalty will be used bgt8idge to develop and construct the
Project.

Mt. Milligan Gold Stream Acquisitio

On October 20, 2010, the Company enteredarPurchase and Sale Agreement (the "Purchas8aled\greement") pursuant to which a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, RGLD Gol@ &ormerly known as RGL Royalty AG), acquired tight to 25% of the payable
gold produced from the Mt. Milligan copper-gold fact in British Columbia (the "Gold Purchase Trasiem") from Terrane Metals Corp.
("Terrane"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Thompsoreek Metals Company Inc. ("“Thompson Creek"). Taeigs entered into the Purchase
and Sale Agreement and consummated the Gold Perdmassaction concurrently with the consummatioffadmpson Creek's acquisition of
Terrane.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale AgreeR&itD Gold AG paid $226.5 million at the closinfitbe Gold Purchase Transaction. In the
future, upon satisfaction of certain conditionsfeeth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement, RGLI @@ will make additional payments
(each, an "Additional Payment") to Terrane in aroamnt not to exceed $85 million in the aggregatiitm a portion of the development costs
of the Mt. Milligan project. Upon commencement obguction at the Mt. Milligan project, RGLD Gold A@ill purchase 25% of the payable
gold with a cash payment equal to the lesser 00$tQhe prevailing market price for each payahiaae of gold until 550,000 ounces have
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been delivered to RGLD Gold AG, and the lesserd&0bor the prevailing market price for each add#icounce thereafter.
The Company did not make any AdditionalrRegts to Thompson Creek during the fiscal year @ dde@e 30, 2011.
Acquisition of Additional Royalty Interests at Pag-Lama

On July 1, 2010, the Company entered wmdeparate assignment of rights agreements wittptivate Chilean citizens whereby Royal
Gold acquired an additional 0.75% NSR sliding-scajalty on the Pascua-Lama project, which is owared operated by Barrick Gold
Corporation ("Barrick") and located on the bordetvieen Argentina and Chile, for a purchase price5a& million. As a result of the
acquisitions, Royal Gold's total gold NSR royaltijerest in the Pascua-Lama project increased 8%4.2t gold prices above $800 per ounce.
Pursuant to the assignment of rights agreementgIRaold also acquired a 0.20% fixed-rate NSR coppwgalty that takes effect after
January 1, 2017, increasing Royal Gold's coppealtpynterest in the Pascua-Lama project to 1.05%.

In addition, Royal Gold has obtained certmintingent rights and reduced certain obligatiwitk respect to the portion of the Pascua-
Lama royalty acquired in the IRC transaction infely 2010. Upon the acquisitions mentioned abeore(i) reduced the contingent payments
from $10.4 million to $8.4 million due from Royalb@l to certain individuals who held the royaltygibld prices exceed $600 per ounce for any
six month period during the first 36 months of coenaial production from the project, and (ii) dewed payments due from Royal Gold to
these individuals from $6.4 million to $4.4 milliahat would be required to extend 24% of our rgyaiterest beyond 14 million ounces of
production from the project. Royal Gold also in@@aits interest in two ortane payments from $0.5 million to $1.5 million wehiare payab
by Barrick upon the achievement of certain producthresholds at Pascua-Lama.

Siguiri

The Siguiri royalty was subject to a doltap of approximately $12.0 million and was consédeprincipal to our business during fiscal
year 2010. The dollar cap on the Siguiri royaltyswet during the quarter ended December 31, 20i® Company received its final roya
payment in February 2011.

Taparko

During the quarter ended September 30, 20E0$35 million cap associated with TB-GSR1 waseved and the 2.0% GSR royalty (TB-
GSR3) became effective. The 15% TB-GSR1 and 0%-4li¥itig-scale TB-GSR2 royalties, which were priratifp our business terminated
upon receipt of the remaining amounts due unde$8%emillion cap, which occurred in October 2018eTTB-GSR3 royalty covers all gold
produced from the Taparko mine. TB-MR1, a 0.75% @G3Rng royalty which applies to ore that is minedtside of the defined area of the
Taparko project, also remains in effect. The Corgpoes not consider the TB-GSR3 and TB-MR1 roysléeTaparko to be principal (see
Item 2, Properties) to our business.

On January 17, 2011, the Company reledsescurity interests in certain collateral thdtald pursuant to the Amended and Restated
Funding Agreement dated February 22, 2006 (the dignAgreement") between the Company and Somitg'Sémita"), a 90% owned
subsidiary of High River Gold Mines Ltd. ("High Rik") and the operator of the Taparko mine. Follandiscussions with High River
concerning the results of certain production andigpmance related tests, the Company agreed taseligs security interests in the collateral
held pursuant to the Funding Agreement, and HigleRhgreed, among other things, to provide ceitaarance coverage on the Taparko n
for the benefit of Royal Gold.
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Our Operational Information
Operating Segments, Geographical and Financialimfation
We manage our business under one opersgiqgent, consisting of the acquisition and manageonfeoyalties and similar interests.

Royal Gold's royalty revenue and long-lived as@etgalty interests in mineral properties, net) geegraphically distributed as shown in the
following table.

Royalty Interests in

Royalty Revenue Mineral Property, net
Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, June 30,
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
United
States 24% 40% 56% 3% 5% 13%

Chile 21% 4% 1% 40% 42% 6%
Canade 19% 4% 2% 36% 27% 19%
Mexico 18% 15% 15% 11% 13% 45%
Africa (M) 9% 2%  21% 2% 2% 8%
Australia 5% 5% 2% 5% 6% 6%
Other 4% 3% 3% 3% 5% 3%

@ Consists of royalties on properties in Burkina Fasd Guinea

Our financial results are primarily tiedtte price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and othretals, as well as production from our produt
royalty interests as discussed further herein.

Competition

The mining industry in general and the tyyaegment in particular are competitive. We cotapeith other royalty companies, mine
operators and financial buyers in efforts to acgjeiisting royalties and with the lenders, investmmd royalty and streaming companies
providing financing to operators of mineral propestin our efforts to create new royalties. Manyof competitors in the lending and mining
business are larger than we are and have greatarroes and access to capital than we have. Kepetitive factors in the royalty acquisition
and financing business include the ability to idfgrand evaluate potential opportunities, transacstructure and consideration, and access to

capital.
Regulation

Like all mining operations, the operatofshe mines that are subject to our royalties ncostply with environmental laws and regulati
promulgated by federal, state and local governmiectading, but not limited to, the National Enwinmental Policy Act; the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liatildly the Clean Air Act; the Clean Water Act; thezdedous Materials Transportation 2
and the Toxic Substances Control Act. Mines locategublic lands in the United States are subjethé General Mining Law of 1872 and .
subject to comprehensive regulation by either thidd States Bureau of Land Management (an ageitye dJnited States Department of the
Interior) or the United States Forest Service @enay of the United States Department of AgricélfuThe mines also are subject to
regulations of the United States Environmental &tidn Agency ("EPA"), the United States Mine Safatd Health Administration and
similar state and local agencies. Operators of snihat are subject to our royalties in other caastare obligated to comply with similar laws
and regulations in those jurisdictions. Althoughave not responsible as a royalty owner for engurompliance with these laws and
regulations, failure by the operators of the miaesvhich we have royalties to comply with appli@laws, regulations and permits can result

in injunctive action, damages and civil and crinhipanalties
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on the operators which could reduce or eliminatelpction from the mines and thereby reduce or el the royalties we receive and
negatively affect our financial condition.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws ofStete of Delaware on January 5, 1981. Our execoffiges are located at 1660 Wynkoop
Street, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado 80202; oeptebtne number is (303) 573-1660.

Available Informatior

Royal Gold maintains an internet websiteratv.royalgold.com. Royal Gold makes availableefoé charge, through the Investor
Relations section of its website, its Annual Report Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q ré€urReports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports filed or furnishedyamsto Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Astsoon as reasonably practicable after
such material is electronically filed with the SEQur SEC filings are available from the SEC's in&mwebsite at www.sec.gov which contains
reports, proxy and information statements and dtifermation regarding issuers that file electraiic. These reports, proxy statements and
other information may also be inspected and cogtetle public reference facilities maintained by 8EC at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-088Bfufther information on the operation of the palbeference facilities. The charters of
Royal Gold's key committees of the Board of Direstand Royal Gold's Code of Business Conduct ahit&are also available on the
Company's website. Any of the foregoing informati®mvailable in print to any stockholder who regpset by contacting Royal Gold's Inves
Relations Department at (303) 573-1660.

Company Personnel

We currently have 21 employees, all of wrema located in Denver, Colorado. Our employeesatsubject to a labor contract or a
collective bargaining agreement. We consider oupleyee relations to be good.

We also retain independent contractorgdeige consulting services, relating primarily ®ofpgic and geophysical interpretations and
also relating to such metallurgical, engineerimg] ather technical matters as may be deemed Lsefut operation of our business.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describeldly before making an investment decision. Ourrtass, financial condition, results
operations and cash flows could be materially adedr affected by any of these risks. The markeading price of our securities could
decline due to any of these risks. In additionapéesee our note about forward-looking statememtsided in Part II, item 7, MD&A, of this
report. Please note that additional risks not prageknown to us or that we currently deem immatariay also impair our business and
operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
We own passive interestsin mining properties, and it is difficult or impossible for usto ensure properties are operated in our best interest.

All of our current revenue is derived froayalties on properties operated by third partrRzsyalty holders typically have no authority for
or control over decisions regarding developmerdp@ration of properties on which they hold royatterests. We have limited or no legal
rights to influence those decisions on our royphgperties.
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Our strategy of having third parties opefatoperties on which we retain a royalty or oft&ssive interest exposes us to the risks created
by decisions made by the operators regarding &ltaijing matters, including permitting, feasibilégalysis, mine design and operation,
processing, plant and equipment matters and temporgermanent suspension of operations, amorgratithese decisions are likely to be
motivated by the best interests of the operatdrerathan to maximize royalties. When we create regalties, we attempt to secure contractual
rights, such as audit or access rights, that weithpt us to protect our interests, but there candassurance that such rights will always be
available or sufficient, or that our efforts wik lsuccessful in affecting the operation of the progs in which we have royalty interests in w
that would be beneficial to our stockholders.

Volatility in gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices may have an adverse impact on the value of our royalty interests and reduce
our royalty revenues. Certain of our royalty contracts have features that may amplify the negative effects of a drop in commaodity prices.

The profitability of our royalty interestsdirectly related to the market price of goldyet, copper, nickel and other metals. Market pwice
may fluctuate widely and are affected by numer@aaesdrs beyond the control of any mining compangiuiding metal supply, industrial and
jewelry fabrication and investment demand, expamtatwith respect to the rate of inflation, theatele strength of the U.S. dollar and ot
currencies, interest rates, gold purchases, satkfans by central banks, forward sales by metadycers, global or regional political,
economic or banking conditions, and a number oéiothctors. If gold, silver, copper, nickel andtaér other metal prices drop dramatically,
we might not be able to recover our initial investrhin royalty interests or properties. Moreovie selection of a property for exploration or
development, the determination to construct a raimplace it into production, and the dedicatiofuofls necessary to achieve such purposes
are decisions that must be made long before therévenues from production will be received. Pfigetuations between the time that
decisions about exploration, development and coatstn are made and the commencement of productiorhave a material adverse effect on
the economics of a mine and can eliminate or hawatarial adverse impact on the value of royaltgriests.

Furthermore, if the market price of golidyer, copper, nickel or certain other metals dsedi, then our royalty revenues would also fall.
Our slidingscale royalties, such as Cortez, Holt, Mulatos, Wiahe and others, amplify this effect. When metétes fall below a certain me
in a sliding-scale royalty, a lower royalty rateajgplied to production. In addition, certain of eayalty agreements, such as Andacollo,
Robinson, Peflasquito and Voisey's Bay, are baségeonperator's concentrate sales to smeltershvitnidude price adjustments between the
operator and the smelter based on commodity patadater date, typically three to five monthsslich cases, our royalty payments from the
operator include a component of these later adjstsn which can result in decreased royalty revémleger periods if commodity prices have
fallen.

Volatility in gold, silver, copper and niglkprices is demonstrated by the annual high awdplices for those metals from selected years
during the past decade. High and low gold pricesopace, based on the London Bullion Market AsgamiaP.M. fix, have ranged from $293
to $256 in 2001, from $537 to $411 in 2005, from24P to $810 in 2009, and from $1,719 to $1,313 yedate. High and low silver prices
per ounce, based on the London Bullion Market Asgimn fix, have ranged from $4.82 to $4.07 in 200@m $9.23 to $6.39 in 2005, from
$19.18 to $10.51 in 2009, and from $48.44 to $2§3r to date. High and low copper prices per ppbaded on the London Metal Exchange
cash settlement price for Grade A copper, haveedfigm $0.81 to $0.62 in 2001, from $2.08 to $imM2005, from $3.33 to $1.38 in 2009,
and from $4.62 to $3.94 year to date. High andaskel prices per pound, based on the London Me&tahange cash settlement price for
nickel, have ranged from $3.40 to $1.97 in 200dmf$8.12 to $5.22 in 2005, from $9.31 to $4.25002 and from $13.28 to $9.62 year to
date.
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Our revenues are subject to operational and other risks faced by operators of our mining properties.

Although we are not required to pay capitats (except as contractually obligated to asgighe Mt. Milligan transaction) or operating
costs, our financial results are indirectly subjedhazards and risks normally associated with ldgieg and operating mining properties where
we hold royalty interests. Some of these risksuidel

. insufficient ore reserves;

. fluctuations in production costs incurred by opersior third parties that may impact the amountsérves available to |
mined, cause an operator to delay or curtail mimipgrations or render mining of ore uneconomicdl @ause an operator to
close operations;

. declines in the price of gold, silver, copper, ®icknd other metal:

. mine operating and ore processing facility problems

. economic downturns and operators' insufficientritiag;

. significant environmental and other regulatory piging requirements and restrictions and any charnbereto
. challenges by nc-mining interests to existing permits and mininghtgy and to applications for permits and minindntsg
. community unrest, labor disputes or work stoppagesines;

. geological problems;

. pit wall or tailings dam failures or any undergrduwstability issues

. natural catastrophes such as floods or earthqu

. injury to persons, property or the environment;

. the ability of the operators to maintain or inciee@soduction or replace reserves as propertiesared; and

. uncertain foreign political and economic environtse

Acquired royalty interests, particularly on development stage properties, are subject to therisk that they may not produce anticipated royalty
revenues.

The royalty interests we acquire may nodpice anticipated royalty revenues. The succegsrafoyalty acquisitions is based on our
ability to make accurate assumptions regarding/éheation, timing and amount of royalty paymentstigularly with respect to acquisitions
royalties on development stage properties. If saraor does not bring a property into productiod aperate in accordance with feasibility
studies, technical or reserve reports or othergplren the acquired royalty interest may not yselfficient royalty revenues to be profitable.
Furthermore, operators of development stage priegartust obtain all necessary environmental peramitsaccess to water, power and other
raw materials needed to begin production, and tb@nebe no assurance operators will be able t@dBascua-Lama in Chile and the Mt.
Milligan mining project in Canada, are among oung@pal development stage royalty acquisitions. Tdikire of any of these projects to
produce anticipated royalty revenues may materaily adversely affect our financial condition aesuits of operations.

8




Table of Contents

We depend on our operators for the calculation of royalty payments. We may not be able to detect errors and payment cal culations may call
for retroactive adjustments.

Our royalty payments are calculated bydperators of the properties on which we have r@sliased on their reported production. Each
operator's calculation of our royalty paymentsuigjsct to and dependent upon the adequacy andaagcaf its production and accounting
functions, and, given the complex nature of mirangl ownership of mining interests, errors may of@m time to time in the various
calculations made by an operator that may rendeuledions of our royalty payments inaccurate. @iertoyalty agreements require the
operators to provide us with production and opagpinformation that may, depending on the compledsrand accuracy of such information,
enable us to detect errors in the calculation palty payments that we receive. We do not, howeavave the contractual right to receive
production information for all of our royalty intests. As a result, our ability to detect royaltyment errors through our royalty monitoring
program and its associated internal controls andgutures is limited, and the possibility existd the will need to make retroactive royalty
revenue adjustments. Some of our royalty contqaigide us the right to audit the operational cltans and production data for the
associated royalty payments; however, such auditsancur many months following our recognition oé royalty revenue and may require us
to adjust our royalty revenue in later periods.

Development and operation of minesis very capital intensive and any inability of the operators of our royalty properties to meet liquidity
needs, obtain financing or operate profitably could have material adverse effects on the value of and revenue from our royalty interests.

The development and operation of mine®ry eapital intensive, and if operators of our foyproperties do not have the financial
strength or sufficient credit or other financingpahility to cover the costs of developing or opagt mine, the operator may curtail, delay or
cease development or operations at a mine sitea@ps' ability to raise and service significaniffisient capital may be affected by, among
other things, macroeconomic conditions, future gsilder, copper, nickel and other metal pricesa éurther dislocation in the U.S. or global
financial markets as experienced in recent yeeny of the operators of our royalty propertiefesuthese material adverse effects, then our
royalty interests and the value of and revenue fooimroyalty interests may be materially adversdfgcted.

Certain of our royalty interests are subject to payment or production caps or rightsin favor of the operator or third parties that could reduce
the revenues generated from the royalty assets.

Some of our principal royalty interests snbject to limitations, such that the royalty veiltinguish after threshold production is achieved
or royalty payments at stated thresholds are nfamleexample, a portion of our royalty at Pascua-aamd our royalty at Mulatos are subject
to production caps. Furthermore, other of our nyyagireements contain rights that favor the opemtdhird parties. For example, Osisko, the
operator of Canadian Malartic, one of our princigatelopment properties, exercised its layvn right that reduced our royalty interest fro|
3% NSR to a 1% NSR. Also, certain individuals fraftmom we purchased portions of our royalty inteegd?ascua-Lama, another of our
principal development properties, are entitledrie-time payments if the price of gold exceeds @ettaesholds. If any of these thresholds are
met or similar rights are exercised, our futurealtyyrevenue could be reduced.

We may enter into acquisitions or other material royalty transactions at any time.

We are engaged in a continual review ofoofymities to acquire existing royalties, to creagsy royalty assets or similar interests through
the financing of mining projects or to acquire c@nigs that hold royalties. We currently, and gelheed any time, have acquisition
opportunities in various stages of active review|uding, for example, our engagement of consudtant advisors to analyze
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particular opportunities, technical, financial aster confidential information, submission of inations of interest, obtaining or providing debt
commitments for acquisition financing, participatio discussions regarding serving as a financingce in connection with royalty
acquisitions, and involvement as a bidder in coitipetauctions. Any such acquisition could be mialedo us and could significantly increase
the size and scope of our business. In such ewentpuld issue substantial amounts of common stodkcur substantial additional
indebtedness to fund the acquisition. Issuancesmimon stock may reduce some or all of our findmo@asures on a per share basis.

In addition, we may consider opportunitiesestructure our royalties where we believe sestructuring would provide a long-term
benefit to the Company, though such restructuriag neduce near-term revenues. We could enter imtcoo more acquisition or restructuring
transactions at any time.

We have incurred indebtednessin connection with our royalty acquisitions and could incur substantial additional indebtedness that could
have adverse effects on our business.

As of June 30, 2011, the Company had $22#8llon outstanding under its existing credit s, which limits the cash flow available to
fund acquisitions. In addition, we may incur subfitd additional indebtedness in connection witlaficing acquisitions, strategic transactions
or for other purposes. If we were to incur subsshaidditional indebtedness, it may become difti¢af us to satisfy our debt obligations,
increase our vulnerability to general adverse esba@nd industry conditions or require us to dedi@asubstantial portion of our cash flow
from operations and proceeds of any equity isstmtacpayments on our indebtedness, any of whialiteesiay place us at a competitive
disadvantage to our competitors that may havedebsor have other adverse effects upon us.

We may be unable to successfully acquire additional royalty and other similar interests at reasonable prices or on favorable terms.

Our future success largely depends uporability to acquire royalty or similar interestsagtpropriate valuations, including through asset
and corporate acquisitions and financings, to mptiepleting reserves. Most of our revenues ailigetefrom royalty and other similar intere
that we acquire or finance, rather than througHaation of properties. There can be no assuramaevie will be able to identify and complete
the acquisition of such royalty interests, or basses that own desired royalty interests, at red@emrices or on favorable terms, or, if
necessary, that we will have sufficient financimgreasonable terms to complete such acquisitionaddlition, we face competition in the
acquisition of royalty and other similar interedfsve are unable to successfully acquire additioagalties or other similar interests, the
reserves subject to our royalties will declinetes producing royalty properties are mined or payroemproduction caps on certain of our
royalties are met. We also may experience negatiaetions from the financial markets or operatdnsroperties on which we seek royalties
and other similar interests if we are unable taceasfully complete acquisitions of royalty intesest businesses that own desired royalty
interests. Each of these factors may adverselygtatffe trading price of our common stock or ouafinial condition or results of operations.

Estimates of production by the operators of minesin which we have royalty interests are subject to change, and actual production may vary
materially from such estimates.

Production estimates are prepared by tleeadprs of mining properties. There are numeroegdainties inherent in estimating anticipe
production attributable to our royalty interestgluding many factors beyond our control and thetrd of the operators of our royalty
properties. We do not participate in the prepamatipverification of production estimates and haweindependently assessed or verified the
accuracy of such information. The estimation ofcpated
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production is a subjective process and the accurhapy such estimates is a function of the qualftgvailable data, reliability of production
history, variability in grade encountered, mechahar other problems encountered, engineering aotbgical interpretation and operator
judgment. Rates of production may be less thanaggdeResults of drilling, metallurgical testingdgoroduction, changes in commodity pric
and the evaluation of mine plans subsequent tddke of any estimate may cause actual productioarpmaterially from such estimates.

Estimates of reserves and mineralization by the operators of minesin which we have royalty interests are subject to significant revision.

There are numerous uncertainties inhereasiimating proven and probable reserves and alination, including many factors beyond
our control and the control of the operators of myalty properties. Reserve estimates on our tpyaderests are prepared by the operators of
the mining properties. We do not participate inpheparation or verification of such reports andeéhaot independently assessed or verifiec
accuracy of such information. The estimation oéress and of other mineralized material is a subje@rocess, and the accuracy of any such
estimates is a function of the quality of availathéa and of engineering and geological interpigtaind judgment. Results of drilling,
metallurgical testing and production, and the eatitun of mine plans subsequent to the date of atignate, may cause a revision of such
estimates. The volume and grade of reserves reet\ard rates of production may be less than aat®ip Assumptions about gold and other
precious metal prices are subject to great unegytaand such prices have fluctuated widely inphst. Declines in the market price of gold,
silver, copper, nickel or other metals also maydegmreserves or mineralized material containingtietly lower ore grades uneconomical to
exploit. Changes in operating costs and other fadteluding geotechnical characteristics and rhewital recovery, may materially and
adversely affect reserves. Finally, it is importemhote that our royalties give us interests ity @nportion of the production from the operators’
aggregate reserves, and those interests vary widskyd on the individual royalty documents.

Our disclosure controls and internal control over our financial reporting are subject to inherent limitations.

Management has concluded that as of thegended June 30, 2011, our disclosure contralspaocedures and our internal control over
financial reporting were effective. Such contratsl grocedures, however, may not be adequate teprev identify existing or future internal
control weaknesses due to inherent limitations éinatbeyond our control, including, but not limiteg our dependence on operators for the
calculations of royalty payments as discussedgresious risk factor. Given our dependence on thary calculations, there is a risk that
material misstatements in results of operationsfemashcial condition may not be prevented or detdain a timely basis by our internal
controls over financial reporting and may requiset@ restate our financial statements.

Royalty interests are subject to title and other defects and contest by operators of mining projects and holders of mining rights, and these
risks may be hard to identify in acquisition transactions.

While Royal Gold seeks to confirm the existe, validity, enforceability and geographic ektrthe royalties it acquires, there can be no
assurance that disputes over these and other mafitenot arise. Confirming title to mining proggron which we hold or seek to acquire a
royalty is a complex matter in many jurisdictioasd is subject to the application of the laws ahejarisdiction to the particular circumstances
of each parcel of mining property. Similarly, oowalty interests generally are subject to uncetitgsrand complexities arising from the
application of contract and property laws governnigate parties and/or local or national governtaém the jurisdiction where mining proje
are located. Furthermore, royalties in many jud8dns are contractual in nature, rather than @stesrin land, and therefore may be subject to
change of control, bankruptcy or insolvency of epers, and to challenges of various kinds broughdgerators or third parties. We do not
usually have the
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protection of security interests over property thatcould liquidate to recover all or part of oayalty investment. Disputes also could arise
challenging, among other things, the existencesoggaphic extent of the royalty, third party claitnghe same royalty asset or to the property
on which we have a royalty, various rights of tipem@tor or third parties in or to the royalty, nath for calculating the royalty, production ¢
other thresholds and caps applicable to royaltymemts, the obligation of an operator to make rgyadtyments, and various defects in the
royalty agreement itself. Unknown defects in thgattes we acquire may prevent us from realizirgydhticipated benefits from the
acquisition, and could materially adversely affeat revenue and results of operations.

Changesin federal and state legislation could decrease our royalty revenues.

A number of our royalty properties are kechon U.S. federal lands that are subject to tddeming and other public land laws. Changes
in federal or state laws or the regulations proratdd under them could affect mine development apdresion, significantly increase
regulatory obligations and compliance costs wigpeet to mine development and mine operationse&ser the cost of holding mining claims
or impose additional taxes on mining operationspfalvhich could adversely affect our royalty reuenfrom such properties. In recent years,
the United States Congress has considered a nwohpesposed major revisions to the General Minirgvlof 1872 (the "General Mining
Law"), which governs the creation, maintenance @ogkession of mining claims and related activitie$ederal public lands in the United
States. Congress also has considered bills recevitigh if enacted, would impose royalties paydbléhe government on hardrock production,
increase land holding fees, impose federal recliamd¢es, impose additional environmental operasitagndards and afford greater public
involvement and regulatory discretion in the mieempitting process. Such legislation, if enactedild@dversely affect the development of
new mines and the expansion of existing mines,ekas increase the cost of all mining operatiom$ealeral lands, perhaps materially and
adversely affecting mine operators and, therefoueoyalty revenue.

Foreign operations and operation by foreign operators are subject to many risks.

We derived approximately 76% of our revenfrem foreign sources during fiscal 2011, compaoe@0% in fiscal 2010. Our principal
producing royalties on properties outside of thététhStates are located in Australia, Canada, CRiexico and Spain. We currently have
interests in mines and projects outside of theddh8tates in Argentina, Australia, Bolivia, BraBlrkina Faso, Canada, Chile, Colombia,
Dominican Republic, Finland, Ghana, Guatemala, kioasi Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, Siguiri, Russiajispad Tunisia. Our foreign activities
are subject to the risks normally associated watideicting business in foreign countries. Thesesrisklude, depending on the country, such
things as volatile exchange controls and currehmtifations, high rates of inflation, limitationa cepatriation of earnings, foreign taxation,
enforcement of unfamiliar or uncertain foreign resflate, contract and environmental laws, expropniar nationalization of property, labor
practices and disputes, changes in legislationdbald substantially increase the cost of miningragions, renegotiation or nullification of
existing licenses, permits, approvals or the likar, crime, terrorism, civil unrest and uncertaglifical and economic environments. For
example, recently proposed tax legislation in Aalsrand other foreign jurisdictions could impoaggk tax obligations on operators that could
materially adversely affect the feasibility of nevine development and the profitability of existimining operations. In addition, many of our
operators are organized outside of the United St&ar royalty interests may be subject to theiagfbn of foreign laws to our operators, and
their stockholders, including laws relating to figreownership structures, corporate transactiomslitors' rights, bankruptcy and liquidation.
Foreign operations also could be adversely impdayddws and policies of the United States afferforeign trade, investment and taxation.
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Themining industry is subject to significant environmental risks.

Mining is subject to potential risks anablilities associated with pollution of the envircemh and the disposal of waste products occurring
as a result of mineral exploration and productlaws and regulations in the United States and abirtanded to ensure the protection of the
environment are constantly changing and generadlypacoming more restrictive and costly. Furtheenorining may be subject to significant
environmental and other permitting requirementsareigg the use of raw materials, particularly watexeded for operations. If an operator is
forced to incur significant costs to comply withvennmental regulations or becomes subject to emvirental restrictions that limit its ability
to continue or expand operations, or if an operatre to lose its right to use or access watetlgraaw materials necessary to operate a 1
our royalty revenues could be reduced, delayedliminated. These risks are most salient with régamour development stage royalty
properties where permitting may not be completevahdre new legislation and regulation can leadeays, interruptions and significant
unexpected cost burdens for mine operators. Fanpbe legislation was enacted in Argentina (butssegjuently suspended by litigation) which
could stop or curtail mining activities on or nélae country's glaciers. We have royalty interestshe Chilean side of the Pasduama Projec
which straddles the border between Chile and Aiganand the new legislation in Argentina, if ugh#l the litigation, could affect the
feasibility, design, development and operatiorhef Pascua-Lama Project. Further, to the extenithdiecome subject to environmental
liabilities for the time period during which we veeoperating properties, the satisfaction of anlyilittes would reduce funds otherwise
available to us and could have a material advdfseten our financial condition, results of opévat and cash flows.

Regulations and pending legislation governing issues involving climate change could result in increased operating costs to the operators of
the properties on which we have royalties.

A number of governments or governmentalié®mtiave introduced or are contemplating regulatbenges in response to the potential
impacts of climate change. The December 1997 Kipotdocol, which ends in 2012, established a sgt@gnhouse gas emission targets for
countries that have ratified the Protocol, whictlide Canada, Ghana, Australia and Peru. Furthesrttoe U.S. Congress and several states
have initiated legislation regarding climate chattg will affect energy prices and demand for carmtensive products. Additionally, the
Australian Government may potentially reintroduagational emissions trading scheme and mandatoemwable energy targets. Legislation
and increased regulation regarding climate changi&ldmpose significant costs on the operatorsunfroyalty properties, including increased
energy, capital equipment, environmental monitodng reporting and other costs to comply with segjulations. If an operator of a property
on which we have royalty interests is forced taimsignificant costs to comply with climate chamggulation or becomes subject to
environmental restrictions that limit its ability tontinue or expand operations, our royalty reesrfrom that property could be reduced,
delayed, or eliminated.

We depend on the services of our President and Chief Executive Officer and other key employees and on the participation of our Chairman.

We believe that our success depends ooahiinued service of our key executive managemersgmnel. Currently, Tony Jensen is
serving as our President and Chief Executive Offiglr. Jensen's extensive commercial experiencee mperations background and industry
contacts give us an important competitive advantegehermore, our Chairman, Stanley Dempsey, veineesl as our Executive Chairman
until his retirement as an officer of the Compamylanuary 2009, remains closely involved with us. Bempsey's knowledge of the royalty
business and longtanding relationship with the mining industry amgportant to our success. The loss of the senat®ér. Jensen or other ki
employees could jeopardize our ability to maintaim competitive position in the industry. We cuthgmo not have key person life insurance
for any of our officers or directors.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may continue to be volatile and could decline.

The market price of our common stock hastflated and may decline in the future. The highlaw sale prices of our common stock on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market were $49.81 and.$22or the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, $5&86$37.35 for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2010 and $62.33 and $42.15 for the fisgal ended June 30, 2011. The fluctuation of thketgrice of our common stock has been
affected by many factors that are beyond our critrcluding:

. market prices of gold, silver, copper, nickel arigen metals;

. interest rates

. expectations regarding inflatio

. ability of operators to produce precious metals @eelop new reserves;
. currency values;

. credit market condition:

. general stock market conditions; and

. global and regional political and economic conaitio

Additional issuances of equity securities by us could reduce some or all of our financial measures on a per share basis, reduce the trading
price of our common stock or impede our ability to raise future capital.

We may issue equity in the future in corimecwith acquisitions, strategic transactionsardther purposes. To the extent we issue
additional equity securities, some or all of omaficial measures on a per share basis could beagdun addition, the shares of common stock
that we issue in connection with an acquisition maybe subject to resale restrictions. The maskiee of our common stock could decline if
certain large holders of our common stock, or rieci{s of our common stock in connection with anwasition, sell all or a significant portion
of their shares of common stock or are perceivethbymarket as intending to sell these shares ttaerin an orderly manner. In addition,
these sales also could impair our ability to ra@gital through the sale of additional common stadke capital markets.

We may change our practice of paying dividends.

We have paid a cash dividend on our comgtock for each fiscal year beginning in fiscal y2@00. Our board of directors has discretion
in determining whether to declare a dividend bamed number of factors, including prevailing gotites, economic market conditions and
funding requirements for future opportunities oedions. If our board of directors declines toldexdividends in the future or reduces the
current dividend level, our stock price could fald the success of an investment in our commadk stould depend largely upon any future
stock price appreciation. We have increased oudeinds in prior years. There can be no assuraegsVer, that we will continue to do so or
that we will pay any at all.

Certain anti-takeover provisions could delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us.

Provisions in our restated certificaterafdrporation and bylaws may make it more diffidatt third parties to acquire control of us or to
remove our management. Some of these provisions:

. permit our board of directors to issue preferretisthat has rights senior to the common stockautlstockholder approve
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. provide for three classes of directors servinggtaed, three-year terms; and

. require certain advanced notice of informationtietato stockholder nominations and propos

We are also subject to the business cortibmarovisions of Delaware law that could delagted or prevent a change in control. In
addition, we have adopted a stockholder's righaa fiiat imposes significant penalties upon a pessgmnoup that acquires 15% or more of our
outstanding common stock without the approval efttbard of directors. Any of these measures corddgnt a third party from pursuing an
acquisition of Royal Gold, even if stockholdersiéet the acquisition is in their best interests.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own or operate the propertieshich we have royalty interests and therefore mafdhe information disclosed in this
Form 10-K regarding these properties is providedstdy the operators. For example, the operatattseofarious properties provide us
information regarding metals production, estimatieineral reserves and additional mineralized mi@tand production estimates. A list of
our producing and development stage royalties,ektheir respective reserves are summarized beiokhable 1 within this Item 2. There is
more information available to the public regardasgtain properties in which we have royalties, udahg reports filed with the SEC or with t
Canadian securities regulatory agencies availablevav.sec.gov or www.sedar.com, respectively.

The description of our principal royaltses forth below includes the location, operatoyatty rate, access and any material current
developments at the property. Please refer to ReMD&A, for discussion on production estimatesstorical production and revenue for our
principal properties. The map below illustratesItmation of our principal producing and developingage properties.

Principal Royalties on Producing Properties

The Company considers both historical andré potential revenues in determining which rogalin our portfolio are principal to our
business. Estimated future potential royalty reesniitom both producing and development propertiedased on a number of factors,
including reserves subject to our royalty interggteduction estimates, feasibility studies, mptade assumptions, mine life, legal status and
other factors and assumptions, any of which coblthge and could cause Royal Gold to conclude thebo more of such royalties are no
longer principal to our business. As of
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June 30, 2011, the Company considers the propeliseassed below (listed alphabetically) to be gigal to our business.

Principel Freducidg Foger i

Frimespeal Dors sfcpom anl Brcgar ies

[T

Frrres

Andacollo (Region IV, Chile

We own a royalty on all gold produced frtima sulfide portion of the Andacollo copper anddgdéposit. The Andacollo royalty equals
75% of the gold produced from the sulfide portidrthe deposit at the Andacollo mine until 910,0@¥able ounces of gold have been sold
50% of the gold produced in excess of 910,000 dayalnces of gold. As of June 30, 2011, approxiipat&,000 payable ounces of gold have
been sold.

Andacollo is an open-pit copper mine antlimgi operation located in central Chile, Regionitvthe Coquimbo Province and is operated
by a subsidiary of Teck. Andacollo is located ia thothills of the Andes Mountains approximatel§ tiles southwest of the town of
Andacollo. The provincial capital of La Serena dimel coastal city of Coquimbo are approximately 3ksmortheast of the Andacollo project
by road, and Santiago is approximately 215 mileglsby air. Access to the mine is provided by RalB€R-43) south from La Serena to El
Pefion. From El Pefion, D-51 is followed east andesdly curving to the south to Andacollo. Both B-dnd D-51 are paved roads.

In April 2011, Teck announced that theyl wildertake an expansion study at Andacollo to exarthe feasibility of adding an additional
SAG mill, ball mill and other equipment aimed atri@asing production. Teck estimates that addingtiaddl equipment could increase annual
production by 25%-50%.

Canadian Malartic (Quebec, Canada)

We own a 1.0% to 1.5% sliding-scale NSRaftyy($0.00 to $350.00 - 1.0%; above $350 - 1.5%})he Canadian Malartic open-pit gold
mine and milling operation located in Quebec, Canatd owned by Osisko. The Canadian Malartic godgherty is located in the Abitibi
Gold Belt in Quebec, Canada, immediately souttheftown of Malartic, Quebec, approximately 16 milesst of the town of Val d'Or. The
northern extent of the Canadian Malartic propesy be accessed directly from the Trans Canadiahvirig 117.
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Osisko announced that they reached comaigmmduction at their Canadian Malartic mine onyM4&, 2011. For the 30-day period
ending June 17, 2011, the mill averaged 33,300emper day exceeding the 33,000 tonnes per day (@& 55,000 tonnes per day designed
capacity) standard required to declare commerc@ytion. Osisko achieved this milestone aheatieif August 2011 target.

Osisko also reported that production rampsuprogressing well at the mill plant with an eage throughput of 38,913 tonnes per day
through mid June 2011. Recovery rates are curréiglyer than anticipated, mainly due to longernmgta time in the leach circuit and a better-
than-designed size fraction as the mill has nobgein brought up to full capacity. Osisko plansdntinue to ddsug the operation as they foi
on achieving the design capacity of 55,000 tonmesipy and optimizing the operating performance.

Cortez (Nevada, USA)

Cortez is a large open-pit and undergrauitk, utilizing mill and heap leach processing. Dperation is located approximately 60 air
miles southwest of Elko, Nevada, in Lander Coufitye site is reached by driving west from Elko otetstate 80 approximately 46 miles, and
proceeding south on State Highway 306 approximé&®glyniles. Our royalty interest at Cortez is subjedhe Pipeline, South Pipeline, Gap
Crossroads deposits and is operated by subsidirigarrick.

The royalty interests we hold at Cortedude:

(a) Reserve Claims ("GSR1") This is a sliding-scale GSR royalty for albducts from an area originally known as the "Reserv
Claims," which includes the majority of the Pipeliand South Pipeline deposits. The GSR royaltyoatthe Reserve Claims is
tied to the gold price as shown in the table bedodt does not include indexing for inflation or défn.

(b) GAS Claims ("GSR2") This is a sliding-scale GSR royalty for albgucts from an area outside of the Reserve Claims,
originally known as the "GAS Claims," which encorapas approximately 50% of the GAP deposit andfdieCrossroads
deposit. The GSR royalty rate on the GAS Claimshasvn in the table below, is tied to the gold @riwithout indexing for
inflation or deflation.

(c) Reserve and GAS Claims Fixed Royalty ("GSR3'The GSR3 royalty is a fixed rate GSR royakt¥ d125% and covers the
same cumulative area as is covered by our twanglidcale GSR royalties, GSR1 and GSR2, except mulaims that comprise
the undeveloped Crossroads deposit.

(d) Net Value Royalty ("NVR1") This is a fixed 1.25% NVR on production fronetGAS Claims located on a portion of Cortez
that excludes the Pipeline open pit. The Companysoi.6% of the 1.25% NVR (or 0.39%) while limiteaktners (including
certain directors of the Company) in the partngrsivhich is consolidated in our financial statensentvn the remaining portion
of the 1.25% NVR. Our 0.39% portion of the NVR1 atty does not cover the mining claims that comptiieeundeveloped
Crossroads deposit.

We also own three other royalties in thet€narea where there is currently no producticchramreserves attributed to these royalty
interests.
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The following shows the current slidingdec&SR1 and GSR2 royalty rates under our royaltgement with Cortez:

GSR1 and

GSR2

London P.M. Quarterly Average  Royalty
Price of Gold Per Ounce ($U.S.) Percentage

Below $210.0( 0.4(%
$210.00- $229.9¢ 0.5(%
$230.00- $249.9¢ 0.75%
$250.00- $269.9¢ 1.3(%
$270.00- $309.9¢ 2.25%
$310.00- $329.9¢ 2.6(%
$330.00- $349.9¢ 3.0(%
$350.00- $369.9¢ 3.4(%
$370.00- $389.9¢ 3.7%%
$390.00- $409.9¢ 4.00%
$410.00- $429.9¢ 4.25%
$430.00- $449.9¢ 4.5(%
$450.00- $469.9¢ 4.75%

$470.00- and above 5.0(%

As the Company reported during the thirdrtgr of fiscal 2011, production at Cortez decrdahging the period as Barrick has turned its
focus to production of Cortez Hills ore, which istisubject to the Company's royalty. The Comparticipates that Barrick will continue to
focus on Cortez Hills and production at Pipelindl @main at decreased levels, as reflected ircéhendar 2011 mine plan provided by Barr

Dolores (Chihuahua, Mexicc

We own a 3.25% NSR royalty on gold and0#22NSR royalty on silver from the Dolores openspihe and heap leach operation located
in Chihuahua, Mexico, and operated by Minefind&re Dolores project is located approximately 15mivest of the city of Chihuahua,
Mexico. The property can be accessed by approxlynaémiles of recently upgraded access road frapachi, Chihuahua, to the mine site.
Access to the property can also be achieved by éigbraft landing on a dirt strip located abowefimiles from the mine site.

Minefinders has reported that at Doloresytbontinue to sustain improved leach results erStage 2 pad. Minefinders has also statec
they are continuing to assess the addition of Angibperation at Dolores and the development dfimeterground resource. Minefinders has
reiterated that they expect to achieve their cale2011 guidance of 65,000 to 70,000 ounces of gott3.3 million to 3.5 million ounces of
silver.

Holt (Ontario, Canada

We own a sliding-scale NSR royalty on thathbortion of the Holloway-Holt mining project lated in Ontario, Canada and owned 100%
by St Andrew. The Holloway-Holt project straddlest@rio Provincial Highway 101 for approximately @8les beginning east of Matheson,
Ontario, Canada and extending to the Quebec, Cayadar. The sliding-scale NSR royalty rate on gmdoduced from the Holt portion of the
mining project is calculated by multiplying 0.0008 the quarterly average gold price. For examgdie, quarterly average gold price of $1,!
per ounce, the effective royalty rate payable wdodd 9.5%.

In April 2011, St Andrew announced that Hat mine achieved commercial production afterratiag for 90 days at an average
throughput of between 450 to 500 tonnes per daydirRition throughput is anticipated to increase ftbeinitial rate of 500 tonnes per day to
1,000 tonnes per day
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around the end of calendar 2011. In August 201An8irew revised its calendar 2011 gold productistineate to between 23,000 and 26,000
ounces of gold, of which St Andrew expects appratety 13,000 to 16,000 ounces of gold to be produteging the second half of calendar

2011.

The Company began recognizing royalty rexeeon the Holt royalty during the three months enlliarch 31, 2011.

Las Cruces (Andalucia, Spai

We own a 1.5% NSR royalty on the Las Cruxgsper mine and milling operation located in Antéh, Spain and operated by Inmet. The
Las Cruces mine is located in the Seville Provioicgouthern Spain, about 12 miles northwest oRtwvincial capital city of Seville. Access
the site is by well-maintained paved roads.

Inmet reported that production during thee)2011 quarter was adversely impacted by a pthh@ealay maintenance outage at the Las
Cruces mine. The outage was taken to install nempoments and modify equipment that will increasgeuthderflow (solids) density of the
grinding thickener to the design capacity of 80%ieAthe shutdown, the plant started-up and ackiegeord throughput above 80% of design
and record weekly production of 1,340 tonnes dfi@dé copper. However, within two weeks of the star{early July 2011), a support
structure of the new grinding thickener failed do@ faulty weld leading to a further seven daytdbwn for repair.

Leeville (Nevada, US#
We own a carried working interest, equad th.8% NSR royalty, which covers the majoritytod Leeville underground mine, in Eureka

County, Nevada. Leeville is approximately 19 aitaminorthwest of Carlin, Nevada, and is operated bybsidiary of Newmont. The property
is accessed by driving north from Carlin on Nev&tite Highway 766 for 19 miles and then on an im@dagravel road for two miles.

Mulatos (Sonora, Mexicc

We own a 1.0% to 5.0% sliding-scale NSRattyyon the Mulatos open-pit mine and heap leadrafon in southeastern Sonora, Mexico.
The Mulatos mine is located approximately 137 mdéast of the city of Hermosillo and 186 miles sonitthe border with the United States :
is operated by Alamos. Access to the mine froncttyeof Hermosillo can be made via private chardefteght or paved and gravel road.

The sliding-scale NSR royalty is basedl@dold price as shown in the following table:

London Bullion Market Association NSR
P.M. Monthly Average Price of Gold per  Royalty
Ounce (US$) Percentagt
$0.00- $299.9¢ 1.0(%
$300.0C- $324.9¢ 1.5(%
$325.00- $349.9¢ 2.0(%
$350.00- $374.9¢ 3.0(%
$375.00- $399.9¢ 4.0%
$400 or greate 5.0%

The Mulatos royalty is capped at 2.0 milligold ounces of production. As of June 30, 20ppraximately 732,000 cumulative ounces of
gold have been produced.

Alamos reported that for the third conse®umonth, crusher throughput improved and theyeekfo meet throughput of 15,000 tonnes
per day throughout the remainder of calendar 2011.
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Although production during the second quarter dédar 2011 was impacted by extreme drought canditand supplier issues, Alamos st
they expect to recover deferred production througlive remainder of calendar 2011. Alamos alsonteddhat construction is underway on a
high-grade mill that could boost output by anot®@)000 ounces per year. Production from this newityr mill is expected to commence in
calendar 2012.

Pefiasquito (Zacatecas, Mexic

We own a production payment equivalent 200 NSR royalty on all metal production from fhefiasquito open-pit mine, located in the
State of Zacatecas, Mexico, and operated by Gagldddre Pefiasquito project is located approximatélyniles west of the town of
Concepcion del Oro, Zacatecas, Mexico. The progrtposed of two main deposits called Pefiasco &ard Colorado, hosts large silver,
gold, zinc and lead reserves. The deposits cobtaim oxide and sulfide material, resulting in héggrh and mill processing. Access to the site
is via either paved or cobbled roads west out afd@pcion del Oro nine miles to the town of Mazaypitl then further approximately seven
miles west from Mazapil.

Goldcorp reported that higher grades andweries of gold, silver, lead and zinc were offsgtower processing rates. Goldcorp expects
these issues to be resolved by the end of cal@tddr. Goldcorp also reported that oxide gold prtidacwill be delayed in the second half of
calendar 2011 due to restricted cyanide delivdraa supplier shortages.

Robinson Mine (Nevada, US

We own a 3.0% NSR royalty on all mineraguction from the Robinson open-pit mine and nplémtion operated by a subsidiary of
Quadra. Access to the property is via Nevada $tageway 50, 6.5 miles west of Ely, Nevada, in WHiiee County.

In July 2011, Quadra reported that the neahof mud from the bottom of the Ruth Pit was céeigd approximately four weeks ahead of
schedule. As previously reported by Quadra, thelyetion profile at Robinson is expected to increéagbe second half of calendar 2011,
benefiting from access to higher grade materigha@tottom of the pit, as well as additional haalagpacity. Quadra reported that ore
processed at the beginning of the third quarteaténdar 2011 contained significantly higher greglesus the second calendar quarter, and
expect grades to further improve in the fourth wdér quarter.

Voisey's Bay (Labrador, Canada)

We own an effective 2.7% NSR royalty on Ywsey's Bay nickel-coppearebalt mine located in Newfoundland and Labradam#tia an
operated by Vale. The Company owns 90% of a 3.0 B 2.7%) while a non-controlling interest owhs temainder. The Voisey's Bay
project is located on the northeast coast of Ladmawh a peninsula bordered to the north by Anakt8lay and to the south by Voisey's Bay.
The property is 560 miles north-northwest of Shrlg, the capital of the Province. Access to tloperty is by helicopter, small aircraft or
tracked vehicles during the winter. We have dispulte manner of calculation of our royalty paymeRigase refer to Note 17 of the notes to
consolidated financial statements for more inforarategarding the dispute.

On January 31, 2011, Vale announced thatafive-year collective bargaining agreement veasied by the United Steel Workers Local
9508, representing mine and mill operations emmeya Voisey's Bay, thus ending the strike thabbeugust 1, 2009. Operations at Vois:
Bay have been returning to normalcy.

In June 2011, Vale provided an update caricg construction of its Long Harbour project—tnarometallurgical facility that Vale is
building in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. feudity
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will treat Voisey's Bay ore to produce 50,000 tanper year of nickel and associated copper andtc@ltaan estimated capital cost of
$2.8 billion, the plant is scheduled for commisgigrnand start-up during calendar 2013. To-dateptigect is about 40% complete with
engineering completion at approximately 80% andstroiction at about 20%

Wolverine (Yukon Territory, Canada)

We own a 0.00% to 9.445% sliding-scale N&ylty on all gold and silver produced from the Mé&sine underground mine and milling
operation located in Yukon Territory, Canada, apdrated by Yukon Zinc. The Wolverine property isdted 106 miles north-northwest of
Watson Lake in south central Yukon Territory. Accésthe property is provided by a 17 mile graeald heading south and then northeast to
the Robert Campbell Highway at a point approximet&l0 miles north of Watson Lake.

The sliding-scale NSR royalty on all goltissilver is based on the silver price as showthénfollowing table:

London Bullion Market Association NSR
Monthly Average Price of Silver per  Royalty
Ounce (US$) Percentagt
less than $5.0 0%
$5.00- $7.50 3.77¢%
$7.51 or greate 9.44*%

Yukon Zinc reported that the start-up &f Wolverine project is complete. The processingtakcurrently operating at 300 to 500 tonnes
of concentrate per day. During pre-commissionirigrgo the end of calendar 2010, about 3,300 tofieencentrate were produced. This
concentrate was shipped during the first quarteatédndar 2011. Yukon Zinc expects to increaseymriian to the design capacity of 1,700
tonnes per day of concentrate during calendar 28thicommercial production levels of 6070% of design capacity expected to be realize
the third quarter of calendar 2011.

The Company began recognizing royalty rereeon the Wolverine royalty during the three morghded March 31, 2011.
Principal Royalties on Development Stage Properties

The following is a description of our pripal royalty interests on development stage proge(tisted alphabetically). Reserves for our
development stage properties are summarized beldwlle 1 as part of this Item 2, Properties.

Mt. Milligan (British Columbia, Canade

We own the right to purchase 25% of thegey gold produced from the Mt. Milligan copper@glroject in British Columbia, Canada,
and operated by Thompson Creek. The Mt. Milligamjgut is located within the Omenica Mining DivisionNorth Central British Columbia,
approximately 96 miles northwest of Prince GeoBjemiles north of Fort St. James, and 59 miles webtackenzie. The Mt. Milligan project
is accessible by commercial air carrier to Prine®@e, British Columbia, then by vehicle from tlastevia Mackenzie on the Finlay Philip
Forest Service Road and the North Philip ForestiSeiRoad.

Upon commencement of production at theN#lligan project, RGLD Gold AG, a wholly-owned sutgry of the Company, will
purchase 25% of payable gold with a cash paymardleq the lesser of $400 or the prevailing magkete for each payable ounce of gold t
550,000 ounces have been
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delivered to RGLD Gold AG, and the lesser of $46the prevailing market price for each additionahce thereafter.

The Company, along with an independentreggging firm who is monitoring and confirming ther@pany's required participation in
funding construction of the Mt. Milligan projeciprducted a site visit to Mt. Milligan in July 2013ome of the progress at Mt. Milligan
includes the plant, shop and administration fouodatearthworks, the concrete batch plant, andielsliof a significant portion of the
necessary steel.

Thompson Creek announced that their cugepital expenditures estimate to construct theMiltigan mine is approximately
C$1.3 billion (US$1.3 billion), of which approximedy $208 million has been spent since inceptiothefproject through June 30, 2011, and an
additional $466 million has been committed sinaption of the project. Thompson Creek is targesirsgart-up at Mt. Milligan in calendar
2013 and expects to produce approximately 194,00@es of gold annually.

Pascui-Lama Project (Region 1lI, Chile)

As of June 30, 2011, we own a 0.78% to % 28ding-scale NSR royalty on the Pascua-Lamaggtojvhich straddles the border between
Argentina and Chile, and is being developed by iBlriThe Company owns an additional royalty equéwnalto 1.05% of proceeds from copper
produced from the Chilean portion of the projeet, of allowable deductions, sold on or after Japndar2017. The Pascua-Lama project is
located within 7 miles of Barrick's operating Vedad mine. Access to the project is from the city/aflenar, Region Ill, Chile, via secondary
roads C-485 to Alto del Carmen, Chile, and C-48@nfiAlto del Carmen to El Corral, Chile.

Our royalty interest is applicable to alldjproduction from the portion of the Pascua-Lamgect lying on the Chilean side of the border.
In addition, our interest at Pascua-Lama contaémsain contingent rights and obligations. Specilicdi) if gold prices exceed $600 per ounce
for any six month period during the first 36 montticommercial production from the project, the @amy would make a oname payment ¢
$8.4 million, (ii) approximately 20% of the royaliy limited to 14.0 million ounces of gold produdedm the project, while 24% of the royalty
can be extended beyond 14.0 million ounces of gadduced for a one-time payment of $4.4 milliong i) Royal Gold also increased its
interest in two one-time payments from $0.5 milltor1.5 million, which are payable by Barrick upbe achievement of certain production
thresholds at Pascua-Lama.

The sliding-scale NSR royalty is based ughengold price as shown in the following table:

London Bullion Market Association NSR
P.M. Monthly Average Price of Gold per  Royalty
Ounce (US$) Percentage
less than $32 0.7¢%
$400 1.5"%
$500 2.72%
$600 3.5%
$700 4.3%%
$800 or greate 5.22%

Note: Royalty rate is interpolated between the uppel lower endpoint:

In July 2011, Barrick announced a revisesggroduction capital estimate of approximately7$#5.0 billion for the Pascua-Lama project.
The revised estimate represents an approximateid@¥#ase from Barrick's original estimate. Barrd&o reported that expected annual gold
production has increased 775,000 ounces to 80BB0MO0 ounces in the first full five years of cgien.
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Reserve Information

Table 1 below summarizes proven and prabedderves for gold, silver, copper, nickel, zlead and cobalt that have been reported to us
by the operators of our royalty interests as ofddelger 31, 2010. Properties are currently in pradnainless noted as development ("DEV")
within the table. The exploration royalties we odmnot contain proven and probable reserves agoémber 31, 2010. Please refer to
pages 26-28 for the footnotes to Table 1.

Table 1

Proven and Probable Gold Reserves
As of December 31, 201

Gold @
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES ()#)0)
Gol_d
Tons of Average Contalzed
Ore Gold Grade 0zs®

PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (opt) (M)
Bald Mountain  3.5% - 5.0% NSH") Barrick United State: 74.0¢ 0.02¢ 1.70¢
Cortez (Pipeline 9

GSR1 0.40 - 5.0% GSF®) Barrick United State: 67.0¢ 0.03¢ 2.344®
Cortez (Pipeline .

GSR2 0.40 - 5.0% GSF®) Barrick United State: 118.4¢ 0.02¢ 3.4289
Cortez (Pipeline 9

GSR3 0.71% GSF Barrick United State: 103.2¢ 0.02¢ 3.0049
Cortez (Pipeline .

NVR1 0.39% NVR Barrick United State: 68.6( 0.03¢ 2.2449
Gold Hill (DEV) 1.0-2.0% NSROM)  kinross/Barrick United State: 23.3¢ 0.01¢ 0.36¢

0.9% NSR(*2) Kinross/Barrick United State: — — —

Goldstrike (SJ

Claims) 0.9% NSR Barrick United State! 49.6( 0.10< 5.16¢
Leeville 1.8% NSR Newmont United State: 5.5¢ 0.29¢ 1.641
Marigold (DEV)

3 2.0% NSR Goldcorp/Barrick United State! 55.41 0.01€ 0.90¢
Relief Canyon

(DEV) 4 4.0% NSR Firstgold United State: — — —
Robinson 3.0% NSR Quadra FNX United State: 121.2¢ 0.00t 0.64(
Soledad

Mountain

(DEV) 3.0% NSR Golden Queel United State: 51.22 0.021 1.05:2
Twin Creeks 2.0% GPR Newmont United State! 1.8C 0.08( 0.14:
Wharf 0.0 - 2.0% NSH®) Goldcorp United State: 23.8¢ 0.02¢ 0.60¢
Canadian -

Malartic 1.0 - 1.5% NSR1®) Osisko Canade 150.5¢ 0.031 4727

17 0.00013 x quarterly

Holt 47 avg. gold price St Andrew Canads 3.4¢€ 0.14¢ 0.51(
Kutcho Creek

(DEV) 1.6% NSR Capstone Mining Canads 11.51 0.011 0.12¢
Mt. Milligan

(DEV) 9 25% of payable gol Thompson Cree Canadz 531.8( 0.011 6.02(
Pine Cove

(DEV) 7.5% NPI Anaconda Mining Canadz 2.9C 0.06( 0.17¢
Schaft Creek

(DEV) 3.5% NPI Copper Fo» Canad: 904.9¢ 0.00¢ 5.57(
Williams 0.97% NSF Barrick Canads 12.17 0.07¢ 0.851
Wolverine 0.0 - 9.445% NSK'®  vukon Zinc Canad: 5.6€ 0.04¢ 0.22¢
Dolores 3.25% NSk Minefinders Mexico 118.6¢ 0.017% 2.02¢
El Chanate 2.0 - 4.0% NSR?? AuRico Mexico 70.7¢ 0.01¢ 1.35¢
Mulatos 1.0 - 5.0% NSH?Y Alamos Mexico 64.4¢ 0.037 2.38%
Pefiasquité?®  2.0% NSR (Oxide Goldcorp Mexico 74.72 0.00¢ 0.40¢

2.0% NSR (Sulfide Goldcorp Mexico 1,566.8: 0.01Z 18.17(

Andacollo 75% NSR(3) Teck Chile 440.5¢ 0.004 1.59¢
Pascua-Lama

(DEV)®Y  0.78-5.23% NS Barrick Chile 320.9: 0.04¢ 14.68
El Toqui 1.0 - 3.0% NSR?®) Breakwate! Chile 3.8¢ 0.07¢ 0.27¢
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Gold @ —continued

PROVEN + PROBABLE

RESERVES ()#)0)
Gold
Tons of Average Contalzed
Ore Gold Grade 0zs®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (opt) (M)
Don Mario 3.0% NSR Orvana Bolivia 6.2¢ 0.041 0.25¢
El Limon 3.0% NSR B2Gold Nicarague 2.2¢ 0.131 0.29¢
Martha 2.0% NSR Coeur d'Alene Argentina 0.0t 0.02(C 0.001
Balcooma®”) 1.5% NSR Kagara Australia 0.67 0.007 0.00¢
Bundarra (DEV*® 150 NSR Terrain Australia — — —
Gwalia Deep: 1.5% NSR St . Barbar: Australia 11.2¢ 0.21: 2.40¢€
Kundip (DEV) 1.0 - 1.5% GSR®)  Tectonic Resource  Australia 3.1C 0.09¢ 0.30%
Meekatharra
(Paddy's Flat)
(DEV) 1.5% NSR Reed Resource Australia 2.1¢ 0.14C 0.30¢
A$10 per gold
ounce produce?®  Reed Resource Australia 2.1¢ 0.14( 0.30¢
Meekatharra
(Yaloginda)
(DEV) 0.45% NSF Reed Resource Australia 2.7¢ 0.07¢ 0.19¢
Reedys Burnakura
(DEV) 39 1.5-2.5% NSR Kentor Gold Australia — — —
South Lavertor 1.5% NSR Saracer Australia 16.6( 0.04¢ 0.81(
Southern Cros 1.5% NSR St. Barbar Australia 6.02 0.08: 0.50(
West Westonia
(DEV) 0.5% NSR Catalpa Resource Australia 0.31 0.03: 0.01(C
Inata 2.5% NSR Avocet Burkina Fasc 17.97 0.06( 1.08:
Taparko®Y) 2.0% GSF High River Burkina Fasc 7.8¢ 0.08¢ 0.62i
Proven and Probable Silver Reserves
As of December 31, 2016)
Silver 32)
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES®“WE®
A Silver
verage Contained
Tons of Silver o
Ore Grade 0zs®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (opt) (M)
Soledad Mountain
(DEV) 3.0% NSR Golden Queel United State: 51.2% 0.3¢ 19.35¢
Troy 3.0% GSF Revett United State: 10.5C 1.21 12.71:
Gold Hill (DEV) 1.0 - 2.0% NSRLO(XD) Kinross/Barrick  United State: 23.3¢ 0.2z 5.03¢
Kutcho Creek
(DEV) 1.6% NSR Capstone Mining Canadz 11.51] 1.01 11.617
Schaft Creek (DEV  3.5% NPI Copper Fo» Canade 904.9¢ 0.0t 46.45¢
Wolverine 0.0 - 9.445% NSHK%) Yukon Zinc Canade 5.6¢ 8.22 46.69¢
Dolores 2.0% NSR Minefinders Mexico 118.6¢ 0.9€ 114.52(
Pefiasquité??@D 2,09 NSR (Oxide Goldcorp Mexico 74.7¢ 0.4¢ 36.55(
2.0% NSR (Sulfide Goldcorp Mexico 1,566.8. 0.6€ 1,068.72!
Don Mario 3.0% NSR Orvana Bolivia 6.2¢ 1.32 8.29:
El Toqui 1.0 - 3.0% NSR?4) Breakwate! Chile 3.8¢ 0.3¢ 1.47¢
Martha 2.0% NSR Coeur d'Alene Argentina 0.0t 18.61 0.82¢
Balcooma®”) 1.5% NSR Kagara Australia 0.6 0.62 0.42i
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Proven and Probable Base Metal Reserves
As of December 31, 2016

Copper (33)
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES®)®)G)
Average Base Metal
Tons of Base Metal Contalzed
Ore Grade Lbs (®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (%) (M)
Johnson Cam 2.5% NSR Nord Resource United State: 66.2( 0.34 44¢
Robinson 3.0% NSR Quadra FNX United State: 121.2¢ 0.5C 1,222
Troy 3.0% GSF Revett United State: 10.5( 0.47 98
Caber (DEV) 1.0% NSR Breakwate!l Canad: 0.6t 0.84 11
Kutcho Creek (DEV 1.6% NSR Capstone Mining Canads 11.5] 2.01 463
Schaft Creek (DEV 3.5% NPI Copper Fo» Canad: 904.9¢ 0.3C 5,421
Voisey's Bay 2.7% NSR Vale Canads 26.51 1.4¢ 78¢
Balcooma®”) 15%NSR  Kagara Australia 0.6 3.1C 42
Don Mario 3.0% NSR Orvana Bolivia 6.2¢ 1.47 18t
Pascua-Lama (DEVP®  1.059% NSF  Barrick Chile 320.9: 0.0¢ 54¢
Las Cruce: 1.5% NSR Inmet Spain 17.07 6.2C 2,11¢
Lead (39
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES ®)®)G)
Average Base Metal
Tons of Base Metal Contalzed
Ore Grade Lbs (®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (%) (M)
Balcooma®”) 1.5% NSR Kagara Australia 0.67 0.6€ 9
Pefiasquité??) 2.0% NSR (Sulfide  Goldcorp Mexico 1,566.8: 0.2¢ 7,27¢
El Toqui 1.0 - 3.0% NSH?4 Breakwatel Chile 3.8¢ 0.37 28
Zinc (36)
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES @)*)®)
Average Base Metal
Tons of Base Metal Contalzed
Ore Grade Lbs (®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (%) (M)
Caber (DEV) 1.0% NSR Breakwatel Canadz 0.6t 8.5¢ 111
Kutcho Creek
(DEV) 1.6% NSR Capstone Mining Canadz 11.51] 3.1¢ 732
Balcooma®”) 1.5% NSR Kagara Australia 0.67 1.5 21
Pefiasquité??) 2.0% NSR (Sulfide  Goldcorp Mexico 1,566.8; 0.57 17,57¢
El Toqui 1.0 - 3.0% NSR?4) Breakwate! Chile 3.8¢ 6.71 52€
NICKEL (7)
PROVEN + PROBABLE
RESERVES®)®))
Average Base Metal
Tons of Base Metal Contalzed
Ore Grade Lbs (®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (%) (M)
Voisey's Bay 2.7% NSR  Vale Canade 26.51 2.5¢ 1,37:
Avebury (DEV)®® 2,006 NSR  Minerals and Metals Grot Australia — — —
Mt. Goode®® 15% NSR  Xstrata Australia 0.4z 4.07 34
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COBALT (9

PROVEN + PROBABLE

RESERVES @)@
Average Base Metal
Tons of Base Metal Contan;ed
Ore Grade Lbs ®
PROPERTY ROYALTY OPERATOR LOCATION (M) (%) (M)
Voisey's Bay 2.7% NSR  Vale Canade 26.57 0.12 67

(€3]

(@)

®

4)

®)

(6)

©)

Reserves have been reported by the operatorsecember 31, 2010, with the exception of the folfmyproperties: Don Mario-August 2010; West Weston
Southern Cross, South Laverton, Pine Cove, Mt. @pbtata, Gwalia, Balcooma and Avebury—June 201@Hanate and Mt. Milligan—October 2009; Caber
and Canadian Malartic—December 2008; Schaft Creedpte®nber 2008; Soledad Mountain—December 2007; Mbekra (Yaloginda) and Meekatharra
(Paddy's Flat)—September 2007.

Gold reserves were calculated by the operatotsediotfiowing per ounce prices: $1,300—Martha; ASD3-Kundip; $1,200—EI Limon and Dolores;
A$1,250—South Laverton and West Westonia; $1,00&talnBald Mountain, Cortez, Goldstrike, Holt, KutoBreek, Pascua Lama, Robinson and Williams;
$983—Pine Cove; $950—Leeville, Marigold, Pefiasquitsin Creeks and Wharf; A$1,000—Gwalia and South@ross; $900—Gold Hill and Taparko; $875—
Mulatos; $870—EIl Toqui; $825—Canadian Malartic; $86ElI Chanate, Don Mario and Andacollo; $690—Mt. Iién; and $600—Soledad Mountain. Schaft
Creek is at a $5.05 net smelter return cut-off gradetal price assumptions used by the operatce %58 per ounce gold; $10.00 per ounce silver;$dn@3

per pound copper). Wolverine is at an $80/tonnesnelter return cut-off grade (metal price assuamgtiused by the operator were $400 per ounce gold a
$7.00 per ounce silver). No gold price was repoftedMeekatharra (Paddy's Flat), Meekatharra (Yialda), Avebury or Balcooma.

Set forth below are the definitions of proven anobble reserves used by the U.S. Securities andage Commission. "Reserve" is that part of a raine
deposit which could be economically and legallyr&stied or produced at the time of the reserve chéetion.

"Proven (Measured) Reserves" are reserves for whjchuantity is computed from dimensions reveabealutcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes, émel
grade is computed from the results of detailed $imgypand (b) the sites for inspection, sampling ameasurement are spaced so closely and the geologi
character is so well defined that the size, shdepth and mineral content of the reserves areesédblished.

"Probable (Indicated) Reserves" are reserves fachwhe quantity and grade are computed from inédiom similar to that used for proven (measuredgrees,
but the sites for inspection, sampling and measenermre farther apart or are otherwise less adelyuspiaced. The degree of assurance of proballedied)
reserves, although lower than that for proven (meah reserves, is high enough to assume geologpcainuity between points of observation.

Royal Gold has disclosed a number of reserve essithat are provided by royalty operators thafameign issuers and are not based on the U.S.rilestand
Exchange Commission's definitions for proven arabgble reserves. For Canadian issuers, definidblsineral reserve,” "proven mineral reserve," and
"probable mineral reserve" conform to the Canadliatitute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum défions of these terms as of the effective datestihgation
as required by National Instrument 43-101 of thed@han Securities Administrators. For Australissuirs, definitions of "mineral reserve," "provemeral
reserve," and "probable mineral reserve" conforth wie Australasian Code for Reporting of MinerakBurces and Ore Reserves prepared by the Joint Ore
Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institutélioing and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Gaientists and Minerals Council of Australia, asaded
("JORC Code").

The reserves reported are either estimates recbivétk various operators or are based on royaltyishentation material provided to Royal Gold or athis
derived from recent publicly-available informatifstom the operators of the various properties orouer recent National Instrument 43-101 or JORC Code
reports filed by operators. Accordingly, Royal Gadot able to reconcile the reserve estimatesgpeal in reliance on National Instrument 43-101@RC
Code with definitions of the U.S. Securities anatliange Commission.

"Contained ounces" or "contained pounds" do nat fako account recovery losses in processing tbe or

By amendment dated June 2, 2011, but effectivealsiriy 2011, the royalty rate now ranges from 3t6%.0%. NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gudd
ounce—royalty rate): Below $375—3.5%; >$375 to $4800%; >$400 to $425—4.5%; >$425 and higher—5.0%pAce points are stated in 1986 dollars and
are subject to adjustment in accordance with adaldrindex comprised of labor, diesel fuel, indasttommodities and mining machine
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NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ouroeyalty rate): Below $210—0.40%; $210 to $229.995606; $230 to $249.99—0.75%; $250 to $269.99—
1.30%; $270 to $309.99—2.25%; $310 to $329.99—2,;68880 to $349.00—3.00%; $350 to $369.99—3.75%0%#B8IH409.99—4.0%; $410 to $429.99—
4.25%; $430 to $449.99—4.50%; $450 to $469.99—4;754%0 and higher—5.00%.

NVR1 and GSR3 reserves are subsets of the resandeadditional mineralized material covered by GBRd GSR2.

Round Mountain, a joint venture between Kinross Badick, has the right, at any time, to purch&serbyalty interest for $10.0 million less any ritya
payments paid prior to the purchase option beirgased. The royalty is subject to a minimum roygiayment of $100,000 per year.

The sliding-scale NSR royalty will pay 2.0% wheke tirice of gold is above $350 per ounce and 1.0%mwthe price of gold falls to $350 per ounce oohel
The 0.9% NSR applies to the MACE claims. The omerdid not report reserves subject to the 0.9% NSR.

The 2.0% NSR royalty interest covers the majorftgir sections of land, containing a number of opits, but does not cover the current mining in the
Basalt/Antler area.

The operators at Avebury, Relief Canyon and Buraddid not provide a breakdown of proven and prababerves.

NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ouro®yalty rate): $0.00 to under $350—0.0%; $350rder $400—0.5%; $400 to under $500—1.0%; $500 or
higher—2.0%.

NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ouno®yalty rate): $0.00 to $350—1.0%; above $350—1.5%
Refer to Note 17 of the notes to consolidated fanegrstatements for a discussion on litigation aigted with our Holt royalty.
25% of payable gold with a fixed cost of $400 pence until 550,000 ounces are delivered to RoyadGk#50 per ounce thereafter.

Gold royalty rate is based on the price of silver punce. NSR sliding-scale schedule (price oksiper ounce—royalty rate): Below $5.00—0.0%; $3d®0
$7.50—3.778%; >$7.50—9.445%.

The NSR sliding-scale royalty is capped once paysmehapproximately $17 million have been receivisiof June 30, 2011, payments of approximately
$8.2 million have been recognized. NSR slidingssahedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rdess than $300—2.0%; $300 - $350—3.0%; greater than
$350—4.0%.

The Company's royalty is subject to a 2.0 milliamee cap on gold production. There have been appadaly 732,000 ounces of cumulative productionfas
June 30, 2011. NSR sliding-scale schedule (priggtaf per ounce—royalty rate): $0.00 to $299.99-9%4;.8300 to $324.99—1.50%; $325 to $349.99—2.0%);
$350 to $374.99—3.0%; $375 to $399.99—4.0%; $400igher—5.0%.

Operator reports reserves by material type. Thedsuinaterial will be processed by milling. The daimaterial will be processed by heap leaching.

The royalty rate is 75% until 910,000 payable osnzfegold have been produced—50% thereafter. Theve been approximately 46,000 cumulative payable
ounces produced as of June 30, 2011.

Royalty applies to all gold production from an acéanterest in Chile. Only that portion of the eeges pertaining to our royalty interest in Chdeeflected here
Approximately 20% of the royalty is limited to tfiest 14.0 million ounces of gold produced from fh®ject. Also, 24% of the royalty can be extentegond
14.0 million ounces produced for $4.4 million. lddition, a one-time payment totaling $8.4 milliofllwe made if gold prices exceed $600 per ouncefty
six-month period within the first 36 months of comntial production.

NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ouroeyalty rate): less than or equal to $325—0.7820(—1.57%; $500—$2.72%; $600—3.56%; $700—
4.39%; greater than or equal to $800—5.23%.

NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of zinc per ounaeyalty rate): Below $0.50—0.0%; $0.50 to below3H—1.0%; $0.55 to below $0.60—2.0%; $0.60 or
higher—3.0%.

Figures reflect reserves associated with the eptwperty. The operator did not provide a detailesakdown of the reserves subject to Royal Golyalty
interest. Therefore, a portion of the reserveissnbject to Royal Gold's royalty interest.

Royalty pays 1.0% for the first 250,000 ouncesrofipiction and then 1.5% for production above 250 &inces.

The A$10 per ounce royalty applies on productioovahb0,000 ounces.
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Reedys Burnakura sliding-scale royalty appliesumuglative production above 300,000 ounces. Once0B00unces have been produced, the royalty rate is
1.5% NSR for the first 75,000 ounces per year aBdb% NSR above 75,000 ounces per year.

A 2.0% GSR perpetual royalty, applicable to golddurction from defined portions of the Taparko-Bauroproject area, and a 0.75% GSR milling royaltye T
milling royalty applies to ore that is mined outsidf the defined area of the Taparko-Bouroum ptdfeat is processed through the Taparko faciliig$o a
maximum of 1.1 million tons per year.

Silver reserves were calculated by the operatattseafiollowing prices per ounce: $23.00—Dolores) $9—Martha; $16.50—Kutcho Creek; $15.00—
Pefiasquito Sulfide; $14.90—Troy; $14.42—EIl Toqui4 $0—Gold Hill; $12.50—Don Mario; $12.00—Soledadihtain. Shaft Creek is at a $5.05 net smelter
return cut-off grade (metal price assumptions usethe operator were $658 per ounce gold; $10.0@pece silver; and $1.93 per pound copper). Waheeis

at an $80/tonne net smelter return cut-off gradet@hmprice assumptions used by the operator wed8 iér ounce gold and $7.00 per ounce silver).iNers

price is available for Balcooma.

Copper reserves were calculated by the operatdhg dbllowing prices per pound: $3.05—EI Toqui;&3—Troy; $2.97—Voisey's Bay; $2.75—Kutcho Creek;
$2.50—Robinson and Caber; $2.25—Las Cruces; $2.G%etRa-Lama, Don Mario and Pefiasquito Sulfide; $3-A0dacollo; $1.60—Mt. Milligan and $1.50—
Johnson Camp. Shaft Creek is at a $5.05 net snnetten cut-off grade (metal price assumptions usethe operator were $658 per ounce gold; $10e00 p
ounce silver; and $1.93 per pound copper). No coppee is available for Balcooma.

Royalty applies to all copper production from aeaaof interest in Chile. Only that portion of tleserves pertaining to our royalty interest in Chileeflected
here. This royalty will take effect after Januar2017.

Lead reserves were calculated by the operatoredbtiowing price per pound: $0.89—EI| Toqui and@B—Pefiasquito and Caber. No lead price is availfail
Balcooma.

Zinc reserves were calculated by the operatottseatailowing price per pound: $1.10—EI Toqui; $1-8Befiasquito; $0.95—Kutcho Creek and $0.80—
Pefiasquito. No zinc price is available for Balcoam&aber.

Nickel reserve price was calculated by the operat®oisey's Bay mine at $8.71 or lower per powtal nickel reserve price is available for AveburyMit:
Goode.

The operator does not report reserves by properfyustralia. Therefore, a portion of the resengesdt subject to Royal Gold's royalty interest.

Cobalt reserve price was calculated by the opeedt$22.82 or lower per pound.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Refer to Note 17 of the notes to consoliddinancial statements for a discussion on litigaassociated with our Voisey's Bay and Holt

royalties.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART I

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Current Stockholders

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQWal Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "RiBLand on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbol "RGL." The following &abéts forth, for each of the quarterly periodscaittd, the range of high and low sales
prices, in U.S. dollars, for our common stock on®BAQ for each quarter since July 1, 2009.

Sales Prices
High Low
Fiscal Year:
First Quarter (July, Aug
2010 Sept—2009) $ 49.3t $ 37.3¢
Second Quarter (Oct., No
Dec—2009) $ 55.9¢ $ 42.9(
Third Quarter (Jan., Feb.,
Marct—2010) $ 50.9¢ $ 41.1¢
Fourth Quarter (April, May,
June—2010) $ 54.858 $ 46.5]
First Quarter (July, Aug.,
2011 Sept—2010) $ 51.57 $ 42.1¢f
Second Quarter (Oct., Nov.,
Dec—2010) $ 55.22 $ 46.7¢
Third Quarter (Jan., Felt
Marck—2011) $ 55.0t $ 45.37
Fourth Quarter (April, May
June—2011) $ 62.3% $ 51.3¢

As of August 8, 2010, there were 912 stoddtérs of record of our common stock.
Dividends

We have paid a cash dividend on our comgtock for each year beginning in calendar year 2000 board of directors has discretion in
determining whether to declare a dividend based namber of factors including, prevailing gold ps¢economic market conditions and
funding requirements for future opportunities oergiions.

For calendar year 2011, our annual dividsrD.44 per share of common stock and exchangealalres. We paid the first payment of
$0.11 per share on January 21, 2011, to commoRtsitters and the holders of exchangeable shanesofd at the close of business on
January 7, 2011. We paid the second payment ol §ef share on April 15, 2011, to common stockhslded the holders of exchangeable
shares of record at the close of business on Ap&D11. We paid the third payment of $0.11 peresba July 15, 2011 to common
stockholders and holders of exchangeable shanexofd at the close of business on July 1, 201tjeStto board approval, we anticipate
paying the fourth payment of $0.11 per share okt 14, 2011, to common shareholders and holderschangeable shares of record at the
close of business on September 30, 2011.

For calendar year 2010, we paid an annivaehd of $0.36 per share of common stock, in fguarterly payments of $0.09 each. We |
the first payment of $0.09 per share on Januar2Q%0, to stockholders of record at the close siress on January 4, 2010. We paid the
second payment of $0.09 per share on April 16, 2&@16ommon stockholders and the holders of excbainlg shares of record at the close of
business on April 1, 2010. We paid the third paynoéi$0.09 per share on July 16, 2010 to commockstolders and holders of exchangeable
shares of record at the close of business on JU@20. We paid the fourth payment of $0.09 peresba October 15, 2010, to common
shareholders and holders of exchangeable sharesarfl at the close of business on October 1, 2010.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(Amounts in thousands, except per share dat:

Royalty revenué? $ 216,46¢ $ 136,56 $ 73,77. $ 66,297 $ 48,35]
Operating incomi $ 118,928 $ 41,03t $ 27,29. $ 32,98. $ 28,50¢
Net income $ 77,29¢ $ 29,42: $ 41,357 $ 25,39F $ 21,24
Net income attributable to Royal Gc¢

stockholder: $ 71,398 $ 21,49: $ 38,34¢ $ 24,047 $ 19,72(
Net income available to Royal Gc

common stockholdel $ 71,398 $ 21,49: $ 38,34¢ $ 19,25F $ 19,72(
Net income per share available to R¢

Gold common stockholder
Basic $ 1.2¢ % 04¢ $ 10¢ $ 06z $ 0.7¢
Diluted $ 1.2¢ % 04¢ $ 107 $ 061 $ 0.7¢
Dividends declared per common sh

@ $ 04z $ 032 $ 03 $ 02 $ 02

As of June 30,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(Amounts in thousands)

Total asset $ 1,902,70: $ 1,865,33: $ 809,92: $ 545,85( $ 356,64¢
Royalty interests in miner:

properties, ne $ 1,690,43' $ 1,476,79' $ 455,96¢ $ 300,67( $ 215,83¢
Long-term debt, including

current portior $ 226,10 $ 248,550( $ 19,25( $ 15,75( $ 15,75(

Royal Gold stockholders' equi  $ 1,460,16: $ 1,403,711 $ 749,44: $ 483,21° $ 319,08:

@ Please refer to Item 7, MD&A, of this report fodacussion of recent developments that contribtdexlr 59% increase
in royalty revenue during fiscal year 2011 when paned to fiscal year 2010.

@ The 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007 calendar yeaedds were $0.44, $0.36, $0.32, $0.28 and $0e&pectively, as
approved by our board of directors. Please reféetn 5 of this report for further information onradividends

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

Royal Gold, together with its subsidiarissgngaged in the business of acquiring and magggiecious metals royalties and similar
interests. Royalties are passive (non-operatirtgya@sts in mining projects that provide the rightévenue or production from the project after
deducting specified costs, if any. We seek to aegexisting royalties or to finance projects that im production or in development stage in
exchange for royalties or similar interests. Weergaged in a continual review of opportunitiead¢quire existing royalties, to create new
royalties or similar interests through the finamcaf mine development or exploration, or to acqewenpanies that hold royalties or similar
interests. We currently, and generally at any tinee acquisition opportunities in various stagesctive review, including, for example, our
engagement of consultants and advisors to anabiglar opportunities, analysis of technicalaficial and other confidential information,
submission of indications of interest, participatio preliminary discussions and involvement agdadr in competitive auctions.
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As of June 30, 2011, the Company owns t@gbn 36 producing properties, 21 developmemesfproperties and 128 exploration stage
properties, of which the Company considers 38 tevaduation stage projects. The Company uses "atiatustage" to describe exploration
stage properties that contain mineralized matandl on which operators are engaged in the searecegerves. We do not conduct mining
operations nor are we required to contribute tatahposts (except as contractually obligated tpas of the Mt. Milligan transaction descrik
in Part |, Item |, Business, of this report), exgltion costs, environmental costs or other miniogt€ on the properties in which we hold roy:
interests. During the fiscal year ended June 301 2®e focused on the management of our existipgltypinterests and the acquisition of
royalty and similar interests.

Our financial results are primarily tiedttee price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and othretals, as well as production from our produt
stage royalty interests. The price of gold, silwapper, nickel and other metals have fluctuate@@ent years. The marketability and the price
of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals iafluenced by numerous factors beyond the coofrdie Company and may have a material
and adverse effect on the Company's results ofatipes and financial condition.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 20010 2nd 2009, gold, silver, copper and nickel paicerages and percentage of royalty revenues
by metal were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2011 June 30, 201( June 30, 200¢
Percentage Percentage Percentage
Average of Royalty Average of Royalty Average of Royalty
Metal Price Revenue Price Revenue Price Revenue
Gold
($/ounc $ 1,36¢ 64% $ 1,08¢ 81% $ 874 84%
Silver
($/ounc $ 28.61 6% $ 16.8¢ 3% $ 12.91 3%
Copper
($/pour $ 3.92 10% $ 3.02 9% $ 2.2t 11%
Nickel
($/pour $ 10.8¢ 15% $ 8.7¢ 4% $ 6.0€ 1%
Other N/A 5% N/A 3% N/A 1%

Operators' Production Estimates by Royalty for Caledar Year 2011

We received annual production estimates fneany of the operators of our producing minesrdyuthe first calendar quarter of 2011. The
following table shows such production estimatesofar principal producing properties for calendat 2@s well as the actual production
reported to us by the various operators througle 3 2011. The estimates and production repcetpr@pared by the operators of the mining
properties. We do not participate in the prepamatiocalculation of the operators' estimates odpetion reports and have not independently
assessed or verified the accuracy of such infoomaRlease refer to Part |, Item 2, Propertiesfddher discussion on updates at certain of our
principal producing and development stage propertie
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Operators' Production Estimate by Royalty for Calerdar Year 2011 and Reported Production
Principal Producing Properties
For the period January 1, 2011 through June 30, 2041

Calendar 2011 Operator's Production Reported Production through
Estimate (V) June 30, 20112
Gold Silver Base Metals Gold Silver Base Metals

Royalty (0z.) (0z.) (Ibs.) (0z.) (0z.) (Ibs.)
Andacollo 49,00( — — 22,35: — —
Cortez GSR: 125,00( — — 69,327 — —
Cortez GSR: 1,00( — — 25€ — —
Cortez GSR« 126,00( — — 69,58: — —
Cortez NVR1 91,00( — — 56,55¢ — —
Dolores®) 65,00 3.3 million —  37,76: 2.0 million —
Holt ) 23,00( 11,81« — —
Las Cruce:

Copper 111 million 40.5 millior
Leeville 454,00( — — 214,48! — —
Mulatos®) 145,00( — —  73,67: — —
Pefiasquité® 250,00( — 116,32° 9.0 million

Lead — 72.6 millior

Zinc — 119.9 millior
Robinsor(”) 25,00( — 18,04¢ —

Copper 105 million 40.5 millior
Voisey's Bay

(8)

Copper N/A 24.4 millior

Nickel N/A 71.9 millior
Wolverine® N/A N/A 90t 258,50: —

@ There can be no assurance that production estimeteed from our operators will be achieved. sde@fer to our
cautionary language regarding forward-looking stegets following this MD&A, as well as the Risk Faxt identified in
Part I, Item 1A, of this report for information &gling factors that could affect actual results.

@ Reported production relates to the amount of nestigls, subject to our royalty interests, for theqoeJanuary 1, 2011
through June 30, 2011, as reported to us by theatips of the mines.

® Minefinders estimated that calendar 2011 produdaomgold would be between 65,000 ounces and 7000@@es of gold
and silver production would be between 3.3 millmmces and 3.5 million ounces of silver.

“ St Andrew estimates that calendar 2011 gold praoiuetill be between 23,000 and 26,000 ounces af gompared to
earlier guidance of 45,000 ounces and 50,000 owsfogsld. Reported production for the six monthdeshJune 30, 2011
includes approximately 1,400 gold ounces attriblet&dn the quarter ended December 31, 2010, astezbtwr us by the
operator.

®) Alamos estimates that calendar 2011 gold produdtidirbe between 145,000 and 160,000 ounces of gofdpared to
earlier guidance of 160,000 and 175,000 ouncesldf g

Q) Goldcorp estimates that calendar 2011 gold prodnatiill be 250,000 ounces compared to earlier quidaf 350,000
ounces. Goldcorp has not provided production eséstor silver, lead and zinc since April 20
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Q) Quadra estimates that calendar 2011 gold produutilbive between 25,000 and 30,000 ounces of goidpared to
earlier guidance of 45,000 ounces and 50,000 owfogsld. Quadra estimates that copper productiiroe between
105 million pounds and 120 million pounds of copper

®) The Company did not receive calendar 2011 prodngigdance from the operator.
Historical Production

The following table discloses historicabguction for the past three fiscal years for thiagypal producing properties that are subject to
our royalty interests, as reported to us by theatpes of the mines:

Historical Production () by Royalty

Principal Producing Properties
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2011, 2010 agd09

Royalty Metal 2011 2010 2009
Andacollo Gold 42,344 oz 4,145 oz N/A
Cortez GSR: Gold 191,400 o: 355,513 o: 200,578 o:
Cortez GSR: Gold 762 oz 2,082 oz 67,749 oz
Cortez GSR! Gold 192,162 o: 357,595 o: 268,327 0:
Cortez NVR1 Gold 120,030 o: 259,741 o: 154,399 o:
Dolores Gold 59,983 o0z 73,463 0z 38,819 oz
Silver 2.6 million oz 1.2 million oz 326,182 o:
Holt @ Gold 11,814 oz N/A N/A
Las Cruce$® Copper 74.7 million lbs ~ 20.8 million Ibs N/A
Leeville Gold 443,317 o: 454,148 o: 429,122 o:
Mulatos Gold 150,536 o: 164,954 o: 167,907 o:
Pefasquitc Gold 206,726 0: 117,963 o: 52,932 oz
Silver 17.3 million oz 7.2 million oz 2.5 million oz
Lead 132.9 million Ibs 36.7 million Ibs N/A
Zinc 217.0 million lbs 48.5 million lbs N/A
Robinson Gold 49,712 oz 86,101 oz 113,740 o:
Copper 93.7 million lbs  107.4 million Ibs  128.3 million Ibs
Voisey's Bay®) Nickel 112.5 million Ibs ~ 19.0 million Ibs N/A
Copper 67.8 million lbs 8.6 million Ibs N/A
Wolverine(®) Gold 905 0z N/A N/A
Silver 258,502 o: N/A N/A

@ Historical production relates to the amount of rhetdes, subject to our royalty interests for efital year presented, as

reported to us by the operators of the mines.

@ Production began during our fiscal year 2011.

® Royalty acquired in February 2010 as part of thguisition of IRC.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Listed below are the accounting policiest thhe Company believes are critical to its finahstatements due to the degree of uncertainty
regarding the estimates or assumptions involvedfamahagnitude of the asset, liability, revenuexgense being reported. Please refer to
Note 2 of the Notes to consolidated financial steets for a discussion on recently adopted an@éaacounting pronouncemer

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our financial statemgimt€onformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States of America,
requires management to make estimates and assms\plioese estimates and assumptions affect thetedpmmounts of assets and liabilities,
at the date of the financial statements, as wethaseported amounts of revenues and expensegydte reporting period.

Our most critical accounting estimatesteeta our assumptions regarding future gold, sjlaarkel, copper and other metal prices and the
estimates of reserves and recoveries of third-paime operators. We rely on reserve estimates tegdny the operators on the properties in
which we have royalty interests. These estimatestadunderlying assumptions affect the potentmgddirments of long-lived assets and the
ability to realize income tax benefits associatéith weferred tax assets. These estimates and atisumplso affect the rate at which we charge
depreciation, depletion and amortization to eargii@n an ongoing basis, management evaluatesd¢bésetes and assumptions; however,
actual amounts could differ from these estimatesamsumptions.

Royalty Interests in Mineral Propertis

Royalty interests in mineral propertiediiie acquired royalty interests in production, depment and exploration stage properties. The
costs of acquired royalty interests in mineral groies are capitalized as tangible assets as stmtests do not meet the definition of a finar
asset under the Accounting Standards CodificatidBC") guidance.

Acquisition costs of production and devehgmt stage royalty interests are depleted usingrtits of production method over the life of
the mineral property, which is estimated using proand probable reserves. Acquisition costs ofltpyaterests on exploration stage mineral
properties, where there are no proven and prolyeblrves, are not amortized. At such time as tbecésted exploration stage mineral interests
are converted to proven and probable reservegostebasis is amortized over the remaining liféhef mineral property, using proven and
probable reserves. The carrying values of explomagtage mineral interests are evaluated for impexit at such time as information becomes
available indicating that the production will natooir in the future. Exploration costs are expemngleen incurred.

Asset Impairmer

We evaluate long-lived assets for impairhvelnenever events or changes in circumstancesateltbat the related carrying amounts of an
asset or group of assets may not be recoverabéeréoverability of the carrying value of royalhterests in production and development s
mineral properties is evaluated based upon estdrfatare undiscounted net cash flows from eachltpyaterest property using estimates of
proven and probable reserves and other relevamtiation received from the operators. We evaluaea¢coverability of the carrying value of
royalty interests in exploration stage mineral gmies in the event of significant decreases inptiiee of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other
metals, and whenever new information regardingiresral properties is obtained from the operatdidating that production will not likely
occur in the future thus affecting the future rez@bility of our royalty interests. Impairmentstie carrying value of each property are
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measured and recorded to the extent that the ogrglue in each property exceeds its estimated/&iie, which is generally calculated using
estimated future discounted cash flows.

Our estimates of gold, silver, copper, eland other metal prices, operator's estimat@safen and probable reserves related to our
royalty properties, and operator's estimates ofaipgy, capital and reclamation costs are subgecettain risks and uncertainties which may
affect the recoverability of our investment in ta@eyalty interests in mineral properties. Althowgd have made our best assessment of these
factors based on current conditions, it is posditeé changes could occur, which could adversdicathe net cash flows expected to be
generated from these royalty interests.

Royalty Revenu

Royalty revenue is recognized pursuanuidance in ASC 605 and based upon amounts conalctlue pursuant to the underlying
royalty agreement. Specifically, revenue is recpgdiin accordance with the terms of the underlyayglty agreements subject to (i) the
pervasive evidence of the existence of the arraegésn(ii) the risks and rewards having been teemead; (iii) the royalty being fixed or
determinable; and (iv) the collectability of theyalty being reasonably assured. For royalty paymesteived in-kind, royalty revenue is
recorded at the average spot price of gold foptéod in which the royalty was earned.

Revenue recognized pursuant to the Robinsgalty agreement is based upon 3.0% of reveneesved by the operator of the mine,
Quadra, for the sale of minerals from the Robinsdme, reduced by certain costs incurred by Quagduadra's concentrate sales contracts with
third-party smelters, in general, provide for aitia#hsales price payment based upon provisionsdys and quoted metal prices at the date of
shipment. Final true-up sales price payments tad@uare subsequently based upon final assay aricetmaetal prices on a specified future
date, typically one to three months after the tlaeconcentrate arrives at the third-party sméitdrich generally occurs four to five months
after the shipment date from the Robinson mine).dé&/eot have all the key information regarding tévens of the operator's smelter contracts,
such as the terms of specific concentrate shipntergsmelter or quantities of metal or expectedesrent arrangements at the time of an
operator's shipment of concentrate.

Each monthly payment from Quadra is tyfycalcombination of revenue received by Quadrgforisional payments during the month
and any upward or downward adjustments for finahgs and commodity prices for earlier shipmentsethdr the payment to Royal Gold is
based on Quadra’'s revenue in the form of provisionéinal payments, Royal Gold records royaltyeaue and the corresponding receivable
based on the monthly amounts it receives from Quaal determined pursuant to the royalty agreerii@etroyalty contract does not provide
Royal Gold with rights or obligations to settle dimal assay and commaodity price adjustments wittapa. Therefore, once a given monthly
payment is received by Royal Gold it is not subtedater adjustment based on adjustments for assagommodity prices. Under the royalty
agreement, Quadra may include such final adjustsresnt component of future royalty payments.

Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes @o@ance with the guidance of ASC 740. The Compgaigferred income taxes reflect the
impact of temporary differences between the repaataounts of assets and liabilities for financégdarting purposes and such amounts
measured by tax laws and regulations. The defeéaredssets and liabilities represent the futuredéturn consequences of those differences,
which will either be taxable or deductible when #ssets and liabilities are recovered or settledaldation allowance is provided for deferred
tax assets when management concludes it is maly likan not that some portion of the deferredassets will not be realized.
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The Company's operations may involve dealitth uncertainties and judgments in the applaratif complex tax regulations in multiple
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependgmrumany factors, including negotiations with taxauthorities in various jurisdictions a
resolution of disputes arising from federal, statg] international tax audits. The Company recagmpotential liabilities and records tax
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in tirited States and other tax jurisdictions basedsoestimate of whether, and the extent to wt
additional taxes will be due. If the Company'sraatie of tax liabilities proves to be less thanuhignate assessment, an additional charge to
income tax expense would result. If the estimatefiabilities proves to be greater than thenitie assessment, a tax benefit would result.
The Company recognizes interest and penaltiesyif elated to unrecognized tax benefits in incaaxeexpense.

Reclassificatior

Cost and expenses previously classifiexsoration and business developmareg now included within th&eneral and administrative
caption. Further, certain amounts previously cfassiasCosts of Operationare now included within th€eneral and administrativeaption ol
theProduction taxegaption in the Company's consolidated statementpefations and comprehensive income. The followéate reflects
these reclassifications for the fiscal years entlege 30, 2010 and 2009:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2010 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009
Previously Previously
Reported Reclass Adjusted Reported Reclass Adjusted
Balance Adjustment Balance Balance Adjustment Balance
Costs and expense
Costs of operatior $ 623 $ (6235 $ — $ 3551 $ (355) % —
General and
administrative 12,59t 6,87¢ 19,47( 7,352 4,59¢ 11,95(
Production taxe 2,86: 2,86: — 1,951 1,951
Exploration anc
business
developmen 3,50¢ (3,509 — 2,99¢ (2,999 —

These reclassifications had no effect @omred operating income or net income attributablRoyal Gold stockholders for the prior
periods presented.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

At June 30, 2011, we had current asse$d69.3 million compared to current liabilities &&9 million for a current ratio of 6 to 1. This
compares to current assets of $371.4 million amceati liabilities of $35.8 million at June 30, 2018sulting in a current ratio of approximat
10 to 1. The decrease in the current ratio is pilgndue to a decrease in cash and equivalentaiduhie period. Cash and equivalents decre
during the period as the Company invested an agtgeg $310.2 million from its available cash omdidor: the investment in Seabridge and
the related option to acquire a royalty on the Kautphurets-Mitchell project in June 2011; the Milligan gold stream in October 2010; and
the additional Pascua-Lama royalty interests ig dald October 2010.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 204tidity needs were met from $216.5 million iryedty revenues, our available cash resources
and additional borrowings under our term loan, Wwhi@s increased by $19.5 million. As of June 3@,22@he Company had $125 million
available under its $225 million revolving creditcflity. In addition, as of June 30, 2011, the Camphad $126.1 million outstanding under its
term loan facility. Refer to Note 8 of our notesctmsolidated financial statements and below fah&r discussion on our debt.
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We believe that our current financial reses and funds generated from operations will lzjadte to cover anticipated expenditures for
debt service (current and long-term), general aimlimistrative expense costs, exploration costscampital expenditures for the foreseeable
future. Our current financial resources are alsalalle to fund dividends and for royalty acqudiis, including the $85 million commitment
part of the Mt. Milligan Gold Purchase Transacti@ur long-term capital requirements are primarffgeted by our ongoing acquisition
activities. The Company currently, and generallg@t time, has acquisition opportunities in varistesyes of active review. In the event of a
substantial royalty or other acquisition, we woséabk additional debt or equity financing opportigsitas necessary.

Please refer to our risk factors includeéart 1, Item 1A of this report for a discussidrertain risks that may impact the Company's
liquidity and capital resources.

Recent Liquidity and Capital Resource Developm

Amendment to Revolving Credit Facility

On February 1, 2011, the Company, HSBC B48R, National Association ("HSBC") and The BankiNafva Scotia ("Scotia") entered
into a Fourth Amended and Restated Revolving Crglieement, which replaced the Company's $125aniltevolving credit facility under
the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreemetggddas of October 30, 2008.

The modifications implemented in the amehded restated revolving credit facility includé) &n increase in the maximum borrowing
capacity to $225 million; (2) a 12 month extensidithe final maturity date from February 2013 tdfeary 2014; (3) deletion of the facility
coverage ratio (as defined) financial covenanta@ition of a debt service coverage ratio (asn@efj financial covenant required to be
maintained at 1.25 to 1.0; and (5) the grant by R@&uold Canada, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiarynaf Company, of a security interest over,
and lien on, certain royalty agreements, includimgCanadian Malartic Project and the Holt Project.

The existing collateral package (that idels pledges over the Company's royalties at PefiasBwolores, Mulatos, Cortez, Leeville,
Goldstrike and Robinson) remain unchanged.

Amendment to the Term Loan

In addition to entering into the Fourth Amded and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, emugey 1, 2011, Royal Gold entered into a
Second Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility éxgest with HSBC and Scotia, which replaced the Adeerand Restated Term Loan
Facility Agreement, dated March 26, 2010.

The modifications implemented in the Secéntended Term Loan include: (1) an additional $Ifillion in borrowing capacity under
the term loan; (2) a 12 month extension of thelfinaturity date from February 2013 to February 2qBJ deletion of the facility coverage re
(as defined) financial covenant; (4) addition afedbt service coverage ratio (as defined) finareakenant required to be maintained at 1.25 to
1.0; (5) a reduction in the amortization rate fanpipal payments from 5% of the initial fundedripal amount per quarter to 3% of the
currently funded principal amount per quarter;d@gstructuring of the interest rate, which resialts reduction in the current effective rate
from LIBOR plus 2.25% to LIBOR plus 1.875%; (7) theant by RGLD Gold Canada, Inc., a wholly-ownetisidiary of the Company, of a
security interest over, and lien on, certain rgyaljreements, including the Canadian Malartic Rta@d the Holt Project; (8) the release of
security interests over and liens on the Compdadlgikean royalty properties (Andacollo, Pascua-Land El Toqui) and the equity of Royal
Gold Chile Limitada and release of the corporatergnty by Royal Gold Chile Limitada; and (9) thel#idn of RG Mexico as a corporate
guarantor under the term loan.
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The existing customary covenants limitihg ability of Royal Gold and its subsidiaries tmang other things, incur debt or liens, dispose
of assets, enter into transactions with affiliateake certain investments or consummate certaigen@remain unchanged.

Lenders made an advance in an amount ¢ég&419.5 million, which fully funded the term loan.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations as of June281,1, are as follows:

Payments Due by Period (in thousands)

More

Less than 3-5 than
Contractual Obligations Total lYear 1-3Years Years 5 Years
Debt®) $237,64: $20,33 $217,30t$ — $ —
Total $237,64. $20,33 $217,30t$ — $ —

@ Amounts represent principal ($226.1 million) antreated interest payments ($11.5 million) assunmag
early extinguishmen

For information on our contractual obligaus, see Note 8 of the notes to consolidated finhatatements under Part Il, Item 8, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" of this reRayal Gold believes it will be able to fund all stihg obligations from net cash provided
operating activities.

Results of Operations
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011, Compared with Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2010

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011rewerded net income available to Royal Gold comstonkholders of $71.4 million, or $1.29
per basic and diluted share, compared to net inafr581.5 million, or $0.49 per basic and dilutédue, for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2010. The increase in our earnings per share dthmfjscal year ended June 30, 2011 was primatifjbutable to an increase in royalty
revenue, as discussed further below. The increaslsao attributable to a decrease in one-timenaternal Royalty Corporation ("IRC")
severance and acquisition related costs of appetein$19.4 million, which were incurred during theriod ended June 30, 2010. These
increases were partially offset by an increaseuintatal costs and expenses, which are each fudibeussed below.

For fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, wegeized total royalty revenue of $216.5 millionaataverage gold price of $1,369 per ounct
average silver price of $28.61 per ounce, an aeenitkel price of $10.86 per pound and an averagger price of $3.92 per pound, compared
to total royalty revenue of $136.6 million, at areeage gold price of $1,089 per ounce, an averihg® grice of $16.85 per ounce, an average
nickel price of $8.78 per pound and an average eoppce of $3.03 per pound for the fiscal yearezhdune 30, 2010. Royalty revenue and the
corresponding production,
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attributable to our royalty interests, for the &isgear ended June 30, 2011 compared to the figealended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

Royalty Revenue and Production Subject to our Royé#} Interests
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010
(In thousands, except reported production in ozs.ral Ibs.)

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010
Royalty Reported Royalty Reported
Royalty Metal(s) Revenue Production ) Revenue Production )
Andacollo®  Gold $ 43,60¢ 42,3440: $ 3,76: 4,145 oz
Voisey's Bay
®) $ 32,67 $ 3,907

Nickel 112.5 million Ibs 19.0 million Ibs

Copper 67.8 million Ibs 8.6 million Ibs
Pefiasquitc $ 21,54 $ 6,03

Gold 206,726 o: 117,963 o:

Silver 17.3 million oz 7.2 million oz

Lead 132.9 million Ibs 36.7 million lbs

Zinc 217.0 million lbs 48.5 million Ibs
Cortez Gold $ 17,24( 192,162 0: $ 25,05¢ 357,595 o:
Robinson $ 12,37: $ 12,14¢

Gold 49,712 oz 86,101 oz

Copper 93.7 million lbs 107.4 million lbs
Leeville Gold $ 10,69: 443,3170: $ 9,91¢ 454,148 o:
Taparko® Gold $ 10,60¢ 113,089 0: $ 32,15 117,505 o:
Mulatos Gold $ 10,15: 150,536 0: $ 8,99( 164,954 o:
Goldstrike Gold $ 6,53¢ 483,0080: $ 3,93¢ 348,802 o:
Inata® Gold $ 6,08¢ 177,655 o: N/A N/A
Las Cruce$® Copper $ 4467 747 milionlbs $ 90z  20.8 million Ibs
Dolores $ 4,457 $ 2,987

Gold 59,983 oz 73,463 o0z

Silver 2.6 million oz 1.2 million oz
Holt Gold $ 3,19 11,814 oz N/A N/A
Gwalia Deep

©) Gold $ 2,76¢ 132,253 0: $ 854 47,626 0z

Wolverine® $ 667 N/A N/A

Gold 905 oz N/A N/A

Silver 258,502 o: N/A N/A
Other®) Various $ 29,40¢ N/A $ 25091¢ N/A

Total Royalty

Revenue $ 216,46¢ $ 136,56!

@ Reported production relates to the amount of mestiels, subject to our royalty interests, for theltw months ende



June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010, as reportediy tie operators of the mine
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@ Royalty acquired in January 2010.
®) Royalty acquired in February 2010 as part of theugsition of IRC.

“) The Company has fully recognized the $35.0 milkap associated with TB-GSR1. In October 2010, the@any
received the remaining amounts due under the $88lidn cap. Upon receipt of the remaining amouwthig, TB-GSR1
and TB-GSR2 were terminated, and the Company'spe&p2.0% GSR royalty (TB-GSR3) became effecfivee TB-
GSRa3 royalty covers all gold produced from the Tkpamine. The Company does not consider the TB-G®alty at
Taparko to be principal to our business.

®) "Other" includes all of the Company's non-principedducing royalties as of June 30, 2011, exceptiikn, Goldstrike,
Inata and Gwalia Deeps, which were not consideretipal as of June 30, 2011. Individually, no ritydncluded within
the "Other" category contributed greater than 5%uwftotal royalty revenue for either peri

The increase in royalty revenue for thedig/ear ended June 30, 2011, compared with thalfigar ended June 30, 2010, resulted
primarily from an increase in the average goldjesil copper and nickel prices, revenue from themttg acquired Andacollo royalty
($39.8 million), an increase in revenue from theerdly acquired IRC producing royalties ($44.6 ioil) and the continued ramp-up at
Pefiasquito. These increases were partially ofizéngl the period due to a decrease in productid®oatez and lower revenue from Taparko
and Siguiri, which was due to the dollar caps beirgg during fiscal year 2011. Refer to Part |, It&nProperties, for discussion and any
updates on our principal producing properties.

General and administrative expenses ineceas$21.1 million for the fiscal year ended JB0e2011, from $19.5 million for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2010. The increase was prynolrd to an increase in general corporate cosgipmfoximately $0.7 million and an incre
in legal and tax consulting fees of approximatedy8dmillion. Approximately $0.4 million of the inease in general corporate costs was
attributable to an increase in Toronto Stock Exdedlisting fees, which were attributable to theuwsitjon of IRC. Our non-cash stock-based
compensation, which is also included within genaral administrative expenses, was $6.5 milliortHerfiscal year ended June 30, 2011,
compared to $7.3 million for the fiscal year endede 30, 2010.

Production taxes expense increased torifllion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 201anfr$2.9 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2010. The increase was primarily due to@ease in the mining proceeds tax expense agsdalith our Voisey's Bay royalty,
which was due to increased royalty revenue fronMbisey's Bay royalty during the period.

Depreciation, depletion and amortizatiopense increased to $67.4 million for the fiscalryeraded June 30, 2011, from $53.8 million for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. The increasepwmarily due to production from the royaltiesjaired from IRC in February 2010, whi
resulted in additional depletion of approximateR0$3 million during the period. The increase wasalttributable to depletion from the
recently acquired Andacollo royalty, which resultecdditional depletion expense of approximatel®.8 million during the period. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease jeden at Taparko ($14.2 million) and Siguiri (33nillion), which was due to the dollar caps
being met during the period.

Interest and other expense increased forfillion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20tdm $3.8 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2010. The increase was primarily due to@ease in interest expense of approximately 88lEon, which was associated with the
outstanding average balances on the Company'datglities during the period.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2@&lrecognized income tax expense totaling $391micompared with $14.2 million during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. This resuitad effective tax rate of 33.5% during the cutgeeriod, compared with 32.5% in the prior
period. The
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increase in the effective tax rate for June 30,128%primarily related to an increase in tax experedating to unrealized foreign exchange g:
offset by a decrease in tax expense related tonggrfrom non-U.S. subsidiaries. The tax rate tore]J30, 2010 also included non-deductible
acquisition related costs and increases in reséovéiscome tax contingencies as a result of uagetx positions acquired during the year.
Without the costs incurred as a result of the IRQuasition, the effective tax rate would have b28rb% for the year ended June 30, 2010.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2010, Compared with Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010remerded net income available to Royal Gold comstonkholders of $21.5 million, or $0.49
per basic and diluted share, compared to net inafr$88.3 million, or $1.09 per basic share and%Xer diluted share, for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009. The decrease in our earnmghpre during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2@k0due to (1) the IRC one-time
severance and acquisition related costs of appetein$19.4 million, and (2) the one-time royalggtructuring gain of $31.5 million during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, as part d3#ngck royalty portfolio acquisition. The aftent effect of the one-time IRC related costs
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, wa33%@er basic share. The after tax effect of thetome royalty restructuring gain during the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, was $0.60 pec bhare.

For fiscal year 2010, we recognized totghity revenue of $136.6 million, at an averagedgwice of $1,089 per ounce, compared to
royalty revenue of $73.8 million, at an averagedgwice of $874 per
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ounce for fiscal year 2009. Royalty revenue andctireesponding production, attributable to our ttyyaterests, for fiscal year 2010 compa
to fiscal year 2009 is as follows:

Royalty Revenue and Production Subject to our Roy#y} Interests
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands, except reported production in ozs.ral Ibs.)

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009
Royalty Reported Royalty Reported

Royalty Metal(s) Revenue Production ) Revenue Production )
Taparko Gold $ 32,157 117,505 0: $ 10,43: 48,105 oz
Cortez Gold $ 25,05¢ 357,5950: $ 16,34 268,327 0:
Robinson $ 12,14¢ $ 7,69t

Gold 86,101 oz 113,740 o:

Coppet 107.4 million Ibs 128.3 million Ibs
Leeville Gold $ 9,91 454,148 0: $ 6,65¢ 429,122 o:
Mulatos Gold $ 8,99 164,954 0: $ 6,11C 167,907 o:
Siguiri @ Gold $ 6,037 296,223 0: $ 3,96¢€ 241,817 oz
Pefiasquitc $ 6,03 $ 1,541

Gold 117,963 o: 52,932 0z

Silver 7.2 million oz 2.5 million oz

Lead 36.7 million Ibs N/A

Zinc 48.5 million Ibs N/A
Goldstrike Gold $ 3,93¢ 348,8020: $ 5,58¢ 724,368 0:
Voisey's Bay

®) $ 3,907 N/A

Nickel 19.0 million lbs N/A

Coppet 8.6 million Ibs N/A
Andacollo®  Gold $ 3,762 4,145 0z N/A N/A
Dolores $ 2,987 $ 90cC

Gold 73,463 0z 38,819 0z

Silver 1.2 million oz 326,182 o:
Las Cruce$®  Copper $ 90z  20.8 million Ibs N/A N/A
Gwalia Deeps

®) Gold $ 854 47,626 0z N/A N/A
Other® Various $ 19,87¢ N/A $ 14,54 N/A
Total Royalty
Revenue $ 136,56! $ 73,77

@ Reported production relates to the amount of nsetis, subject to our royalty interests, for theltw months ended
June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009, as reporteddy the operators of the mines.

@ As of June 30, 2010, the Company no longer consitltis royalty principal to its business due t® decline in future
potential royalty revenue from the property.



® Royalty acquired as part of the IRC transact
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“) Royalty acquired in January 2010. Production atamdlo began during the second calendar quart20dd.

®) "Other" includes all of the Company's non-principedducing royalties as of June 30, 2010 and 2B@Bvidually, no
royalty included within the "Other" category cobtited greater than 5% of our total royalty revefauesither period

The increase in royalty revenue for thedis/ear ended June 30, 2010, compared with thalfigar ended June 30, 2009, resulted
primarily from an increase in the average gold emgper prices, additional revenue from the acquiR&! producing royalties and the
Andacollo royalty, and an increase in productio@barko, Pefiasquito and Cortez. These increasespagially offset during the period by a
decrease in production at Robinson.

General and administrative expenses inectas$19.5 million for the fiscal year ended JB6e2010, from $12.0 million for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2009. The increase was piyntird to an increase in r-cash stock-based compensation expense allocatesh&ral and
administrative expense during the period of appnately $4.4 million, an increase in general corpormsts of approximately $1.5 million a
an increase in accounting and tax related expesfsgsproximately $1.0 million. Our non-cash sto@dsbd compensation, which is also
included within general and administrative expengas $7.3 million for the fiscal year ended JuneZ10, compared to $2.9 million for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The increase virasuly due to an increase in the number of penfance share awards the Company had
estimated would vest.

Depreciation, depletion and amortizatiopense increased to $53.8 million for the fiscalryeraded June 30, 2010, from $32.6 million for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. Increasediptioth at Taparko, Pefiasquito, Dolores and Leerékilted in additional depletion expense
of approximately $14.7 million during the periods8, the producing royalties acquired as part eflRC acquisition resulted in additional
depletion expense of approximately $5.5 milliomirthe acquisition date through June 30, 2010.

As discussed in Note 3 to the notes to clinfested financial statements, the Company incuagggroximately $19.4 million in severance
and acquisition related costs associated withR&transaction. These one-time, non-recurring csste related to financial advisory, legal,
accounting, tax and consulting services associaittdthe IRC Transaction as well as severanceedlptiyments as part of the termination of
IRC's officers and certain employees upon acqaisitif IRC.

Interest and other income increased to B6libn for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20t0nT $3.2 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2009. The increase was primarily due$®.@ million gain on distributions of gold invenyaattributable to non-controlling interests.
The increase was partially off-set by (i) a decegasour average invested cash during fiscal y8a02vhen compared to fiscal year 2009, and
(ii) a decrease in the interest rates associatddawuir invested cash.

Interest and other expense increased ®mBlion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20t@n $1.0 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2009. The increase was primarily due to@ease in interest expense associated withutstamding balances on the Company's debt
facilities, as discussed in Note 8 of the notesatasolidated financial statements.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 208&0recognized income tax expense totaling $14lBmicompared with $21.9 million during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. This resiuited effective tax rate of 32.5% during the cutnegriod, compared with 34.6% in the prior
period. The decrease in the effective tax ratddfore 30, 2010 is primarily related to (i) less faeincome as a result of the one-time royalty
portfolio gain in June 30, 2009, (ii) an increasé¢he depletion allowance, and (iii) an increasthamincome attributable to non-controlling
interests. The tax rate for June 30, 2010 alsaded non-deductible acquisition related costs aorkases in reserves for income tax
contingencies as a result of uncertain tax postexguired during the year. Without the
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costs incurred as a result of the IRC Transactlmneffective tax rate would have been 29.5% ferytsar ended June 30, 2010.
Forward-Looking Statements

Cautionary "Safe Harbor" Statement underRhvate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1998ith the exception of historical matters,
the matters discussed in this report are forwaoltiftg statements that involve risks and uncertagntiat could cause actual results to differ
materially from projections or estimates contaihedein. Such forward-looking statements includéstents regarding projected production
estimates and estimates pertaining to timing ameheencement of production from the operators ofroyalty properties; the adequacy of
financial resources and funds to cover anticipatquenditures for general and administrative expeasevell as costs associated with
exploration and business development and capitsmitures, and our expectation that substanti#lligur revenues will be derived from
royalty interests. Factors that could cause actsllts to differ materially from these forward-kirng statements include, among others:

. changes in gold and other metals prices on whichayalties and similar interests are paid or [miassociated with the prima
metals mined at properties where we hold interests;

. the production at or performance of properties wivee hold interests;

. decisions and activities of the operators of priypemwhere we hold interes

. the ability of operators to bring projects into guation and operate in accordance with feasibglitidies;

. liquidity or other problems our operators may enteu

. unanticipated grade and geological, metallurgisedcessing or other problems at the properties eviver hold interest:
. mine operating and ore processing facility problepitswall or tailings dam failures, natural cataghes such as floods

earthquakes and access to raw materials, watgoamer;

. changes in project parameters as plans of the mperare refined;

. changes in estimates of reserves and mineralizhtidhe operators of properties where we hold &g,

. economic and market conditions;

. future financial needs;

. federal, state and foreign legislation governinguthe operators of properties where we hold ey,

. the availability of royalties and similar interefts acquisition or other acquisition opportunitegsd the availability of debt «

equity financing necessary to complete such adiuisi;

. our ability to make accurate assumptions regartlingzaluation, timing and amount of payments whaiking acquisitions;

. risks associated with conducting business in foreiguntries, including application of foreign latescontract and othe
disputes, environmental and permitting laws, comitgumrest and labor disputes, and enforcementuscértain political and
economic environments;

. risks associated with issuances of substantiatiaddi common stock or incurrence of substantidelstedness in connecti
with acquisitions or otherwise;

44




Table of Contents

. acquisition and maintenance of permits and authtiams, completion of construction and commenceraadtcontinuation of
production at the properties where we hold interest

. changes to management and key employees; and

. failure to complete future acquisitions;

as well as other factors described elsewhere énrégort and our other reports filed with the SEIGst of these factors are beyond our abilit
predict or control. Future events and actual reszduld differ materially from those set forth a@ntemplated by or underlying the forward-
looking statements. We disclaim any obligation pdate any forward-looking statements made heresadBrs are cautioned not to put undue
reliance on forward-looking statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE  ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our earnings and cash flows are signifigantpacted by changes in the market price of gold other metals. Gold, silver, copper, nickel
and other metal prices can fluctuate significaatig are affected by numerous factors, such as dirparduction levels, economic policies of
central banks, producer hedging, world politicad @sonomic events and the strength of the U.Sadddlative to other currencies. Please see "
Volatility in gold, silver, copper, nickel and othmetal prices may have an adverse impact on theewvaf our royalty interests and reduce our
royalty revenues' under Part |, ltem 1A, Risk Factors, of thisagifor more information on factors that can affgotd, silver, copper, nickel
and other metal prices as well as historical gsiléter, copper and nickel prices.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 20&lreported royalty revenues of $216.5 millionthadn average gold price for the period of
$1,369 per ounce, an average copper price of $&B0pound and an average nickel price of $10.8@pend. Approximately 64% of our total
recognized revenues for the fiscal year ended 30n2011 were attributable to gold sales from ald grroducing interests, as shown within
the MD&A. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 20flthe price of gold had averaged 10% higher ordoper ounce, we would have recorded
an increase or decrease in revenue of approxim@idy3 million.

Approximately 10% of our total recognizedenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 at&ibutable to copper sales from our
copper producing interests. For the fiscal yeaedntline 30, 2011, if the price of copper had awetd®% higher or lower per pound, we
would have recorded an increase or decrease imuegeof approximately $2.5 million, respectively.

Approximately 15% of our total recognizedenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 ataibutable to nickel sales from our
nickel producing interests. For the fiscal yeareehdune 30, 2011, if the price of nickel had avedat0% higher or lower per pound, we would
have recorded an increase or decrease in revehappmximately $4.2 million, respectively.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Roydtddac.

We have audited the accompanying conselitbalance sheet of Royal Gold, Inc. as of Jun@D], and the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive incstmekholders' equity, and cash flows for the yhantended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management.r@sponsibility is to express an opinion on thésericial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance wWithdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgetr8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementened to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of Royal
Gold, Inc. at June 30, 2011, and the consolidaedlts of its operations and its cash flows forjtbar then-ended, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting OgétdBoard (United States), Royal
Gold Inc.'s internal control over financial repogias of June 30, 2011, based on criteria estadlishinternal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report dategusu18, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
August 18, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of R&yald, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated balanceettas of June 30, 2010 and the related consalidtétements of operations and comprehensive
income, of changes in equity and of cash flowsefeh of two years in the period ended June 30, pod€ent fairly, in all material respects,
financial position of Royal Gold, Inc. and its sigharies at June 30, 2010, and the results of thygérations and their cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended June 30, 2010, ifocority with accounting principles generally acasgphin the United States of America. Th
financial statements are the responsibility of @menpany's management. Our responsibility is toesgan opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted dits af these statements in accordance with thedatals of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsedards require that we plan and perform the dadibtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of matarisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esabasis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgese accounting principles used and signifiestimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@rmaWe believe that our audits provide a reastnbasis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Denver, Colorado
August 26, 2010, except for Note 3, as to whichdate is August 18, 2011
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of June 30,

(In thousands except share data)

2011 2010
ASSETS
Cash and equivalen $ 114,15 $ 324,84t
Royalty receivable 48,82¢ 40,36:
Income tax receivabl — 3,527
Prepaid expenses and other current a 6,29( 2,621
Total current asse 169,27 371,36:
Royalty interests in mineral properties, net (N&t 1,690,43! 1,476,79
Available for sale securities (Note 28,87¢ 201
Other asset 14,11 16,97(
Total asset $ 1,902,70. $ 1,865,33:
LIABILITIES
Current portion of lon-term debt (Note 8 $ 15600 $  26,00(
Accounts payabl 2,49¢ 2,36
Dividends payabli 6,09: 4,97(
Income tax payabl 67€ —
Other current liabilitie: 3,99: 2,43
Total current liabilities 28,86 35,77¢
Long-term debt (Note 8 210,50( 222,50(
Net deferred tax liabilitie 152,56 155,97¢
Uncertain tax positions (Note 1 18,83¢ 12,47¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 4,24¢ 5,05¢
Total liabilities 415,00° 431,78!
Commitments and contingencies (Note
EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 10(@@shares
authorized; and 0 shares isst — —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 sharth®i@azed; and
54,231,787 and 53,324,171 shares outstanding, ctsgly 543 534
Exchangeable shares, no par value, 1,806,649 sisatesl, les
900,854 and 176,540 redeemed shares, respec 39,86« 71,74:
Additional paic-in capital 1,319,69 1,284,08
Accumulated other comprehensive income (i 54 (39
Accumulated earning 100,00 51,86:
Treasury stock, at cost (0 and 96,675 shares, cteply) — (4,479
Total Royal Gold stockholders' equ 1,460,16. 1,403,711
Non-controlling interest: 27,53: 29,83:
Total equity 1,487,69! 1,433,54
Total liabilities and equit $ 1,902,70: $ 1,865,33.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Income
For The Years Ended June 30,

(In thousands except share data)

2011 2010 2009

Royalty revenue $ 216,46¢ $  136,56! $ 73,77
Costs and expens

General and administrati\ 21,10¢ 19,47( 11,95(

Production taxe 9,03¢ 2,86: 1,951

Depreciation, depletion and amortizati 67,39¢ 53,79 32,57¢

Severance and acquisition related ¢ — 19,40: —
Total costs and expens 97,54¢ 95,53( 46,47¢
Operating incom 118,92! 41,03t 27,29:
Royalty portfolio restructuring gai — — 33,71
Interest and other incon 5,08¢ 6,36( 3,19z
Interest and other expen (7,740 (3,809 (984)
Income before income tax 116,27 43,58¢ 63,21«
Income tax expens (38,979 (14,169 (21,857
Net income 77,29¢ 29,42: 41,35)
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: (5,909 (7,930 (3,009
Net income available to Royal Gold commr

stockholder $ 71,398 3 21,49: $ 38,34¢
Net income $ 77,29¢ $ 29,42: $ 41,357
Adjustments to comprehensive income, net of ta:

Unrealized change in market value of available

sale securitie 89 45 (145
Comprehensive incorn 77,38¢ 29,467 41,21:
Comprehensive income attributable to -

controlling interest: (5,909 (7,930 (3,009
Comprehensive income attributable to Royal Gol

stockholder $ 71,48 $ 21,537 $ 38,20:
Net income per share available to Royal C

common stockholder:
Basic earnings per she $ 1.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 1.0¢
Basic weighted average shares outstan 55,053,20. 43,640,41 35,337,13
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 1.07%
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 55,323,41 43,980,81 35,789,07
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 04z $ 034 $ 0.3C

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance at June 30, 200
Issuance of common stock
for:
Equity offering
Other
Stock-based compensatior
and related share
issuance:
Net income
Comprehensive income
(loss)
Distribution to non-
controlling interest:
Dividends declare

Balance at June 30, 200
Issuance of common stock
for:
Equity offering
Acquisition of Internatione
Royalty Corporatior
Andacollo Royalty
acquisition
Exchange of exchangeab
shares
Stock-based compensatiot
and related share
issuance:
Net income
Comprehensive income
(loss)
Distribution to non-
controlling interest:
Dividends declare

Balance at June 30, 201
Issuance of common stock
for:
Exchange of exchangeab
shares
Retirement of treasury
stock
Stock-based compensatiot
and related share
issuance:
Net income
Comprehensive incorr
Distribution to non-
controlling interest:
Dividends declare:

Balance at June 30, 2011

ROYAL GOLD, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(In thousands except share data)

Royal Gold Stockholders

Exchangeable

Accumulated
Other

< . . y
Common Share Shares Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Treasury Stock Non-

Paid- controlling

Shares  Amount Shares Amount In Capital Income (Loss) Earnings  Shares Amount interests
33,926,49 $  33¢ — $ — $ 46333 $ 65 $ 19,47¢ — 3 — 3 11,41
6,500,001 65 — — 234,86 — — — — —
5,33t — — — 17¢ — — — — —
48,48 1 — — 4,027 — — — — —
— — — — — — 38,34¢ — — 3,00¢
— — — — (245) — — — —
— — — — — — — — — (3,450
— — — — — — (11,11 — — —
40,480,31 $ 40t — $ — $ 70240 $ (80) $ 46,70¢ — $ — $ 10,97(
5,980,00! 60 276,15¢ — — — — —
5,234,08 52 1,806,64! 79,51: 230,23t — — 22,24t (917) 20,70
1,204,131 12 53,41¢ — — — — —
176,54( 2 (176,540 (7,770 7,76¢ — — — — —
249,09¢ 3 — — 14,10: — —  7443( (3,557 —
— — — — — — 21,49: — — 7,93(
— — — — 46 — — — —
— — — — — — — — — (9,772)
— — — — — — (16,339 — — —
53,324,17 $ 534 1,630,10' $ 71,74. $ 1,284,08 $ 34) $ 51,86: 96,67¢ $ (4,479 $ 29,83:
724,31 6 (724,319 (31,87) 31,87: — — — — —
(22,24%) (1) — — (4,502) — — (96,67  4,47¢ —
205,54 4 — — 8,241 — — — — —
— — — — — — 71,39¢ — — 5,904
— — — — — 88 — — — —
— — — — — — — — — (8,207)
— — — — — — (23,257) — — —
54,231,78 $ 545 905,79! $ 39,86: $ 1,319,69 $ 54 $  100,00: — 3 — $ 27,53

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended June 30,

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income $

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by
operating activities
Depreciation, depletion and amortizati
Gain on distribution to nc-controlling interes
Deferred tax expense (bene
Non-cash employee stock compensation exp
Gain on royalty restructurin
Tax benefit of stoc-based compensation exerci:
Other

Changes in assets and liabiliti
Royalty receivable
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Income taxes (receivable) paya
Other liabilities

2011 2010 2009
77,29¢ $ 29,42: $ 41,35
67,39¢ 53,79  32,57¢
(3,259  (5,89) (1,929
(5,130 (7,539 (2,170
6,49¢ 7,27¢ 2,921
— — (33,719
(1,329 (1,639 (334)
— 371 —
(8,465 (19,055 (4,280
2,247 4,03¢ (477
(930) (10,747 (1,839
5,527 (2,697) (147)
7,10¢ 1,03( (1,929)

Net cash provided by operating activit

$ 146,95° $ 48,371 $ 30,04

Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of royalty interests in mineral proges
Acquisition of International Royalty Corporatiorgtrof cast
acquirec
Acquisistion of available for sale securit
Proceeds from royalty restructuri
Change in restricted ce—compensating balant
Proceeds on sale of invent—restricted
Deferred acquisition cos
Other

(280,009 (232,990 (186,11()
—  (270,23) —
(28,57 — —
— — 34,89

—  19,25( (3,500)
5,097 3,641 3,477
(117) (1200 (1,029
(2,660) (86) (284)

Net cash used in investing activiti

$(306,267) $(480,53¢) $(152,54)

Cash flows from financing activitie

Borrowings from credit facilitie 19,50( 255,00( —
Tax benefit of stoc-based compensation exerci: 1,32¢ 1,63¢ 334
(Prepayment of) borrowings under Chilean loan figc — (29,250() 3,50(
Common stock dividenc (22,130 (14,629 (10,242
Repayment of det (41,900 (36,019 —
Proceeds from foreign exchange cont — 4,101 —
Distribution to norcontrolling interest: (7,15%) (3,647 (3,477)
Net proceeds from issuance of common s — 276,83¢ 235,70°
Debt issuance cos (96€) (1,599 (797)
Other (54) — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi $ (51,38%) $ 462,447 $ 225,02!
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equiva (210,69)) 30,28( 102,53:
Cash and equivalents at beginning of pe 324,84t 294,56¢ 192,03!
Cash and equivalents at end of pel $ 114,15! $ 324,84t $ 294,56t

See Note 14 for supplemental cash flow informat

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. THE COMPANY

Royal Gold, Inc. ("Royal Gold", the "Compgdn"we", "us" or "our"), together with its subsaties, is engaged in the business of acquiring
and managing precious metals royalties and sinmtarests. Royalties are passive (non-operatirtgyésts in mining projects that provide the
right to revenue or production from the projeceafieducting specified costs, if any.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of our financial statemémtsonformity with accounting principles generadigcepted in the United States of America
requires the Company to make estimates and assumtiat affect the reported amounts of assetdiaitities, and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the findrst&ements, and the reported amounts of reveametexpenses during the reporting periods.
Actual results could differ significantly from theestimates.

Basis of Consolidatio

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Royal Gold, Inc., its wholly-@adrsubsidiaries and an entity over which
control is achieved through means other than vaiigiyts. The Company follows the Accounting StaddaCodification ("ASC") guidance for
identification and reporting for entities over whicontrol is achieved through means other thamgaiights. The guidance defines such ent
as Variable Interest Entities ("VIES"). As discusgerther in Note 18, the Company identified Creddéalley Partners, L.P. ("CVP") as a VIE
due to the legal structure and certain relatedfactilso refer to Note 3 for further discussiorad¥|IE identified as part of the acquisition of
International Royalty Corporation ("IRC"). The id#ied VIEs are not material to the Company's olleyperations or consolidated balance
sheets either individually or in the aggregateedcdmpany transactions and account balances havedlieninated in consolidation.

Cash and Equivalents

Cash and equivalents consist of all caséinloas and highly liquid investments with an or&dimaturity of three months or less. Cash and
equivalents are primarily held in cash deposit aot®

Royalty Interests in Mineral Propertis

Royalty interests in mineral propertiediiie acquired royalty interests in production, depment and exploration stage properties. The
cost of acquired royalty interests in mineral proies are capitalized as tangible assets as stetegts do not meet the definition of a financial
asset under ASC guidance.

Acquisition costs of production stage royahterests are depleted using the units of prodoenethod over the life of the mineral
property, which is estimated using proven and potbeeserves as provided by the operator. Acqaisitosts of royalty interests on
development stage mineral properties, which arg/@bin production, are not amortized until thegeay begins production. Acquisition costs
of royalty interests on exploration stage minerapgrties, where there are no proven and probakkrves, are not amortized. At such time as
the associated exploration stage mineral
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
(Continued)

interests are converted to proven and probablewesethe cost basis is amortized over the remgitifim of the mineral property, using proven
and probable reserves. Exploration costs are cdogeperations when incurred.

Available for Sale Securitie

Investments in securities that managemees ot have the intent to sell in the near tercththat have readily determinable fair values
classified as available-for-sale securities. Urizedl gains and losses on these investments arslegtm accumulated other comprehensive
income as a separate component of stockholderityegucept that declines in market value judgeteamther than temporary are recognize
determining net income. When investments are sbédrealized gains and losses on these investdatesmined using the specific
identification method, are included in determinimeg income.

The Company's policy for determining whettieclines in fair value of available-for-sale sgties are other than temporary includes a
quarterly analysis of the investments and a re\igunanagement of all investments that are impaifesich impairment is determined by the
Company to be other than temporary, the investsenst basis is written down to fair value and réed in net income during the period the
Company determines such impairment to be othertéraporary.

Asset Impairmer

We evaluate long-lived assets for impairhvelnenever events or changes in circumstancesateltbat the related carrying amounts of an
asset or group of assets may not be recoverabéeréoverability of the carrying value of royalhterests in production and development s
mineral properties is evaluated based upon estihfatare undiscounted net cash flows from eachltpyaterest property using estimates of
proven and probable reserves and other relevamtiration received from the operator. We evaluagerdtoverability of the carrying value of
royalty interests in exploration stage mineral gmies in the event of significant decreases inptiiee of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other
metals, and whenever new information regardingivesral properties is obtained from the operatdidating that production will not likely
occur in the future, thus affecting the future negrability of our royalty interests. Impairmentstive carrying value of each property are
measured and recorded to the extent that the ogriglue in each property exceeds its estimated/&ile, which is generally calculated using
estimated future discounted cash flows.

Our estimates of gold, silver, copper, elcknd other metal prices, operator's estimatgsafen and probable reserves related to our
royalty properties, and operator's estimates ofaijyey, capital and reclamation costs are subgecettain risks and uncertainties which may
affect the recoverability of our investment in teeyalty interests in mineral properties. Althowgd have made our best assessment of these
factors based on current conditions, it is possitide changes could occur, which could adversdbcathe net cash flows expected to be
generated from these royalty interests.

Royalty Revenu

Royalty revenue is recognized in accordamitie the guidance of ASC 605 and based upon ansatoritractually due pursuant to the
underlying royalty agreement. Specifically, reveisigecognized in accordance with the terms ofutiderlying royalty agreements subject to
(i) the
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
(Continued)

pervasive evidence of the existence of the arraegésn(ii) the risks and rewards having been tiemnsd; (iii) the royalty being fixed or
determinable; and (iv) the collectability of theyadty being reasonably assured. For royalty paymesteived in-kind, royalty revenue is
recorded at the average spot price of gold fop#réd in which the royalty was earned.

Revenue recognized pursuant to the Robinsyaity agreement is based upon 3.0% of reverzeswed by the operator of the mine,
QuadraFNX Mining, Ltd. ("Quadra"), for the saleminerals from the Robinson mine, reduced by cextasts incurred by Quadra. Quadra's
concentrate sales contracts with third-party smglia general, provide for an initial sales pii@yment based upon provisional assays and
guoted metal prices at the date of shipment. Rinalup sales price payments to Quadra are substygbased upon final assay and market
metal prices on a specified future date, typicatlg to three months after the date the concerdraiees at the third-party smelter (which
generally occurs four to five months after the siépt date from the Robinson mine). We do not h#iwb@key information regarding the
terms of the operator's smelter contracts, sut¢heaterms of specific concentrate shipments to eltemor quantities of metal or expected
settlement arrangements at the time of an opesabipment of concentrate.

Each monthly payment from Quadra is typycalcombination of revenue received by Quadrgfowrisional payments during the month
and any upward or downward adjustments for finahgs and commodity prices for earlier shipmentseihr the payment to Royal Gold is
based on Quadra's revenue in the form of provisioneinal payments, Royal Gold records royaltyeaue and the corresponding receivable
based on the monthly amounts it receives from Quaal determined pursuant to the royalty agreerii@etroyalty contract does not provide
Royal Gold with rights or obligations to settle dimal assay and commodity price adjustments witlad@a. Therefore, once a given monthly
payment is received by Royal Gold it is not subjedater adjustment based on adjustments for assagommodity prices. Under the royalty
agreement, Quadra may include such final adjustresnt component of future royalty payments.

Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes @o@ance with the guidance of ASC 740. The Compgaaigferred income taxes reflect the
impact of temporary differences between the repoateounts of assets and liabilities for financégarting purposes and such amounts
measured by tax laws and regulations. The defeaedssets and liabilities represent the futuree¢txrn consequences of those differences,
which will either be taxable or deductible when #ssets and liabilities are recovered or settledaléation allowance is provided for deferred
tax assets when management concludes it is maly ilkan not that some portion of the deferredassets will not be realized.

The Company's operations may involve dealitth uncertainties and judgments in the applaratif complex tax regulations in multiple
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependgmatrumany factors, including negotiations with taxauthorities in various jurisdictions a
resolution of disputes arising from federal, statg] international tax audits. The Company recampotential liabilities and records tax
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in trited States and other tax jurisdictions basedsoastimate of whether, and the extent to wt
additional taxes will be due. If the Company'sraate of tax liabilities proves to be less thanuhignate assessment, an additional

55




Table of Contents

ROYAL GOLD, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

(Continued)

charge to income tax expense would result. If Steraate of tax liabilities proves to be greatemtlize ultimate assessment, a tax benefit would
result. The Company recognizes interest and pesalifiany, related to unrecognized tax benefiis@me tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based cosgigm in accordance with the guidance of ASC Th& Company recognizes all share-

based payments to employees, including grants pfamae stock options, stock appreciation rightsARS") and restricted stock, in its
financial statements based upon their fair values.

Operating Segments and Geographical Information

The Company manages its business undagkesperating segment, consisting of royalty asitjoh and management activities. Royal
Gold's royalty revenue and loriged assets (royalty interests in mineral progsitnet) are geographically distributed as shovtherfollowing
table. Please refer to Note 6 for a further brealdof the Company's royalty interests on producirigeral properties.

Royalty Interests in

Royalty Revenue Mineral Property, net
Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, June 30,
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

United State! 2% 40% 56% 3% 56 13%
Chile 21% 4% 1% 4C% 42% 6%
Canade 19% 4% 2% 36% 2% 19%
Mexico 18 1%% 15% 11% 13% 45%
Africa @ 9% 29% 21% 2% 2% 8%
Australia 5% 5% 2% 5% 6% 6%
Other 4% 3% 3% 3% 5% 3%

@ Consists of royalties on properties in Burkina Fasd Guinea

Comprehensive Income

In addition to net income, comprehensiwine includes changes in equity during a period@aged with cumulative unrealized chan
in the fair value of marketable securities helddale, net of tax effects.

Earnings per Shar

Basic earnings per share is computed bigidiy income available to common stockholders leywheighted average number of outstan
common shares for the period, considering the effeparticipating securities, and include the tartging exchangeable shares. Diluted
earnings per share reflect the potential dilutiwat tould occur if securities or other contractt thay require issuance of common shares were

converted. Diluted earnings per share is compuyedividing net income
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
(Continued)

available to common stockholders by the dilutedgivegd average number of common shares outstaridoigeding outstanding exchangeable
shares, during each fiscal year.

Production taxe:

Certain royalty payments are subject tapobion taxes (or mining proceeds taxes), whichracegnized at the time of revenue
recognition. Production taxes are not income taxekare included within the costs and expense®gadntthe Company's consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Reclassificatior

Cost and expenses previously classifiexsoration and business developmarg now included within th&eneral and administrative
caption. Further, certain amounts previously cfassiasCosts of Operationare now included within th&eneral and administrativeaption ol
the Production taxegaption in the Company's consolidated statementpeifations and comprehensive income. The followatde reflects
these reclassifications for the fiscal years entlege 30, 2010 and 2009:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2010 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009
Previously Previously
Reported Reclass Adjusted Reported Reclass Adjusted
Balance Adjustment Balance Balance Adjustment Balance
Costs and expense
Costs of operatior $ 6235 $ (6235 $ — $ 3551 $ (355) % —
General and
administrative 12,59¢ 6,87¢ 19,47( 7,352 4,59¢ 11,95(
Production taxe 2,86: 2,86: — 1,957 1,957
Exploration and
business
developmen 3,50¢ (3,509 — 2,99¢ (2,999 —

These reclassifications had no effect @omned operating income or net income attributablRoyal Gold stockholders for the prior
periods presented.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009, the ASC guidance for constilich accounting was updated to require an endifyerform a qualitative analysis to detern
whether the enterprise's variable interest givascibntrolling financial interest in a VIE. Thisalitative analysis identifies the primary
beneficiary of a VIE as the entity that has botthef following characteristics: (i) the power toetit the activities of a VIE that most
significantly impact the entity's economic performoa, and (i) the obligation to absorb losses oeie benefits from the entity that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. The updatgddance also requires ongoing reassessments pfithary beneficiary of a VIE. Adoption
the updated guidance, effective for the Compargtaf year beginning July 1, 2010, had no impadhenCompany's consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
(Continued)

Fair Value Measuremen

In January 2010, the ASC guidance forfalue measurements and disclosure was updateduoeeadditional disclosures related to:
(2) transfers in and out of Level 1 and 2 fair walneasurements, and (2) enhanced detail in thd Beeeonciliation. The guidance was
amended to provide clarity about the level of digagation required for assets and liabilities dreddisclosures required for inputs and
valuation techniques used to measure fair valubdtn recurring and non-recurring measurementsfétiah either Level 2 or Level 3. The
updated guidance was effective for the Companstsfiyear beginning July 1, 2010, with the exceptibthe Level 3 disaggregation, which is
effective for the Company's fiscal year beginninty 1, 2011. The adoption had no impact on the Camy|s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting 8tads Board issued ASU No. 2011-8%esentation of Comprehensive Incofiee ASU
addresses the presentation of comprehensive inaathgrovides entities with the option to preseetttital of comprehensive income, the
components of net income, and the components ef abmprehensive income either in a single contisgtatement of comprehensive inc
or in two separate but consecutive statementspitnasions of this ASU are effective for the Compamuarter beginning January 1, 2012.
Since this ASU addresses financial presentatiop, @sladoption will not impact the Company's cdigaded position or results of operations.

3. ACQUISITION OF INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

On February 22, 2010, Royal Gold, througthally-owned Canadian subsidiary, RG Exchangeco Inc. EREhangeco"), acquired all
the issued and outstanding common shares of Intena& Royalty Corporation (the "IRC TransactionThe purchase price for the IRC
Transaction consisted of approximately $350.0 onillin cash, 5,234,086 shares of Royal Gold comrnmekgvalued at $230.4 million on
February 22, 2010) and 1,806,649 exchangeablesb&fRG Exchangeco (valued at $79.5 million on Eeby 22, 2010), which shares are
convertible at any time on a one-for-one basifRioyal Gold common stock. The IRC Transaction furttemplemented and expanded our
royalty portfolio.

The Company followed the acquisition metlbddccounting in accordance with ASC 805. Durimg three months ended March 31, 2(
the Company finalized its assessment of the fdirevaf the
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3. ACQUISITION OF INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION  (Continued)

assets acquired and liabilities assumed as péanedRC Transaction. The following table summaritesfair values of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed from IRC:

Preliminary purchase Final purchase

price allocation Purchase price price allocation
as of June 30, 2010 adjustments as of June 30, 2010

(amounts in thousands)

Purchase pric $ 659,87, $ — 3 659,87:
Current assef $ 83,72( $ 1,06¢ $ 84,78¢
Royalty interests in mineral properti 774,29: 8,81¢ 783,10°
Other asset 14,30« (4,917 9,39:
Current liabilities (20,839 (974) (11,819
Senior secured debentul (28,769 — (28,769
Net deferred tax liabilitie (140,89)) (3,395 (144,28¢)
Uncertain tax position (8,362 (605) (8,967
Other liabilities (2,87¢) — (2,87¢)
Non-controlling interes (20,709 — (20,709
Total allocated purchase pri $ 659,87, $ — $ 659,87:

The purchase price adjustments were atide to the Company receiving updated mineral @rypand tax attribute information. The
above purchase price adjustments are reflectdtei€bmpany's consolidated balance sheet as of3yrg910. There was no impact to the
Company's statement of operations for the perioghfFebruary 22, 2010 to June 30, 2010, as a rekthie purchase price adjustments.

For the twelve months ended June 30, 20E0Company incurred approximately $8.6 milliortrafhsaction costs for financial advisory,
legal, accounting, tax and consulting servicesaasqf the IRC Transaction. The Company also irediapproximately $10.8 million in
severance related payments as part of the termimafilRC's officers and certain employees uporugsitipn of IRC. The transaction and
severance payment costs are includeflemerance and acquisition-related camtsour consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income and were recognized sepafatetythe purchase price for the IRC Transaction.

The non-controlling interest arising fronetiRC Transaction is the result of IRC's indireehership of a 90% interest in the Labrador
Nickel Royalty Limited Partnership ("LNRLP"), whiatwns 100% of the Voisey's Bay Net Smelter RetlINER") royalty. The owner of th
remaining 10% interest in LNRLP is Altius Resourtas ("Altius"), a company unrelated to Royal Galdd IRC. Due to the legal structure of
LNRLP and certain related factors, the Companyrdateed that LNRLP should be fully consolidated. Tae value of the non-controlling
interest was determined based on its proportiostagiee to the underlying assets and liabilitiehefgartnership.

The Company's consolidated financial stateisiinclude the results of the IRC Transactiomfthe date of acquisition. The following
unaudited pro forma information is presented &sdfIRC Transaction had been completed as of thmbmg of the periods presented. The
forma results
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3. ACQUISITION OF INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION  (Continued)

are not necessarily indicative of what would hagerbachieved had the IRC Transaction been in dffethe periods presented.

Fiscal Years Ended

June 30,
2010 2009
(in thousands)
Royalty revenue $ 152,71¢ $ 113,25¢
Net income (loss) available to Roy
Gold common stockholde $ (434) $ 29,24t

For the period February 22, 2010, througheJ30, 2010, approximately $9.0 million of royakwenue was recorded on the Company's
consolidated statements of operations and compseleimcome related to royalties acquired in th€ [Ransaction. In the above pro forma,
net income attributable to Royal Gold common statitérs as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, included appately $19.4 million in transaction
costs and severance related payments related tR@&ransaction.

4. ROYALTY ACQUISITIONS
Mt. Milligan Gold Stream Acquisition

On October 20, 2010, the Company enteredariPurchase and Sale Agreement (the "Purchasaed\greement") pursuant to which a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, RGLD Gol@ &Aormerly known as RGL Royalty AG), acquired tight to purchase 25% of the
payable gold produced from the Mt. Milligan coppgid project in British Columbia (the "Gold Purckakransaction”) from Terrane Metals
Corp. ("Terrane"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tifmson Creek Metals Company Inc. ("Thompson Credktig parties entered into the
Purchase and Sale Agreement and consummated tbeP@alhase Transaction concurrently with the comsation of Thompson Creek's
acquisition of Terrane.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale AgreeR&itD Gold AG paid $226.5 million at the closinfitbe Gold Purchase Transaction. In the
future, upon satisfaction of certain conditionsfeeth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement, RGLRIG@ will make additional payments
(each an "Additional Payment") to Terrane in an aniaot to exceed $85 million in the aggregateutudfa portion of the development cost:
the Mt. Milligan project. Upon commencement of pwotlon at the Mt. Milligan project, RGLD Gold AG livpurchase 25% of the payable
gold with a cash payment equal to the lesser 00$tGhe prevailing market price for each payahieaz of gold until 550,000 ounces have
been delivered to RGLD Gold AG, and the lesserd&0bor the prevailing market price for each add#ioounce thereafter. The Purchase and
Sale Agreement also contains representations amanties, covenants, conditions and indemnificafioovisions in respect of each party.

The acquisition of the Mt. Milligan goldream has been accounted for as an asset acquiitier$$226.5 million paid at closing, plus
direct transaction costs of approximately $1.1iomll has been recorded as a development stageayayi@rest withinRoyalty interests in
mineral properties, natin our consolidated balance sheets. The Companytipai$226.5 million portion of the total consid@a from cash on
hand. The Company did not make any Additional Pays® Thompson Creek through June 30, 2011.
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Acquisition of Additional Royalty Interests at Paswua-Lama

On July 1, 2010, the Company entered wtmgeparate assignment of rights agreements wittptivate Chilean citizens whereby Royal
Gold acquired an additional 0.75% NSR sliding-scajalty on the Pascua-Lama project, which is owawed operated by Barrick Gold
Corporation ("Barrick") and located on the bordetvieen Argentina and Chile, for a purchase pricgs@f million. Of this amount, $25 million
was paid on July 1, 2010 to acquire 0.35% of tH&% royalty interest. A deferred payment of $28ioml was made on October 28, 2010, to
acquire the remaining 0.40% royalty interest. UgmnOctober 28, 2010 closings, Royal Gold's totdd gNSR royalty interest in the Pascua-
Lama project increased to 5.23%, at gold priceval$800 per ounce. Pursuant to the assignmengtufsragreements, Royal Gold also
acquired a 0.20% fixed-rate net smelter return eoppyalty that takes effect after January 1, 20igteasing Royal Gold's copper royalty
interest in the Pascua-Lama project to 1.05%.

The acquisition of the additional royaltydrests at Pascuama has been accounted for as an asset acquiditiertotal purchase price
$53 million, plus direct transaction costs of apgmzately $1.1 million, has been recorded as a dgmaknt stage royalty interest witHRoyalty
interests in mineral properties, neh our consolidated balance sheets. The Compantipai$53.0 million of the total consideration fraash
on hand.

Andacollo

On January 25, 2010, the Company acquinddtarest in the gold produced from the sulfidetipo of the Andacollo project in Chile frc
a Chilean subsidiary of Teck Resources Limited €K' Compafiia Minera Teck Carmen de Andacollo. ptaehase price for the Andacollo
Royalty consisted of $217.9 million in cash andd#,236 of the Company's common shares. The caslopof the purchase price was paid
from the Company's cash on hand.

The Andacollo Royalty acquisition has baenounted for as an asset acquisition. As suchpthepurchase price of $273.0 million,
which consisted of $217.9 million in cash, 1,204 5Bares of the Company's common stock (value8&#3$nillion on January 25, 2010) and
approximately $1.7 million of transaction costsrasorded as a componentRdyalty interests in mineral properties, etour consolidated
balance sheets.

Barrick Royalty Portfolio

Effective October 1, 2008, the Company clatggl an acquisition of royalties from Barrick faash of approximately $181.3 million,
including a restructuring of its GSR2, GSR3 and N\fByalties at Cortez, valued at $31.5 million, fiet cash of approximately
$150.0 million. As part of the royalty restructugirthe Company recognized a gain of $31.5 milliarirty the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2008. The cash portion of the purchase was paid from the Company's cash on hand.

The acquisition of Barrick's royalty pottibhas been accounted for as an asset acquisittentotal purchase price of $181.3 million,
direct transaction costs of approximately $3.1iomll has been allocated to the acquired royalgrégts according to their relative fair values
and is recorded as separate componen®ogélty interests in mineral properties, wetour consolidated balance sheets.
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The operating impacts of the royalty intéseacquired from Barrick have been reflected enfthancial results of Royal Gold from
October 1, 2008.

5. INVESTMENT IN SEABRIDGE GOLD, INC. AND ACQUSITIO N OF A ROYALTY OPTION ON THE KERR-SULPHURETS-
MITCHELL PROJECT

On June 16, 2011, the Company, througWwthiislly-owned subsidiary RG Exchhangeco Inc., (folspnenown as RGLD Gold
Canada, Inc.), entered into a Subscription Agre¢mmed an Option Agreement with Seabridge Gold, (t8eabridge™), pursuant to which the
Company acquired 1,019,000 common shares ("Ii8ti@res") of Seabridge, approximately 2% of Seabtitigsued and outstanding common
stock, in a private placement for $30.7 million B0 million) at a per share price equal to $3{1429.44), which represented a premium of
15% to the volume weighted-average trading pricBedbridge common shares on the Toronto Stock Bgeh@TSX") for a five day trading
period that ended June 14, 2011.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, if thenPany holds the Initial Shares for a period of 8a@s, the Company will have the option to
acquire a 1.25% NSR royalty (the "Initial Royaltgl) all of the gold and silver production from &err-Sulphurets-Mitchell project (the
"Project") in northwest British Columbia, CanadaeTpurchase price of the Initial Royalty is C$100iam, payable in three installments over
a 540 day period, subject to currency exchangeadjtestments.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Camyaédso has an option, exercisable until DecemBe@12, to acquire, in a private
placement, additional common shares of Seabridge @mmount up to C$18 million (the "Subsequent &i3ar The purchase price for the
Subsequent Shares will be a 15% premium to thenvelweighted-average trading price of the Seabridgemon shares on the TSX for the
specified period. If the Company exercises itsaptd acquire the Subsequent Shares and holdaithee§uent Shares for a period of 270 d
the Company will have the option to increase thigglnRoyalty to a 2.0% NSR royalty (the "Increadedyalty”) for a purchase price of
C$60 million, payable in three installments ové&4@ day period, subject to currency exchange @jtesaments.

The options to acquire the Initial Royadtyd the Increased Royalty will remain exercisalyiéhle Company for 60 days following the
Company's satisfaction that, among other thingsPttoject has received all material approvals amchjts and that Seabridge has demonsti
that it has sufficient funding for constructionafd commencement of commercial production fronRiggect.

The investment in Seabridge and the Preyjastaccounted for as an asset purchase. As siec8ompany has recorded the Initial Shares
as an investment iAvailable for sale securitiesn the consolidated balance sheets; refer to N&te férther detail on our investment in
available for sale securities. The 15% premiumhanlhitial Shares, which represents the value efftion to acquire the Initial Royalty, plus
direct acquisition costs, has been recorded wilitrer assetsn the consolidated balance sheets.
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The following summarizes the Company's@pal royalty interests in mineral properties agafie 30, 2011 and 2010.

As of June 30, 2011 Accumulated
(Amounts in thousands): Cost Depletion Net

Production stage
royalty interests

Andacollo $ 272,99 $ (13,07 $ 259,92
Voisey's Bay 150,13t (15,52¢) 134,61.
Pefiasquitc 99,17: (5,457) 93,71t
Las Cruce: 57,23( (2,615 54,61¢
Mulatos 48,09: (14,199 33,89:
Dolores 44.,87¢ (4,00%) 40,87
Wolverine 45,15¢ (257) 44,90:
Canadian Malartii 38,80( (367) 38,43
Holt 25,42¢ (620) 24,80¢
Inata 24,87 (5,15¢) 19,71
Gwalia Deep: 22,85« (1,715 21,13¢
Leeville 18,32: (12,920) 5,40z
Robinsor 17,82t (8,827) 8,99¢
Cortez 10,63( (9,619 1,011
Other 178,14: (97,386 80,75:

1,054,53! (191,74)) 862,79:

Development stage
royalty interests

Pascu-Lama 372,10! — 372,10!

Mt. Milligan 227,59 — 227,59

Other 26,25( — 26,25(

625,95: — 625,95:

Exploration stage

royalty interest: 201,69¢ — 201,69¢
Total royalty interest

in mineral

properties $ 1,882,18 $ (191,74) $ 1,690,43!
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As of June 30, 2010 Accumulated
(Amounts in thousands): Cost Depletion Net

Production stage
royalty interests

Andacollo $ 272,99 $ (1,149 $ 271,85!
Voisey's Bay 150,13t (2,052 148,08t
Pefiasquitc 99,17: (2,162) 97,01(
Las Cruce: 57,23( (490) 56,74(
Mulatos 48,09: (10,177) 37,91¢
Dolores 44.,87¢ (2,27¢) 42,60(
Taparka 33,57( (29,247 4,32¢
Leeville 18,32: (10,769 7,55¢
Robinson 17,82t (7,67°%) 10,147
Gwalia Deep: 15,97( (41€) 15,55«
Cortez 10,63( (9,499 1,131
Other 149,08! (49,28t 99,80(

917,91( (125,18¢) 792,72«

Development stage
royalty interests

Pascu-Lama 318,00: — 318,00:

Canadian Malarti 35,50( — 35,50(

Wolverine 45,15¢ — 45,15¢

Other 50,73 — 50,73

449,39; — 449,39;

Exploration stage

royalty interest: 234,68: — 234,68:
Total royalty interest

in mineral

properties $ 1,601,98 $ (125,18() $ 1,476,79

Note: The cost amount shown for the royalties acquiregaaisof the IRC Transaction were finalized durihg
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, and were updatie iabove table as a result. This includes V&<Ray,
the additional interest at Pas-Lama, Wolverine and certain royalties included witthe Other categon
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The Company's available for sale securagesf June 30, 2011 and 2010 consists of thewallp:

As of June 30, 2011
(Amounts in thousands)

Unrealized
Cost Basis Gain Loss Fair Value
Non-current:
Seabridge $ 28,57¢ — (28) $ 28,54¢
Other 208 127 — 33C

$ 28,777 $ 127 $ (28 $ 28,87¢

As of June 30, 2010
(Amounts in thousands)
Unrealized
Cost Basis Gain Loss Fair Value

Non-current:
Other $ 254 — 563 $ 201

§ 254 $ — $ (53§ 201

8. DEBT

The Company's current and non-current liemgy debt as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 consistedbllowing:

As of June 30, 201: As of June 30, 201(
(Amounts in thousands) (Amounts in thousands)
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Credit facility $ — $ 100,000 $ — $ 125,00(
Term loan 15,60( 110,50( 26,00( 97,50(

Total debi $ 15,60C $ 210,50C $ 26,00 $ 222,50(

Scheduled minimum debt repayments are $hill®n in fiscal years 2012 and 2013 and $194iBion in fiscal year 2014.

On February 1, 2011, the Company amendddestated its term loan and revolving credit fac{collectively, the "Bank Facilities").
Key modifications to the Bank Facilities includey@ng other items: 1) an increase in the maximunilahiity under the revolving credit
facility from $125 million to $225 million; 2) amtrease in the total borrowing under the term foam $110.5 million to $130 million; 3) an
extension of the final maturity date for each a&f Bank Facilities to February 1, 2014; 4) a redtnticg of the interest rate applicable to the
term loan, making it consistent with the interederunder the revolving credit facility, which résun a reduction in the current effective rate
from LIBOR plus 2.25% to LIBOR plus 1.875%; 5) alwetion in the amortization rate for principal pams under the term loan from 5% of
the initial funded principal amount per quarteBfé of the initial funded principal amount per geartand 6) a change to the revolving credit
facility financial covenants deleting the forwambking facility coverage ratio (as defined) andiaddh debt service
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ratio (as defined), which is required to be maimdiat 1.25 to 1.0, making the revolving creditlfigcfinancial covenant package consistent
with the financial covenant package under the teran. As of June 30, 2011, the Company was in ciampé with each financial covenant,

including the added debt service ratio, under éwelving credit facility and term loan. As of Jud@, 2011, the Company's ati+rate of LIBOF
plus the margin was 2.15% for the revolving créaliility and term loan.

9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In November 2004, the Company adopted timmiBus Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2004 Plan™). Unide 2004 Plan, 2,600,000 shares of
common stock have been authorized for future grantdficers, directors, key employees and othesqes. The 2004 Plan provides for the
grant of stock options, unrestricted stock, restdcstock, dividend equivalent rights, SARs (stseltled) and cash awards. Any of these aw
may, but need not, be made as performance incenBteck options granted under the 2004 Plan mayohegualified stock options or
incentive stock options.

The Company recognized stock-based comfiensaxpense as follows:

For the Fiscal Years Endec

June 30,
2011 2010 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Stock options $ 415 $§ 738 $ 78z
Stock appreciation righ 81t 52C 20C
Restricted stoc 2,16¢ 2,15¢ 1,81(
Performance stoc 3,09¢ 3,871 12¢
Total stocl-based compensatic

expense $ 6,492 $ 7,27¢ $ 2,921

Stock-based compensation expense is indlaithin general and administrative in the consatiéd statements of operations and
comprehensive income.

As of June 30, 2011, there were 1,217,%56B8es of common stock reserved for future issuander the 2004 Plan.
Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock option and SARs awards are grantéa ai exercise price equal to the closing markieepmf the Company's stock at the date of
grant. Stock option and SARs awards granted te@f$i, key employees and other persons vest basekeoio three years of continuous
service. Stock option and SARs awards have 10g@#ractual terms.

To determine stock-based compensation esepfam stock options and SARs, the fair value ahestock option and SAR is estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Mert@igatk-Scholes") option pricing model for all persopgresented. The Black-Scholes model
requires key
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

assumptions in order to determine fair value. THeseassumptions during the fiscal year 2011, 2032009 grants are noted in the follov
table:

Stock Options SARs
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Weighte(-average expected volatili 46.8% 47.5% 44.5% 46.(% 47.L6 44.5%
Weightec-average expected life in ye: 5.7 5.€ 5.3 6.C 5.5 5.3
Weighte-average dividend yiel 0.8% 0.6¢% 0.92% 0.8%% 0.68% 0.92%
Weightec-average risk free interest r¢ 1.7% 24% 25% 1.&&% 24% 2%

The Company's expected volatility is basedhe historical volatility of the Company's stamker the expected option term. The
Company's expected option term is determined kpHiisl exercise patterns along with other knowrpkayee or company information at the

time of grant. The risk free interest rate is basedhe zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond at the ¢ifrggant with a term approximate to the
expected option term.

Stock Options

A summary of stock option activity undee 2004 Plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, ,28 ikesented below.

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Value
Shares Price Life (Years) (in thousands)
Outstandin
at July 1,
2010 336,93( $ 25.3¢
Granted 24,80C $ 49.6¢
Exercisec (20,739 $ 20.4¢
Forfeited (7,519 $ 48.2¢
Outstandin
at
June 30,
2011 333,47¢ $ 26.9¢ 5C $ 10,54:
Exercisable
at
June 30,
2011 296,41. $ 24.3¢ 45 % 10,13«

The weighted-average grant date fair valuaptions granted during the fiscal years endegk RO, 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $20.56,
$23.21 and $12.28, respectively. The total intongilue of options exercised during the fiscal gearded June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, were
$0.7 million, $6.2 million, and $1.2 million, respévely.
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A summary of the status of the Companyis-wested stock options for the fiscal year endegk B0, 2011, is presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at July 1, 201 53,72¢ $  16.7¢
Granted 24,80 $  20.5¢
Vested (33,946 $  15.2¢
Forfeited (7519 $  20.3¢
Non-vested at June 30, 20 37,06¢ $ 19.9¢

As of June 30, 2011, there was approximga@l5 million of total unrecognized stock-basedhpensation expense related to non-vested
stock options granted under the 2004 Plan, whiex|ected to be recognized over a weighted-avgraged of 1.9 years.

SARs

A summary of SARs activity under the 200drHor the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, isgareed below.

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Value
Shares Price Life (Years) (in thousands)
Outstandin
at July 1,
2010 102,14( $ 42.1C
Granted 51,50 $ 49.6¢
Exercisec (2,07¢) $ 38.8t
Forfeited (3,159 $ 47.2¢
Outstandin
at
June 30,
2011 148,41 $ 44.6¢ 84 $ 2,06/
Exercisable
at
June 30,
2011 57,54¢ $ 39.0¢ 77 % 1,121

The weighte@dverage grant date fair value of SARs granted dutie fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 ab@ ®@s $20.87, $22.
and $12.28, respectively.
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A summary of the status of the Companyiswested SARs for the fiscal year ended June 301,28 presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at July 1, 201 77,300 $ 19.41
Granted 51,50C $ 20.87
Vested (34,799 $  19.0:
Forfeited (3159 $  20.0¢
Non-vested at June 30, 20 90,86: $ 20.37

As of June 30, 2011, there was approximga&l3 million of total unrecognized stock-basedhpensation expense related to non-vested
SARs granted under the 2004 Plan, which is expdotbe recognized over a weighted-average periddyears.

Other Stock-based Compensation
Performance Share

On November 17, 2010, officers and certairployees were granted 60,500 shares of restrictennon stock that can be earned only if
either one of two defined multi-year performancalgas met within five years of the date of grdftgrformance Shares"). If the performance
goals are not earned by the end of this five yeaiod, the Performance Shares will be forfeitedstifgy of Performance Shares is subject to
certain performance measures being met and caadszgllon an interim earn out of 25%, 50%, 75% of4.0the defined performance goals
are tied to the following performance measuresg(bjvth of free cash flow per share on a trailiwgltze month basis; and (2) growth of
royalty ounces in reserve per share on an anns#.ba

The Company measures the fair value oPirdormance Shares based upon the market priagr @oonmon stock as of the date of grant.
In accordance with ASC 718, the measurement datitéoPerformance Shares will be determined at so@hthat the performance goals are
attained or that it is probable they will be ate&inAt such time that it is probable that a perfange condition will be achieved, compensation
expense will be measured by the number of shaetsuili ultimately be earned based on the grané daarket price of our common stock.
Interim recognition of compensation expense wilhi@de at such time as management can reasonaibiatsthe number of shares that will
be earned.
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A summary of the status of the Companyiswested Performance Shares for the fiscal yeagdddne 30, 2011, is presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at July 1, 201 122,370 $  40.1¢
Granted 60,50 $  49.6¢
Vested (135,12) $  41.1¢
Forfeited (4,625 $  45.9¢
Non-vested at June 30, 20 43,128 $  49.6¢

As of June 30, 2011, total unrecognizedlstzased compensation expense related to Perfom&mares was approximately $1.2 million,
which is expected to be recognized over the avamgaining vesting period of 1.1 years.

Restricted Stoc

As defined in the 2004 Plan, officers, rewcutive directors and certain employees may aetgd shares of restricted stock that vest on
continued service alone ("Restricted Stock™). Owéber 17, 2010, officers and certain employeegwesinted 41,100 shares of Restricted
Stock. Restricted Stock awards granted to offiegid certain employees vest over three years begjrafter a three-year holding period from
the date of grant with one-third of the sharesingdh years four, five and six, respectively. Also November 17, 2010, our non-executive
directors were granted 12,000 shares of Restri8teck. The norexecutive directors' shares of Restricted Stockag$o 50% immediately a
50% one year after the date of grant.

Shares of Restricted Stock represent isandutstanding shares of common stock, with dividand voting rights. The Company
measures the fair value of the Restricted Stockdbapon the market price of our common stock abkeflate of grant. Restricted Stock is
amortized over the applicable vesting period usiirgstraight-line method. Unvested shares of ResttiStock are subject to forfeiture upon
termination of employment with the Company.

A summary of the status of the Companylswested Restricted Stock for fiscal year ended B 2011, is presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at July 1, 201 271,74¢ $  33.4¢
Granted 53,10C $  49.6¢
Vested (48,91 $  31.07
Forfeited (13,400 $  43.5¢
Non-vested at June 30, 20 262,530 $ 36.6¢
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

As of June 30, 2011, total unrecognizedlstzased compensation expense related to Resttbett was approximately $5.7 million,
which is expected to be recognized over the wetyhteerage vesting period of 3.9 years.

10. ROYALTY PORTFOLIO RESTRUCTURING GAIN

As part of the royalty restructuring astpdrthe Barrick acquisition, which is discussedNiate 4, the Company recognized a gain of
$31.5 million during the fiscal quarter ended Deben31, 2008. The restructured royalties were amaretary exchange and the fair value of
the restructured royalties was determined basezkpacted future cash flows. The Company's badiseimestructured royalties was zero thus
giving rise to the $31.5 million gain.

In May 2009, Golden Star Resources Ltdo{ten Star") exercised its right of repurchaser@nBenso 1.5% NSR royalty held by the
Company for $3.4 million. The Company acquired Bemso royalty in December 2007 for approximately@$tillion. The Company's net
book value for the Benso royalty on the date ofege by Golden Star was approximately $1.2 milliasa such, the Company recognized a
gain of approximately $2.2 million upon exercise.

11. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock
The Company has 10,000,000 authorized aig$ued shares of $.01 par value Preferred Stookame 30, 2011 and 2010.
Common Stock Issuances
Fiscal Year 201:

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 20ptipns to purchase 20,738 shares were exeraisgafing in proceeds of approximately
$0.4 million.

Fiscal Year 201(

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 20pfipns to purchase 242,820 shares were exeressualting in proceeds of approximately
$1.6 million.

In June 2010, the Company sold 5,980,0@@eshof our common stock in an underwritten publifering that closed on June 28, 2010.
The offering was priced at $48.50, and proceeds fitte offering, net of commission and expenses,apasoximately $276.2 million. The
Company used the net proceeds from the offeririgrid acquisitions of additional royalty interests;luding the acquisition of the gold stream
on the Mt. Milligan Project.

Fiscal Year 200¢

In April 2009, the Company sold 6,500,08@res of our common stock in an underwritten pubfiering that closed on April 14, 2009.
The offering was priced at $38.00 per share, andgads from the offering, net of commission andeeses, was approximately
$235.0 million. The net proceeds from the offenmgre primarily used for general corporate purp@sesto pay the cash component of the
Andacollo Royalty acquisition, as discussed in Nbte
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11. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Continued)
Exchangeable Shares

In connection with the IRC Transaction disged in Note 3, certain holders of IRC commonksteceived exchangeable shares of RG
Exchangeco for each share of IRC common stock fAdle.exchangeable shares are convertible at amy &trthe option of the holder, into
shares of Royal Gold common stock on a one-forbasts, and entitle holders to dividends and otiggits economically equivalent to holders
of Royal Gold common stock.

Treasury Stock

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2814 Company retired 96,675 common shares inclide&easury stock. The 96,675 common
shares retired have been returned to the Compantisrized but unissued amount of common stoclofAlsine 30, 2011 and 2010, the
Company had 0 and 96,675 common shares includeddaury stock, which are carried at cost.

Stockholders' Rights Plan

On September 10, 2007, the Company entatedhe First Amended and Restated Rights Agreéndated September 10, 2007 (the
"Rights Agreement"). The Rights Agreement expinesSeptember 10, 2017. The Rights Agreement waoeapgrby the Company's board of
directors (the "Board").

The Rights Agreement is intended to detercive or abusive tender offers and market accatioms. The Rights Agreement is designed
to encourage an acquirer to negotiate with the @aad to enhance the Board's ability to act inbist interests of all the Company's
stockholders.

Under the Rights Agreement, each stockhalfithe Company holds one preferred stock purchgbe (a "Right") for each share of
Company common stock held. The Rights generallpimecexercisable only in the event that an acquipengy accumulates 15 percent or
more of the Company's outstanding shares of constamk. If this were to occur, subject to certaineptions, each Right (except for the
Rights held by the acquiring party) would allowtlitsiders to purchase one one-thousandth of a nealyed share of Series A junior
participating preferred stock of Royal Gold or empany's common stock with a value equal to twheeexercise price of the Right, initially
set at $175 under the terms and conditions sét forthe Rights Agreement.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS")

Basic earnings per common share were caedpuging the weighted average number of sharesmfon stock outstanding during the
period, considering the effect of participatingusiées. Unvested stock-based compensation awbhedsontain non-forfeitable rights to
dividends or dividend equivalents are consideretqipating securities and are included in the catapion of earnings per share pursuant to
the two-class method. The Company's unvested eesirstock awards contain non-forfeitable dividegtits and participate equally with
common stock with respect to dividends issued ofaded. The Company's unexercised stock optioresxencised SARs and unvested
performance stock do not contain rights to dividendinder the two-class method, the earnings usddteymine basic earnings per common
share are reduced by an amount allocated to gaatiog securities. Use of the two-class methodamaisnmaterial impact on the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per common share.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS") (Continued)
The following table summarizes the effeftsdlilutive securities on diluted EPS for the pdrio

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except share date

Net income
available to
Royal Gold
common
stockholder: $ 71,398 $ 21,49: $ 38,34¢

Weightec-average
shares for basi

EPS 55,053,20. 43,640,41 35,337,13
Effect of othet

dilutive

securities 270,20¢ 340,40: 451,941
Weightec-average

shares for

diluted EP< 55,323,41 43,980,81 35,789,07
Basic earnings p

share $ 1.2¢ $ 04¢ $ 1.0¢
Diluted earnings

per share $ 1.2¢ % 0.4¢ $ 1.07

The calculation of weighted average sharelsdes all of the Company's outstanding stockammn stock and exchangeable shares.
Exchangeable shares are the equivalent of commamesin that they have the same dividend rightssaagde equitably in undistributed
earnings and are exchangeable on a one-for-ong feasihares of our common stock.

13. INCOME TAXES
For financial reporting purposes, incomébzincome taxes includes the following components

Fiscal Years Ended June 3C

2011 2010 2009
(Amounts in thousands)
United State: $ 77547 $ 55,620 $ 65,84¢
Foreign 38,73( (12,03) (2,639

$ 116,270 $ 43,58t $ 63,21«
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13. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The Companylsacome tax expens®nsisted of:

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2011 2010 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Current:

Federal $ 28,78: $ 20,29¢ $ 23,62
State 10t 21¢ 40z
Foreign 15,22: 1,182 —

$ 44,11C $ 21,70C $ 24,02

Deferred and other:

Federal $ (1,249 $ (1,309 $ (2,396
State — (114) 27
Foreign (3,899 (6,11¢) 19¢

$ (5,136 $ (7,536 $ (2,170
Total income tax expen: $ 38,97¢ $ 14,16« $ 21,85:

The provision for income taxes for the dilsgears ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, gffiem the amount of income tax determined
by applying the applicable United States statufederal income tax rate to pre-tax income (net wfanity interest in income of consolidated
subsidiary and loss from equity investment) fronerapions as a result of the following differences:

Fiscal Years Ended June 3C
2011 2010 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Total expense computed by

applying federal rate $ 40,69F $ 15,258 $ 22,12¢
State and Provincial incon

taxes, net of federal bene 10t 18¢ 28¢
Adjustments of valuation

allowance (34€) (231) 783
Excess depletio (1,446 (1,642 (1,074
Acquisition related cost — 1,364 —
Estimates for uncertain te

positions 437 1,56¢ —
Statutory tax attributable 1

Non-controlling interes (2,06€) (2,775) (1,059
Unrealized foreign exchange

gains (losses 2,54¢ (280) —
Effect of foreign earning (891) 91t —
Other (62) (199 78¢

$ 38,97: $ 14,16¢ $ 21,85)
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13. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differenced aarryforwards, which give rise to our deferredaasets and liabilities at June 30, 2011 and
2010, are as follows:

2011 2010
(Amounts in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Stock-based compensatic $ 3,27 $ 3,26
Net operating losse 32,157 25,93¢
Other 5,02¢ 4,96
Total deferred tax asse 40,46( 34,16¢
Valuation allowanct (3,069 (3,415
Net deferred tax asse 37,39 30,75
Deferred tax liabilities

Mineral property basi (179,349 (181,740
Unrealized foreign exchange ga (5,939 (3,757
Other (3,117 (2,109
Total deferred tax liabilitie (188,38f) (186,59
Total net deferred taxe $ (150,99) $ (155,84)

The Company reviews the measurement aleifsrred tax assets at each balance sheet datvailihble evidence, both positive and
negative, is considered in determining whetheretagpon the weight of the evidence, it is morelyikban not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As of J8®e2011 and 2010, the Company had $3.1 milliah%314 million of valuation allowances
recorded, respectively. The valuation allowanceekse of $0.3 million was primarily the result ef wperating losses and other deferred tax
assets that were recognized or met the recogrititeria during the year. The decreases were offg@n increase to the valuation allowance
for non-deductible depletion in ndi\-S. jurisdictions where no plan is available toagnize the deferred tax asset in the foreseeahlesf The
valuation allowance remaining at June 30, 201Gimmarily attributable to the tax basis differenseaaresult of non-deductible depletion.

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company$i2d million and $110 million of net operating lasary forwards, respectively. The
increase in the net operating loss carry forwasdsttributable to (i) non-U.S. subsidiaries accountosses of $23 million incurred during the
year, (i) no-U.S. subsidiaries accelerated tax deductions ahifiton for the year which have an offsetting deéel tax liability recorded, and
(iii) offset by the utilization of net operatingdses in non-U.S. subsidiaries of $13 million. Thagarity of the tax loss carry forwards are in
jurisdictions that allow a twenty year carry fordareriod. As a result, these losses do not begixpare until the 2025 tax yee

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Compaiayd#18.8 million and $12.5 million of total grossrecognized tax benefits, respectively. The
increase in gross unrecognized tax benefits wasapily related to tax positions of IRC entitieséalprior to the acquisition. If recognized,
these unrecognized
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13. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

tax benefits would impact the Company's effectivepime tax rate. A reconciliation of the beginnimgl nding amount of gross unrecognized
tax benefits is as follows:

2011 2010 2009

(Amounts in thousands)
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginoingear $ 1247¢ $ 614 $ 41C
Additions / Reductions for tax positions of priagzays 20 74¢ 28
Additions / Reductions for tax positions of currgetr 6,331 11,11¢ 17¢€
Total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefiendtof yea $ 18,83t $ 12,47¢ $ 614

Approximately $5.9 million of the increaisethe unrecognized tax benefits for tax positidosng fiscal year 2011 is included in tax
expense computed by applying federal rates inagkedte reconciliation as the unrecognized tax tieiseecorded on additional ptex incom
from non-U.S. subsidiaries.

The Company or one of its subsidiariesfitcome tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdittiand various state and foreign jurisdictions.
With few exceptions, the Company is no longer stiitie U.S. Federal, state and local, and bio8: income tax examinations by tax authori
for fiscal years before 2007. As a result of §tste of limitations that will begin to expire withthe next 12 months in various jurisdictions,
and (ii) possible settlements of audit-related ésswith taxing authorities in various jurisdictiongh respect to which none of the issues are
individually significant, the Company believes tlitdas reasonably possible that the total amouritsofiet unrecognized income tax benefits
decrease between $0 and $1.6 million in the nexhagths.

The Company's continuing practice is t@ggtze interest and/or penalties related to unneizegl tax benefits as part of its income tax
expense. At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the amountcofied income-tax-related interest and penaltiess$ta5 million and $0.6 million,
respectively.

14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
The Company's supplemental cash flow indrom for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2011028nd 2009 is as follows:

2011 2010 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash paid during the period
for:
Interest
Income taxes, net of refun
Non-cash investing and
financing activities
Dividends declare $ 23,25: $ 16,33¢ $ 11,117
Acquisition of IRC (with
common stock and
exchangeable share $ — $ 308,88: % —
Acquisition of royalty
interests in mineral
properties (with commo

537¢ $ 181t $ 391
37,847 $ 16,63( $ 23,30

&8 +H

stock) $ — $ 5342t $ —
In-kind distribution to CVP

partners $ — $ 612t $ —
Treasury stocl $ 447/, $ (3,557 $ —
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierattiay prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniqueed to measure fair value. The hierarchy ¢
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted priceadtive markets for identical assets or liabilitfeevel 1 measurements) and the lowest priority
to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).tffee levels of the fair value hierarchy under ARD are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical instrumeintgictive markets;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar instrumemtsactive markets; quoted prices for identical amikir instruments in markets that are
not active; and modederived valuations in which all significant inpatsd significant value drivers are observable iivaanarkets; ar

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques reqgiiimputs that are both significant to the fair \eahaeasurement and unobservable
(supported by little or no market activity).

The following table sets forth the Comparfinancial assets measured at fair value on aniagiwbasis (at least annually) by level within
the fair value hierarchy.

Fair Value at June 30, 201:
(In thousands)

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Money marke
investments?) $ 284 $ 284 $ — $ —
Marketable equit
securities? 28,87¢  28,87¢ — —
$29,16( $ 29,16( $ — $ —
@ Included inCash and equivalents the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
@ Included inAvailable for sale securitieig the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The carrying amount of our long-term debtl(uding the current portion) approximates failueaas of June 30, 2011.

The Company invests in money market fumdsch are traded by dealers or brokers in activer-tlre-counter markets. The Company's
money market funds, which are invested in Uniteate3t treasury bills or United States treasury bdiskeurities, are classified within Level 1
of the fair value hierarchy.

As of June 30, 2011, the Company also Isadta that, under certain conditions, are subjetteasurement at fair value on a menurring
basis like those associated with royalty intergstaineral properties, intangible assets and dthrgg-lived assets. For these assets,
measurement at fair value in periods subsequehgioinitial recognition are applicable if anytbiese assets are determined to be impaired;
however, no triggering events have occurred redativany of these assets during the twelve momttisceJune 30, 2011. If recognition of th
assets at their fair value becomes necessary,/saalurements will be determined utilizing Levehguits.
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16. MAJOR SOURCES OF REVENUE

Operators that contributed greater than ®@%e Company's total royalty revenue for fispedrs 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows
(revenue amounts in thousands):

Fiscal Year 2011 Fiscal Year 201C Fiscal Year 200¢
Percentage Percentage Percentage
Royalty of total Royalty of total Royalty of total
Operator revenue royalty revenue revenue royalty revenue revenue royalty revenue
Teck $ 43,60« 20.1% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Vale Inco Ltd. 32,67 15.1% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Barrick 26,84: 12.2%% 30,62« 22.2%%$ 22,20( 30.1%
Goldcorp, Inc. 23,09« 10.7% N/A N/A N/A N/A

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Voisey's Bay

On February 22, 2010, as part of the IR@n$action discussed in Note 3, the Company acqaireglalty on the Voisey's Bay mine in
Newfoundland and Labrador owned by Vale Newfoundl&ri_Labrador Limited ("VNL"). The royalty is owndaly the LNRLP, in which th:
Company's wholly-owned indirect subsidiary, Canad¥inerals Partnership, is the general partner&h89% owner. The remaining interests
in LNRLP are owned by Altius Investments Ltd. (10%)ompany unrelated to Royal Gold and IRC, aeddbmpany's whollpwned indirec
subsidiary, Voisey's Bay Holding Corporation (0.01%

On October 16, 2009, LNRLP filed a claintle Supreme Court of Newfoundland and Labradal Division against Vale Inco Limited
("Vale Inco") and its whollyswned subsidiaries, Vale Inco Atlantic Sales Limi{g€VIASL") and VNL, related to calculation of ti¢SR on the
sale of concentrates, including nickel concentrdtesn the Voisey's Bay mine to Vale Inco. The rlaisserts that Vale Inco is incorrectly
calculating the NSR and requests an order in résfe¢be correct calculation of future paymentseThaim also requests specific damages for
underpayment of past royalties to the date of thiencin an amount not less than $29 million, togethith additional damages until the date of
trial, interest, costs and other damages. Theatitg is in the discovery phase and was not vaasepart of the purchase price allocation
discussed in Note 3 as the outcome cannot be rablyoestimated.

Holt

On October 1, 2008, as part of the Compaagquisition of a portfolio of royalties from Biak, the Company acquired a royalty on the
Holt portion of the Holloway-Holt mining project @ntario, Canada, owned by St Andrew Goldfields (t8t Andrew"). St Andrew
succeeded Newmont Canada Corporation ("Newmontd2dhas owner of the Holloway-Holt mining projestNovember 2006. By virtue of
the Company's acquisition of Barrick's royalty famlid, RGLD Gold Canada, Inc. ("RGLD Gold") succeedBarrick as the royalty payee un
the royalty agreement.

On or about November 3, 2008, St Andrewedfiin action in the Ontario Superior Court of dasfthe "Court") seeking, among other
things, declarations by the Court that St Andreabgation in respect of the royalty is limiteddaly a portion of the total royalty payable, and
that any additional royalty obligations under thgalty agreement remain the responsibility of Newimo
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Canada. Newmont Canada responded that St Andrmspensible for all royalty obligations under togalty agreement.

Royal Gold and RGLD Gold (collectively "RalyGold") and Barrick were joined as necessaryigatb the litigation in January 2009. On
July 23, 2009, the Court held that Royal Gold istkd to payment from Newmont Canada of the faflcaunt of the sliding-scale NSR royalty
on gold produced from the Holt mine. The Court dlstil that St Andrew's sole obligation is to reimdauNewmont Canada for payment of the
royalty up to a flat rate of 0.013% of the net sreteturns for gold, silver and other metals. Qugist 21, 2009, Newmont Canada appealed
the Court's decision to the Court of Appeal of @otand on December 9, 2009, made Royal Gold g parthe appeal. Oral argument of the
appeal was heard on March 28, 2011. On May 13, ,20&1Court of Appeal of Ontario affirmed the démisof the trial court and dismissed |
appeal.

The Holt royalty is currently classified aproduction stage royalty interest and the Compacognized approximately $3.2 million, $0
and $0 in royalty revenue from the Holt royalty idgrthe fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2012866, respectively.

18. RELATED PARTY

CVP was formed as a limited partnershigmil 1992. It owns a 1.25% net value royalty ("N¥YR on production of minerals from a
portion of Cortez. Denver Mining Finance CompanyNIFC"), our wholly-owned subsidiary, is the general partner and r@RI9% interest |
CVP. In addition, Royal Gold holds a 29.6% limitgaitner interest in the partnership, while our @han of the Board of Directors, the
Chairman of our Audit Committee and one other memnalbeur board of directors hold an aggregate 3% %ifhited partner interest. The
general partner performs administrative serviceiéP in receiving and processing the royalty pagteadrom the operator, including the
disbursement of royalty payments and record keefaingn-kind distributions to the limited partners.

CVP receives its royalty from the Cortem®enture in-kind. The Company, as well as certather limited partners, sell their pro-rata
shares of such gold immediately and receive digtidbns in cash, while CVP holds gold for certaihestlimited partners. Such gold inventor
which totaled 15,255 and 18,067 ounces of goldfdsime 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, are held tyrd party refinery in Utah for the
account of the limited partners of CVP. The inveie®are carried at historical cost and are cleskifithin Other asseten the Company's
consolidated balance sheets. The carrying valtieeogold in inventory was approximately $8.1 mifliand $8.7 million as of June 30, 2011
and 2010, respectively, while the fair value offsnances was approximately $23.0 million and $2ilon as of June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. None of the gold currently held imentory as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, is attribtddRioyal Gold, as the gold allocated to
Royal Gold's CVP partnership interest is typicalbyd within five days of receipt.
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19. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The following is a summary of selected d¢eidy financial information (unaudited):

Net income
Operating (loss) available Basic Diluted
Royalty income to Royal Gold earnings earnings
revenues (loss) stockholders per share per share

(Amounts in thousands except per share data)
Fiscal year 2011 quarte-ended:

September 3 $ 4533t $ 20,81( $ 11,831 $ 0.2z $ 0.21
December 3: 56,31¢ 31,60¢ 18,31: 0.3z 0.3¢
March 31 55,54¢ 31,87% 19,56¢ 0.3€ 0.3t
June 3( 59,26¢ 34,63 21,68 0.3¢ 0.3¢

$ 216,46¢ $ 118,92¢ $ 71,39 $ 1.2¢ § 1.2¢

Fiscal year 2010 quarte-ended:

September 3 $ 26,111 $ 10,75 $ 7,12¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.17
December 3: 34,74( 15,20: 9,61¢ 0.24 0.2z
March 31 35,04 (1,23)) (5,759 (0.19) (0.19)
June 3( 40,66¢ 16,31 10,50¢ 0.21 0.21

$ 136,56! $ 41,03t $ 2149: $ 04¢ $ 0.4¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedes

As of June 30, 2011, the Company's manageméh the participation of the President andelixecutive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer of the Company, carried oueealuation of the effectiveness of the design@petation of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a}Hnd 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Ad9&4, as amended (the "Exchange
Act")). Based on such evaluation, the Company'siBteat and Chief Executive Officer and its Chigfdficial Officer and Treasurer have
concluded that, as of June 30, 2011, the Compdigctsure controls and procedures were effectyadvide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by the Compamgports that it files or submits under the Exafje Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the required timéopls and that such information is accumulated@rmunicated to the Company's
management, including the President and Chief BkecOfficer and its Chief Financial Officer andebsurer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Disclosure controls and procedures invtivman diligence and compliance and are subjeet®els in judgment and breakdowns
resulting from human failures. As a result, a colndlystem, no matter how well conceived and opdratan provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the@mytstem are met. Further, the design of a cosyretem must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints and the benefits of contraistine considered relative to their costs. Becafiige inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide lalbs@ssurance that all control issues and instaot&aud, if any, within the Company have
been detected.

(b) Management's Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control dwemcial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchangeok 1934, as amended. Our internal control oirericial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iplies

Management assessed the effectiveness afteunal control over financial reporting as ahé 30, 2011. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Cdtmenof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwap@gsion (COSO) itnternal
Control—Integrated FrameworkBased on management's assessment and thosi cntanagement concluded that, as of June 30, 2@t1,
internal control over financial reporting is effeet

Our management, including our President@higf Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offi@nd Treasurer, does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedures or our intezaatrols will prevent all error and all fraud. Artool system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, nofalesassurance that the objectives of the cosyrsiem are met. Further, the design of a
control system must reflect the fact that thereraseurce constraints and the benefits of contmuist be considered relative to their costs.
Because of the inherent limitations in all consgétems, no evaluation of controls can provide laibs@ssurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company hbeen detected.
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Our independent registered public accognfitm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an attestatieport on our internal control over
financial reporting as of June 30, 2011.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reorting

There was no change in the Company's iateantrol over financial reporting (as definedRnle 13a15(f) under the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934, as amended) during our fourth fisazdrer ended June 30, 2011, that has materiaketafll, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repagi

(d) Report of Independent Registered Public Accauing Firm
The Board of Directors and ShareholdelR@fal Gold, Inc.

We have audited Royal Gold, Inc.'s integmitrol over financial reporting as of June 301 20based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiba @OSO criteria). Roy
Gold, Inc.'s management is responsible for maimgieffective internal control over financial refing, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying ManagemergisdR on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting (Item 9A(b)). Our responsibility is topgrss an opinion on the company's internal coltrel financial reporting based on our au

We conducted our audit in accordance withstandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgkt8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifanternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Royal Gold, Inc. maintainédall material respects, effective internal eohbver financial reporting as of June 30, 2011,
based on the COSO criteria.
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We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Royal Gold, Incfdsiiee 30, 2011, and the related consolidatedrstatts of Operations and Comprehensive
Income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows ferytbar then ended, and our report dated Augua18, expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
August 18, 2011

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item isluded in the Company's Proxy Statement for itsl2@dnual Stockholders Meeting to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2011, ia incorporated by reference in this Annual Repo Form 10-K.

The Company's Code of Business ConducEdhids within the meaning of Item 406 of Regulat®K adopted by the SEC under the
Exchange Act that applies to our principal exeautifficer and principal financial officer is avadila on the Company's website at
www.royalgold.com and in print without charge to/atockholder who requests a copy. Requests fdes@hould be directed to Royal
Gold, Inc., Attention: Investor Relations, 1660 VKgop Street, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado, 80202. Company intends to satisfy the
disclosure requirements of Iltem 5.05 of Form 8-#areling any amendment to, or a waiver from, a giowi of the Company's Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such infaamnan the Company's website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item isluded in the Company's Proxy Statement for itsl2@Anual Stockholders Meeting to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2011, ia incorporated by reference in this Annual Repo Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item isluded in the Company's Proxy Statement for itsl2@dnual Stockholders Meeting to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2011, ia incorporated by reference in this Annual Repo Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item isluded in the Company's Proxy Statement for its12@dnual Stockholders Meeting to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2011, ia incorporated by reference in this Annual Repo Form 10-K.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item isluded in the Company's Proxy Statement for its12@Anual Stockholders Meeting to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2011, ia incorporated by reference in this Annual Repo Form 10-K.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES

(a) Financial Statements

Index to Financial Statements

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings 47
Consolidated Balance She: 49
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsalemcome 50
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Ec 51
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc 52
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 53

(b) Exhibits
Reference is made to the Exhibit Index beigig on page 87 hereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlBs (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, egistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

ROYAL GOLD, INC.

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ TONY JENSEN

Tony Jensen
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oré#tes indicated.

Date: August 18, 201 By: /s/ TONY JENSEN

Tony Jensen
President, Chief Executive Officer a
Director

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ STEFAN L. WENGER

Stefan Wenger
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurt

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ STANLEY DEMPSEY

Stanley Dempsey
Chairman

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ M. CRAIG HAASE

M. Craig Haase
Director

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ WILLIAM M. HAYES

William M. Hayes
Director

Date: August 18, 2011 By: /s/ S. ODEN HOWELL, JR.

S. Oden Howell, Jr.
Director
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Date: August 18, 2011

Date: August 18, 2011

By: /s/ JAMES W. STUCKERT

James W. Stuckert
Director

By: /s/ DONALD J. WORTH

Donald J. Worth
Director
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Index

Description

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.4

Amended and Restated Arrangement Agreement, datechdy 15, 2010, among Ro)
Gold, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc. (formerly, 72963%5&da Ltd.) and International Roy:
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Comparlgrent Report of Form 8-K on
January 22, 2010 and incorporated herein by refei

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amer(fletl as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on February 8, 2008 and incorgat&ierein by referenc

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended (fileclaibiE3.1 to the Company's Curre
Report on Form -K on November 23, 2009 and incorporated hereireffgrence

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designatiorisesfes A Junior Participatir
Preferred Stock of Royal Gold, Inc. (filed as Exhi1 to the Company's Current Report
on Form &K on September 10, 2007 and incorporated herenefeyence

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righthe Special Voting Preferred Stocl
Royal Gold, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Comga Current Report on Form 8-K on
February 23, 2010 and incorporated herein by ratey

First Amended and Restated Rights Agreement datpteBiber 10, 2007 between Ro
Gold, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.ikedfas Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form 8-A on SeptembeRQ07 and incorporated herein by
reference

Stockholder Agreement dated April 3, 2009 by ambng Royal Gold, Inc., Compaiiia
Minera Carmen de Andacollo and Teck Cominco Lim{ddd as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on AgriR009 and incorporated herein by
reference

Amendment No. 1 to the Stockholder Agreemenedidanuary 12, 2010 (filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on F8¢ion January 15, 2010 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Appendix | to Schedule B of the Amended and RedtAreangement Agreement, dat
January 15, 2010, among Royal Gold, Inc., RG Exgbea Inc. (formerly, 7296355
Canada Ltd.) and International Royalty Corporaffied as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Fornm-K on January 22, 2010 and incorporated herein fereace)

10.7** Equity Incentive Plan (filed as part of the Coany's proxy statement for its 1996 Annual

10.z

10.:

10.¢

Meeting of Stockholders on November 25, 1996 andriporated herein by referenc

Exploration and Development Option Agreement leevPlacer Dome United States, Inc.
and Royal Gold, Inc. dated effective July 1, 198i8q as Exhibit 10(v) to the Company's
Annual Report on Form -K on September 28, 1998 and incorporated hereirfgyence

Royalty Agreement between Royal Gold, Inc. andGbetez Joint Venture dated April
1999 (filed as part of Item 5 of the Company's €ntiReport on Form 8-K on April 12,
1999 and incorporated herein by referer

Firm offer to purchase royalty interest of "ldaBooup" between Royal Gold, Inc. and

Idaho Group dated July 22, 1999 (filed as Attachideto the Company's Current Report
on Form &K on September 2, 1999 and incorporated hereirefarence
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.2 Amendment to Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Applix A to the Company's proxy

10.€

10.7

10.¢

10.1¢

10.1*

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

statement on October 15, 1999 and incorporatedrhbyereference

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated Deee®2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Current Report on ForrK 8 December 23, 2002 and incorporated he
by reference

Royalty Assignment and Agreement, effective as eé@&@nber 26, 2002, between Hi
Desert Mineral Resources, Inc. and High Desert @aitporation (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on Sepeéer2d, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Royalty Assignment, Confirmation, Amendment, andgt®&Ement of Royalty, ar
Agreement, dated as of November 30, 1995, amongdRa@ullfrog Inc., Barrick
Goldstrike Mines Inc. and Royal Hal Co. (filed aghibit 99.5 to the Company's Current
Report on Form -K on September 22, 2005 and incorporated hereietgyence

Amendment to Royalty Assignment, Confirmation, éamdment, and Restatement of
Royalty, and Agreement, effective as of Octobe2()4, among Barrick Bullfrog Inc.,
Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc. and Royal Hal Cold#l as Exhibit 99.6 to the Company's
Current Report on Form-K on September 22, 2005 and incorporated hereieteyence

Purchase Agreement, between Kennecott Mineratspaay and Royal Gold, Inc., dated
December 22, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the @any's Current Report on Formk8en
December 29, 2005 and incorporated herein by nefe)

Form of Amended and Restated Indemnification Agresn(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to tt
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on Februarn?020 and incorporated herein by
reference

Purchase and Sale Agreement for Pefiasquito dret @byalties among Minera
Kennecott S.A. DE C.V., Kennecott Exploration Comypand Royal Gold, Inc., dated
December 28, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the @any's Quarterly Report on Form €@-
on February 9, 2007 and incorporated herein byeats)

Contract for Assignment of Rights Granted, by &étaKennecott, S.A. de C.V.
Represented in this Agreement by Mr. Dave F. Simpand Minera Pefiasquito, S.A. de
C.V., Represented in this Agreement by AttornegeJdaria Gallardo Tamayo (filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report omf-10-Q on February 9, 2007 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Assignment of Rights Agreement among Mario Ivanrtdedez Alvarez, Royal Gold Ch
Limitada and Royal Gold Inc., dated January 16,72@iled as Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form @Q0an February 9, 2007 and incorporated here
reference

Royalty Purchase and Sale Agreement dated JyI2(IB by and between Royal
Gold, Inc. and Barrick Gold Corporation (filed ashibit 10.44 to Royal Gold's Annual
Report on Form 1-K/A filed on November 6, 2008 and incorporated reby reference

10.1¢~* Employment Agreement by and between Royal Goid, and Tony Jensen dated

September 15, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to R@yald's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on September 19, 2008 and incorporated hédrgireference
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1°7*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20+*

10.27*

10.22%*

10.23*

10.24*

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

Form of Employment Agreement by and between Rd&yald, Inc. and each of the
following: Stanley Dempsey, Karen Gross, Stefan géerand Bruce Kirchhoff (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Royal Gold's Current Report on F@+K filed on September 19, 2008 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Award Modification Agreement by and beten Royal Gold, Inc. and each of the
following: Stanley Dempsey, Tony Jensen, Karen &eoxl Bruce Kirchhoff (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to Royal Gold's Current Report on F@+K filed on September 19, 2008 and
incorporated herein by referenc

2004 Omnibus Lor-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10 Roya
Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on NovembgeP010 and incorporated herein by
reference

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement undenyl Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Royal Gsl@urrent Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by retsk

Form of Nor-qualified Stock Option Agreement under Royal Go084 Omnibus Lor-
Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Ro¢aild's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 7, 2008 and incorporated hergineference

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under Royald3 2004 Omnibus Long-Term
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Royal Gsel@urrent Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by refexk

Form of Performance Share Agreement under Royal'&8D04 Omnibus Lol-Term
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Royal Gel@urrent Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by refsk

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement unéoyal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-
Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Ro¢aild's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 7, 2008 and incorporated hergineference

Amended and Restated Master Agreement by and betRegal Gold, Inc. and Compaf
Minera Teck Carmen de Andacollo, dated as of Janlr2010, along with the related
Form of Royalty Agreement attached thereto as Exfilffiled as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on Januan2@5%0 and incorporated herein by
reference

Second Amended And Restated Term Loan Facility &gpent among Royal Gold, Ini
RGLD Gold Canada, Inc., High Desert Mineral Resesrdnc., RG Mexico, Inc., HSBC
Bank USA, National Association, the Bank of Novatsx and certain other parties ther
dated February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 ®@ompany's Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein t&reace)

Security Agreement by and among Royal Gold, IHgh Desert Mineral Resources, Inc.,
RG Mexico, Inc. and HSBC Bank USA, National Asstioia dated February 1, 2011 (fil
as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly ReporEorm 10-Q on February 4, 2011 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Pledge Agreement by Royal Gold, Inc. in favor ofBSBank USA, National Associatic

dated February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 ® @ompany's Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein feyeace).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

10.32

10.3:

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3i

10.3¢

10.3¢

Fourth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agrent among Royal Gold, Inc., High
Desert Mineral Resources, Inc., RGLD Gold Canada, RG Mexico, Inc., HSBC Bank
USA, National Association, the Bank of Nova Scatial certain other parties thereto, d:
February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Camygs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein byeats)

Amended And Restated Security Agreement by anohgrRoyal Gold, Inc., High Desert
Mineral Resources, Inc., RG Mexico, Inc. and HSBEhBUSA, National Association
dated February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 ® @ompany's Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein t&reace)

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement by Royd| Ga. in favor of HSBC Bank
USA, National Association dated February 1, 201&dfas Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein feyeace)

Support Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2000ng Royal Gold, Inc., Rt
Callco Inc., and RG Exchangeco Inc. (filed as ExHib.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K on February 23, 2010 and incorporated hereirelfigrence

Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement, dated &ebfuary 22, 2010, among Royal
Gold, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc. and ComputershamstT@ompany of Canada (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report om#8rK on February 23, 2010 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Labrador Option Agreement, dated May 18, 1998yben Diamond Fields Resources Inc.
and Archean Resources Ltd., as amended (filed bibiE=L0.13 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q on May 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by refes§

Form of Assignment of Rights Agreement between R@g@d, Inc. and certain individue
dated July 1, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to then(any's Current Report on Form 8-K on
July 8, 2010 and incorporated herein by refere

Robinson Property Trust Ancillary Agreement by &etween Kennecott Holding
Corporation, Kennecott Rawhide Mining Company arehitecott Nevada Copper
Company and BHP Nevada Mining Company, dated Sdmed?, 2003 (filed as
Exhibit 10.60 to the Company's Annual Report omi@0-K on August 26, 2010 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Shares Purchase and Sale Agreement by JaimeeUgaatand others to Compafiia Minera
Barrick Chile Limitada, dated as of March 23, 2@Bhglish Translation) (filed as

Exhibit 10.61 to the Company's Annual Report omi@0-K on August 26, 2010 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Letter Agreement between Minefinders Corporatioth. LErancis J.L. Guardia and John
Perston, dated January 27, 1993 (filed as Exhib2 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K on August 26, 2010 and incorporated herein bgreefce’

Mining Rights Purchase Agreement by and betweerLibano Saenz Ortiz and
Compaifia Minera Dolores, S.A. de C.V. dated Octdi3e2006 (English Translation)
(filed as Exhibit 10.63 to the Company's Annual &&pn Form 10-K on August 26, 2010
and incorporated herein by referen
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.4(

10.41

10.4%

10.4:

10.4¢

10.4¢

10.4¢

10.47

10.4¢

10.4¢

10.5(*

10.5F

Royalty Deed between St Barbara Mines Limited Redource Capital Funds Il L.P.,
dated March 29, 2005, as supplemented and amerydbe ISupplemental Deed between
St Barbara Mines Limited and Resource Capital FuhdsP., dated May 20, 2005 (filed
as Exhibit 10.64 to the Company's Annual Reporfform 10-K on August 26, 2010 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement by and betwdenwmont Canada Limited at
Barrick Gold Corporation, dated October 8, 200k dfias Exhibit 10.65 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form -K on August 26, 2010 and incorporated herein bgreefce’

Royalty for Technical Expertise Agreement by antiieen Tenedoramex S. A. de C.
and Kennecott Minerals Company, dated as of Mag;2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on JanuaB066 and incorporated herein by
reference

Form of Assignment of Rights Agreement between R@g@d, Inc. and certain individue
dated July 1, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to thex(@any's Current Report on Form 8-K on
July 8, 2010 and incorporated herein by refere

Purchase and Sale Agreement by and among Royd] [Bo., RGL Royalty AG,
Thompson Creek Metals Company Inc. and Terrane Is€arp. dated as of October 20,
2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's CuriReport on Form 8-K on October 20,
2010 and incorporated herein by reference). Cepaitions of this exhibit have been
omitted by redacting a portion of the text (indedhby asterisks in the text). This exhibit
has been filed separately with the U.S. SecuritiresExchange Commission pursuant to a
request for confidential treatme

Form of Assignment of Rights Agreement between R®gd, Inc. and certain individue
dated October 28, 2010 (filed as Annex B to ExHibitl to the Company's Current Report
on Form &K on July 8, 2010 and incorporated herein by refee.

Intercreditor Agreement by and among RGL Royalty, A@rrane Metals Corp. al
JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. dated as of DecemberQli@ ¢filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on DecembgePQ40 and incorporated herein by
reference)

Option Agreement between Seabridge Gold Inc.R@UD Gold Canada, Inc. dated
June 16, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Com{m@yrrent Report on Form 8-K on
June 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by refere

Subscription Agreement between Seabridge Goldand.RGLD Gold Canada, Inc. dal
June 16, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Com{m@yrrent Report on Form 8-K on
June 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by refere

Agreement for Transfer of Belahouro Project besw@®HP Minerals International
Exploration Inc., BHP Minerals Ghana Inc., BHP Holgs (International) Inc., BHP
Billiton World Exploration Inc, Resolute Limited drResolute (West Africa) Limited,
dated February 8, 200

Net Smelter Royalty Agreement between Barrick Gotdporation and McWatte!
Mining Inc., dated April 3, 200:

Agreement for Amendment and Restatement of Rgyfalt Technical Expertise between
Minas de Oro Nacional S.A. de C.V. and RG Mexicw, Idated May 27, 201
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.52¢

10.5%

10.54*

21.F

23.7

23.2F

317

31.2*

32.F

32.2%

101*

Agreement between Rio Tinto Metals Limited and MKEI&GCompany, dated Septembe
1999.

Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement between EigiaetResources Ltd. and At
Resources Ltd., dated June 16, 2004, as modifidebblyal Assignment of Royalty
between Atna Resources Ltd, Equity Engineering &tal Yukon Zinc Corporation, dated
August 20, 2007

Employment Agreement by and between Royal Gold,and William M. Zisch
Royal Gold and Its Subsidiari

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring

Certification of President and Chief Executiveficdr required by Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer requirdaly Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

Written Statement of the President and Chief Exige Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002

Written Statement of the Chief Financial Offiqgaarsuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

The following financial information from the analreport on Form 10-K of Royal Gold,
Inc. for the year ended June 30, 2011, formatteXBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Oparatamd Comprehensive Income,

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) ConsolidaB&tatements of Cash Flows,

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Eqgaity, (v) Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statement

*

*%

Filed herewith.

Identifies each management contract or compenspléonor arrangement.
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BHP Minerals International Exploration Inc., BHP Mi nerals Ghana Inc.,
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Resolute Limited

Resolute (West Africa) Limited

Forrest Centt

221 St George Terrac

Perth WA 600

Telephone: (08) 9366 80
Fax: (08) 9366 811 Ref: PGE:SSP:1274194.
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AGREEMENT FOR TRANSFER OF BELAHOURO INTEREST

DATE 8 February 2002

PARTIES

BHP Minerals International Exploration Inc., BHP Mi nerals Ghana Inc., BHP Holdings (International) Inc, all having an office
at Houston, United States of America, &tdP Billiton World Exploration Inc. (formerly calle d BHP World Exploration Inc.) ,
having an office at Vancouver, Canada (collectivelgrred to as BHP )

Resolute Limited (ABN 27 009 069 014) (Resolute”)

Resolute (West Africa) Limited (“RWAL")

RECITAL

A.

B.

This Agreement documents the terms upon which BytBes to transfer the Belahouro Interest to RWAd BWVAL agrees to accept
the Belahouro Interest.

Resolute guarantees RWAL'’s obligations under tigse&ment

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS

1.

11

INTERPRETATION

Definitions

In this Agreement, including the Recitals, unldss ¢ontext otherwise requires:
“ Business Day means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday abkgholiday.

“ Belahouro Interest” means all right, title and interest of BHP in andhe Belahouro Project, including all informatirelating to
that project and the benefit of all contracts ageaments relating to that project.

“ Belahouro Project” means, subject to clause 7, the project desciitbéshnexure 1.

“ Completion” means completion in relation to the transfertef Belahouro Interest as set out in clause 6.2.
“ Effective Date” means, subject to satisfaction of the conditiolause 6.1, the date of this Agreement.

“ Parties” means BHP, RWAL and Resolute an&drty ” means one of the Parties.

“ Resolute Companie$ means Resolute and RWAL, collectively.

“ Royalty " means the royalty described in clause 3 of thige®ment.

“ Salmon Project” means the Salmon gold project in Ghana.




1.2

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

General
In this Agreement, including the Recitals, unldss ¢ontext otherwise requires:

(a) references to any legislation or any section owigion thereof shall include any modification orgeactment thereof or any
legislative provision substituted therefor andsalbordinate legislation and statutory instrumesgsed thereunder;

(b) words denoting the singular number shall includepgtural number and vice versa;

(©) words denoting individuals shall include corporati@nd vice versa;

(d) words denoting any gender shall include all genders

(e) headings are for convenience only and shall necafhterpretation;

) references to Recitals, Clauses, Schedules andx@regeare references to recitals, clauses, scredatbannexures of or to

this Agreement or to the denominated sub-clausagpaph or sub-paragraph thereof; and

(9) references to any Party to this Agreement, or dhgradocument or arrangement, shall include itessgors or permitted
assigns.

TRANSFER OF BELAHOURO INTEREST

Upon and subject to the terms of this Agreemenrd,iarconsideration of the Royalty, BHP agrees andfer to RWAL the Belahouro
Interest with effect from the Effective Date.

The Belahouro Interest is transferred free andrdémterests of third parties, royalties, liensother encumbrances arising by,
through or under BHP, except those to which thé¢i€zahave given their written consent.

ROYALTY

RWAL agrees to pay to BHP a royalty calculated éfgrence to Gross Sales received from the Belaheroject after the Effective
Date.

The royalty to which BHP is entitled under clausk i 2.5% of Gross Sales (as defined below).

“ Gross Sales means the total revenues, calculated in respgesale Agreements by multiplying the Metal Conteytthe Reference
Price, from the sale of ore, minerals or other potsl extracted from the area covered by the BelahBtoject.

“ Metal Content” means the contained metal or other product fehgmyable metal or other product as determinegtdéordance
with the Sale Agreements and such determinatiol lsbdy a method of metal/product content deteatiam generally used by the
industry. No discounts, deductions or adjustmemtfi¢ final determination shall be made.




3.4

3.5

“ Reference Prices means market metal index prices averaged overubtational period as defined in each Sale Agreerfoerdact
payable metal contained. In the event a Sale Ageeeniilizes a quotational period of less than Bresiness Days the Reference P
shall be determined over five Business Days begmoin the same day as the Sale Agreement quotbgieriad.

“ Sale Agreements means all sales agreements entered into by RWAts affiliates and if any sales agreement isanbbna fide
arm’s length transaction such sales agreemenfavitoyalty calculation purposes, be deemed adjisieeasonable arm’s length
terms.

All royalty payments to BHP will be paid in cashoyRlties will be paid within 10 Business Days of #nd of each calendar quarte
which revenues are received by Resolute.

All royalty payments shall be accompanied by aest@int giving sufficient details of calculationsetoable BHP to verify the
correctness of the payments.

Within 90 days after the end of RWAL'’s fiscal yeRWAL will deliver to BHP an unaudited statementogalties paid to BHP
during the year and the calculation thereof. Aliyend statements will be deemed true and correwirghs after presentation, unless
within that period BHP delivers notice to RWAL sging with particularity the grounds for each eptien. BHP will be entitled at
its expense to an annual independent audit ofttteraent by a certified public accountant of reésguh standing reasonably
acceptable to RWAL within 3 months after presentatf the related year-end statement.

BHP'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

BHP hereby represents and warrants to Resolute @uoiepthat (subject to the interests, rights arigiations of Resolute
Companies):

€) BHP is the sole beneficial owner of the Belahounterest;
(b) to the best of BHP’s knowledge, information anddfeBHP's title to the Belahouro Project is in gbstanding;

(c) to the best of BHP’s knowledge, information anddfethere are no mortgages, pledges, liens, ceaygencumbrances
against or relating to the Belahouro Interest;

(d) to the best of BHR knowledge, information and belief, no persomfor corporation other than BHP now owns or poss
any rights to explore or prospect for mineralsl(iding gold, silver and precious metals) on or iaerthe Belahouro Project;
and

(e) BHP has no further interest in the Salmon Project.

Resolute Companies agree not to make any claineradd in respect of an alleged breach by BHP ofbomeore of the above
representations or warranties unless written naticeich claim or demand is given to BHP within énths of the Effective Date.




5. BHP’S CONTRACTS AND INFORMATION AND VEHICLES

5.1 At or prior to Completion, BHP must deliver to RWAl agreements, contracts, plans, maps, recodisi@cuments (if any) and all
prospecting, geological, geophysical and technidafmation which may be in or which may hereaftaut prior to Completion) corr
into BHP’s possession and relate in any way tdBtblahouro Interest.

5.2 At or prior to Completion:

(a) BHP shall deliver the vehicles described in Annex2i(“*Vehicles”) and all documents relating to treinership and service
histories to RWAL for the purpose of their saled@posal; and

(b) BHP shall deliver to RWAL effective written authiyrito sell or dispose of the Vehicles in such maraseRWAL sees fit.

BHP shall be under no obligation to maintain thdi¢kes in good condition or the condition in whittey are at the date of this
Agreement.

5.3 BHP agrees that RWAL shall be entitled to the pedlseof the sale or disposal of the Vehicles.
54 RWAL agrees that, on and from the time of delivefyhe Vehicles, it shall be responsible for alstsoand expenses of operating,

maintaining and disposing of the Vehicles and farthgrees to indemnify BHP from all liabilities, liglations, claims and demands
that may arise after delivery of the Vehicles ios@dance with clause 5.2(a).

6. CONSENTS AND COMPLETION
6.1 This Agreement is conditional on receipt of all @esary governmental approvals and consents. Thie$aust use their best
continuing endeavours to secure those consentaggrdvals as soon as possible. To this end, RWAIl prepare all necessary

applications and pay all applicable fees.

6.2 Subject to clause 6.3, Completion shall occur as s possible after the condition in clause 6shisfied and the Parties must then
do all things and sign all documents necessaretfept that transfer.

6.3 If the condition in clause 6.1 is not satisfiedhirit6 months from the date of this Agreement, tigge&ment will terminate
immediately unless the Parties otherwise agree.

6.4 If the Agreement terminates in accordance with s@afl.3:
€) the Parties acknowledge that such terminationmaitlaffect their continuing obligations under cla@s and
(b) that termination will not give rise to any liabylion the part of a Party but each Party will remiible for any antecedent

breach.




7.

7.1

7.2

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1

10.2

11.

111

REDUCTION IN BELAHOURO PROJECT AREA

To the extent that, prior to transfer of the Belatwolnterest, the area of the Belahouro Projestiigect to mandatory reduction, BHP
shall comply with all reasonable requests of RWALRWAL'’s cost) to facilitate such reduction.

References in this Agreement to the area of thatRelro Project shall be deemed to be referencie tBelahouro Project as reduced
in accordance with clause 7.1.

CONFIDENTIALITY

No announcement or communication relating to thgotiations of the Parties or the subject matteeons of this Agreement (other
than those required to be made by law or undevaetestock exchange listing requirements, or asrerge to professional advisers on
a confidential basis) shall be made or authorigedrty Party without the prior written consent of tither Party, such consent not ti
unreasonably withheld.

In relation to permitted announcements or commdiuioa required to be made by law, the announcingparmunicating Party must
give reasonable prior notice to the other Partfeh@contents of the announcement or communicai@hmust in good faith consider
the views of the other Parties.

GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement shall, to the extent necessarilyegoed by the laws of the jurisdiction in which Belahouro Project is situated in
accordance with applicable principles governingfioctrof laws, be governed by the laws of that galiction, but shall otherwise be
governed by, construed and take effect in accorlaiih the laws in force in the State of Westerrs#alia from time to time. The
Parties irrevocably submit to the non-exclusivésliction of the courts of the State of Western thalga and courts entitled to hear
appeals therefrom.

ASSIGNMENT

RWAL may not assign or otherwise dispose of akuy part of its interest in the Belahouro Projedess it has first procured that
assignee or disposee has agreed in an enforceablgemreasonably acceptable to BHP to comply withlse bound by RWAL'’s
obligations under this Agreement to the extenhefassignment or disposition.

If RWAL assigns or disposes of its interest in Bedahouro Project in accordance with clause 10.1:

€) RWAL will not be released from its obligations undleis Agreement unless BHP agrees to such relgdseh agreement
will not be unreasonably withheld; and

(b) Resolute will not be released from its obligatiomsler this Agreement unless BHP agrees to suchselevhich agreement
will not be unreasonably withheld.

STAMP DUTY AND PARTY COSTS

RWAL shall pay and will indemnify BHP in respectarfiy stamp duty (including fines and penalties)atég on this Agreement and
in respect of all statutory costs relating to




11.2

12.

12.1

12.2

13.

13.1

13.2

14.

14.1

14.2

the transfer of the Belahouro Interests to RWAIhéotthan taxation costs incurred by BHP).

Each Party will pay its own costs (including legaéts) of and incidental to the preparation anaeten of this Agreement, and all
documents it contemplates.

FURTHER ASSURANCES

Each Party shall, as a continuing obligation, expmgsly sign all such documents and do all suéhgh as shall be necessary to give
full effect to this Agreement and the transfers aradsactions contemplated by it.

BHP must do all things necessary to secure thgm@m®snt or novation of contracts and agreementtingléo the Belahouro Project
RWAL. To the extent that a particular contract hasbeen assigned or novated by the Effective DB will thereafter hold the
benefit of that contract or agreement for and dmelfeof RWAL until assignment or novation is podeib
GUARANTEE

Resolute guarantees to BHP the due and punctuarpemce, compliance and discharge by RWAL of efdRWAL'’s obligations
under this Agreement including without limitatidretobligation to pay the Royalty.

The guarantee is absolute and unconditional andliligations of Resolute under clause 13.1 ar@émbe released, discharged,
modified, impaired or affected in any manner what& including without limitation the liquidatiorf RWAL or any arrangement or
composition with its creditors or the appointmehaeceiver or receiver and manager or any adtni@ or trustee. BHP may
enforce this guarantee without the need to giveadb RWAL or to make any claim or institute ampgeedings against RWAL or to
join RWAL in any enforcement action.

NOTICES

A notice, consent, approval or other communicafeach a ‘Notice”) shall be signed by or on behalf of the Party givthgddresse
to whom it is to be given and:

€) delivered to that Party’s address; or
(b) transmitted by facsimile to that Party’s address.

A Notice given to a Party in accordance with tHeuse shall be treated as having been duly givdireseived:

€) if delivered to a Party’s address, on the day dif’dey if a Business Day, otherwise, on the nexsiBass Day; or
(b) if transmitted by facsimile to a Party’s addresd arcorrect and complete transmission report isived, on the day of

transmission, if a Business Day, otherwise on thd Business Day.




14.3

15.

16.

17.

For the purpose of this clause, the address sdteboiv or another address of which that Party memftime to time give notice to t
other Party:

BHP:

Attention: The Secretary, BHP Minerals International Explanatinc.
Address: 1360 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 150, Houston, TX 77-3020, USA.
Facsimile: 1713961 850

Copy to:
Vice President Exploration, BHP Miner:
Level 34, 600 Bourke Street, Melbourne, VIC. 3l
Facsimile: 61 3 9609 307.

Resolute Companies:

Attention: The Company Secreta
Address: 4t Floor, The BGC Centre, 28 The Esplanade, Perth,6020
Facsimile: 61 8 9322 754

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreememtdezt the Parties relating to the subject matténiefAgreement. There are not and
shall not be any oral statements, representatieasanties, undertakings, indemnities or agreemamisng the Parties except as may
be contained in this Agreement, and this Agreemeat not be amended in any respect except by wiitttrument signed by each
Party.

COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed by counterparts.

ATTORNEYS

Each person who executes this Agreement on behalParty under a power of attorney declares thairtshe is not aware of any f
or circumstance that might affect his or her adtido do so under that power of attorney.




EXECUTED as an agreement

EXECUTED by BHP Minerals International Exploration Inc:

Signature of witnes

A ST AT

” Cecosdu O M

A o v — e
)

Name of witnes:

EXECUTED by BHP Minerals Ghana Inc:

T T

Name and Title

o

Signature of witness

A ST WL T

Y Corosdu T NaIAD
‘-\b_.@ —Yeebh

Name of witnes:

EXECUTED by BHP Billiton World Exploration Inc:

Name and Title

o —

Signature of witness

A T AW T

” Cecosdu O M
e g Cramidents

Name of witnes:

Name and Title




EXECUTED by BHP Holdings (International) Inc:

e F;ﬁ;:@z "?{Z

o

Signature of witnes

A ST AL T

Y Cerordu T NalAJ

Name of witnes:

EXECUTED by Resolute Limited:

Name and Title

i/ 4N

Signature of witnes

GREG FITZGERALD

Signature of director/secrets

PETER SULLIVAN

Name of witnes:

EXECUTED by Resolute (West Africa) Limited:

fl

Name of director/secreta

i/ 4N

Signature of witnes

GREG FITZGERALD

Signature of director/secreta

PETER SULLIVAN

Name of witnes:

Nameof director/secretar




ANNEXURE 1

BELAHOURO PROJECT

Country: Burkina /Faso

Project: Belahouro Project

License: No. 9¢-127 IMEM/SG/DGMG/DG of 13th October 199¢
Licensee: BHP Minerals International Exploration Inc.

Project Area: 1600 sq. km

The Project Area is particularly described by camates set forth below.

POINTS LONGITUDE LATITUDE
A 1°2¢00" W 14° 37 45" N
B 0° 5% 0C" W 14° 37 45" N
C 0° 52 0C" W 14° 17 2C" N
D 1°2¢ 0C" W 14° 17 2C" N




VEHICLE REGISTRATION:

11H2291 AT
11G5031 AT
11K3180 AT
11K3458 AT
1113348 AT
11G5033 AT
11G5032AT
11K8556 AT
11K5576 AT

ANNEXURE 2

SCHEDULE OF VEHICLES




Exhibit 10.5C
NET SMELTER ROYALTY AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT made the 3rd day of April, 2003,
BETWEEN:

BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION, a corporation existing under the laws of the Proginf Ontario,

(hereinafter referred to as thidolder”),

— and—

MCWATTERS MINING INC., a corporation existing under the laws of Quebec,

(hereinafter referred to as tf@wner”).

WHEREAS the Owner has entered into a purchase and saleragnt (the “Purchase Agreement”) dated Februarg@d3
with the Holder providing for the purchase by ther@r of the East Malartic Properties (as hereimafédined) from the Holder on the terms
out in the Purchase Agreement;

AND WHEREAS, as part of the consideration for the purchase @Bast Malartic Properties, the Owner has agregdaat
to the Holder a Royalty (as hereinafter definedpbiProducts (as hereinafter defined) mined oentlise recovered on or after the date hereof
from the East Malartic Properties;

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES THAT in consideration of the respective covenants and
agreements herein contained and for other goodralodble consideration (the receipt and sufficieatwhich are hereby acknowledged by

each party), the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

11 Defined Terms.For purposes of this Agreement (including the edsiaind Schedules hereto), the following terms| $iaade
the respective meanings set out below and gramahaticiations of such terms shall have correspandieanings:

“affiliate” has the meaning given to such term inBlusiness Corporations A@ntario), as in effect on the date hereof;

“Average Gold Price” during any period means the result obtained bydiigi the sum of the Spot Price of Gold on eachdiaing that perio
by the number of days that prices were posted duhat period;




“Bullion Value” in any quarter means the product of (i) the nunabéroy ounces of Gold Bullion refined from Prodaatd returned or
credited to the Owner or its affiliates by the agible refinery or refineries during that quartagltiplied by (ii) the Average Gold Price during
that quarter;

“Business Day”means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sundayhich banks are open for ordinary banking busimessch of Toronto,
Ontario; Montreal, Quebec; and London, England;

“Commercial Production” means the date upon which Product from any podfdhe East Malartic Properties is first deliveteda purchaser
on a commercial basis, it being agreed that déégesf such Products resulting from pilot or tgs¢i@tions shall not be considered as delive
on a commercial basis. The Owner shall deliveh&Holder notice indicating said date as soon astigable after the occurrence thereof;

“Dispute” has the meaning set out in Section 3.1;

“East Malartic Properties” means the interests of the Holder in the miningrdadescribed in Schedule “Afereto and acquired by the Ow
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement or any repladsisubstitutions or modifications of any of sel@ms held by the Owner or any of its
affiliates which may arise in the future coverihg same area, together with all applications, yveasements, rights of way, rights, titles or
interests of every kind and description which then@r or its affiliates has rights with respectdoptherwise owns or controls, relating to or
acquired in connection with one or more of saidheta

“Gold Bullion” means gold refined from Products to a form thattsigeod delivery standards in the London Bullionrkés, or a comparable
terminal market;

“Holder” has the meaning set out in the first recital hereto

“Net Smelter Return” in any quarter means the amount, if any, by whithBullion Value in such quarter exceeds the suth@Refining

Costs and Taxes in such quarter (it being agresdthie foregoing shall control, notwithstanding amgrvening transfer of any intermediate
Product from the Owner to any affiliate. The Owagad the Holder acknowledge that the purpose ofdhisse is to ensure that the Net Smelter
Return is determined in a timely manner for GoldliBon mined and removed from the East Malartic Fmbies, regardless of whether an actual
sale of such Gold Bullion is made by the Owner).

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it shatleduct the costs of mining, milling, leaching ay ather on-site processing costs (other
than Refining Costs) incurred by the Owner or ffdiates in the determination of the Net Smelteat&n. If smelting or refining is carried out
in facilities owned or controlled, in whole or ia, by the Owner or its affiliates, then the RefgnCosts shall be the amount that the Owner
would have incurred if such smelting or refiningresearried out at facilities not owned or contrdltey the Owner then offering comparable
services for comparable products on prevailing serm

“Processor” means, collectively, any Third Party smelter, refirpprocessor, purchaser or other user of Prodtices than the Owner or its
affiliates;




“Product” means ores mined from the East Malartic Propeatielsany concentrates or other materials or prodiesised therefrom as part of
the operations relating to the East Malartic Proegand carried out hereunder, provided, howehat,if any such ores, concentrates or other
materials or products are subjected to furthettrmeat as part of such operations, such ores, ctrates or other materials or products shall not
be considered to be “Product” until after they hbeen so treated;

“Purchase Agreement”has the meaning set out in the first recital hereto
“quarter” means a calendar quarter;

“Refining Costs” in any quarter means all costs and expenses ofismahd refining, including all costs of assayiegmpling, custom-
smelting and refining, all independent represeveatind umpire charges, and the costs of transgehiendling and insuring the material from
the East Malartic Properties to the refinery or beneas the case may be;

“Royalty” means the net smelter royalty granted by the Owntre Holder, pursuant to Section 2.1;

“Spot Price of Gold” at any date means the price for refined gold in. ddiars as established pursuant to the LondotidduBrokers
Association P.M. Gold Fix on that date, as quotethe Wall Street Journal, Reuters or anotherbilgiaource selected by the Owner. If the
London Bullion Brokers Association P.M. Gold Fixases to be published, the Spot Price of Gold amyatlate shall be determined on such
basis as may be agreed to in writing at that timéhke Holder and the Owner or, failing such agrestimghall be the price of gold in U.S. doll
as quoted by and at the closing of the New York @aaiity Exchange (COMEX) (or any successor theretojhat date, as determined by the
Owner;

“Taxes” shall mean all imposts, royalties, duties, asses@nad valorem and other taxes (other than incamdecapital taxes) imposed upot
in connection with producing, transporting andiegllProducts, by any federal, state or local gowemntal entity or subdivision thereof;

“Third Party”, in relation to any party, means a person with wisoich party deals at arm’s length (within the megmihthelncome Tax Act
(Canada), as in effect on the date hereof); and

“Trading Activities” means any and all price hedging and price protectaivities undertaken by the Owner or its affégwith respect to

any Products or currency exchanges, including anydrd sale and/or purchase contracts, spot-defeoetracts, option contracts, speculative
purchases and sales of forward, futures and optiatracts, both on and off commodity exchanges.

1.2 Currency. Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amountsmrefito in this Agreement are expressed in UnitdeS dollars.
1.3 Sections and HeadingsThe division of this Agreement into Sections angl ittsertion of headings are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect the constructivinterpretation of this Agreement. The terntgstAgreement”, “hereof”, “hereunder” and
similar expressions refer to this Agreement andt@@iny particular Section or other portion
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hereof and include any agreement or instrumentleopgntal or ancillary hereto. Unless otherwise Bgel; any reference herein to a
Section or Schedule refer to the specified Seafarr Schedule to this Agreement.

1.4 Rules of Construction.Unless the context otherwise requires, in this Agrent:

€) words importing the singular number only shall ird# the plural and vice versa and words importirggrhasculine gender
shall include the feminine and neutral genders\acel versa,;

(b) the words “include”, “includes” and “including” medinclude”, “includes” or “including”, in each cas“without limitation”,

(c) reference to any agreement, indenture or othemiment in writing means such agreement, indentuggleer instrument in
writing as amended, modified, replaced or suppleatkfrom time to time;

(d) if there is any conflict or inconsistency betweba provisions contained in the body of this Agreet@and those of any
Schedule hereto, the provisions contained in thy lod this Agreement shall prevail;

(e) time periods within which a payment is to be madarty other action is to be taken hereunder skeatldiculated excluding
the day on which the period commences and incluttiaglay on which the period ends; and

) whenever any payment to be made or action to lenthkreunder is required to be made or taken @y atther than a
Business Day, such payment shall be made or atzti@n on the next following Business Day.

15 Accounting Principles. Any reference in this Agreement to generally aceg@tccounting principles refers to generally
accepted accounting principles that have beenlediat in Canada, including those approved fronetimtime by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants or any successor body thereto

1.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the other documex¢seted and delivered in connection herewith,
constitutes the entire agreement between the parita respect to the subject matter hereof anérsages all prior agreements,
understandings, negotiations and discussions, whattitten or oral, including the letter of intesdted January 31, 2003 between the Holder
and the Owner. There are no conditions, covenagteements, representations, warranties or otbeisiwns, express or implied, collateral,
statutory or otherwise, relating to the subjecttardtereof except as herein provided or as providedher documents executed and delivered
by the parties in connection herewith.

1.7 Time of EssenceTime shall be of the essence of this Agreement.

1.8 Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be construed, interpretedearidrced in accordance with, and the respectiv@sig
and obligations of the parties shall be governedtoy laws of the Province of Ontario and the fatliews of Canada applicable therein.
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1.9 Amendments and WaiversNo amendment or waiver of any provision of this égment shall be binding on any party ur
consented to in writing by that party. No waiveraofy provision of this Agreement shall constitut@aiver of any other provision, nor shall
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless ottigewrovided.

1.10 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determinedabgourt of competent jurisdiction to be invalitegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such determinatiath sht impair or affect the validity, legality enforceability of the remaining provisions
hereof, and each provision is hereby declared teeparate, severable and distinct. To the extantatty such provision is found to be invalid,
illegal or unenforceable, the parties hereto shalin good faith to substitute for such provisitmthe extent possible, a new provision with
content and purpose as close as possible to thésimo so determined to be invalid, illegal or ufegneable.

1.11 SchedulesThe following Schedules are attached to and forrhgfahis Agreement:
Schedule “A” — Description of East Malartic Propest

ARTICLE 2
NET SMELTER ROYALTY

2.1 Grant of Royalty. On the terms and subject to the conditions of Agieeement, the Owner hereby grants, transfers,emv
and agrees to pay to the Holder a net smelter soythile “Royalty”) at a variable rate (tH&oyalty Rate”) such that for Gold Bullion refined
from Product where the Average Gold Price during applicable quarter is:

@) $350 or more, the Royalty Rate shall be 3% of the Sinelter Return; or

(b) less than $350, the Royalty Rate shall be 2% oNeeSmelter Return.
2.2 Calculation and Payment.
€) Beginning on the date on which any portion of tlastBVialartic Properties comes into Commercial Pctidn, the Royalty

shall be calculated on a quarterly basis and theuatrof the Royalty payable to the Holder in respé@ny applicable
guarter shall be equal to the product of the Ne¢lfmReturn multiplied by the applicable Royaltgt& during such quarter.

(b) The Royalty payment due to the Holder in respeetyf quarter shall be paid to the Holder withind2§s after the end of
such quarter by the delivery to the Holder of dified cheque or bank draft in the appropriate amionade payable to or to
the order of the Holder. All Royalty payments, uihg interest, if any, shall be made in Unitedt&talollars and will be
made subject to withholding or deduction in resméche Royalty for, or on account of, any presanfuture taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatevweenatposed or levied by or on behalf of any gowsent having power
and jurisdiction to tax and




for which a Processor or the Owner is obligatedalayto withhold or deduct and remit to such taxaughority having such
power and jurisdiction.

(©) In the event that any Royalty payment requiredeanade to the Holder hereunder is not made whentlatepayment shall
bear interest at a rate equal to the Prime Rate4$fb6, compounded monthly on the last day of eaahth, until paid. For
the purposes hereof, the tetRrime Rate” means the per annum rate quoted or announced fimegrtd time by the principal
office of the Royal Bank of Canada in Toronto agdference rate of interest for United Statesaddtlans made in Canada.
The rate of interest payable on such late paymeititshange simultaneously with charges in the RriRate from time to
time.

2.3 Buy Out Option. The Holder hereby grants to the Owner the exclugpten (the'Buy Out Option”) to purchase one-half
of the Holder’s right to be paid the Royalty, for aggregate consideration of (i) $1.5 Million ay &ime when the Royalty Rate for the
preceding quarter was 3%, or (ii) $1 Million at a&mge when the Royalty Rate for the preceding aqarasas 2%, such that after the exercise of
the Buy Out Option by the Owner, the Royalty Rai lve reduced by one-half, to (i) 1.5% where thesPage Gold Price is $350 or more, or
(i) 1% where the Average Gold Price is less thah0 respectively. The Buy Out Option may be exsadiby the Owner delivering a notice to
the Holder at any time with the aforesaid paymemetermined in this Section 2.3. Payment of thg But Option shall only be made by
certified cheque, bank draft or wire transfer pagab the Holder, or as the Holder may direct iiting. Upon the receipt of said payment by
the Holder, one-half of the Royalty shall automalticand without action on the part of the Holdexdept to acknowledge said exercise of the
Buy Out Option if requested by the Owner) and then€ immediately vest in the Owner and the quamé@ithe Royalty be reduced
accordingly. The parties agree that notwithstandirgimmediate and automatic reduction of the Rgyas provided in this Section 2.3, any
Royalties accrued but not yet paid to the Hold@rgo the exercise of the Buy Out Option shallplaéd, as provided in this Agreement, at the
Royalty Rate prevailing prido the exercise.

2.4 Request for Data.lf requested by the Holder at the time each Roygédtyment is made, the Owner shall provide copieslof
relevant data relating to the Royalty calculatimel(iding all settlement sheets used in calculatiigNet Smelter Return) to the Holder.
25 Accounting Matters.

€) All calculations and computations relating to theyRIity payments to be made to the Holder hereusio&li be made on the

accrual method and shall be carried out on a cemdibasis in accordance with generally accepteduatting principles to
the extent that such principles are not inconsistéth the provisions of this Agreement. In the mivef any inconsistency
between such accounting principles and the pravssad this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail.

(b) Any Royalty payment made hereunder shall be consitinal and in full satisfaction of all obligatie of the Owner
hereunder in respect of the Royalty payable fornerter to which such payment relates unless wRdi months (the
“Review Period”) after the receipt by the Holder of a quarterly paymthe
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(©

(d)

()

Holder provides a written notice of its objectiae$cribing in detail the specific objection andoigsis therefor) to the Owni
In the event that a Dispute (as herein definedearthat cannot be resolved by the mutual agreevhéime parties within 60
days after receipt of such notice of objection iy ®wner, any party may elect to have the Dispti#rated in accordance
with Section 3.1.

Upon not less than 30 Business Days’ prior writeuest from the Holder, duly authorized repredesms of the Holder's
chartered accountants shall be entitled, at theléttd cost and expense to inspect and audit, witlérReview Period, such
books of account, records and supporting matemriddged to the determination of the Royalty or otfise confirming the
rights and obligations of the Holder and the Owmeneunder. The Holder and the Owner agree to matte adjustments, if
any, to Royalty payments previously made as magegeired as a result of such audit. In the eveattdDispute arises
regarding any adjustment to Royalty payments agiged in this Section 2.5(c) herein which cannotémolved by the
mutual agreement of the parties within 60 days, @aryy may elect to have the Dispute arbitrateaidoordance with
Section 3.1. The accounting firm selected by th&letoshall execute and deliver in favour of the @wa confidentiality
agreement that includes the confidentiality pravisi of Section 3.3(a).

The Owner shall have the right to commingle anydBots with ore, concentrates, minerals and othéemahmined and
removed from other properties, provided, howevet the Owner shall calculate from representat@redes the average
grade thereof and other measures as are appropuateshall weigh (or calculate by volume) the matdefore

commingling. In obtaining representative samplaf;ulating the average grade of the ore and avesgeery percentages,
the Owner may use any procedures accepted witeimthing and metallurgical industry which it beksvare suitable for the
type of mining and processing activity being cortddand, in the absence of fraud, its choice ofi swocedure shall be final
and binding on the Holder. In addition, comparahigcedures may be used by the Owner to apportiamgrthe commingle
materials all penalty and other charges and deshstif any, imposed by the smelter, refiner orchaser of such material.

Any Trading Activities engaged in by the Owner tsraffiliates in respect of Products, and the psafnd losses generated
thereby, shall not, in any manner, be taken intmant in the calculation of Royalty payments duéhtoHolder, whether in
connection with the determination of price, theedatt sale or the date any Royalty payment is dhe.Holder acknowledges
that the Owner engaging in Trading Activities magult in the Owner realizing from time to time fevee more dollars for
Gold Bullion than does the Holder, as the Hold&¢g/alty payment is established by published pri€asilarly, the Holder
shall not be obligated to share in any losses géeegiby any such Trading Activities with respecGid Bullion.

7




) For the purpose of determining the amount of thedRyp payments required to be made to the Holdesyant to Section 2.
all receipts and disbursements in a thémited States currency will be converted into UthiBtates currency on the basis of
noon rate of exchange quoted by the United Statdsrial Reserve Bank on the last Business Day frithre date of receipt
or disbursement, as the case may be, or, failich guotation, on the basis of the noon rate of argk quoted by Bank of
America or its successors on that Business Day.

(9) The Owner shall have the right to mine, remove sgiismall amounts of Product as is reasonablysseeg for sampling,
assaying, metallurgical testing and evaluatiorhefrhinerals potential of the East Malartic PropsttiThe Holder shall not be
entitled to a Royalty in respect of such sales.

ARTICLE 3
GENERAL MATTERS

3.1 Cooperation and Dispute Resolutionln the event of any dispute, claim, question oadisement (each*“®ispute”) arising
out of or relating to this Agreement, the partibalsuse all reasonable endeavours to settle siggui2. To this effect, they shall consult and
negotiate with each other in good faith and attetmpeach a just and equitable solution to the Wispvithin a period of 60 days from the
matter in dispute being raised by a party. If thetips cannot resolve the Dispute within the 60 piatyod, a party may refer the Dispute to
arbitration pursuant to the commercial arbitratioles of the American Arbitration Association. Témbitration shall be held in the City of
Montreal and determined by a single arbitrator amdess the parties agree to share the costs afltliteation, the arbitrator shall determine
what portion of the costs and expenses incurrediéh proceeding shall be borne by each party gaating in the arbitration. The award of the
arbitrator shall be final and binding on each & garties and shall not be subject to any appeahgrground, including an error of law. The
parties covenant that they shall conduct all aspefcsuch arbitration having regard at all timesxpediting the final resolution of such
arbitration.

3.2 Records.The Owner shall, from and after the date hereaplaccurate records of the tonnage, volume of Rtedanalysis
of Products, weight, moisture, assays of pay noetatent and other records, as appropriate, retattdte determination of the Net Smelter
Return.

3.3 Confidentiality.

(a) The Holder shall not, without the express writtengent of the Owner, which consent may not be soregbly withheld,
disclose the contents of this Agreement or any pudlic information received under this Agreemeitdtiag to the Owner or
the East Malartic Properties (th@onfidential Information”) , other than to employees, agents or consultarttsedflolder
in respect of the administration or enforcemeritofights hereunder and who agree to be bountidygonfidentiality
provisions of this Agreement (the breach of whibhlsbe deemed to be a breach by the Holder). diitiad, the Holder shall
not use any Confidential Information for its owreus benefit except for the purpose of adminisgednenforcing its rights
under this Agreement.




(b) The Holder may disclose Confidential Informatioratprospective lender to whom the Holder may, iodfaith, grant an
interest in the Royalty payments as security ferkiolder'sbona fideobligations to such lender, but only if the Ownash
been provided with a confidentiality agreement thaludes the confidentiality provisions of Sect®3(a), and that has been
executed by such lender.

(c) The Holder may disclose Confidential Informatiosifch disclosure is required for compliance withlaable laws, rules,
regulations or orders of any governmental agencstark exchange having jurisdiction over the Hololeits affiliates;
provided however, that the Holder shall give not@®wner of such disclosure as far in advancaiof slisclosure as is
reasonably practicable and ensure that only sdfohnvation as is necessary to comply with the Hoklebligations is
disclosed.

3.4 Right to Inspect. Upon not less than 30 day®tice to the Owner, the Holder or its authorizepresentatives may enter uj
all surface and subsurface portions of the EasaNlalProperties for the purpose of inspectingBast Malartic Properties, all improvements
thereto and operations thereon, and may, subjehetobligations of confidentiality described inc8en 3.3, inspect and copy all records and
data pertaining to the determination of the Royaitgluding such records and data which are maiathelectronically. The Holder or its
authorized representatives shall enter the EasaftiaProperties at its own risk and may not unseably hinder operations on or pertaining to
the East Malartic Properties. The Holder shall mdéy and save harmless the Owner and its afféidbecluding direct and indirect parent
companies) and their respective directors, officelnareholders, employees, agents and attorneys,&nd against any expenses, costs,
penalties, fines, losses, liabilities (includinfi,eenounts paid in settlement, all interest andgbtées and all legal and other professional feek
disbursements) which may be suffered or incurredryyof them by reason of damage to property arynjo the Holder or any of its agents or
representatives caused by the Holder’s exercigs dfjhts herein.

3.5 No Implied Covenants.The parties agree that no implied covenants oeduglating to exploration, development, mining or
the payment of production royalties or any othettema provided for herein shall affect any of theispective rights or obligations hereunder,
and that the only covenants or duties which af$ecch rights and obligations shall be those expyesstiforth and provided for in this
Agreement.

3.6 Change in Ownership of Right to Royalty.No change or division in the ownership of the Roydiowever accomplished,
shall enlarge the obligations or diminish the rigbt the Owner or its affiliates. The Holder covetsaand agrees that any change in ownership
of the Royalty shall be accomplished in such a reatimat the Owner and its affiliates shall be regpito make payments and give notice to no
more than one person, firm, corporation, or entityd upon breach of this covenant, the Owner anafffiliates may retain all Royalty payme
otherwise due until such breach has been cured¢hidipge or division in the ownership of the Royaltyight to Royalty payments shall be
binding on the Owner or its affiliates until the IHer shall have delivered to the Owner a certifiegdy of the instrument evidencing the change
or division of such ownership.




3.7

Lapse of Mining Claims. If the Owner decides at any time after the datedfeto allow any mining claims comprising the

East Malartic Properties to lapse or otherwise rexihe “Expiration Date”) for any reason, (i) itadl give notice of its intention to the Holder
at least 90 days prior to the Expiration Date, @ndf the Holder requests the Owner to do so witB0 days before the Expiration Date, the
Owner shall transfer such mining claims to the tdolir $10.

3.8
(@)
(b)
3.9
(@)
(b)
©

Property Right; Further Assurances; Registration ofInterest.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that (i) the IBagaa property right and creates an interestdoh of the East Malartic
Properties that runs with each of the East Mald&tmperties and such interest shall be applicablee Owner and its
successors and any permitted assigns of any of tile East Malartic Properties, and (ii) the Royahall attach to any
amendments, relocations or conversions of any micilaims comprising any or all of the East MalaRtoperties.

Each party shall execute all such further instruisi@nd documents and do all such further actiomsagsbe necessary to
effectuate the documents and transactions contéedpila this Agreement, in each case at the coseapednse of the party
requesting such further document or action, urdepsessly indicated otherwise. The Holder may tegisr record against
the title to any or all of the East Malartic Prajges such form of notice, caution or other docun{eriuding, without
limitation, a copy of this Agreement) as it cons&glappropriate to protect its right to receive Rwyalty hereunder. Each of
the parties hereto hereby consents to such reigigter recording and agrees to co-operate with gaety to accomplish the
same.

Successors and Assigns.

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of aralldle binding on and enforceable by the partiestbeand, where the
context so permits, their respective successorpanditted assigns.

The Holder may assign, transfer or otherwise conhissyAgreement or all or any of its rights in fReyalty to any of its
respective affiliates without the prior written camt of the Owner.

In the event that the Holder desires to sell, fiemar assign all or any of its rights to the Raya&b a Third Party, the Holder
shall notify the Owner of its desire to do sd'Keptice of Intent to Sell”) setting forth the terms and conditions upon which
they are prepared to sell such interest. The Owshalt have a period of 45 days after receipt ob#ide of Intent to Sell in
which to purchase the interest being offered ortehms and conditions specified in the Notice aéit to Sel(“Right of

First Refusal”) by delivering a notice of acceptanca {Notice of Acceptance”) to the Holder, failing which the Holder
shall have 180 days in which to sell the interest Third Party on terms and conditions no less
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3.10

(d)

(@)

favourable to the Owner and no more favourablé¢oThird Party than the terms and conditions deedrin the Notice of
Intent to Sell. Delivery of a Notice of Intent telSby the Holder and the delivery of a Notice afcgptance by the Owner
shall, in each instance, be irrevocable and sleallibding on the party delivering such notice.dfsuch sale to the Third
Party occurs within such 180 day period, the foneg@rovisions of this Section 3.9(c) shall aggiplg to any proposed sale
of any interest by the Holder.

The parties hereto agree that the Right of Fir§ugs provided in this Section 3.9(c) if exercisgsdthe Owner, is in addition
to the Buy Out Option provided in Section 2.3 herid does not have to be exercised in substitofisach option.

The Owner may assign, transfer or otherwise comlvisyAgreement or all or any of its rights or olliggns hereunder in
connection with any assignment or conveyance oEtm Malartic Properties or any interest in iaity manner whatsoever
without the prior written consent of the Holderppided, however, that it shall be a condition aftsassignment, transfer or
conveyance that the transferee first execute alinkdéo the other parties an instrument pursuanthich the transferee
agrees to be bound by the terms hereof and by #ikdiabilities and obligations of the transfet@reunder in the same
manner and to the same extent as though the trapsfes an original party hereto in the first ins&a

Notices.

Any notice or other communication required or peted to be given hereunder shall be in writing ahdll be delivered in
person, transmitted by telecopy or similar meangobrded electronic communication or sent by tegesl mail, charges
prepaid, addressed as follows:

if to the Holder:

Barrick Gold Corporation

BCE Place, TD Canada Trust Tower

161 Bay Street, Suite 3700, P.O. Box 212
Toronto, Ontario

M5J 251
Attention: Brad Doores
Telecopier No. (416) 86:-9717
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if to the Owner:
McWatters Mining Inc.
McWatters Mining Inc.
1800, av. McGill College
Bureau 2400

Montreal, Quebec

H3A 3J6

Attention: President
Telecopier: 514-879-1787

(b) Any such notice or other communication shall bentke@ to have been given and received on the dayhichvit was
personally delivered or transmitted by telecopieceipt confirmed (or, if such day is not a Bus;Bsly, on the next
following Business Day) or, if mailed, on the fifBusiness Day following the date of mailing; praadd however, that if at
the time of mailing or within five Business Day®thafter there is or occurs a labour dispute ogrodlrent which might
reasonably be expected to disrupt the deliveryoafichents by mail, any notice or other communicaliereunder shall be
delivered or transmitted by telecopier.

(©) Any party may change its address for service attiamg by giving notice to each of the other partireaccordance with this
Section 3.10.

3.11 English Language.The parties hereby have expressly required thatAbreement and all deeds, documents and notices
relating hereto be drafted in the English langu&gs. parties aux présentes ont expressément en@tagrésente convention et tous les autres
contrats documents ou avis qui y sont afférentsndaédigés en langue anglaise.

3.12 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterpart$y etwhich shall constitute an original and alldiich
taken together shall constitute one and the sastauiment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been exechieithe parties.

BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION

Name:
Title:

Per: % i

Name:
Title:
We have authority to bind the Corporat
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MCWATTERS MINING INC.

" 2

Name:
Title:

Per:

Name:
Title:
We have authority to bind the Corporat

13

(a) East Malartic Mill

SCHEDULE “A”
DESCRIPTION OF EAST MALARTIC MILL, MINING PROPERTIE S AND
EXPLORATION PROPERTIES

The East Malartic Mill as identified on the attadhmap consist of the following mining concessiond aelaims:

Surveying Expiration Area
Project # Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership

619 CM291 1937-10-07 12/31/2003 394.00 FOURNIERE 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 CM299 1938-05-11 12/31/2003 391.78 FOURNIERE 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3893751 6/17/1980 6/16/2003 17.00 FOURNIERE 8 41 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3893752 6/17/1980 6/16/2003 17.00 FOURNIERE 8 40 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3907411 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 38 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907412 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 39 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907413 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 40 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907414 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 41 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907421 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 42 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907422 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 43 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907423 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 44 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907424 1/29/1981 1/8/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 45 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907431 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 46 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907432 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 17.00 FOURNIERE 8-N 46 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907433 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 17.00 FOURNIERE 8-N 45 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907434 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 17.00 FOURNIERE 8-N 44 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI.

619 3907441 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 18.00 FOURNIERE 8-N 39 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3907442 1/29/1981 1/7/2005 18.00 FOURNIERE 8-N 38 32D/01 100% BARRICK

GOLD; 15% NPI

619 3922781 6/17/1980 6/16/2003 17.00 FOURNIERE 8 43 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3922782 6/17/1980 6/16/2003 17.00 FOURNIERE 8 42 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3950781 10/25/1980 3/15/2005 15.50 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3950782 10/25/1980 3/15/2005 12.60 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3950783 10/25/1980 3/15/2005 10.10 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3950784 10/25/1980 3/15/2005 13.50 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

619 3950785 10/25/1980 3/15/2005 8.50 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK



GOLD

619 3950791 10/26/1980 3/15/2005 15.50 FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD
619 4087941 5/10/1982 4/20/2005 20.00 FOURNIERE 8-S 30 32D/01 100% BARRICK
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619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

619

4087942

4087943

4087944

4087951

4087952

4087953

4087954

4088151

4088152

4088153

4088154

4088161

4088162

4088163

4088164

4088171

4088172

4088173

4088174

4137521

4137522

4137523

4137524

C005621

C005622

C005631

C005632

C005641

C005642

C007971

C007972

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

5/10/1982

11/26/1982

11/26/1982

11/26/1982

11/26/1982

7/12/1934

7/12/1934

7/12/1934

7/12/1934

10/7/1935

10/7/1935

10/7/1935

10/7/1935

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/20/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

4/21/2005

11/25/2004

11/25/2004

11/25/2004

11/25/2004

7/11/2003

7/11/2003

7/11/2003

7/11/2003

7/6/2003

7/6/2003

10/6/2003

10/6/2003

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

22.00

24.00

22.00

17.00

17.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

20.00

53.00

38.00

40.00

30.00

30.00

19.00

28.10

27.10

1943.68

FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE
FOURNIERE

FOURNIERE
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8-S

8-S

8-S

8-S

8-S

8-S

8-S

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

8-N

08Ss

08s

08Ss

08s

10

10

10

10

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

26

27

28

29

48

44

42

40

39

35

NONE

NONE

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
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100% BARRICK
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100% BARRICK
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GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
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100% BARRICK
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GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
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100% BARRICK
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100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD; 15% NPI
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD
100% BARRICK
GOLD




(b) Mining Properties

The Mining Properties as identified on the attacimegh consist of the following mining concessiond alaims:

“Canadian Malartic”

Surveying Expiration Area
Project # Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership

61¢ CM22¢ 1928-0314 12/31/200: 62.5% FOURNIERE 1/2 ES1 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ CM267 1934-0509 12/31/200: 78.1( FOURNIERE 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394162: 10/23/198! 3/15/200! 14.1C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394162: 10/23/198! 3/15/200! 13.7C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394162: 10/23/198! 3/15/200! 13.0C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394162: 10/23/198I 3/15/200! 15.4( FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394162! 10/23/198I 3/15/200! 15.5(C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394163: 10/22/198I 3/15/200! 12.4C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394163: 10/22/198I 3/15/200! 10.3( FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394163: 10/22/198I 3/15/200! 10.9C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394163: 10/22/198! 3/15/200! 17.6( FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 394163! 10/22/198! 3/15/200! 9.8C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 395077: 10/24/198! 3/15/200! 15.1(C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 395077: 10/24/198! 3/15/200! 17.2C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 395077: 10/24/198! 3/15/200! 17.5C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 395077: 10/24/198! 3/15/200! 12.2( FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ 395077! 10/24/198I 3/15/200! 3.7C FOURNIERE NENO 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

339.0¢
“Barnat” and “Sladen”
Registry Expiration
Project # Claim # date date Area (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership

61¢ CM281 1936-06-01 12/31/2003  71.22 FOURNIERE 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

61¢ CM324 1942-02-20 12/31/2003 144.47 FOURNIERE 32D/01 100% BARRICK
GOLD

215.69




(c) Exploration Properties

The Exploration Properties as identified on thacted map consist of the following mining claims:

“Amphi North”
Surveying Expiration Area

Project # Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership
818 3681592 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 3-S 41/2S 32D/01 100%LAC; 1%NSR
818 3681593 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 3-S 51/2S 32D/01 lOO%LlZF(e:\;Nl%NSR
818 3692211 3/15/197¢ 2/27/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2 6 32D/01 100%LiFé\;N1%NSR
818 3698201 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2 4 32D/01 lOO%LlZF(e:\;Nl%NSR
818 3698202 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2 5 32D/01 100%LiFé\;N1%NSR
818 3698211 3/15/197¢ 2/21/2005 16.00 CADILLAC 32D/01 lOO%LBA%\;Nl%NSR
818 3698212 3/15/197¢ 2/21/2005 16.00 CADILLAC 32D/01 lOO%LBA%\;Nl%NSR
818 3698213 3/13/197¢ 2/21/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 3-S 21/2S 32D/01 lOO%LBA%\;Nl%NSR
818 3698214 3/13/197¢ 2/21/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2 3 32D/01 lOO%LBA%\;Nl%NSR
818 3698231 3/13/197¢ 2/27/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 2N 11 1/2N 32D/01 lOO%LBA%\;Nl%NSR
818 3698271 3/15/197¢ 2/27/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2 8 32D/01 100%LBAR(’J\;N1%NSR
818 3698291 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 3-S 31/28 32D/01 lOO%LlZF(e:\;Nl%NSR
818 3698292 3/13/197¢ 2/22/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 3-S 6 1/2S 32D/01 100%LiFé\;N1%NSR
818 3705491 3/15/197¢ 2/27/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 2N 10 1/2N 32D/01 lOO%LlZF(e:\;Nl%NSR
818 3705511 3/15/197¢ 2/27/2005 20.00 MALARTIC 2-N 9 1/2N 32D/01 100%LiFé\;N1%NSR
818 3705831 3/13/197¢ 2/21/2005 56.80 MALARTIC 3 1 32D/01 lOO%LlZF(e:\;Nl%NSR
818 3705861 3/15/197¢ 2/27/2005 40.00 MALARTIC 2-N 7 1/2N 32D/01 lOO%LBA'?:\;Nl%NSR

BRW
488.80
“Malartic 2M-5M"

Project Surveying Expiration Area

# Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership
713 363960: 1/13/197 12/24/200: 40.0C MALARTIC 4 40 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
713 363961 1/13/197 12/24/200. 40.0C MALARTIC 4 41 32D/01 lOO%LBAFéIV;vl%NSR
713 363961 1/13/197 12/24/200. 40.0C MALARTIC 4 42 32D/01 lOO%LBA%V;Vl%NSR
713 363962: 1/13/197 12/24/200. 40.0C MALARTIC 4 43 32D/01 lOO%LBAI?C\:/?/l.%NSR
713 363962: 1/13/197 12/24/200. 40.0C MALARTIC 44 32D/01 lOO%LZchal%NSR

A-4




713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

713

363963:

363963:

363964:

363964

365559:

365559:

365560:

365563:

365563:

366503:

366537

366537

366538:

366538:

366539:

366539:

366540:

367988:

367988:

367989:

367989:

368099:

368099:

368099!

368101:

368101:

368105:

368106:

368106:

368156:

368156:

368164:

368164:

369823:

369827

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

1/13/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

7/15/197

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

8/9/197"

9/9/197"

9/9/197"

9/9/197"

9/9/197"

4/26/197¢

4/26/197¢

12/26/200-

12/26/200-

12/26/200-

12/26/200-

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

12/20/200-

12/27/200-

12/27/200-

12/25/200-

12/25/200-

12/25/200-

12/25/200-

12/25/200-

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

6/29/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

7/23/200:

8/23/200:

8/23/200:

8/23/200:

8/23/200:

4/8/200¢

4/8/200¢

40.0C

40.0¢

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0¢

40.0¢

40.0¢

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

20.0C

20.0C

20.0C

20.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0C

40.0¢

40.0¢

40.0¢

40.0C
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MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

MALARTIC

4N

4-N

4-N

3

45

46

47

48

43

50

51

46

49

37

51

52

38

39

40

41

42

45

47

44

32

40 +
LAC

1/2¢
38 +
LIT
39 +
LIT

LAC
32

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

32D/01

100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100% LAC; 1% NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW




713 369870:. 4/26/197¢ 4/8/200¢ 40.0C MALARTIC B 35CL 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
+ BRW
713 370546 11/15/197 10/27/200. 40.0C MALARTIC 4 38 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
713 370546 11/15/197 10/27/200- 40.0C MALARTIC 4 39  32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
713 370586 4/26/197¢ 4/8/200¢ 40.0C MALARTIC 3 33  32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
713 455423: 3/2/198° 1/29/200! 40.0C MALARTIC 4 50 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
713 455423. 3/2/198° 1/29/200! 40.0C MALARTIC 4 49  32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
BRW
713 512164¢ 12/10/199 3/2/200¢ 40.0C MALARTIC 02 34  32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
LAVOIE
713 512164¢ 12/10/199 3/2/200¢ 40.0C MALARTIC 02 35 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
LAVOIE
713 512165( 12/10/199. 3/2/200¢ 40.0C MALARTIC 02 36 32D/01 100%LAC;1%NSR
LAVOIE
1880.0(
“Marban”
Project Surveying Expiration Area
# Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership
821 002231 4/24/194: 4/23/200! 25.20 DUBUISSON 10 4A8 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 002231« 4/24/194: 4/23/200! 50.40 DUBUISSON 10 4A 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
13 OPTION AUR RESS
821 002233« 4/24/194: 4/23/200! 50.40 DUBUISSON 10 4A 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
13 OPTION AUR RESS
821 002233! 4/24/194: 4/23/200! 25.20 DUBUISSON 10 9A 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
13 OPTION AUR RESS
821 002235: 4/24/194: 4/23/200! 50.40 DUBUISSON 10 4A 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
13 OPTION AUR RESS
821 006309: 8/18/194: 8/17/200: 19.50 DUBUISSON 10 20A  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
23 OPTION AUR RESS
821 176766: 10/4/196( 10/3/200: 3.80 FOURNIERE 10 59 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00179: 3/18/193t 3/17/200! 28.00 DUBUISSON 10 1 32C/o4 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00179: 3/18/193¢ 3/17/200! 50.40 DUBUISSON 10 2  32C/o4 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00280: 4/23/193t 4/22/200! 11.20 FOURNIERE 10 60  32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00280: 4/23/193t 4/22/200! 17.20 FOURNIERE 10 62 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00280: 4/23/193t 4/22/200! 19.60 FOURNIERE 10 62 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00280: 4/23/193t 4/22/200! 12.40 FOURNIERE 10 60 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 €00280! 4/23/193¢ 4/22/200! 12.80 FOURNIERE 10 60  32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00281: 4/23/193( 4/22/200! 21.20 FOURNIERE 10 62 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00281: 4/23/193t 4/22/200! 23.30 FOURNIERE 10 62 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00281: 4/23/193( 4/22/200! 14.80 FOURNIERE 10 60 32D/01 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00282: 3/18/193¢ 3/17/200! 25.20 DUBUISSON 10-S 3,1z  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
S OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00282: 3/18/193¢ 3/17/200! 25.20 DUBUISSON 10-N 3,1/z  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
N OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00640: 7/16/193° 7/15/200: 17.40 DUBUISSON 10 4  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;

A-6

OPTION AUR RESS




821 C00640: 7/16/193 7/15/200: 16.4( DUBUISSON 10 20 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00640: 7/16/193 7/15/200: 21.6( DUBUISSON 10 11 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00641: 8/29/193 8/28/200: 15.4( DUBUISSON 10 11 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00641: 8/29/193° 8/28/200: 15.2( DUBUISSON 10 14  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00642: 8/20/193¢ 8/19/200: 35.6( DUBUISSON 10 16  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 C00642: 8/20/193¢ 8/19/200: 35.2( DUBUISSON 10 17 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 CM474 1961/04/2. 12/31/200: 31.5¢ DUBUISSON 10 8A  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
10 OPTION AUR RESS
821 CM51z 1964/09/0. 12/31/200: 24.5; DUBUISSON 10 13,1«  32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
OPTION AUR RESS
821 CM51:3 1964/10/0: 12/31/200: 14.77 DUBUISSON 10 8A 32C/04 100% LAC PROP;
10 OPTION AUR RESS
713.¢
4
“Radium”
Project Surveying Expiration Area
# Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership

830 326300: 8/2/197. 8/1/200: 33.2( FOURNIERE 10 24 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 326301: 8/2/197. 8/1/200: 38.0( FOURNIERE 10 22 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 326301: 8/2/197. 8/1/200: 46.8( FOURNIERE 10 21 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%.
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 326305: 8/3/197. 8/2/200: 48.4( FOURNIERE 10 20 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 326335: 8/10/197. 8/9/200: 34.0( FOURNIERE 10 23 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 349015: 9/9/197: 9/8/200: 48.4( FOURNIERE 10 19 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%
CURRIE- MILLS, 90JAB

830 349018: 9/2/197: 9/1/200: 48.4( FOURNIERE 10 18 32D/01 85% LAC PROP; 15%

CURRIE-MILLS, 90JAB

830 513712¢ 9/17/199! 2/4/200: 23.97 FOURNIERE 09 30 32D/01 100% BARRICK GOLD

830 513712¢ 9/17/199! 2/4/200¢ 18.4( FOURNIERE 09 29 32D/01 100% BARRICK GOLD

830 513713( 9/17/199! 2/4/200: 19.2( FOURNIERE 09 28 32D/01 100% BARRICK GOLD

358.7
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“Reservoir”

Project Surveying Expiration Area
# Claim # date date (hec) Township Range Lot NTS Ownership
829 388732: 6/20/198( 6/19/200: 48.0( FOURNIERE 10 17  32D/01 100% LAC PROPERTIE!
829 388733: 6/20/198( 6/19/200: 48.0( FOURNIERE 10 15  32D/01 100% LAC PROPERTIE!
829 392426 7/5/198( 7/14/200¢ 48.0( FOURNIERE 10 13 32D/01 100% LAC PROPERTIE!
829 392427 7/5/198( 7/14/200: 48.0( FOURNIERE 10 14  32D/01 100% LAC PROPERTIE!
829 392428: 7/5/198( 7/4/200: 48.0( FOURNIERE 10 16 32D/01 100% LAC PROPERTIE!
240.(
0
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AGREEMENT FOR
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT
OF
ROYALTY FOR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

This AGREEMENT FOR AMENDMENT AND
RESTATEMENT OF ROYALTY FOR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE
(“this RTE Agreement”) effective as of the 27  d#yMay, 2011, is
made and entered into by and among Minas de Or@NacS.A. de
C.V. ("MON"), formerly known as O.N.C. de Mexico/As.de C.V.
(“ONCM"), and RG Mexico, Inc., a Delaware corpoaati(“Royal”).

Recitals

A. A Royalty for Technical Expertise Agment date
March 23, 2001 (“Original RTE Agreement”) was extecbiand
delivered by ONCM, granting to Minera San AuguSd. de C.V.
(“MSA") a royalty for technical expertise equal2d0% of Net
Smelter Returns on all ores, minerals, or otherroengially valuable
products (“Products”) mined from property withirrizn mineral
exploitation concessions generally known as theatbd Project
(“Property”) defined in more detail below (“Origih@TE").

B. The parties to the Original RTE Agremt
intended that the Property was to be pledged datel for payment
of the Original RTE, among other obligations.

C. Pursuant to an Assignment and Assiompt
Agreement dated March 23, 2001 between MSA, agrasiand
Kennecott Minerals Company (“KMC”) and Tenedoram® . de
C.V. (“T-Mex”") as assignees (the “MSA AssignmenfMC became
the owner of a 30% interest in the Original RTEVi€x became the
owner of a 70% interest in the Original RTE, andAM%ased to own
any interest in the Original RTE.

D. The Original RTE and the MSA Assigmherere
registered at number 74, pages 40 and 41, volunué tH& Mining
Acts, Contracts, and Agreements Book, at the RegidtMines.

E. ONCM changed its name to MON andrthme
change was registered at number 137, page 69, eaX¥X VIl of the
Mining Corporations Book, at the Registry of Mines.

F. On or near August 21, 2001, ONCM«rhmown
as and referred to herein“MON"), T-

Exhibit 10.51

CONVENIO )
MODIFICATORIO Y DE REFORMULACION
DE
REGALIAS POR EXPERIENCIA TECNICA

CONVENIO MODIFICATORIO Y DE
REFORMULACION DE REGALIAS POR EXPERIENCIA
TECNICA (el “Convenio RTE”) que entra en vigor & 8e mayo de
2011, celebrado entre Minas de Oro Nacional S.ACdé (“MON”),
anteriormente conocido como O.N.C. de México SEACV.
(“ONCM"), y RG México, Inc., sociedad de Delawaft&dyal”).

Declaraciones

A. ONCM celebré y entregd un ContratdRigalia
por Experiencia Técnica el 23 de marzo de 2001Qehtrato de RTE
Original”), otorgandole a Minera San Augusto, Sda.C.V. (“MSA”)
una regalia por experiencia técnica equivalent@% 2le los
Rendimientos Netos de Fundicion sobre todas lagseninerales y
otros productos comercialmente valiosos (los “Pctakl’) que se
extraen de las minas que se encuentran dentre detaesiones de
explotacién mineras generalmente conocidas corRooglecto de
Mulatos (la “Propiedad™jjue se define mas a detalle a continuaci¢
“RTE Original”).

B. Las partes del Contrato de RTE Oggdesean g
la Propiedad se otorgue en prenda como colaterpbde del RTE
Original, entre otras obligaciones.

C. De acuerdo con el Contrato de CegiAneptacior
de fecha 23 de marzo de 2001 celebrado entre M&@Ao otorgante,
y Kennecott Minerals Compan“KMC”) y Tenedoramex, S.A. de
C.V. (“T-Mex”") como cesionarios (la “Cesion de MSAKMC se
convertird en el propietario de una participaciéh30% en el RTE
Original, T-Mex se convertira en el propietarioud® participacion
del 70% en el RTE Original, y MSA dej6 de poseeatipi@aciones en
el RTE Original.

D. El RTE Original y la Cesién de MSAregistraron
bajo el nimero 74, foja s 40 y 41, volumen 13 dd_kyes Mineras,
Contratos y Libros de Acuerdos, en el Registro dealsl

E. ONCM cambié su denominacién a MO8l y
cambio de nombre se registré bajo el nUmero 134,68, volumen
XXXVII del Libro de Sociedades Mineras, en el Régigie Minas.

F. El 21 de agosto de 2001 o aproximeatdae esa
fecha, ONCM (conocido en




Mex and KMC amended the Original RTE Agreementramg(a) a
royalty for technical expertise of 2.0% of Net SteeReturns on
Products, other than Gold and Silver Products;(aha sliding scale
royalty on Net Smelter Returns on Gold and SilvedRcts, in each
case as those capitalized terms are defined héneiexecuting a
revised Royalty for Technical Expertise Agreemeiated as of
March 23, 2001 (the “March 23, 2001 Amendment t&ERT

G. T-Mex assigned its interest in thégial RTE, as
amended, to Placer Exploration Mexico Ltd. (“Plakxico”) by
Assignment Agreement dated June 10, 2003 (the “X-Me
Assignment”).

H. KMC sold, assigned and conveyed &KMIC's
interest in the Original RTE, as amended, to R@&ald, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, on December 28, 2005 (the &M
Assignment”).

l. The Original RTE Agreement, as adehby the
March 23, 2001 Amendment to RTE, was further amermjea First
Amendment to Royalty for Technical Expertise datatch 31, 2006
executed by MON, Placer Mexico and Royal Gold, [tiee Original
RTE Agreement as amended by said amendments beferged to
herein as the “Amended RTE Agreement,” and the i@eIgRTE as
amended by the Amended RTE Agreement being reféorbdrein as
the “Amended RTE").

J. Placer Mexico assigned its inteiresthe Amended
RTE to Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”) by Rolja Conveyance
dated March 31, 2008 (the “Placer Mexico Assignifjemthich
interest was further conveyed by Barrick to RoyaRwoyalty
Assignment Agreement dated October 1, 2008 (theri@a
Assignment”).

K. Royal Gold, Inc. sold, assigned andweyed all of
its interest in the Amended RTE to Royal on Octdhizr2008 (the
“Royal Gold Assignment”).

L. By virtue of the foregoing assignrteerRoyal
owns on the date hereof a one hundred percent (LD@&test in and
to the Amended RTE (herein now referred to as RIEE”).

M. The RTE continues in full force andeet as
between MON and Royal, and is restated in its eftytias set forth in
this RTE Agreemen

presente como “MON"), T-Mex y KMC modificaron el Gwato de
RTE Original para otorgar (a) una regalia por eigpeia técnica de
2.0% de los Rendimientos de Fundicién Netos salwé@toductos,
gue no sean Productos de Oro y Plata; y (b) uraieede escala
sobre los Rendimientos de Fundicion Netos de loduitos de Oro y
Plata, en cada caso segun esos términos con méyirscial se
definen en el presente, al celebrar un Contrateatgalia por
Experiencia Técnica revisado, de fecha 23 de m#az2001 (la
“Modificacion del 23 de Marzo de 2001 al RTE").

G. T-Mex cedié su participacion en elERDriginal, y
sus modificaciones, a Placer Exploration México. (tBlacer
México”) mediante un Contrato de Cesion de fechde funio de
2003 (la “Cesién T-Mex").

H. KMC vendio, cedid y traspas6é todpdaticipacion
de KMC en el RTE Original, y sus modificacione®@yal Gold, Inc.
sociedad de Delaware, el 28 de diciembre de 2@0%gsién KMC)).

l. El Contrato de RTE de Original, rifmédo por la
Modificacién del 23 de Marzo de 2001 al RTE, fuedifioado,
ademas, por la Primera Modificacién a la RegaltaEpperiencia
Técnica de fecha 31 de marzo de 2006, celebradsl@di, Placer
México y Royal Gold, Inc. (el Contrato de RTE Onigi modificado
por esas modificaciones en lo sucesivo el “Contiat®RTE
Modificado”, y el RTE Original, modificado por elo@trato de RTE
Modificado denominado en el presente el “RTE Madifio”).

J. Placer México cedio su participacdrel RTE
Modificado a Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”)teavés de un
Traspaso de Regalias de fecha 31 de marzo de RO@e6i6n de
Placer México”)cuya participacion fue traspasada adicionalment:
Barrick a Royal mediante un Contrato de Cesion elgalRas de fecha
1 de octubre de 2008 (la “Cesion de Barrick”).

K. Royal Gold, Inc. vendio, cedioé y paso todas sus
participaciones en el RTE Modificado a Royal ed22octubre de
2008 (la “Cesién de Royal Gold").

L. En virtud de las cesiones anteripRxsyal posee, a
la fecha del presente una participaciéon del 100& (gor ciento)
sobre el RTE Madificado (denominado en el preseateo “RTE”).

M. El RTE continGia en vigor y efecto eON y
Royal, y se reexpresé en su totalidad de acuenddocestipulado en
este Contrato RTE.




N. The parties, by this instrument, de$d confirm,
amend, restate and register the RTE, the assigsréttie KMC
interest in the RTE to Royal Gold, Inc. pursuanthte KMC
Assignment and to Royal pursuant to the Royal Gasignment, and
the assignments of the T-Mex interest in the RTBlawer Mexico
pursuant to the T-Mex Assignment, to Barrick purdua the Placer
Mexico Assignment, and to Royal pursuant to theriBlAssignment

NOW THEREFORE, FOR Ten Dollars ($10.00) now dekkeact
party unto the other and other good and valualbisideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby ackremgled, the parties
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
Amendment

The Amended RTE Agreement is hereby amended atatedsn its
entirety as follows:

11 From the date of Commencement of Ceroial Productiol
until such time as the first 2,000,000 ounces d&d ¢pave been mined,
processed and sold (or deemed sold) from the Rsop@ON shall
pay Royal the RTE, equal to (in cumulative amount):

€) 2% of the Net Smelter Returns in eespf all

Products mined and sold (or deemed sold) by MON

from the Property; and

(b) the applicable percentage based tip®iGold Pric

as published iThe Wall Street Journdibr the

calendar quarter in which the royalty is payable of
the Net Smelter Returns in respect of all Silved an
Gold Products mined and sold (or deemed sold) by

MON from the Property as follows:

N. Las partes, mediante este instrumeatgsean
confirmar, modificar, reformular y registrar el RTI&s cesiones de la
participacion de KMC en el RTE a Royal Gold, Ine.atuerdo con la
Cesion KMC y a Royal de acuerdo con la Cesién dgaR@old, y las
cesiones de la participacién de T-Mex en el RTHaad? México de
acuerdo con la Cesion T-Mex, a Barrick de acueadola Cesion de
Placer México, y a Royal de acuerdo con la Ces@Batrick.

AHORA POR LO TANTO, por la contraprestacién de USD$0
(diez délares) que cada una de las partes se artoego una
contraprestacion valida y onerosa, cuyo recibdfigismcia se acusan
en este acto, las partes convienen sujetarseal derio siguiente:

CLAUSULA 1.
Modificacion

El Contrato de RTE Modificado por este acto se fiwaly reformula
en su totalidad de la siguiente forma:

1.1 A partir de la fecha del Inicio dePlebduccién Comercial
hasta la fecha en que las primeras 2,000,000 desatezoro se hayan
extraido de la mina, procesado y vendido (o qumasideren
vendidas) de la Propiedad, MON pagara a Royal &,RT
equivalente a (en un monto acumulativo):

€)) 2% de los Rendimientos de Fundici@tos
respecto de los Productos extraidos de la mina 'y
vendidos (o que se consideren vendidos) por MON
de la Propiedad; y
(b) el porcentaje aplicable con basel étrecio del Or
publicado erThe Wall Street Journglara el
trimestre calendario en el que se pague la redalia
los Rendimientos de Fundicion Netos respecto de
todos los Productos de Plata y Oro que se extraigan
de la mina y se vendan (o que se consideren
vendidos) por MON de la Propiedad de la siguiente
forma:




Net Smelter Return

Regalia de
Rendimiento de
Fundicién Neto

Royalty Sobre una Base del
Gold Price Range 100% Basis Rango de Precio del Oro 100%
US$0.00/0z to US$299.99/ 1.0% US$0.00/0z a US$299.99/ 1.0%
US$300.00/0z to US$324.99/ 1.5% US$300.00/0z a US$324.99/ 1.5%
US$325.00/0z to US$349.99/ 2.0% US$325.00/0z a US$349.99/ 2.0%
US$350.00/0z to US$374.99/ 3.0% US$350.00/0z a US$374.99/ 3.0%
US$375.00/0z to US$399.99/ 4.0% US$375.00/0z a US$399.99/ 4.0%
US$400.00/0z or highe 5.0% US$400.00/0z 0 mayt 5.0%
1.2 For the purposes of this RTE Agreetr 1.2 Para efectos de este Contrato de
(@) “Allowable Deductions” means the following cos (@) “Deducciones Permisibles significan los siguientes

incurred after the doré or concentrate stage:

(i)

all smelting and refining costs, samglin
assaying and treatment charges and penalties
including, but not limited to, metal losses,
penalties for impurities and charges for
refining, selling and handling by the smelter,
refinery or other purchaser (including price
participation charges by smelters and/or
refiners);

(i) costs of handling, transporting, secgrin

(security costs) and insuring such material
from the Property or from a concentrator,
whether situated on or off the Property, to the
place of sale;

(iii) taxes based upon sales or production which
cannot be recovered by MON, but not income
taxes; and

(iv) marketing costs, including sales commissions,
incurred in selling ore, concentrate and metal
produced from the Property,

provided that if Products are deemed to have been
sold, Allowable Deductions shall include amounts
representing th

costos incurridos después de la etapa de dorado o
concentrado:

0] todos los costos de fundicion y refinamiento,
muestreo, ensayos y cargos de tratamiento asi
como las penalizaciones incluyendo, de manera
enunciativa mas no limitativa, pérdidas de metal,
penalizaciones por impurezas y cargos por
refinacion, venta y manejo por parte del fundi
la refineria u otro comprador (incluyendo los
cargos de participacion de precios por los
fundidores y/o refinadores);

(i)  los costos de manejo, transporte, asegiaato
(costos de seguridad) y aseguramiento de ese
material de la Propiedad o de un concentrador,
sea ubicado dentro o fuera de la Propiedad, al
lugar de venta,

(i)  los impuestos con base en las ventas o
produccién que no puedan ser recuperados por
MON, pero que no sean impuestos sobre la renta

y

(iv) los costos de comercializacién, incluyendo
comisiones de venta, incurridos en la venta de
menas, concentrados y metales producidos de la
Propiedad,

en la inteligencia que si se considera que losuritod
se han vendido, las Deducciones Permisibles irdiuir
los




(b)

()

(d)

(€)

(f)

(ii)

items enumerated above to the extent that they
would have been borne by MON had the Products
actually been sold.

“Commencement of Commercial Productiorf (b)
means April 1, 2006.

“Final Settlement Date” means the date on which (c)
refined gold or silver is available to MON.

“Gold and Silver Products” means ores, minerals, (d)
or other commercially valuable products containing
gold or silver mined from the Property, providedtth
where such products contain a combination of go
silver and other commercially valuable metals or
minerals, Gold and Silver Products shall be deemed
to comprise only that fraction of such products as
represents the proportionate commercial valueef th
gold and silver contained in such products, with th
remaining fraction of such products deemed to be
Products (as such term is defined herein).

“Gold Price " means the price per ounce equal to (e)
the average London Bullion Market Association
afternoon gold price fix as publishedThe Wall
Street Journafor the calendar quarter in which the
royalty is payable.

(f)

“Net Smelter Returns” means:

0] in the case of gold or silver procesbgd
refinery, an amount equal to the number of
ounces credited to MON by the refinery on
Final Settlement Date multiplied by the Gold
Price in the case of ounces of gold credited to
MON, or the Silver Price in the case of ounces
of silver credited to MON, less Allowable
Deductions; and

in all other cases, the amount reediby MON
from the buyer of the Products (or, if such Prod
are deemed to be sold, an amc

montos que representen las partidas enumeradas
anteriormente en la medida que habrian sido sufes
por MON si los Productos se hubieran vendido
realmente.

“Inicio de la Produccion Comercial” significa el 1
de abril de 2006.

“Fecha de Acuerdo Final significa la fecha en la
gue el oro o la plata refinada esté disponible NHDaN.

“Productos de Oro y Platd’ significan menas,
minerales u otros productos comercialmente valiosos
gue contengan oro o plata extraidos de la mina de |
Propiedad, en la inteligencia que esos productos
contengan una combinacion de oro o plata y otros
metales o minerales comercialmente valiosos, se
considerara que los Productos de Oro y Plata abarca
Unicamente esa fraccidn de esos productos que
represente el valor comercial proporcional delyla
plata incluidos en esos productos, y la fracciG&targe
de esos productos se considerara Productos (segun e
término se define en el presente).

“Precio del Oro” significa el precio por onza
equivalente al precio del oro de medio dia de Lando
Bullion Market Association establecido como se
publica en elThe Wall Street Journglara el trimestre
calendario en el que se paga la regalia.

“Rendimientos de Fundicién Neto$ significa:

0] en el caso del oro o la plata procesadtaupa
refineria, un monto equivalente al nimero de
onzas acreditado a MON por parte de la refineria
en la Fecha de Acuerdo Final multiplicado por el
Precio del Oro en el caso de las onzas de oro
acreditadas a MON, o el Precio de la Plata en el
caso de las onzas de plata acreditadas a MON,
menos las Deducciones Permisibles; y

(i)  entodos los demas casos, el monto rdoipir
MON del comprador de los Productos (o, si los
Productos se consideran




(9)

(h)

(i)

1)

(k)

1.3 For the purposes of determining Natler Returns, all

equal to the market value thereof f.0.b. the plant
producing the same (which amount shall be
deemed to have been received by MON)), less
Allowable Deductions.

“Original Asset Purchase Agreement means the
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 21,
2000 between and among MSA, ONCM, and
National Gold Corporation (as amended by the
Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated
March 23, 2001 and the Second Amendment
Agreement dated August 21, 2001).

“Products” means ores, minerals, or other
commercially valuable products, except any fraction
thereof comprising or deemed to comprise Gold and
Silver Products, mined from the Property.

“Property " means the property covered by the
mining concessions listed in Exhibit A to this RTE
Agreement, which is incorporated by reference, and
including renewals and restaking of the area
encompassed by those mining concessions.

“RTE " means the royalty for technical expertise
as a result of MSA providing geological and
technical information on the Mulatos Project to
ONCM, now MON, created by the Original RTE
Agreement, as amended by the Amended RTE
Agreement, and as restated in this RTE Agreer

“Silver Price " means the price per ounce equal
to the average London Bullion Market Association
daily silver price fix as published ifhe Wall
Street Journafor the calendar quarter in which th&.3
royalty is payable.

(9)

(h)

0

(k)

vendidos, un monto equivalente a su valor de mercad
franco a bordo (f.0.b), la planta que lo producerfto
gue se considerar recibido por MON)), menos las
Deducciones Permisibles.

“Contrato de Compra de Activos Original”
significa el Contrato de Compra de Activos de fezha
de diciembre de 2000 entre MSA, ONCM y National
Gold Corporation (modificado por la Modificacién al
Contrato de Compra de Activos de fecha 23 de marzo
de 2001 y el Segundo Convenio Modificatorio de &ch
21 de agosto de 2001).

“Productos” significa menas, minerales u otros
productos comercialmente valiosos, excepto cualquie
fraccién del mismo que abarca o se considera que
abarca los Productos de Oro y Plata, que se obtdae
la mina de la Propiedad.

“Propiedad” significa la propiedad cubierta por las
concesiones mineras mencionadas en el Anexo A de
este Contrato de RTE, incorporado por referencpye
incluye las renovaciones y relevantamiento del e
abarca esas concesiones mineras.

“RTE " significa la regalia por experiencia técnica
como resultado de que MSA proporciona informacion
geoldgica y técnica sobre el Proyecto de Mulatos a
ONCM, actualmente MON, creado por el Contrato de
RTE Original, y modificado por el Convenio
Modificatorio de RTE, y reformulado en este Conweni
de RTE.

“Precio de la Plata’” significa el precio por onza
equivalente al precio diario de la plata promedio d
London Bullion Market Association publicado €he
Wall Street Journgpara el trimestre calendario en el
gue se paga la regalia.

Para determinar los Rendimientosutedf€ién Netos, todas |

entradas y desembolsos en una moneda distintadél®s de los

Estados Unidos se convertiran a dolares de losi&stdnidos el dia que

receipts and disbursements in currency other thdtet) States
currency shall be converted into United Statesenay on the day of
receipt or disbursement, as the case ma

se reciban o desembolsen, segln sea el caso.




1.4 Net Smelter Returns shall be caledldty MON at the en 1.4 Los Rendimientos de Fundicién Netrsus calculados por
of each calendar quarter in which Gold and SilvedBcts and MON al final de cada trimestre calendario en el lpgseProductos de Oro
Products from the Property are sold or deemed tolie Quarterly y Plata y los Productos de la Propiedad se vendenconsidere
calculations of Net Smelter Returns, together wiliment of the  vendidos. Los calculos trimestrales de los Renglinois de Fundicién
applicable RTE in United States currency, or indkiirequested by Netos, junto con el pago del RTE aplicable en mard=Estado
Royal before the end of the applicable quarter,@aidulated using Unidos, o en especie si asi lo solicita Royal ad&$inal del trimestre
the same basis of valuation and with all additiausts for payment correspondiente, y calculados utilizando la mismsetde valuacién y
in kind being borne by Royal, and copies of all sreelter receipts, con todos los costos adicionales de pago en espe@a realizados por
shall be delivered to Royal within forfix#e (45) days after the end Royal, y se le entregara a éste copia de todagdilsos de fundicion
the applicable quarter. netos en un periodo de 45 (cuarenta y cinco) ddiapugs del final del
trimestre correspondiente.

15 Royal, at its sole election and exeershall have the right 1.5 Royal, a su discrecion y a su cogjasto, tendra derecho a
to perform audits, whether by Royal or through anthorized realizar auditorias, sea por Royal 0 a través déaier representante
representative of Royal, of MON’s accounts relatmghe RTE. autorizado de éste, de la contabilidad de MON iafexla con el RTE.
Any such audit shall be for a reasonable lengttineé during regule Esa auditoria sera por un periodo razonable ershdtailes normales a
business hours, at a mutually convenient time, wgideast ten hora mutuamente conveniente con notificacion esdetal menos 10
(10) business days’ prior written notice by RoyBhch payment of (diez) dias de antelacion por parte de Royal. Cadeade los pagos de
the RTE made in any calendar year shall be coresidi&mal and RTE realizados en cualquier afio calendario se deraian definitivos y
binding on MON and, absent fraud or misrepresestiaghall not be vinculatorios para MON vy, si no existe un fraudgeglaracion falsa, no
subject to subsequent modification by MON unlesgdRgives estaran sujetos a una modificacién adicional paegie MON a menos
written notice describing and setting forth a spleabjection to the que Royal envie notificacion escrita que descrileatipule una objecion
calculation thereof on or before March®81 of théendar year especifica a su célculo en o antes del 31 de nuizafio calendario
following the calendar year which was the subjé¢he audit. Such después del afio calendario en el que fue sujedoiditoria. Esa objecir

objection shall specify the basis for the objecfioreasonable especificara la base de la objecion en detallenatle. MON justificara
detail. MON shall account for any deficit in paym®within ten cualquier déficit de pagos en un periodo de 1@zjdiéas habiles despu
(10) business days following completion of suchitud de la terminacién de esa auditoria.

1.6 MON podra dedicarse, mas no tendobl@gacion de dedicar
1.6 MON may, but shall not be under angydo, engage in  a operaciones de proteccion (compensacion) degsreadperaciones

price protection (hedging) or speculative transengtisuch as futuresespeculativas como contratos de futuros y opcidedsienes de
contracts and commodity options in its sole disaretovering all or consumo, a su exclusiva discrecién, que cubramtddidad o parte de la
part of production from the Property and neither phofits nor the  produccién de la Propiedad y ni las utilidadesasipérdidas de esas

losses from such transactions shall be taken ictount in operaciones se tomaran en cuenta al calcular lodiRéentos de
calculating Net Smelter Returns. Fundicién Netos.

1.7 Ninguna de las disposiciones de @stevenio de RTE daran a
1.7 None of the provisions of this RTErégment shall give Royal el derecho a administrar la Propiedad o cutgqnina establecida
Royal any right to management of the Property grrame sobre la misma, ni las disposiciones se interpiatgue lo hacen, en

established thereupon, nor shall the provisioniateepreted to do  especifico, pero sin limitar la generalidad dedaldracién anterior,

S0, in particular, but without limiting the genetgalof the preceding MON planeara, administrara, controlara, conducisaigervisara las
statement, MON will plan, manage, control, concarad supervise operaciones mineras y de procesamiento y cualdeigsion relacionada
mining and processing operations and any deciglating to the  con el tipo, las dimensiones y la ubicacién de ilaansus instalaciones,
type, dimensions and location of the mine, itsliées, pits and fosas y establecimiento de servicios y secundaagis;omo toda
service and ancillary establishments, as well gdagision decision

pertaining to the rate of work, production proces




expansion of the mine and to temporary or fingbptme of inherente al ritmo de trabajo, procesos de produc@xpansion de la

commercial exploitation and mining operations om Fioperty, mina y al paro temporal o final de la explotaciémercial y las
provided that MON shall conduct all operations lo@ Property in a operaciones mineras sobre la Propiedad, en lagetelia que MON
good and workmanlike manner and in accordance adgtepted llevara a cabo todas las operaciones sobre ladttagide forma
mining practice. adecuada y profesional y de conformidad con latjp@minera aceptac
1.8 Las partes reconocen que MON no s efgligado a manten
1.8 The parties acknowledge that MONadsabligated to en buenas condiciones, a renovar ni conservar nagarticipacion en

maintain in good standing, renew or otherwise regaiy interest in Propiedad, o en la aplicacién o reaplicacién daitana, y que MON, a
the Property, or application or reapplication thereand that MON su exclusiva discrecién, podra sin penalizacionuneiar, dejar,

may, in its sole discretion, without penalty, reliish, drop, abandc abandonar o permitir que pase cualquier parte Bedpiedad o la

or allow to lapse any or all of the Property, ag #pplications or totalidad de la Propiedad, o las aplicaciones pliegciones de la mism
reapplications therefor, without further obligatimnRoyal except as sin mayor obligacién frente a Royal que no seaiasg estipula en el
set forth in the Original Asset Purchase Agreenaeitexceptas  Contrato de Compra de Activos Original y exceptolpajue se estipula

otherwise provided by the provisions of this RTEéement. de otra forma en las disposiciones de este CordeaRTE.

1.9 No obstante las disposiciones destxi®n 1.8 de este Contr
1.9 Notwithstanding the provisions of @t 1.8 of this RTE de RTE, en caso de que MON renuncie, deje, abangenaita que
Agreement, if MON relinquishes, drops, abandornswa any transcurra cualquier parte de la Propiedad, y posteente vuelva a
portion of the Property to lapse, and subsequeatigquires a direct adquirir una participacion usufructuaria directadirecta respecto a esa
or indirect beneficial interest with respect tolsportion of the parte de la Propiedad, entonces esa parte depéeBanl nuevamente

Property, then such portion of the Property wilteragain be subje estara sujeta a la obligacion de pagar la RTE.
to the obligation to pay the RTE.
1.10 Hasta que se pague la RTE en sudathMON no transferira
la totalidad o parte de la participacién en la Rydad a menos que el
1.10 Until payment of the RTE in full MOMall not transfer a beneficiario de la transferencia propuesto convengaRoyal antes de
or any interest in the Property unless the proptsetferee agrees esa transferencia y por escrito sujetarse a logsinés y condiciones de
with Royal in advance of such transfer and in wgtto be bound by este Contrato de RTE.
the terms and conditions of this RTE Agreement.
111 A partir de y después de la fechaaliebcacion de este
Contrato de RTE, MON entregara a Royal los sige®natos e

1.11 From and after the date of executifthis RTE informacién relacionados con las operaciones raadig sobre la
Agreement, MON shall deliver to Royal the followidgta and Propiedad o para beneficio de ésta:
information relating to operations conducted offioothe benefit of
the Property: (@) En un periodo de 20 (veinte) diagmdario después
del final de cada mes calendario, el Resumen Médsuastadisticas de
€) Within twenty (20) calendar days deling the ~ Operacion en la forma, y con la informacion preagéatcomo Anexo B

end of each calendar month, the Monthly Summai@mdrating de este Contrato de RTE;

Statistics in the form, and containing the inforimatpresented in tr

form, of Exhibit B to this RTE Agreement; (b) El estimado de reserva y recursosi@sipara la
Propiedad cuando lo finalice la administracion deW] y

(b) The annual reserve and resource atgifior the
Property as and when finalized by MON’s managemeamd; (c) La duracion del plan minero de MOMBlmrado
anualmente con relacion a la Propiedad cuandanarie la
(©) MON'’s life of mine plan prepared ama@nnual  administracion de MON.
basis relating to the Property as and when findllaeMON'’s
managemen




Royal, on behalf of itself and its affiliated erg# (for purposes of Royal, en representacién de si mismo y de susesligpara efectos de
this Section 1.11, “Royal”), agrees to treat asfidemtial and refrain esta Seccion 1.11, “Royal”), se obliga a tratar c@monfidencial y

from disclosing to third parties all data and imfiation disclosed by abstenerse de divulgar a terceros todos los datdsrenacion

MON to Royal pursuant to this Section 1.11 whickasfidential or divulgados por MON a Royal de acuerdo con estaiSedcll que sera
proprietary to MON and its affiliates (for purpos#ghis confidencial o patrimonial para MON vy sus filialgara efectos de esta
Section 1.11, “MON"). Nothing set forth in the pieus sentence Seccion 1.11, “MON"). Nada contenido en la oracaderior afectaré el
shall impair Royal’s right to use or disclose amyedor information derecho de Royal de usar o divulgar cualquier datdormacion que:
which:

(w) al momento de que se divulgue a Regé& disponibl
al publico en general o posteriormente llegue areisponible para el
(w) at the time of disclosure to Royagjenerally publico en general sin acto alguno de Royal;
available to the public or thereafter becomes galyeavailable to
the public through no act of Royal; (x) Royal puede mostrar que se encoateabsu posesi
antes de que se le divulgara y no fue adquiridactii o indirectamente,
x) Royal can show was in its possespiaor to de MON ni ninguna otra fuente obligada por un adoefe
disclosure to it and was not acquired, directlynadirectly, from confidencialidad con MON;
MON or any other source bound by a confidentiadigyeement with
MON; () Royal puede demostrar que la regiuinvdivulgacion
de un tercero que no la adquiri6 de MON bajo nirgoinligacion de
) Royal can show was received by ieafhe time confidencialidad y que, sin violar ninguna obligatiRoyal estara en

of disclosure to Royal from a third party who diot mcquire it from libertad de divulgarla a otros; o
MON under an obligation of confidence and thathwitt breach of
any obligation, Royal is free to disclose it toat or
(2) la ley aplicable, las reglas de quar bolsa de
(2) is required to be disclosed by aggilie law, the valores o alguna otra ley de alguna autoridad jaldicreglamentaria

rules of any stock exchange, or by the order ofjadigcial or competente sobre el asunto requiere que se divulgue
regulatory authority having jurisdiction over thatter.

1.12 Royal o su agente o representanteizaitio, mediante
1.12 Royal or its authorized agent or repn¢ative, on not less notificacion con no menos de siete dias de antela@iMON, podra
than seven days’ notice to MON, may enter uposwatlace and entrar a toda la superficie y parte de la superfia la Propiedad bajo la
subsurface portions of the Property under the time@nd control o direccion y el control de MON para inspeccionaPtapiedad, todas sus
MON for the purpose of inspecting the Propertyjrajprovements mejoras y operaciones, en la inteligencia que Rpyals agentes y
thereto and operations thereon, provided that Raydlits authorize representantes autorizados entren a la Propiedadi@ropio riesgo y a
agents and representatives shall enter the Progetiteir own risk  su costo y gasto y no podran afectar de formadnalzle las operaciones
and expense and may not unreasonably hinder opesatin or en la Propiedad o que inherentes a ésta.
pertaining to the Property.

1.13 Sujeto a lo estipulado mas adelan@NMhdemnizara y

mantendra a Royal en paz y a salvo de cualquigigarcosto o
1.13 Subject as hereinafter provided, M®bllsndemnify and responsabilidad incurrida en su caracter de prapete RTE
save Royal harmless from any loss, cost or lighificurred in its (incluyendo, de manera enunciativa mas no limigaties honorarios

capacity as owner of the RTE (including, withoutitation, legales razonables) como resultado de una reclamaor parte de un
reasonable attorneys’ fees) as a result of a dbgim third party and tercero y que surjan de la omisién de MON en todmento de cumplir
arising from any failure by MON at all times to cpiy with all con las leyes, reglas, reglamentos, permisos, andiemtos, certificados,
applicable federal, provincial and local laws, stas, rules, licencias y otros requisitos reglamentarios, padgiy lineamientos

regulations, permits, ordinances, certificategriges and other federales, de provincia y locales con relaciérsalazeraciones y
regulatory requirements, policies and guidelinédstireg to MON’s  actividades de MON sobre o respecto a la Propiestaty inteligencia,
operations and activities on or with respect toRhaperty; provided, sin embargo, que MON tendra derecho a

however, MON shall have the right to contest anthefsame




1.14 Before minerals from the Property@mmingled with

minerals from other properties:

€) The minerals from the Property sbalimeasured
and sampled in accordance with sound mining and
metallurgical practices for moisture, metal, and

other appropriate content;

(b) Representative samples of the miseshall be
taken and retained by MON together with the
results of assays (including penalty substances
other appropriate analysis of the samples to
determine metal and other relevant content of and
penalty substances in the minerals, which samples
and results will be produced at the request of

Royal; and

(c) The amount of the RTE due and payabRoyal
from minerals produced from the Property
commingled with minerals from other properties

shall be determine:
Following the expiration of the period for objectio

impugnar cualquiera de los anteriores.

1.14 Antes de que los minerales de la Rdgal se mezclen con
minerales de otras propiedades:

(@) Los minerales de la Propiedad se medirgalgs sacara
una muestra de acuerdo con las sanas practicasasine
metallrgicas para ver su grado de humedad, metaby
contenido correspondiente;

(b) MON tomara y conservara las muestras sgprativas d
los minerales junto con los resultados de las @sieb
(incluyendo sustancias de penalizacién) y otro$isisa
adecuados de las muestras para determinar el cmtde
metal y otro contenido relevante de cualquier sicstade
penalizacién en los minerales, muestras y resiustgde
se presentaran a solicitud de Royal; y

(c) Se determinara el monto de RTE adeudgshggdero a

Royal de los minerales obtenidos de la Propiedad,
mezclados con los minerales de otras propiedades.

Después del vencimiento del periodo de objecidoritesen la

described in Section 1.5 of this RTE Agreement, alimskbnt timely  Seccién 1.5 de este Contrato de RTE, y si no eniséeobjecion

objection by Royal, MON may dispose of the sampled results

required to be kept by this Section.

1.15 Time shall be of the essence hereof.

1.16 In order to guarantee the complianite and timely

oportuna por parte de Royal, MON podré enajenamiasstras y
resultados cuya conservacion es requerida poiSesizon.

1.15 El tiempo ser4 esencial.

1.16 Para garantizar el cumplimiento y pagortuno al
vencimiento del RTE y cada una de las obligaciateesste Contrato de

payment when due of the RTE and each and all thgations under RTE, simultdneamente con su celebracion MON cetélyr@ntregaré a
this RTE Agreement, simultaneously with the exemutiereof MOM Royal la prenda comercial sin transmision de pdsede primer cargo

shall execute and deliver to Royal a first charge-possessory

contra la Propiedad en primer rango y grado, y tan@das las medidas

commercial pledge against the Property in firskrand degree, and requeridas para ello.

shall take all actions required thereunder.

1.17 This RTE Agreement and Royal’s intereshe RTE is
assignable by Royal in whole or in part without toasent of MON.

1.18 The exchange rate applicable to tmwesion of any
amounts denominated in the lawful currency of Mexi U.S.

Dollars under this RTE Agreement shall be the ergbaate

reported in the Diario Oficial de la Federaciéntioa date of the
conversion or on the next day on which the Diariwi@ de la
Federacion is published if the conversion mustdieedbursuant to
this Agreement on a day on which the Diario Oficialla Federacic

was not publishec

1.17 Este Convenio de RTE y la participaalé Royal en el RTE
podran ser cedidos por Royal en su totalidad ceete [gin
consentimiento de MON.

1.18 El tipo de cambio aplicable a la cosi@ de cualquier monto
denominado en la moneda de curso legal de Méxditfdaaes de los
Estados Unidos de acuerdo con este Convenio desBiEEel tipo de
cambio reportado en el Diario Oficial de la Fed&naen la fecha de
conversion o el siguiente dia en el que el Diaffici@l de la Federacion
se publique si la conversion debe realizarse derdowcon este Contrato
en un dia en el que no se publicé el Diario
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1.19 Without regard to principles of cocitfli of law,
this RTE Agreement is made under and shall bepréézed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the Stateatorado
applicable to contracts made and to be performécegnwithin suct

Oficial de la Federacion.

1.19 Sin considerar los principios de dotdk de ley, este Convel
de RTE se realiza y serd interpretado y aplicadacderdo con las leyes
del Estado de Colorado aplicable a los contratalizeglos y a ser
realizados en su totalidad dentro de ese estaa®lgyes de los Estados

state and the laws of the United States of Ameggaept that, to theUnidos de América, excepto que, en la medida qleylde la

extent that the law of the jurisdiction in whicketreal property is
located (or which is otherwise applicable to thel property)
necessarily governs with respect to proceduralsahdtantive
matters relating to the creation and enforcemetheinterests
created herein, the law of such other jurisdicgball apply.
ARTICLE II.
Attributes of RTE

2.1 In view of the execution of this RRgreement, MON

shall create a non-possessory commercial pleddgegtrrank and
degree) to run with the Property, and any voluntarinvoluntary
assignment by MON of any part of the Property ¢er@st therein

jurisdiccion en la que se ubigue el bien inmueblgue de otra form
aplique al bien inmueble) rija necesariamente especto a los asuntos
procesales y sustantivos por la creacion y aplicade las
participaciones aqui creadas, aplicara la ley deotra jurisdiccion.

CLAUSULA II.
Atributos de RTE

2.1 En vistas de la celebracion de esti@to de RTE, MON
creara una prenda comercial sin transmisién despirséen primer rang
y grado) sobre la Propiedad, y cualquier cesiénntakia o involuntarii
de MON de alguna parte de la Propiedad o sus meationes estara

shall be subject to the said pledge and to the Rf# this shall also sujeta a esa prenda y al RTE, y ésta también ipailesa en el contrato

be provided in the pledge agreement.

2.2 Royal shall be entitled to assigemmcumber all or any ps
of its interest in the RTE without the consent dDM.

2.3 This RTE Agreement is executed bypéies for the
purposes of acknowledging the assignments of the &3scribed
herein, the amendment and restatement of the REEtdsrth

de prenda.

2.2 Royal tendra derecho a ceder o afétetatalidad o parte de
sus participaciones en el RTE sin consentimientilGd.

2.3 Este Convenio de RTE sera celebraddas partes para
reconocer las cesiones de RTE aqui descritas, dificaxion y
reformulacion de RTE de acuerdo a lo estipuladelgmesente, el

herein, the registration of the RTE, and to givaagoto third parties registro de RTE y para enviar notificacion a tevseate los términos de

of the current ownership and essential terms oRhE. Promptly

propiedad y términos esenciales actuales de RTirthamente a

upon Royal’s request, the parties hereto shall aighratify before a solicitud de Royal, las partes por este acto firmaatifican ante Notario

Notary Public and deliver to Royal a Spanish versiereof foi
registration in Mexico, if such registration isltlrcomes available.
The Spanish version shall also contain the requgsibvisions and
formalities to accomplish such registration, angéofect under
Mexican law all of the covenants contained hergi®N and T-Mex
shall sign and ratify the Spanish version hereddteea Mexican
Notary Public. In the event of any conflict betweka English an
Spanish version of any provision of this RTE Agreamthe
provision of the English version shall contr

Publico y entregan a Royal una version en espafigirésente para su
registro en México, si ese registro esté o llegatar disponible. La
versién en espafiol también incluird las disposesontramites
necesarios para lograr ese registro y perfeccioaias los pactos aqui
contenidos de acuerdo con la ley mexicana. MONMeK firmaran y
ratificarén la version en espafiol del presente [dntario Publico
mexicano. En caso de cualquier conflicto entreclsidon en inglés y en
espafiol, de cualquier disposicién de este ConvamiRTE, regira lo
dispuesto en la version en ingl
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EXECUTED on the day and year first referenced ab
MON:

MINAS DE ORO NACIONAL S.A.de C.V. ,
formerly known as O.N.C. de Mexico S.A. de C

By: /s/ Manley Guarducc

CELEBRADO el dia 'y afio que se mencionan en el pime
MON:

MINAS DE ORO NACIONAL S.A.de C.V. ,
anteriormente conocida como O.N.C. de México SeACV.

Por: /s/ Manley Guarducc

Name: Manley Guarducc

Nombre: Manley Guarducc

Title: Director Genera

Cargo: Director Genera

Royal:

RG MEXICO, INC.

By: /s/ Tony A. Jense

Royal:

RG MEXICO, INC.

Name: Tony A. Jensel
Title: Presiden

STATE OF COLORADC )

Por: /s/ Tony A. Jense
Nombre: Tony A. Jensel
Cargo: Presidentt
ESTADO DE COLORADC )



) ss.
COUNTY OF DENVER )

This instrument was acknowledged before me on e 2
day of May, 2011, by Tony A. Jensen as PresideR®
Mexico, Inc., a Delaware corporatic

[SEAL]

My commission expires

/s/ Karen Passavanti Grc

Notary Public
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) Declaracion Jurad
CONDADO DE DENVER )

Este instrumento fue reconocido ante mi el 27tMdg de
2011, por Tony A. Jensen como Presidente de RGddgkic.,
sociedad de Delawar

[SELLO]

Mi nombramiento vence €

/s/ Karen Passavanti Grc

Notario Publicc




EXHIBIT A
TO AGREEMENT FOR
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT
OF
ROYALTY FOR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

MULATOS PROJECT MINING CONCESSIONS
SUBJECT TO ROYALTY FOR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

20
21

SURFACE TYPE OF
LOT HOLDER (Hectares) TITLE CONCESSION TERM LOCATION

Nuevo Mulatos MON 30.0000 180600 Exploitation July 12, 2037 Sahuaripa, Sonol

San Miguel 1 MON 16.7056 191139 Exploitation April 28, Sahuaripa, Sonora
2041

Cristina MON 290.0000 191271 Exploitation December 1€ Sahuaripa, Sonora
2041

Carolina MON 347.000C 191272 Exploitation December 1€ Sahuaripa, Sonol
2041

Bety MON 453.7237 191273 Exploitation December 1& Sahuaripa, Sonol
2041

San Miguel 2 MON 20.2516 195438 Exploitation September 1. Sahuaripa, Sonora
2042

La Central No.1 MON 81.2560 196108 Exploitation September 2; Sahuaripa, Sonora
2042

El Victor de MON 18.0000 196110 Exploitation September 2. Sahuaripa, Sonol

Mulatos 2042

La Central MON 96.0000 196111 Exploitation September 2. Sahuaripa, Sonora
2042

San Carlos MON 9.0000 196112 Exploitation September 2, Sahuaripa, Sonora
2042

Salamandri MON 8,072.655¢ 212185 Exploitation August 29,  Sahuaripa, Sonol

Fraccion 1 2046

Salamandri MON 1,161.500¢ 212186 Exploitation August 29,  Sahuaripa, Sonol

Fraccion z 2046

Salamandra MON 604.0000 212187 Exploitation August 29,  Sahuaripa, Sonora

Fraccién & 2046

Tequila MON 18.7440 206724 Exploitation March 11, Sahuaripa, Sonora
2048

Mirtha MON 470.319C 206755 Exploitation March 11, Sahuaripa, Sonol
2048

El Jaspe MON 78.0000 209714 Exploitation August 2, Sahuaripa, Sonol
2049

San Lorenzo MON 60.0000 210493 Exploitation October 7,  Sahuaripa, Sonora
2049

San Lorenz( MON 15.6160 211573 Exploitation June 15, 205 Sahuaripa, Sonol

El Marrano MON 434.000C 217518 Exploitation July 15, 2052 Sahuaripa, Sonol

Capulin 2 MON 12.0084 217556 Exploitation July 15, 2052 Sahuaripa, Sonol

Alejandra MON 405.6606 217765 Exploitation August 12,  Sahuaripa, Sonora

2052




22

23

24
25

26

27

El Carricito
El Carricito 2

Cerro Pelo6r
Cerro Pelén 2

Los Compadre

Continuacion de
Virgencita

MON

MON

MON
MON

MON

MON

2,176.2872
100.0000

500.000C
500.0000

10.0000

100.0000

222880
212507

213670
214866

218820,
replacemer
for 201674
190634

Exploitation
Exploitation

Exploitation
Exploitation

Exploitation

Exploitation

September 1.
2054
October 30,
2006

June 7, 200
December 3,
2007
January 20
2009

April 28,
2041

Yecora, Sonora
Yecora, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonol
Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonora




10

11

12

13

14

15

LOTE

TENEDOR

ANEXO A

DEL CONVENIO

MODIFICATORIO Y DE REFORMULACION

DE

REGALIAS POR EXPERIENCIA TECNICA

CONCESIONES MINERAS DEL PROYECTO MULATOS
SUJETAS A REGALIAS POR EXPERIENCIA TECNICA

SUPERFICIE
(Hectareas)

TITULO

TIPO DE
CONCESION

VIGENCIA

UBICACION

Nuevo Mulatos
San Miguel 1

Cristina
Carolina

Bety

San Miguel 2
La Central No.]
El Victor de
Mulatos

La Central

San Carlos
Salamandra

Fraccion 1

Salamandra
Fraccion 2

Salamandra
Fraccion 3

Tequila

Mirtha

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

30.0000
16.7056

290.0000

347.000C

453.7237

20.2516

81.2560

18.0000

96.0000

9.0000

8,072.6559

1,161.5005

604.0000

18.7440

470.3190

180600

191139

191271

191272

191273

195438

196108

196110

196111

196112

212185

212186

212187

206724

206755

Explotacién
Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

12 de julio
de 2037
28 de abri
de 2041
18 de
diciembre
de 2041
18 de
diciembre
de 2041
18 de
diciembre
de 2041
13 de
septiembre
de 204z
22 de
septiembre
de 2042
22 de
septiembre
de 204z
22 de
septiembre
de 2042
22 de
septiembre
de 204z
29 de
agosto de
2046

29 de
agosto de
2046

29 de
agosto de
2046

11 de
marzo de
2048

11 de
marzo de
2048

Sahuaripa, Sonora
Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora




16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

El Jaspe

San Lorenzo

San Lorenzo
El Marrano
Capulin 2

Alejandra

El Carricito

El Carricito 2

Cerro Pelor

Cerro Pelén 2

Los Compadres

Continuacion dt
Virgencita

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

MON

78.0000

60.0000

15.6160
434.000C
12.0084

405.6606

2,176.2872

100.000C

500.000C

500.0000

10.0000

100.000C

209714

210493

211573
217518
217556

217765

222880

212507

213670

214866

218820,
reemplazo
de 20167
190634

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién
Explotacién
Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

Explotacién

2 de agost
de 204¢

7 de
octubre de
2049

15 de junic
de 205C
15 de julio
de 2052
15 de julio
de 2052
12 de
agosto de
2052

13 de
septiembre
de 2054
30 de
octubre de
2006

7 de junio
de 2007
3de
diciembre
de 2007
20 de ener
de 2009

28 de abri
de 2041

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora
Sahuaripa, Sonol
Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Yecora, Sonora

Yecora, Sonor.

Sahuaripa, Sonol

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonora

Sahuaripa, Sonol




EXHIBIT B
TO AGREEMENT FOR
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT
OF
ROYALTY FOR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

FORM OF MONTHLY SUMMARY OF OPERATING STATISTIC

ANEXO B
DEL CONVENIO )
MODIFICATORIO Y DE REFORMULACION
DE
REGALIAS POR EXPERIENCIA TECNICA

FORMATO DE RESUMEN MENSUAL DE ESTADISTICAS DE
OPERACION




Dated 1 September 1999
RIO TINTO METALS LIMITED
-and -

MK GOLD COMPANY

AGREEMENT

for the sale and purchase of
all of the issued shares and venture loans
of RioMin Exploraciones SA

Rio Tinto plc
Legal Department
6 St James’s Square

London SW1Y 4LD

Exhibit 10.52




THIS AGREEMENT is made on 1 September, 1999
BETWEEN:-

@ RIO TINTO METALS LIMITED (No. 147115) whose registered office is at 6, &iekls Square, London, England (the “Vendor™);
and

2 MK GOLD COMPANY of 60 East South Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 84(tté “Purchaser).

RECITALS:

(A) By a transfer deed executed before a notary on&@ember 1998, the Vendor acquired the Shares iGdhgpany from Rio Tinto
International Holdings Limited. Furthermore, byransfer deed executed before a Spanish notary érel2fiary 1999, the Vendor

acquired the Venture Loans (defined below) from Riato International Holdings Limited;

(B) The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of RiotdiMetals Limited and is the legal and beneficiaher of the Investigation
Permits (defined below);

© The Purchaser and the Vendor now wish to entertiisoagreement to record the terms upon whichPtirehaser is to acquire the
Shares, and the Venture Loans, from the Vendor.

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:-

1. INTERPRETATION
1.1 In this agreement the following words and expressiand abbreviations have the following meaningkss the context otherwise
requires:-

“Accounts” means the audited financial statements of the Cagymamprising the balance sheet and profit ansl &msount of the
Company together with the directors’ report anditausl certificate, as at and for the financial pdrended on the Accounts Date;

“Accounts Date” means 31 December 1998;

“Business Day”means a day (excluding Saturdays and Sundays) imhwhnks generally are open in London, Seville &ali Lake
City for the transaction of normal banking business

“Company” means RioMin Exploraciones S.A., a Spanish corpmrathose registered office is located at Rondadexposicion,
39, Seville (Spain) incorporated for an indefirp&riod by a deed executed by the Notary Public ddédMaria Alvarez Vega, of
Madrid, on 19 January 1983. The articles of assiocizurrently in force were signed before the Mptfaublic Ms. Maria Isabel
Gabarro Miquel, of Barcelona, on 16 November 19@8) protocol number 3596. The Company is listethe Companies Register
of Seville,




Volume 2612, Folio 222, page SE 31598 and withtaladentification number A-28-814135;
“Completion” means the completion of the sale and purchaseedltiares and the Venture Loans in accordance laitise 4;
“Completion Date” means the date of execution of this Sale and Psechgreement;

“Confidential Information” means all information relating to the affairs aothaties of the Company including all TechnicaltBa
which is not publicly known;

“Data Room” means the files of documents relating to the Comyaend its activities as the same are more partilgutkescribed in th
Index to the Data Room Documents in agreed terms;

“Disclosure Letter” means the letter of today’s date together withatit@chments thereto addressed by the Vendor Bulehaser
disclosing exceptions to the Warranties;

“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, charge (fixed or floating)dgéde lien, hypothecation, trust, right of set afiother third party
right or interest (legal or equitable) includingyaight of pre-emption, assignment by way of segurieservation of title or any other
security interest of any kind however created @irg or any other agreement or arrangement (ifictpd sale and repurchase
arrangement) having similar effect;

“Feasibility Study” means the report prepared by the Company (togetitieall supporting documentation and informaticréto) ol
the feasibility of developing a mine and procesgauilities at Las Cruces;

“Investigation Permits” means the investigation permit (number 7532) gdatteghe Company on 14 October 1992 by Servicio de
Industria, Energiay Minas as renewed for furthemteof 3 years on 15 September 1995 and 25 Noveh@8& together with the
surrounding four investigation permits registerathmumbers 7531, 7533, 7625 and 7626 (collectivefgrred to as Faralaes I,
Faralaes I, Faralaes lll, Vear and Olivares);

“Material Agreements” means all existing agreements to which the Comjmayparty and which are material to the Company’s
activities as currently carried on true and comptaipies of which are in the Data Room and refetwed the Index to the Data
Room Documents in agreed terms;

“Properties” means the properties described in schedule 2 opariyor parts thereof ari@roperty” shall mean any one of them;

“Purchaser’s Group” means the Purchaser, its holding companies ansutisidiaries from time to time of such holding camies,
all of them and each of them as the context admits;




1.2

(@)

(b)

“Related Person” means in relation to any party its holding compsaied the subsidiaries from time to time of sudlding
companies, all of them and each of them as theegbatimits;

“Shares” means all of the issued shares in the capitalofCthmpany namely 191,500 registered shares, faity gp with a nominal
value of 3254 pesetas each numbers 1 to 191, 50 jrcluded,;

“Tax” or “tax” means any tax, and any duty, contribution, impeghholding, levy or charge in the nature of taxhether domestic
or foreign, and any fine, penalty, surcharge ceriest connected therewith and includes corporasinnadvance corporation tax,
income tax (including income tax required to bewt#dd or withheld from or accounted for in resp#ciny payment), national
insurance and social security contributions, cap##ns tax, inheritance tax, value added tax,aastexercise and import duties,
stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, insurance pirentéx, air passenger duty, rates and water raied fill tax, petroleum revenue
tax, advance petroleum revenue tax, gas levy apdtuer payment whatsoever which any person isay be or become bound to
make to any person and which is or purports takibe nature of taxation;

“Technical Data” means all plans, results, geological data, drawisyscifications, operating procedures and ottemieal data and
information of whatever kind in each case ownedhgyCompany including, but without limitation, tReasibility Study, financial
analysis and interpretation of the geological ardatturgical data in respect of the land the sutpéthe Investigation Permits;

“Vendor’s Group” means the Vendor, its holding companies and thsidialies, excluding the Company, from time to tiofiesuch
holding companies, all of them and each of therthasontext admits;

“Venture Loans” means the loans granted to the Company amountirggggregate to 5,390,776,662 pesetas pursuarg to th
assignment of a credit and venture loan agreenmeatezl into on 25 February 1999, before the ndtér{Francisco Palop Tordera,

“Warranties” means the warranties set out in schedule 1.

In this agreement unless otherwise specified, eefa to:-

“subsidiary” or “holding company” in respect of the Company it shall be construeakcitordance with article 4 of the Ley del
Mercado de Valores (Stock Exchange Act) and arfielef the Codigo de Commercio (Mercantile Code) imnrespect of the Vendor,

the Vendor’s Group, the Purchaser or the Purcha&noup, the law of the place of incorporationhs televant entity;

a document in théagreed terms” is a reference to that document in the form appt@red for the purposes of identification signe:
or on behalf of each party;




(€)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)
1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

4.1

4.2

a“party” means a party to this agreement and includesstgrases (if any) and/or the successors in titleutsstantially the whole of
its undertaking;

a“person” includes any person, individual, company, firm,pmation, government, state or agency of a stasmgmundertaking

(whether or not having separate legal personatityirespective of the jurisdiction in or under thes of which it was incorporated or
exists);

“clauses”, “paragraphs” or “schedules”are to clauses and paragraphs of and scheduleis tagreement;
words denoting the singular shall include the dlaral vice versa and words denoting any gendel sitdlide all genders;

any reference to US$ is to the currency of the éthBtates of America.

The schedules form part of the operative provisifitbis agreement and references to this agreeshatit unless the context
otherwise requires, include references to the sdhed

SALE AND PURCHASE

Upon the terms of this agreement, the Vendor aa kgd beneficial owner shall sell and the Purchsisall purchase all the Shares
and the Venture Loans with effect from Completiceeffrom any Encumbrance together with all acchestkefits and rights attached
thereto.

The aggregate consideration for such sale and psecthall be the total sum of tedtesfied in cash on Completion of
which US$ shall be the considerapagable for the Shares and US$ $iwathe consideration payable for the
Venture Loans.

In addition to the consideration referred to inusia 2.2 the Purchaser shall pay to the Vendoraltsoyn accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 3 (“Royalty”).

CONDITIONS

Completion is conditional upon fulfilment in allsgects by the Purchaser of its obligation to payGbnsideration.
COMPLETION

Completion shall take place at the Company’s office the Completion Date.

On Completion the Vendor shall deliver to or, i&tRurchaser shall so agree, make available touteh&ser:-

(a) transfers in the agreed form relating to all thar®h and the Venture Loans duly executed in fagbtire Purchaser before a
Notary Public;




4.3

4.4

(b)

(©)

(d)

()

(f)
(9)

the original of the transfer deed executed on 3deder 1998 before Spanish Notary Public Mariads@&abarro Miquel
pursuant to which the Vendor acquired the Shamgsther with the original of transfer deed execute®5 February 1999
pursuant to which the Vendor acquired the Ventwaris and any reports or documents lodged with eleyant Spanish
foreign investment authority concerning the Ventuoans;

resignations in the agreed terms duly executeetadsiof Mr John MacLean and Mr Daniel Roca fronir thifices as director
or secretary of the Company containing a confirarathat they have no claims (whether statutorytreatual or otherwise)
against the Company for compensation for loss fidebr unpaid emoluments;

the Company’s Memorandum and articles of associaRegister of Minutes of meetings of sharehol@es directors,
Register of agreements with sole shareholder, 8blters Register, Companies House Certificate &edue books of the
Company;

the documents evidencing the Venture Loans, inolydny cancelled Loans, the Investigation Permmitsadl Material
Agreements;

the Technical Data and the contents of the DatarRoo

the Disclosure Letter duly signed for and on beb&the Vendor; and

At or prior to Completion (and prior to the takiaffect of the resignations of the directors refért@in clause 4.2(c) above) the
Vendor shall procure the passing of board and/aredtolder resolutions (as the case may be) ingheed terms of the Company
approving the sale of the Shares and the Ventuaad:e

(@)
(b)

()

(d)

sanctioning for registration of the transfers ispect of the Shares;

appointing Messrs. G. Frank Joklik, Donald L Babialkc and John C Farmer to be the directors and Mrl€h Coward, to be
secretary of the Company;

revoking all mandates to bankers (other than aistiag mandates in favour of Mr Mike Doyle, Mr Gab®vejero Zappino ¢
any other employee of the Company) and giving aitthin favour of the directors appointed underusla 4.3(b) above or such
other persons as the Purchaser may nominate tategle bank accounts thereof; and

revoking all powers of attorney other than such @@ngranted to existing employees of the Company.

Upon compliance by the Vendor with the provisiofslauses 4.2 and 4.3 the Purchaser shall proadthé transfer by CHAPS

of

to




4.5

5.1

5.2

5.3

the Account of Rio Tinto Finance plc at Chase MdtamBank , New York, ABA No. 021000021, SWIFT CHAS33, Account
No. 910-2-772986.

If in any respect the obligations of the VendorRairchaser) are not complied with on Completionpdey not in default may:-

€) defer Completion to a date not more than 28 days &ompletion (and so that the provisions of thigise 4, apart from this
clause 4.5(a), shall apply to Completion as sordede; or

(b) proceed to Completion so far as practicable (withpwejudice to its rights hereunder); or
(©) terminate this agreement without prejudice to tgbts and liabilities which accrued prior to termiion which shall continue
to subsist,

by means of a notice to that effect in writing sshon the other.
WARRANTIES
The Vendor warrants with the Purchaser in the terhiee Warranties as at the Completion Date.

Each of the Warranties shall be construed as aatep@d/arranty and (save as expressly providedet@dmtrary) shall not be limited
by the terms of any of the other Warranties.

Save in the case of fraud or fraudulent concealrbgiihe Vendor, the Vendor shall be under no lighih respect of any claim under
the Warranties and any such claim shall be whalydsl and unenforceable unless written notice offi &laim setting out full details
of the relevant claim (including the grounds onethsuch claim is based and the amount claimed fmaiable in respect thereof) sl
have been served upon the Vendor by the Purchaser:-

(a) in the case of a claim under the Warranties (atteen the Warranties relating to Tax) by not lakeamt5.00 pm on the date
which is 12 months after the date hereof; and

(b) in the case of a claim under the Warranties redatinTax by not later than 5.00 pm on the fourthiegrsary of the date
hereof

and the liability of the Vendor for any claim s in such notice shall absolutely determine esalse unless the amount payable in
respect of the relevant claim has been agreedéyémdor within six months of the date of such teritnotice, or

0] if legal proceedings have not been instituted apeet of such claim by the due service of proceshe Vendor
within 3 months of the date of such written notioe;
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5.4

55

5.6

5.7

(i) in the event that the Vendor shall make in respiereof a request pursuant to clause 5.12(aX(lggal proceedings
have not been instituted by the Purchaser in réggestich claim by the due service of process erMéndor within
three months of the date on which pursuant to el&us2(a)(ii) judgement is given by a court of cetgmt
jurisdiction in respect of such proceedings asls$tele been instituted by the Purchaser pursuasu¢hb request or
the date settlement is reached in such third gadgeedings with the consent of the Vendor or orcwvthe Vendor
and the Purchaser agree that proceedings or attien against the third party shall be abandoned.

For the purpose of this clause 5.3 legal proceadshgll not be deemed to have been commenced uhésshall have been properly
issued and validly served upon the Vendor.

Save in the case of fraud or fraudulent concealrienyendor shall be under no liability in respeicany claim under the
Warranties:-

€) where the liability of the Vendor in respect ofttisaim would (but for this paragraph) have beess ldhan US$25,000;

(b) unless and until and only to the extent that takiliity in respect of that claim (not being a cldion which liability is excluded
under sub-clause 5.4(a) above) when aggregatedhethability of the Vendor in respect of all ottidaims shall exceed
US$300,000.

Save in the case of fraud or fraudulent concealrienaggregate liability of the Vendor in respefcalbclaims under this Agreement
shall not in any circumstances exceed

The Vendor shall be under no liability whatsoeverdaspect of any claim under the Warranties ifféots or circumstances giving rise
thereto are fully and fairly disclosed in the Dasure Letter, any of the documents contained irDidiia Room or provided for or
stated to be exceptions under the terms of thiseagent or are otherwise known to the Purchaséealdte hereof.

No liability (whether in contract, tort or otherwisshall attach to the Vendor in respect of anintliander the Warranties to the extent
that:-

€) the claim or the events giving rise to the claimudonot have arisen but for an act, omission ordaation of the Purchaser
which would not have arisen but for any claim, gt@cor surrender or disclaimer made or omitteleanade or notice or
consent given or omitted to be given by the Purehaader the provisions of any statutes relatinga;

(b) the claim is based upon a liability which is coggnt only, unless and until such contingent lipliecomes an actual
liability or until the same is finally adjudicated;




5.8

(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

provision or reserve in respect of the matter gjvise to the claim shall have been made in theoAots or to the extent that
the matter giving rise to the claim shall have beeted in the Accounts;

the claim occurs wholly or partly out of or the ambthereof is increased as a result of:-
() any change in the accounting principles or prastafehe Purchaser introduced or having effect dfte date of this

agreement unless the same is introduced to brangd¢bounting principles and practices into linehvgénerally
accepted accounting principles and practices innSpaelation to a business of the type carriecgrihe Company;

or
(i) any increase in the rates of taxation made afeed#ie hereof; or
(i) any change in law or regulation or in its interptietn or administration by the Spanish courts,Hgy$panish

taxation authorities or by any other fiscal, monetar regulatory authority (whether or not havihg force of law);

the loss or damage giving rise to the claim is vecable by the Purchaser under any policy of instgar would have been
so recoverable but for any change in the termasafrance since the date of this agreement; or

the claim relates to a claim or liability for takat and would not have arisen but for any windimgeu cessation after
Completion of any business or trade carried orheyGompany or the Purchaser.

The Purchaser shall promptly:-

(@)

(b)
(©)

inform the Vendor in writing of any fact, mattekeat or circumstance which comes to its notice whgit appears that the
Vendor is or may be liable to make any paymeneapect of any claim under the Warranties or wherehgpears the
Purchaser’s Group shall become or may becomeeahtitl recover from some other person a sum whioéfésable to a
payment already made by the Vendor in respectai auclaim; and

thereafter keep the Vendors fully informed of @l/dlopments in relation thereto; and
provide all such information and documentation ifmetter how it is recorded or stored) as the Vestiall request in
connection therewith and also in connection with proceedings instituted by or against the Purate&roup under clause

5.12 and which information or documentation is thet subject to legal professional privilege or
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confidential information created or brought intastence by the Purchaser’s Group since Completion.

5.9 The only remedies available to the Purchaser ipa&tsof this agreement together with any other dwmits referred to in this
agreement (the “Transaction Documents”) are damigdseach of contract (subject to the limitaticaes out in this agreement) and,
for the avoidance of doubt, it does not have aglgtrio rescind or terminate any Transaction Documeither for breach of contract
for negligent or innocent misrepresentation or othise.

5.10 The Purchaser hereby represents and warrantd tie no knowledge of any fact which might leadltoms against the Vendor
under the Warranties.

5.11 The Purchaser’s Group will take or procure thertgldf all such steps and action as are necessay thie Vendor may reasonably
require in order to mitigate any claim under therk&faties and the Purchaser’s Group shall act inrdemce with such request subject
to the Company and the Purchaser being indemrafieldadequately secured to the reasonable satisfaaftihe Purchaser by the
Vendor against all reasonable costs and expenseb wiay properly be incurred by reason of suchoactincluding reasonable legal
costs and expenses on a full indemnity basis. Ngthi this agreement shall or shall be deemedli@veethe Purchaser of any
common law or other duty to mitigate any loss andge incurred by it.

5.12 (@ This clause shall apply in circumstances where:-

0] any claim is made against the Purchaser which rmayrge to a claim by the Purchaser against thedde under the
Warranties; or

(i) the Purchaser is or may be entitled to make armyvesg from some other person any sum in respeahypffacts or
circumstances by reference to which the Purchasephmay have a claim against the Vendor undeWieanties; or

(i) the Vendor shall have paid to the Purchaser an atiouespect of a claim under the Warranties artbequent to the
making of such payment the Purchaser becomes thbgltame entitled to recover from some other peigsum which
is referable to that payment.

(b)  The Purchaser shall and, where appropriate, thep@oynshall:-

M (prior to taking any action against the Vendor urttie Warranties in the case of clause 5.12(a)@) @dause 5.12(a)
(ii) and subject to the Company and the Purchasieigindemnified and adequately secured to theoredse
satisfaction of the Purchaser by the Vendor agaithseasonable costs and expenses which may pydmeincurred
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by reason of such action) promptly and diligendlke all such action (including reasonable legatscand expenses 0
full indemnity basis) as the Vendor may reasonadtiuest including the institution of proceedingd #re instruction ¢
professional advisers approved by the Vendor {sapgroval not to be unreasonably withheld) to adbelnalf of the
Company and the Purchaser (as the case may be&)ith dispute, resist, compromise, defend or appgainst any
such claim against the Purchaser as is referreddiause 5.12(a)(i) or to make such recovery leyRirchaser as is
referred to in clause 5.12(a)(ii) or clause 5.1@i{(p)as the case may be, in accordance with tis&ructions of the
Vendor to the intent that such action shall be gigied entirely to the Vendor provided that atiedets the Purchaser
and the Company shall continue to be indemnifiedisgcured to the reasonable satisfaction of theh@ser provided

that, however, either:

(A) the Purchaser and/or the Company (as the case eagust consent in writing to the terms and coodgiof
any settlement or compromise of any claim or dispat

(B) (1) the Purchaser and/or the Company (as the case @)agust receive a full release, signed by all other
parties to the dispute or claim, releasing the Raser and/or the Company (as the case may be)dtom

claims and liability arising out of the claim osgute; and

(2) the settlement or compromise of the claim or disputist not hinder or impair the ability of the Fhase
and/or the Company (as the case may be) to caritg @n their business or businesses.

(i) so long as the Vendor shall have given adequatgigetherefor not settle or compromise any liagibr claim to
which such action is referable without the prioitten consent of the Vendor which consent shallbgtinreasonably

withheld or delayed; or

(iii) in the case of clause 5.12(a)(iii) only, promp#ypay to the Vendor an amount equal to the amourgivered or, if
lower, the amount paid by the Vendor to the Purehas

5.13  The Vendor hereby agrees to indemnify and keepnimified the Purchaser against any loss, liabitiyst or expense (including,
without limitation, environmental and rehabilitatibabilities) it may incur as a direct result afyaact or omission of the Vendor
and/or the Company prior to Completion in relatiorany investigation permits (other than the Inigagton Permits) held from time

time by the Company.

11
6. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
6.1 The Vendor shall:-
€)) not and shall procure that no other member of taedér’'s Group or any director, officer or employgedviser or agent of

the Vendor’'s Group shall use or disclose to ang@eConfidential Information; and

(b) use all reasonable endeavours to prevent the udisaosure of Confidential Information by any pmrsther than by membe
of the Purchaser’s Group.

6.2 Clause 6.1 does not apply to:-
€)) disclosure of Confidential Information to or at tvdtten request of the Purchaser;
(b) use or disclosure of Confidential Information reqdito be disclosed by law or the London Stock BErge;
(c) disclosure of Confidential Information to professib advisers for the purpose of advising the Vendor
(d) Confidential Information which becomes generallypwm other than by the Vendor’s breach of clause 6.1

7. ANNOUNCEMENTS

7.1 No party shall disclose the making of this agreemmen its terms (except those matters set outérptiess release in the agreed terms)
and each party shall procure that each of its RelRersons shall not make any such disclosure withe prior consent of the other

party unless disclosure is:-
(@ to its professional advisers; or

(b) required by law or the rules of the London Stockliange or other regulatory body and disclosurd #teh only be made by
that party:-

() after it has taken all such steps as may be rebomathe circumstances to agree the contentaaf announceme



with the other party before making such announceraed provided that any such announcement shafidme only after notic
to the other party/parties; and

(i) to the person or persons and in the manner reghirdaw or the London Stock Exchange or as othenagreed
between the parties
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7.2

9.1

9.2

10.

10.1

10.2

provided that this clause 7.1 does not apply tamannements, communications or circulars made drtsethe Purchaser after
Completion to customers, clients or suppliers of @moup Company to the extent that it informs thefrthe Purchaser’s acquisition of

the Shares or to any announcements containingiofdsmation which has become generally available.

The restrictions contained in clause 7.1 shallyapgihout limit of time and whether or not this agment is terminated.

COSTS

Unless expressly otherwise provided in this agregraach of the parties shall bear its own legalpantancy and other costs, charges
and expenses connected with the sale and purchétse $hares. All Notaries’ costs and any taxespblgyas a result of the
implementation of anything contemplated hereuntiat e paid in accordance with the appropriatenialaws.

EFFECT OF COMPLETION

The terms of this agreement (insofar as not perdrat Completion and subject as specifically otiswrovided in this agreement)
shall continue in force after and notwithstandiranpletion.

The remedies of the Purchaser in respect of argchref any of the Warranties shall continue to stilvotwithstanding Completion.

FURTHER ASSURANCES

Following Completion the Vendor shall from timetime forthwith upon request from the Purchasehat\endor’s expense do or
procure the doing of all acts and/or execute ocpr® the execution of all such documents in a figasonably satisfactory to the
Purchaser for the purpose of vesting in the Pusathtae full legal and beneficial title to the Shaamd the Venture Loans and otherwise

giving the Purchaser the full benefit of this agneat.

Without prejudice to the generality of clause 1@h&, Vendor shall for a reasonable period of tifiteraCompletion provide the
Purchaser with reasonable access during normatésshours to those employees of the Vendor's Grduphave worked on the Las
Cruces Project. The Purchaser undertakes to regalthe Vendor, or the relevant member of the Véadaroup, immediately upon
production of a invoice, in respect of any costd erpenses incurred as a result of the Vendor agntplvith its obligations hereunder.
For the avoidance of any doubt nothing herein stiaie the Vendor to comply with its obligationentained in this clause to the ext
that such compliance would have a material adveffeet on or would otherwise substantially inteef@r the ongoing business and
affairs of the Vendor or any other member of theda’s Group.
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11.

12.

13.

13.1

13.2

13.3

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

Each party on behalf of itself and as agent fohe#dts Related Persons acknowledges and agrekshei other party (each such ps
acting on behalf of itself and as agent for eacitsoRelated Persons) that:-

(a) this agreement together with any other documerfésresl to in this agreement (together theansaction Documents™)
constitute the entire and only agreement betweempdinties and their respective Related Persorsngla the subject matter

the Transaction Documents;

(b) neither it nor any of its Related Persons have lieduced to enter into any Transaction Documemgiiance upon, nor have
they been given, any warranty, representationestant, assurance, covenant, agreement, undertéahdtgmnity or
commitment of any nature whatsoever other tharr@expressly set out in the Transaction Documeamis ta the extent that
any of them have been, it (acting on behalf offitsed as agent on behalf of each of its Relatedd?es) unconditionally and
irrevocably waives any claims, rights or remedidscly any of them might otherwise have had in retathereto;

PROVIDED THAT the provisions of this clause 11 $imait exclude any liability which any of the padier, where appropriate, their
Related Persons would otherwise have to any otugy pr, where appropriate, to any other party’taiel Persons or any right which
any of them may have to rescind this agreemergspect of any statements made fraudulently by &ttyemn prior to the execution of
this agreement or any rights which any of them imaye in respect of fraudulent concealment by arthern.

VARIATIONS

This agreement may be varied only by a documengesidpy each of the Vendor and the Purchaser.

WAIVER

A waiver of any term, provision or condition of, cwnsent granted under, this agreement shall betefé only if given in writing and
signed by the waiving or consenting party and thely in the instance and for the purpose for wliiéh given.

No failure or delay on the part of any party inei&ing any right, power or privilege under thigegment shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercisary such right, power or privilege preclude atiyen or further exercise thereof or the

exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

No breach of any provision of this agreement shalvaived or discharged except with the expresgemrconsent of the Vendor and
the Purchaser.
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13.4

14.

14.1

14.2

15.

The rights and remedies herein provided are cuimmelatith and not exclusive of any rights or remedieovided by law.

NOTICES

Any notice, demand or other communication givemade under or in connection with the matters coptated by this agreement
shall be in writing and shall be delivered pershynat sent by fax or prepaid first class post (ail if posted to or from a place outside

the United Kingdom):-

In the case of the Purchas

to:-

Fax: 801 297 694(
Attention: G. Frank Joklik
In the case of the Vendor -

Fax: 0171 930 324!
Attention: John MacLeal

and shall be deemed to have been duly given or madalows:-

(@) if personally delivered, upon delivery at the addref the relevant party;
(b) if sent by first class post, two Business Daysrafie date of posting;
(c) if sent by air mail, five Business Days after tlaedof posting; and

(d) if sent by fax, when despatched;

provided that if, in accordance with the above ions, any such notice, demand or other commuitatould otherwise be deemed
to be given or made outside 9.00 a.m. - 5.00 prma Business Day such notice, demand or other canmation shall be deemed to be
given or made at 9.00 a.m. on the next Business Day

A party may notify the other party to this agreetafra change to its name, relevant addresseeessldr fax number for the purposes
of clause 14.1 provided that such notification kbaly be effective on:-

(@) the date specified in the notification as the adatevhich the change is to take place; or

(b) if no date is specified or the date specified $s lhan five Business Days after the date on winidice is given, the date falling
five Business Days after notice of any such chdragebeen given.

COUNTERPARTS

This agreement may be executed in any nhumber aftegearts which together shall constitute one agesg. Any party may enter
into this
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agreement by executing a counterpart and this agreeshall not take effect until it has been exeduty all parties.
16. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

16.1 This agreement (and any dispute, controversy, gdiogs or claim of whatever nature arising outroficany way relating to this
agreement or its formation) shall be governed ly@mstrued in accordance with English law.

16.2 Each of the parties to this agreement irrevocaphees that the courts of England shall have exadysirisdiction to hear and decide
any suit, action or proceedings, and/or to settiedisputes, which may arise out of or in connectidth this agreement (respectively,
“Proceedings” and“Disputes”) and, for these purposes, each party irrevocablyngatio the jurisdiction of the English Courts.

16.3  Without prejudice to any other permitted mode of/®e the parties agree that service of any wadtjae or other document
(“Documents”) for the purpose of any Proceedings begun in Engstiadl be duly served upon it if delivered perstnat sent by
registered post, in the case of:-

€)) the Vendor to Rio Tinto Metals Limited (marked fbe attention of John MacLean); and

(b) the Purchaser to MK Gold Company, 60 East Southplen$alt Lake City, Utah 84111 (marked for themtibn of G. Frank
Joklik)

or such other person and address in England a¢dtes as the Vendor shall notify the Purchaserriting or vice versa from time to
time.

IN WITNESS whereof this agreement has been executed on thdiddtabove written.
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SCHEDULE 1

The Warranties

For the purposes of this Schedule 1, where a wigrismualified by the words “so far as the Vendoaware” and/or o far as the Company
aware” then the Vendor and/or the Company (as gpiate) shall only be deemed to be aware of thasesfwithin the actual knowledge of
either John MacLean, Mike Doyle, Mark Sawyer or @akOvejero Zappino and no other employee, advigersultant or officer of the
Company or any other member of the Rio Tinto Grédupthermore it is hereby agreed that the Vendi@ Gompany and such named
individuals shall be under no obligation whatsogweemake any enquiries, outside of information altjuobtained in the course of
performance of their duties, as to the accuradh®fvarranties so qualified.

1.

11

1.2

13

1.4

21

VENDOR'’S CAPACITY

Authorisations

The Vendor has obtained all corporate authorisatand all other applicable governmental, statut@gulatory or other consents,
licences, waivers or exemptions required to empatierenter into and to perform its obligationgdenthis agreement.

Proper Execution
The Vendor’s obligations under this agreement afereeable in accordance with their terms.

Third Party Rights

The Vendor is able to sell and transfer the Shanelsthe Venture Loans to the Purchaser withouttimsent of any person and free of
any pre-emptive rights or rights of first refusal.

Vendor's Disclosure Letter accurate

The information in the Disclosure Letter is accarat all material respects.

THE SHARES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Shares

(@) The Vendor is the only legal and beneficial ownfethe Shares.

(b) The Company has not allotted any shares othertttea8hares and the Shares are fully paid or caeddully paid.
(c) There is no Encumbrance in relation to any of thar8s.
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2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

(d) Other than this agreement, there is no agreemeatgement or obligation requiring the creatioigtaient, issue, sale,
transfer, redemption or repayment of, or the gtat person of the right (conditional or not) tquize the allotment, issue, st
transfer, redemption or repayment of, a shareedrctipital of the Company (including an option ghtiof pre-emption or
conversion).

Venture Loans
(@) The Vendor is the only legal and beneficial ownfethe Venture Loans.

(b) The Company has no debts which individually arexoess of US$20,000 (other than trade debts, amouved to employees
incurred by the Company in the ordinary coursehef€ompany’s activities or the Venture Loans).

(c) There is no Encumbrance in relation to any of teafdre Loans.
Subsidiaries
(@) The Company does not have any subsidiaries.

ACCOUNTS

General

The Accounts have been prepared and audited indaroe with the standards, principles and practpesified on the face of the

Accounts applied on a consistent basis and suttjetto in accordance with the law and applicataladards, principles and practices

generally accepted in Spain consistently applied.

Changes since Accounts Date

Since the Accounts Date:-

(@ the Company has not contractually committed to mestal expenditure which is outstanding for fixasbets exceeding in
total US$10,000, or contractually committed to in@commitment or connected commitments involhaagital expenditure
which is outstanding for fixed assets exceedingial US$5,000;

(b) the Company has not disposed of any of its ass#tsatbook value of more than US$5,000;

(c) the Company has not incurred any material liab#iiin aggregate (other than liabilities incurrethia ordinary course of the
Company'’s activities) in excess of US$10,000.
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4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

(d) no dividends, bonus issues or other distributiarrepayments of loans (including Venture Loans)ehbgen declared, made or
paid by the Company.

ASSETS

The principal assets of the Company are its ridffe, and interest in the Properties, the invesitogaPermits, the Technical Data and
associated exploration expenditure (“Sale Assets”).

Title

(@) There are no Encumbrances, nor has the Compangdagrereate any Encumbrances, over the Sale Amsats/ part of its
undertaking or assets and each asset used by thpa®@g (tangible or intangible) is:-

0] legally and beneficially owned by the Company;

(i) where capable of possession, in the possessidre @ampany;
(iii) used solely by the Company; and

(iv) fully paid for or otherwise provided for in the Amants.

Intellectual Property Rights

Details of all intellectual property or know-how ped by third parties (including members of the @rglGroup) which were used by
the Company in preparing the Feasibility Studya@metained in the Data Room.

CONTRACTUAL MATTERS

Material Agreements

(@) Copies of all agreements and contracts to whictCibvapany is a party or otherwise bound which arteria to the activities
undertaken by the Company are contained in the Ratan (“Material Agreements”) and referred to ie thdex of Data
Room Documents in the agreed terms.

(b) Each Material Agreement constitutes a valid andlibig obligation of the Company and:
0] is within the ordinary course of ordinary activitief the Company;
(i) is at arm’s length; and
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5.2

53

54

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

(i) is not with the Vendor or any member of the Venddtoup.

No Restrictive Covenants

The Company is not a party to any Material Agreeimeérich prevents it from engaging in mining or exaltion operations.

Change of Control

The Company is not a party to any Material Agreenfimicluding, for the purposes of this waranty, theestigation Permits) under
which any party is entitled or likely, as a resfla change in ownership of the Shares:

€) to terminate the agreement; or

(b) to require the adoption of terms which are lesstdasble to the Company than the current terms.

No Default

The Company, so far as it is aware is not, andéesved no written notice that it is in defaultvesuld be in default, but for the
requirements of notice or lapse of time, or botdarany Material Agreement. So far as the Compamnare, no other party to a
Material Agreement is in default, or would be irfaidt but for the requirement of notice or lapseiofe, or both, under any Material

Agreement.

INVESTIGATION PERMITS

Copies of all the Company’s current permits, autfagions and consents including, without limitatitme Investigation Permits which
in each case are material and relevant to its sua@ivities are contained in the Data Room (@bNely referred to as the “Permits”).

The Company has received no written notice thatadrige Permits are not in full force and effeat.f8r as the Company is aware,
each Permit is in full force and effect.

No Breach

The Company has received no written notice thiatiit breach of, or default under, any of the P&n8o far as the Company is aware,
the Company is not in breach of, or default unday, of the Permits.

No Notices

The Company has not received written notice fromtaird party (including any government agencyjespect of any Permit and, so
far as the Vendor is aware no proposal has beee:mad
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6.5

7.1

8.1

8.2

(@) in respect of the compulsory acquisition or restompof any part of the lands the subject of theebtigation Permits (“the
Land"); and

(b) requiring expenditure to be made or in respechefliand in excess of US$10,000.
Royalties

So far as the Vendor is aware, none of the lanchngmineral or metal production from the Landrisvil be subject to any royalty,
production payment or similar right save as oriagisinder the laws of Spain or this agreement.

LIABILITIES
Guarantees and Indemnities

The Company is not a party to any guarantee, inigronother agreement (including letters of cortiféo secure or incur a financial
or other obligation with respect to another persafligation.

LITIGATION AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW
Litigation
(@) The Company has not during the six years endingpemlate of this agreement been involved, in d,aximinal or

arbitration proceeding in any jurisdiction andfapas the Vendor is aware no such proceedingparding or threatened by
or against the Company.

(b) There is no outstanding judgement, order, decrb@ra award or decision of a court, tribunal, itndtor or governmental
agency in any jurisdiction against the Company.

(©) So far as the Vendor is aware, the Company isheostibject of any investigation by any governmental
agency.

Corporation Existence

The Company:

€) is a company organised and existing in accordarittethae laws of Spain; and

(b) has the power to own its assets and carry on gmbss as it is now being conducted.
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8.3

9.1

9.2

10.

11.

111

11.2

Compliance with Constituent Documents

So far as the Vendor is aware, the business affdttee Company have been conducted in accordaithéte/constitution.
EMPLOYEES

Particulars of Offers
The Data Room contains the names and date of comemamt of employment of every employee of the Camipa
Remuneration andBenefits
The particulars of all employees contained in tle@aDRoom show all remuneration and other benefits:-

€) actually provided; and

(b) which the Company is bound to provide (whether own the future)

to each employee of the Company and are true amglete in all material respects and include paldicuof and details of
participation in all profit sharing, incentive, hes) commission, share option, medical, permaneaitthinsurance, directors’ and
officers’ insurance, travel, car, redundancy arteobenefit schemes, arrangements and understandimjSchemes”) operated for
all or any employees or former employees of the gamy or their dependants whether legally bindingh@Company or not.
PROPERTIES

All Property

The Properties comprise all the freehold and lealddland owned, used or occupied by the Company.

TAXATION

Payment of Tax

The Company has paid all Tax required to be paid &y at the date of this Agreement.

Provision in Accounts

Adequate provision has been made in the Accountarfp Tax which Vendor or the Company is awaresiggble or may become
payable but which is unpaid.
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11.3

114

115

11.6

11.7

12.

12.1

12.2

Withholding Tax

Any obligation on the Company under any Tax Lawithhold amounts at source including but not lirdite withholding Tax,
PAYE, Tax, value added tax and royalties has beemtied with.

Documents stamped

Any Duty payable in any Tax Law in relation to angnsaction or agreement to which either the Comjnr has been a party to or
by which the Company derives, or has derived ataukial benefit, has been paid.

Records

So far as the Vendor is aware the Company has aia@tt proper and adequate records to enable drply with its obligations to:
€) prepare and submit any information, notices, comjris, returns and payments required in respeahyfTax Law;

(b) prepare any accounts necessary for the complidreeyol ax Law; and

(©) retain necessary records as required by any Tax Law

Returns submitted

The Company has submitted any necessary informatimtices, computations and returns to the relegamérnment agency in resp
of any Tax or any duty relating to its businesses activities.

No disputes
There are no disputes with any government agenogsipect of any Tax or duty.
SOLVENCY

No liquidation or winding-up

The Company has not gone into liquidation or passeghdingup resolution nor received a notice under any apple law which wil
result in the Company being wound up or otherwisiadp put into liquidation.

No petition
No petition or other process for winding-up hasrbpeesented or threatened against the Company .
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12.3

12.4

13.

14.

14.1

14.2

No writ of execution

No writ of execution has been issued and servetti@Company.

No receiver

No receiver or receiver and manager of any pathe@indertaking or assets of the Company has hgmrirded.
POWERS OF ATTORNEY

All current powers of attorney given by the Compamyg which are currently in force are containethenData Room.
SHAREHOLDINGS AND MEMBERSHIPS

Shareholdings

The Company is not the holder or the beneficial @naf any shares or other capital or securitievedible into shares or other cap
in any other company.

Memberships

The Company is not a member of any joint ventuagtnership or unincorporated association (othem theecognised trade
association)



14.3 Restrictive trade practices

The Company is not a party to any agreement, contrerangement or understanding whether legallgreaable or not which is in
breach of any restrictive trade practices legistatind has not engaged in any conduct or practibegiach of that legislation.
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SCHEDULE 2

Properties
Amount of
Annual notice
Rent (ptas) required to
Identification No V.A.T. terminate Term
Cartuja Office Americo Vespucio, 39 Isla Cartuja 41C 10.800.696 3 months 31/12/99
Sevilla
Core shed Industrial state Navexpo, 35B y 36 4.183.776 3 months 31/03/00
Ctra.Santiponce-Camas KM 4.100
Valenciana de la Concep. Sevi
Gerena office Avda. 1° de Mayo, 6 Gerer— Sevilla 900.00 1 month Each montt
Gerena Hous Urb. Zarzalejos C/Paloma Torcaz 1.560.00C 1 month 24/10/99

Gerene- Sevilla
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SCHEDULE 3
Royalty
A Royalty of1.5% (one and a half per cent) tBales Revenue’shall be paid by Purchaser to Vendor in respeatiafales realised i
any calendar month in which th€rigger Price” is exceeded. For the purposes of this ScheduleTtigger Price” is exceeded when
the official monthly average LME Cash Settlementgfor Grade A copper is equivalent to or gre#ttan$0.80per pound of copper.
“Sales Revenueshall mean:-
(A) in the case of sales of copper metal, whichevtrdasigher of:
either (1) the invoiced volume of metal sold in any month nplid by the actual official monthly average LME
Cash Settlement price for Grade A copper for thkgvant month; or
(2) the invoiced volume of metal sold in any month nplid by the actual price realised by the Purchase

(including any premium),

for all metal produced by the Purchaser from oreauifrom the land which is the subject of the Itigasion Permits (“the
Permit Land”)

(B) in the case of sales of copper produced from tl®Pé&and which is sold in any form which is partly not wholly
processed, “Sales Revenue” shall mean whichevbeikigher of:

either (1) the actual final invoice value for the volume ofthaprocessed copper sold in the relevant morkbr (
these purposes, final invoice value shall mearuh&alue of the cargo as adjusted for final wejgissays
and prices); or
(2) the value for the volume of partly processed copgpdd which would have been invoiced if the coppréce
used in calculating the relevant amount was theahcfficial monthly LME Cash Settlement price for
Grade A copper for the month in which the finaldioe is settled,
for all partly processed copper produced by theaser and mined from the land which is the sulgettte Permit Land.

In calculating the Sales Revenue for the purpobesmgraphs 2(A) and (B) above the Purchaser redyat the following costs and
expenditures:
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€)) freight, transportation and insurance costs of eoppetal from the treatment plant and/or refinerthie point of sale;

(b) the amount of any royalties payable to the Spagdésiernment and any other royalty payable in respiote mined, or
copper metal produced from the Permit Land;

(c) sales commissions and other sales representatis iooconnection with the sales of copper metalired on an armkength
basis in the ordinary course of business by thelaser,

but such costs and expenditures shall not inclypdeating costs (including without limitation miningperating, refining, financing
and related costs, and administration costs).

In addition, in calculating the Sales Revenue fier purposes of paragraph 2(B) above the Purchasgdeduct smelting and refining
charges or such other deductions which are direetited to the further processing of the produoitt cathode copper.

The Purchaser must maintain proper records of:
@) tonnes of ore mined;

(b) information or returns regarding tfegyment of royalties, taxes or other paymentseéd3panish government in respect of
mining on the Permit Land;

(© all other information necessary ttedmine “Sales Revenue” and to allow Royalty tachkulated; and
(d) all amounts paid by the Purchaseh&Vendor under paragraph 4 below,
together called the “Purchaser’s Records”.

On each occasion the Purchaser is obliged to peavistatement under paragraph 5, and within 12hmedhereafter, the Vendor may
at its own expense:

(a) upon reasonable notice to the Purchaser requestesredaccess during the Company’s normal busirnmass fat premises
maintained by the Company in Spain to inspect tretaser’'s Records;

(b) require an audit of the Purchaser’s Records togofpned by an auditor nominated by the Vendor. 8ngh audit of the
Purchaser’s records shall be conducted in accoedaith accounting principles generally applied pai;
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(©) if such an audit discloses a discrepancy betweeiiount paid by the Purchaser pursuant to pardagrapd the amount
which should have been paid pursuant to that papdigthen if there has been an underpayment biuhehaser, the
Purchaser must pay the underpayment immediatedyifanere has been an overpayment, then the oyerpat may be set
off by the Purchaser against any further amounyalgla to the Vendor pursuant to paragraph 5.

Within 21 (twenty one) days of the end of any agadile calendar month in which the “Trigger Pricastbeen exceeded, the
Purchaser will send to the Vendor a statement suisimg:

€) the quantity of copper metal (expressed in Ibsiipced during the calendar month in which the “TeigBrice” is effective
from ore mined from the Permit Land;

(b) the Purchaser’s calculation of “Sales Revenuetherrespective calendar month; and

(©) the quantity of copper (metal and concentrate) dalihg the relevant month.

The Purchaser shall at the same time pay the Vehdaelevant Royalty in US dollars by telegraphémsfer to a bank to be
nominated by Vendor.
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Executed by Mr M R Sawyer, duly appointed
attorney, for and on behalf

RIO TINTO METALS LIMITED ) T
Attorney
Executed by G. Frank Joklik )
for and on behalf c )]4“:"}, e
MK GOLD COMPANY ) = !
Directol
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EXECUTION COPY

ASSIGNMENT, NOVATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Assignment, Novation and Release Agreemeit (tAssignment and Novatiof) is made and entered into as of August 9, 2005
by and between Rio Tinto Metals Limited, a companrgprporated under the laws of England (“ Rio Tif)tchaving a mailing address at 6, St.
James’s Square, London SWL1Y 4LD, England, Attent@smpany Secretary; MK Resources Company formerbwn as MK Gold
Company, a Delaware corporation (* MK Resourfebaving a mailing address at 60 East South Tenfhlt Lake City, Utah 84111,
Attention: Chief Financial Officer; and Cobre LaruCes S.A. (formerly known as RioMin Exploracior®5), incorporated under the laws of
Spain (. CLC"), having a mailing address at Avendia Primerdvilg/o, N° 46, 41860, Gerena, Spain.

BACKGROUND
A. Rio Tinto and MK Resources are parties to thatategreement for the sale and purchase of alhefitsued shares and

venture loans of CLC (then known as RioMin Explivaes SA) (the “ RioMin Purchase Agreem&npursuant to which MK Resources
purchased all of the outstanding shares of CLC. ©W@s the Las Cruces copper mining project in seatlSpain.

B. Pursuant to Section 2.3 and Schedule 3 of the RidMirchase Agreement, MK Resources agreed to payiRio a 1.5%
royalty on any copper sales from the Las Crucegptat a price equal to or exceeding $0.80 pengddthe “ Royalty Obligation®).

C. On May 2, 2005, MK Resources and Leucadia Nati@umaporation, which owns 72.1% of MK Resources’sstantding
common stock (“ Leucadig, entered into a Share Purchase Agreement datgd2yl2005 (the “ Share Purchase Agreertiewith Inmet
Mining Corporation (“ Inmet) to sell to Inmet 70% of the outstanding comm¢ock of MK Gold Exploration B.V., incorporated undae
laws of the Netherlands, which currently owns ladl butstanding shares of CLC.

D. The parties to this Assignment and Novation ddsir@ssign the Royalty Obligations to CLC and redelslk Resources fror
the Royalty Obligations.

TERMS
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of do#ar (receipt of which is hereby acknowledgety parties agree as follows:

1. Assignment Effective as of the date of this Assignment (ttifective Date”). MK Resources hereby assigns, transfers,
conveys to CLC all of MK Resources’ rights and ghtions under or in respect of the Royalty Obligagi of the RioMin Purchase Agreement.

2. Assumption. Effective as of the Effective Date, CLC herebgegas the assignment set forth in Section 1 abodeaasumes
and agrees to pay, perform, undertake and fullghdisge all of the obligations and duties of andgieing to the Royalty Obligations of the
RioMin Purchase Agreement.




3. Release of MK Resource®io Tinto hereby releases MK Resources fromtabbligations under the Royalty Obligations
and will look solely to CLC for the fulfilment dhose obligations.

4, Other Terms UnchangedExcept as specifically modified by this Assignmand Novation, the RioMin Purchase Agreement
shall be unchanged and remain in full force purstaits terms.

5. Miscellaneous Provisions

(@) Rio Tintd's Costs MK Resources and CLC shall be jointly and seweiable for all out-of-pocket costs and
expenses reasonably incurred by Rio Tinto in présgiits rights under the RioMin Purchase Agreememespect of the Royalty Obligations
following the assignment and novation the subjéthis Assignment and Novation, but only to theesttsuch costs and expenses are incurred
because of or as a result of or arising out oafsignment and novation of the Royalty Obligatimn€LC and will pay an amount equal to
such costs and expenses upon demand made by ReaEcompanied by reasonable particulars of this @l expenses in question.

(b) Stamp Duties etcAny and all stamp duty or similar taxes, freelaties payable in respect of this Assignment and
Novation shall be for the account of MK Resouraed &LC, and Rio Tinto shall have no liability ofyakind for any such duty(ies), taxes
fees.

(c) Entire Agreement; AmendmenT his Assignment and Novation, together with theNRn Purchase Agreement (as
modified by this Assignment and Novation), consétuthe entire agreement between the partieswelatithe subject matter hereof. Any prior
negotiations, correspondence, or understandingtvelto the subject matter hereof shall be deetmd&e merged into this Assignment and
Novation and shall be of no further force or eff@dtis Assignment and Novation may not be amendedanlified except in writing execute
by all the parties hereto.

(d) Additional Documents The parties shall execute all instruments, deadisdocuments and take all actions as m:
reasonably required to effectuate this AssignmadtMovation but the costs of or related to any sssacution or action shall be for the sole
account of MK Resources and CLC jointly and sevgral

(e) Severability. Any term or provision of this Assignment and Ntiwa that is held invalid or unenforceable shall be
severed from this Assignment and Novation and ¢neaining terms and provisions shall survive andstitirie the entire agreement of the
parties.

® SuccessorsThis Assignment and Novation shall be bindingrupad inure to the benefit of the parties and their
successors.

(9) Governing Law. This Assignment and Novation shall be governaeti@mstrued in accordance with the laws of
England.




(h) Counterparts This Assignment and Novation may be executedimterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be
an original but all of which together shall congti a single agreement.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally |efirik.]

3




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlssignment and Novation as of the date first aberrgen.

RIO TINTO METALS LIMITED

/sl [ILLEGIBLE]

Name: [ILLEGIBLE]
Title: Director

MK RESOURCES COMPANY

Name:
Title:

COBRE LAS CRUCES S.A

Name:
Title:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT, NOVATION AND RELEASEGREEMENT FOR RIO TINTO ROYALTY




Exhibit 10.53
NET SMELTER RETURN ROYALTY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 16th day of June, 2004.

BETWEEN:
EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD., having an office at Suite 701,
475 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, VE&32
(“Expatriate”)
OF THE FIRST PAR
AND:
ATNA RESOURCES LTD., having an office at Suite 510, 510 Burrard
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3A8
(“Atna”)
OF THE SECOND PAR
WHEREAS:
(A) Atna and Expatriate entered an Asset Sale Agreemade as of May 31, 2004 (tffeale Agreement”);
(B) Pursuant to the Sale Agreement Expatriate is totgoaAtna a net smelter return interest in angrtoduction of silver and

gold from the Mineral Properties described in tiaéeSAgreement, which properties are more partibuidgscribed in Schedule 1 hereto;
© The Sale Agreement provides for the executionmmdtasmelter return royalty agreement.
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that for and in consideration of the completioritef transactions contemplated by

the Sale Agreement, the mutual and covenants snAieement and the Sale Agreement and other gubdaluable consideration (the receipt
and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by edfcthe parties), the parties agree as follows:

1. Each capitalized term used in this Agreement wigaiot defined herein will have the meanings asctithereto in the Sale
Agreement.
2. Atna reserves and Expatriate hereby grants to Atreyalty (the'Royalty” ) in perpetuity equal to a percentage of Net

Smelter Returns (as hereinafter defined) for eagmfent Period, as defined below, as follows:

@) 4.0% of Net Smelter Returns when the price receingde Payment Period by Expatriate pursuantltofats marketing or
sales agreements for silver is from U.S. S5.007t6G per ounce; and




(b) 10% of Net Smelter Returns when the price receingbe Payment Period by Expatriate pursuant toddritg marketing or
sales agreements for silver is greater than U.S0§%er ounce.

No Royalty is payable for a Payment Period if thegreceived in the Payment Period by Expatriatsyeant to all of its marketing or sales
agreements for silver is less than U.S. $5.00 pace. If Expatriate is selling silver ores or camcates or silver in any form other than refined
silver, for the purposes of this section 1 it shalldeemed to receive the price for the silveraiort in the ore or concentrate or other product
that it is being credited with for the purpose afctilating the sale proceeds payable to it by tivelaser.

3.

“Net Smelter Returns” will mean the net proceeds from silver and goldethkr as a refined metal, ore, concentrate, dore o

any other form (théPrecious Metals”) produced from the Mineral Properties or from tajsror waste from the Mineral Properties. It will be
based on the revenue earned by Expatriate frorealeeto any mint, smelter, refinery or other pusghaf Precious Metals or proceeds rece
from an insurer in respect of Precious Metals daethin any ores and/or concentrates from the Min@roperties, after deducting from such
proceeds the following charges to the extent they tvere not deducted by the purchaser in comppé@ygnents:

4.

€) smelting and refining charges;

(b) penalties, smelter assay costs and umpire assts; cos

(©) cost of freight and handling of ores, metals oraggrirates from the Mineral Properties to any nsntelter, refinery, or other
purchaser if not sold f.o.b. the mine;

(d) marketing costs, not to exceed 2% of the net pds&®m silver and gold less the aggregate of dstscunder subsections 3
(a), 3(b), 3(c), 3(e) and 3(f);

(e) costs of insurance in respect of the transportaifdhe Precious Metals to the smelter or othecgssing facility; and

® customs duties, severance tax, prior existing tmgshs described in Schedule 2 hereto, Ad valaremineral taxes or the

like and export and import taxes or tariffs payahleespect of Precious Metals but not income taxes

The Royalty will be calculated and paid on a quérteasis (each quarter beingRayment Period” ) within 45 days after

the end of each calendar quarter in respect oSxwetlter Returns earned during the quarter.

5.

The Royalty will be payable as follows:

€) each payment of Royalty will be accompanied by maudited statement indicating the calculation efRoyalty in
reasonable detail, and Atna will receive, on oobeMarch 31 of each calendar year, a summaryrstate(“Yearly Statement” ) of
the calculation of the Royalty for the last cometetalendar year that has been audited by a firchaftered accountants in Canada,
together with copies of such production informatéswill be required to adequately document theutation of the Royalty;
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(b) Atna will have 45 days from the time of receiptioé Yearly Statement to question the accuracy tfiénewriting and,
failing such objection, the Yearly Statement wil deemed to be correct and unimpeachable thereafter

(©) if the Yearly Statement is questioned by Atna, gusdich questions cannot be resolved between AtdeExpatriate, Atha
will have 180 days from the time of receipt of Yearly Statement to have such audited by an actyfitm of its choice, initially at
its expense;

(d) the audited results obtained under subsectionvi{che final and determinative of the calculatiohthe Royalty for the
audited period and will be binding on the partied any overpayment of Royalty will be deducted frimture payments of Royalty
and any underpayment of Royalty will be paid by &xjate forthwith;

(e) the costs of the audit under subsection 5(c) véilbbrne by Atna if the Annual Statement overstétedRoyalty or
understated the Royalty payable by not more tharat@owill be borne by Expatriate if such statemerderstated the Royalty paya
by greater than 1%. If Expatriate is obligated &g for the audit, it will forthwith reimburse Atrfar the audit costs which it has paid,;
and

) Atna will be entitled, on reasonable written notéced during normal business hours, to examine baoks and records as
are reasonably necessary to verify the paymerteoRbyalty to it from time to time, provided howeyvinat such examination will not
unreasonably interfere with or hinder Expatriatg&rations or procedures and further providedExatatriate will not be obligated to
disclose any proprietary methods or processes.tEafmwill have the right to make access to iteksand records conditional on
execution by the examining party of a written agreat providing that all information received wik Iheld in confidence and used
solely for the purposes of verification of the pamof the Royalty.

6. Expatriate will dispose of Precious Metals onlyvingfy of sale to arm’s length parties on commercmkysonable terms and
at the best prices attainable. Any smelting, rafiror further processing of Precious Metals shalby an arm’s length third party on
commercially reasonable terms.

7. The Royalty creates a direct real property interegte Mineral Properties and the Precious Métafavour of Atna,

provided such interest shall be satisfied in resptany particular Precious Metals by the paymerAtna of the Royalty in respect thereof.

The Royalty shall continue in perpetuity, it bethg intent of the parties hereto that the Royaltiyaenstitute a covenant running with the
Mineral Properties and the Precious Metals anduatessions thereof. If any right, power or inteoé®ither party pertaining to the Royalty
would violate the rule against perpetuities, thechsright, power or interest will terminate at #heiration of 20 years after the death of the last
survivor of all the lineal descendants of Her MagjeQueen Elizabeth 1l of England, living on theealaf this Agreement. Atna will have the
right from time to time to register or record netiof the Royalty against title to the Mineral Pndj@s or elsewhere, and Expatriate will
cooperate with all such registrations and recorslgagd provide its written consent or signaturenyp @ocuments and do such other things from
time to time as are necessary or desirable totedfesuch registrations or recordings or othervigsprotect the interests of Atna hereunder.

8. The right to receive a percentage of Net SmeltéuiiRe as and when due will not be deemed to comstitna the partner,
agent or legal representative of Expatriate.

9. Expatriate will be entitled to:




(@) make all operational decisions with respect tonle¢hods and extent of mining and processing ofamegentrate, metal and
products produced from the Mineral Properties gctéasonably and in accordance with good miningeargineering practices; and

(b) make all decisions concerning temporary or longiteessation of operations.

10. Commingling of ores in the processing facilitiesiswucted for ores from the Mineral Properties wélpermitted and all
ores treated in such facilities will be considet@the metallurgically similar as to recovery of alsf treatment charges and penalties charg
the refiner. Where there is commingling, the Royalill be based solely on tonnage and grade of seas to the processing facilities from the
Mineral Properties. Before commingling, Expatriati# ensure that the Precious Metals from the Matétroperties and ores from other
properties are measured and sampled in accordatiteaund practices for metal content and gradecdiner appropriate parameters and the
portion of total smelter payments that is attrilblgeto Net Smelter Returns hereunder will be deiteechon a pro rata basis with reference to
such metal content and grade.

11. For the purposes of determining Net Smelter Refwathseceipts and disbursements in a currencyrdttean Canadian will k
converted into Canadian currency on the day ofipece disbursement, as the case may be usingabe Bank of Canada rate.

12. Expatriate may, but will not be under any dutyengage in price protection (hedging) or speculatiaesactions such as
futures contracts and commodity options in its stideretion covering all or part of production frahe Mineral Properties and, except in the
case where Precious Metals are actually deliveneldaasale is actually consumed under such pricegqtion or speculative transactions, none
of the revenues, costs, profits or losses from $tastsactions will be taken into account in caltnfaNet Smelter Returns or any interest
therein.

13. In addition to Atna’s right to inspect records undebsection 5(f), upon not less than five daysttem notice to Expatriate,
Atna, or its authorized agents or representatives, under the direction and control of Expatriatger in and upon the mine and all surface
and subsurface portions of the Mineral Propertieste purpose of inspecting same, all operatibassbn, and all production records and data
pertaining to all production activities and opesat on or with respect thereto, including withootifation, records and data that are
electronically maintained.

14. Subiject to any limitations caused by concentratettoer product sales agreements entered into bgtEafe, Atha may elect,
upon written notice to Expatriate given 60 day®siptd the commencement of any Payment Period cive its Royalty in-kind by having
deposited in an account or accounts opened by Eafgafor Atha an amount of refined Precious Meteltéch is equivalent to the cash value of
the Royalty payable, taking into account the deduastdescribed in section 3. In determining the amof refined Precious Metals to be
deposited to any such account and the amount afa@tiections under section 3 applicable in the ohsay deposit, Expatriate shall value gold
and silver using the London final gold fixing arte tHandy and Harman Silver Price, in United Stdt#kars, both as published by Metals
Week, a publication of McGraw, Hill of New York, stuch other recognized source of metal price gisoisitas may be agreed by Expatriate
and Atna, as quoted on the Business Day preceldenddte of each deposit.

15. Expatriate will indemnify and save Atna and itsgydrand affiliated companies harmless from any, losst or liability
including, without limitation, reasonable legal $egrising from a claim against Atna in respectrof failure by Expatriate to at all times com
with all applicable present or future federal, pnoial, territorial and local laws, statutes, rylesgulations, permits, ordinances, certificates,
licences and other regulatory requirements, paiaied guidelines relating to Expatriate or
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the Mineral Properties or operations thereon; mledj however, Expatriate will have the right to tesh any of the same if such contest does
not jeopardize the Mineral Properties or Atna'sitigthereto or under this Agreement.

16. Expatriate will indemnify and save Atna harmlessrany loss, cost or liability (including, witholimitation, reasonably
legal fees) arising from a claim against Atna ispect of:

€) any failure by Expatriate to timely and fully penio all abandonment, restoration, remediation anthneation required by
all governmental authorities pertaining or relaiethe operations or activities of Expatriate omith respect to the Mineral
Properties;

(b) Expatriate causing, suffering, or permitting anydition or activity at, on or in the vicinity of ¢hMineral Properties which
constitutes a nuisance; or

(© any failure by Expatriate which results in a vi@atof or liability under any present or future &pable federal, territorial,
provincial or local environmental laws, statuteses, regulations, permits, ordinances, certifisgieences and other regulatory
requirements, policies or guidelines.

17. Expatriate will purchase or otherwise arrangesabwn expense and will keep in force at all timmessirance (including,
without limitation, comprehensive general publabliity insurance) against claims for bodily injusy death or property damage arising out of
or resulting from activities or operations on othwiespect to the Mineral Properties and in respeldss, theft or destruction of Precious
Metals, in such amounts as will, in Expatriate'as@nable opinion, adequately protect ExpatriateaAthe Royalty, the Mineral Properties and
the operations thereon from any and all claimsjlittes and damages which may arise and as wébadtely protect Expatriate and Atna from
loss, theft and destruction of Precious Metals.

18. Any payments not made when due hereunder will marest at an annual rate equal to the Prime Rlag1% calculated
and compounded monthly from the due date to the afgpayment. For the purposes hereof “Prime Ratedns at any particular time the
annual rate of interest announced from time to tiyjéhe Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, maambin, Vancouver, British Columbia as
a reference rate then in effect for determiningtitog rates of interest on Canadian dollar loandevia Canada.

19. This Agreement will be construed and governed Ieyialvs enforced in the Province of British Columéial the courts of
such province will have exclusive jurisdiction tean and determine all disputes arising hereundus. Section 19 will not be construed to af
the rights of a party to enforce a judgment or aartside of British Columbia, including the rightrecord or enforce a judgment or award in
the jurisdiction in which any of the property thebfect hereof is situated.

20. Each of the parties hereby covenants and agreeatthay time and from time to time, upon the rexjad the other party it
will, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver or caodee done, executed, acknowledged and delivdredeh further acts, deeds, assignments,
transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney andasses as may be required for the better carryit@od performance of all of the terms of
this Agreement.

21. Any notice required or permitted to be given ofivialy required to be made to any party may be &ffely given or
delivered if it is delivered personally or by faode transmission to




@) In the case of Atne

#51(-510 Burrard Stree
Vancouver, British Columbi
V6C 3A8

Attention: David Watkin:
Fax: (604) 68-8887

(b) in the case of Expatriat
Suite 701

475 Howe Stree
Vancouver, British Columbi
V6C 2B3

Attention: Harlan Mead
Fax: (604) 68-5404

or to such other address as the party entitled teagiving such notice may notify the other pa$yprovided for herein.

A notice will be deemed to have been received byaiiidressee on the first Business Day occurrirg tfe date of delivery or transmission
provided that such is a Business Day, and if nothe second Business Day occurring after the afadelivery or transmission.

22. This Agreement will be binding upon and enure ® llenefit of the parties hereto and their respeaiwccessors and assic
Nothing herein express or implied is intended tofeoupon any person, other than the parties hamddaheir respective successors
assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations orlit&s under or by reason of this Agreement.

23. This Agreement may be executed in any number oftesparts with the same effect as if all partiethte Agreement had
signed the same document and all counterpartdeidonstrued together and will constitute one aedsaime instrument.

24, This Agreement together with the Sale Agreemenstitutes the entire agreement between the pamigsapersedes all
prior letters of intent, agreements, representatiamrranties, statements, promises, informatioapgements and understandings, whether
or written, express or implied with respect to sidject matter of this Agreement.

6




25. No modification or amendment to this Agreement rhaynade unless agreed to by the parties heretatingv
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreeémethe date first above written.

EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD.

By: /s/ [ILLEGIBLE]

ATNA RESOURCES LTD.

By: /s/ [ILLEGIBLE]

SCHEDULE 1

MINERAL PROPERTIES




Yakon

Energy, Minas and Resources

05 May 200¢

EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD.
#701 - 475 Howe Street
Vancouver BC Canada
V6C-2B3
Dear Sir/Madam:
We are able to confirm the status of the followatgim(s):
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS#'s
ARCH 1-2 YB89663- YB89664 2010/03/07% EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 3-4 YB89665- YB89666 2010/03/07% EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
ARCH 5- 6 YB89667- YB89668 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 7-8 YB89669- YB89670 2010/03/07% EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
ARCH 9-10 YB89671- YB89672 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 P
CAP 1 YB87468 2006/03/07% EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT I- 10 YB45954- YB45963 2015/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 11- 12 YB51608- YB51609 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 13- 20 YB45966- YB45973 2015/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 23- 36 YB51534- YB51547 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 37- 70 YB51548- YB51581 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 71- 80 YB51582- YB51591 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 83- 86 YB51592- YB51595 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 87- 94 YB51596- YB51603 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 95- 148 YB58651- YB58704 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 148-170 YB58705- YB58726 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08,

105G09
FOOT 171- 174 YB58727- YB58730 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 180 YB59982 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 181- 188 YB59983- YB59990 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 18¢- 214 YB59991- YB60016 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT215- 216 YB87460- YB87461 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 217- 222 YB60946- YB60951 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 223- 226 YB60952- YB60955 2013/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 227- 231 YB60956- YB60960 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 233- 308 YB61006- YB61081 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 30¢- 332 YB61082- YB61105 2006/03/07% EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08,

105G09
FOOT 333- 358 YB61106- YB61131 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 359 - 382 YB61132 - YB61155 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G08,

105G09

Left column indicator legenc

R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pent

renewal(s)

P - Indicates the claim is pendin

Right column indicator legeni

L- Indicates the Quartz Leas

F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 act

1

Total claims selected :

D - Indicates Placer Discove

C - Indicates Placer Codiscove
B - Indicates Placer Fractic




EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD.
#701 - 475 Howe Street

05 May 200«

Vancouver BC Canada
V6C-2B3
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS#'s
FOOT 383- 390 YB61156- YB61163 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 391- 468 YB61164- YB61241 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 548- 550 YB61314- YB61315 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 575 YB61756 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 579- 581 YB61760- YB61762 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 582- 584 YB61763- YB61765 2010/03/2C EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 585- 586 YB61766- YB61767 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE.RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 605- 607 YB70737- YB70739 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT A 11-12 YB71274- YB71275 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT FRA 60:< YB70735 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FYD 67-83 YB62248- YB62264 2005/03/21 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL1-12 YB86778- YB86789 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 13- 18 YB86790- YB86795 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 19- 22 YB86796- YB86799 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 23-24 YB86800- YB86801 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
JILL 25- 28 YB87470- YB87473 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09,
JILL 29 - 32 YB87474 - YB87477 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G08
105G08
JILL 36 YB87481 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 37-38 YB87482- YB87483 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 39 YB87484 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 40- 41 YB87485- YB87486 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
KINK 3 YA69009 2018/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
KNOT | -4 YB89415- YB89418 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
KNOT 5-6 YB89419- YB89420 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
LIN1 YB87469 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
PAK 1-20 YB45974- YB45993 2007/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
PAK 21- 36 YB51516- YB51531 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
PAK 37- 60 YB58617- YB58640 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105GO07
PAK 63- 64 YB58643- YB58644 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105GO7

Left column indicator legenc

R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pent

renewal(s)

P - Indicates the claim is pendin

Right column indicator legeni

L- indicates the Quartz Leas

F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 act

2

D - Indicates Placer Discove

C - Indicates Placer Codiscove
B - Indicates Placer Fractic

mm

M T o

Total claims selected : 6




05 May 200«

EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD.
#701 - 475 Howe Street

Vancouver BC Canada
V6C-2B3
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS#'s
PAK 67-70 YB58647- YB58650 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
ROPE 7¢t- 78 YB69160- YB69163 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 97-100 YB69182- YB69185 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 114 118 YB69199- YB69203 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 131- 134 YB69216- YB69219 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 53¢- 540 YB70719- YB70723 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 55(- 551 YB70843- YB70844 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 552- 553 YB70845- YB70846 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
TOE 1-6 YB56214- YB56219 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 7 YB56220 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 8 YB56221 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 9- 10 YB56222- YB56223 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 11- 16 YB56224- YB56229 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
Total claims selected : 6
Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legen
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pending L- Indicates the Quartz Lease. D - Indicates Placer Discovery
renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pendin F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr C - Indicates Placer Codiscove

P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 acr B - Indicates Placer Fractic
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EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 05 May 200¢
#701- 475 Howe Stree

Vancouvel BC Canad:

V6C-2B3

Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS#'s
TOE 17- 36 YB59962- YB59981 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08

There is no provision in either the Quartz MiningtAr the Placer Mining Act for a Mining Recorderitterpret his/her records to the public.
Where information regarding the status of a minelam is to be used for title opinions or quagjdepurposes, we recommend that certified
true copies of documents be obtained. All bookseobrd and documents filed are open for publicéesipn, free of charge, during office
hours. An enquirer may employ someone to searchett@rds, or obtain abstracts of record at a dod1 ®0 for the first entry and $.10 for ei
additional entry.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitatentact this office.
Yours truly,

Patti McLeod

Mining Recorder

Watson Lake Mining District
P.O. Box 269

Watson Lake YT Canada
Y0A-1CO

Ph:(867) 536-7366

fax: (867) 536-7842

Total claims selected: 6

Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legeni

R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pending L- Indicates the Quartz. Lease. D - Indicates Placer Discovery
renewal(s)

P - Indicates the claim is pendin F- Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr C - Indicates Placer Codiscove

P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 acr B - Indicates Placer Fractic
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SCHEDULE 2
PRIOR EXISTING ROYALTIES

A 0.5% net smelter return royalty payable to Eqthgineering Ltd. (“Equity”) in respect of produmti from the Foot 1-20, Foot 23-
80, Foot 83-94 and Pak 1-36 mineral claims, asritestin an agreement between Equity and Atna dateat March 24, 1995.

A 1% net smelter return royalty payable to Nordasdurces Ltd., now called Strategic Metals Corpama{“Nordac”) in respect of
production from the Kink 3 mineral claim, as delsed in an agreement dated January 5, 1995 betweeladland Atna.

A 0.5% net smelter return royalty payable to UwarSidt (“Schmidt”) in respect of production from tfiee 1-16 mineral claims, as
described in a letter dated December 8, 1994 fronmfiit to Atna.




PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF ROYALTY

THIS Agreement dated the 20  day of August, 2007asle

BETWEEN:
ATNA RESOURCESLTD.,
a British Columbia corporation
(hereinafter called “Atna”)
OF THE FIRST PART1
AND:
EQUITY ENGINEERING LTD.
a British Columbia corporation
(hereinafter called “Equity”)
OF THE SECOND PAR’
AND:

YUKON ZINC CORPORATION,
a British Columbia corporation

(hereinafter called “Yukon”)
OF THE THIRD PART

WHEREAS pursuant to the terms of a Settlement Agere between Atna and Equity dated the same datesaBgreement, Atna has agreed
to make a partial assignment to Equity of the Riyyahyable by Yukon to Atna pursuant to the Royaltyeement (as those terms are defined
below).
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that in ciolesation of the premises and the covenants arebawgnts hereinafter <
forth and other good and valuable consideratidrg feceipt and sufficiency of which is hereby ackizolged) the parties hereto agree as
follows:
1. DEFINITIONS

In this Agreement the following words and phradesishave the following meanings;
1.1. “Mineral Properties” has the meaning assigned to it in the Royalty Aged.

1.2. “Royalty” has the meaning assigned to it in the Royalty Agesd.




1.3.

2.1.

2.2.

3.1.

3.2.

“Royalty Agreement” means the Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement raad# June 162004 between Yukon (then named
Expatriate Resources Ltd.) and Atna,

PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF ROYALTY

Atna hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to ¥Eguit55% interest, in the Royalty, retaining fself the remaining 94.45%
interest. Equity hereby accepts such assignmemsfer and conveyance.

Yukon acknowledges the foregoing assignment, teareid conveyance and agrees that:

@) the 5.55% interest in the Royalty held by Equitg #me 94.45% interest in the Royalty held by Athalsbe independent,
separate and distinct each from the other astierfirst instance they had been granted by Yulepasately to Atna and
Equity, respectively;

(b) with, respect to the 94.45% interest in the Royh#id by Atna, Atna shall continue to have allled tights and Yukon shall
continue to have all of the obligations providedha Royalty Agreement and the Royalty Agreementinaes in full force
and effect, mutatis mutandis; and

(©) with respect to the 5.55% interest in the Royaétidtby Equity, Equity shall have the same rightd ¥nkon shall have all tt
same obligations as Atna and Yukon have respegtiveder the terms of the Royalty Agreement as ifiggand Yukon had |
the first instanee entered into an agreement time s the Royalty Agreement, mutatis mutandis, aadeexcept for Equity
relinquishing its right to:

0] take delivery of the metal in kind as reference&éttion 14 of the Royalty Agreement; and

(i) audit the yearly statement of the Royalty as refeed in Sections 5(c), 5(d) and 5(e) of the Royaljyeement. If
however Atna should exercise its right to conducaadit of the Royalty then Atna shall promptly yice Equity witt
the results of the audit and Yukon shall prompty [Equity its share of any payment due as a restifte audit.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Equity represents and warrants to Atna and Yukantthis Agreement has been duly and validly autleaki executed and delivered
Equity and constitutes a legal, valid, binding andorceable obligation of Equity.

Atna represents and warrants to Equity and Yukatt th

€) this Agreement has been duly and validly authorieeécuted and delivered by Atna and constitulegal, valid, binding
and enforceable obligation of Atna; and




3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

4.1.

(b) Atna has not previously assigned the Royalty Agmestor any of its rights thereunder including trey&ty.
Yukon represents to Atna and Equity that:
€) Yukon changed its name from Expatriate Resourcésdrt December 16, 2004; and

(b) this Agreement has been duly and validly authorize@cuted and delivered by Yukon and constitutegal, valid, binding
and enforceable obligation of Yukon.

Equity acknowledges and agrees that the assignitnansfer and conveyance by Atna of an interefiténRoyalty is “as is, where is”
without any representation or warranty except ggessly provided in Section 3.2 and that all imgliepresentations and warranties
are hereby excluded. Without limiting the geneyadit the foregoing, no representation or warrastgiven with respect to the validity
of the Royalty Agreement; Yukon'’s title to the MimakProperties, if any; Yukon’s right or ability toine and produce minerals from
the Mineral Properties; the likelihood that minerahn or will be removed from the Mineral Properiie commercially saleable
quantities; the condition of the Mineral Propertiesthe existence of contaminants on the MinerapBrties or environmental or other
liabilities associated with the Mineral Properties.

Yukon acknowledges Equity’s right to be paid th&%0.net smelter returns royalty in respect of preidmcfrom the Foot 1-20, Foot
23-80, Foot 83-94 and Pak 1-36 mineral claims arydnaineral claims acquired by Atna or Yukon withiire boundary formed by
intersecting lines parallel to and two (2) kilomstérom the boundaries of such claims, which royalas created by the Exploration
Agreement dated March 24, 1995 between Atna. anitf;qvas previously referenced in the Option Agneat dated January 3, 1995
between Atna, Yukon, Equity and Uwe Schmidt and assmimed by Yukon from Atna pursuant to an Asswnpiigreement dated
June 16, 2004 between Yukon and Atna.

RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

Equity agrees with Yukon that it will not sell, &gs, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose ofriteriest in the Royalty or its 0.5% net
smelter returns royalty (tH&quity Royalties” ) in whole or in part to any unrelated third pautyess it gives Yukon 30 days’ notice
of the price and other terms it would be willingdispose of the Equity Royalties or part of the iBgRoyalties and Yukon shall be
entitled, by notice in writing to Equity, within &30 day period to acquire all or part of the Bg&ibyalties which Equity intends to
dispose of (théSubject Interest” ) on the same terms stated in the notice. If Yulloes not elect, in writing within the said 30 day
period to acquire the Subject Interest, Equity migpose of the whole, but not less than the whadlé)e Subject Interest to any per.
within the following 60 days at a price at or abdlve price stated in the notice and upon the samestand conditions that were
contained in the notice. For purposes of this $acti.1, the consideration for the Subject Intesesil be an amount payable in
Canadian or United States Dollars unless the [sneeto




4.2.

4.3.

5.1.

6.1.

otherwise agree. If Equity fails to complete ttentzaction within the said 60 days, the rights okdfuunder this Section 4.1 shall be
deemed to be revived and any subsequent proposallt@ssign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispiisall or part of the Equity
Royalties shall again be subject to the provisimithis Section 4.1.

If Equity disposes of all or part of the Equity Radtyes in whole or in part hereunder, it shall rieg@any transferee to execute a
counterpart of this Agreement and thereby to agii¢ke Yukon to be bound by the contractual termsbéin the same manner and to
the same extent as though a party hereto in thiffistance, including without limitation Sectiori 4

Nothing in this Article 4 shall prevent Equity frotmansferring its interest in the Equity RoyaltteDavid Caulfield, Henry Awmack
or Mark Baknes (thé&ndividuals” ), or to entities controlled by them either indiwaly or collectively or successor entities of Bgui
The Individuals also reserve the right to transiier Equity Royalties among themselves.

CONFIDENTIALITY

This Agreement and its terms shall be kept contidéhy both parties and except as required bydawegulatory authority neither
party shall make any public announcements or s&értoncerning this Agreement without the prigsrapal of the others, not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed.

NOTICES

Any notice or other communication to be given imection with this Agreement shall be given in imgtand shall be given by
personal delivery or by facsimile addressed tar¢ogpient as follows:

To Atna:

Atna Resources Ltd.

510 — 510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3A8

Telecopy No: (604) 684-8887
Attention: President

To Equity:

Equity Engineering Ltd.

700 — 700 West Pender Street
Vancouver, British Columbia

V6C 1G8

Telecopy No: (604) 688-0235
Attention:  Henry Awmack, P.Eng.




To Yukon:
Yukort Zinc Corporation
#701 — 475 Howe Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 2B3

Telecopy No: (604)68.2-5404
Attention: President

or to such other address as may be designatedticg given by a party to the others. Any noticethrer communication given by
personal delivery or by facsimile shall be conclai deemed to have been given the day of actdsdedy if delivered during normal
business hours or if delivered after normal busiresirs then on the next following business day.

7. GENERAL

7.1. This Agreement expresses the entire agreement athergarties with respect to the subject matteedfeprovided that, as between
Atna and Equity, the provisions of the Settlemegteement referred to in the Recital do not merglimAgreement and survive the
execution of tiiis Agreement and continue in fatde and effect

7.2. This Agreement shall be governed by and constmiedd¢ordance with the laws of British Columbia aadh party hereby
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the ctuin British Columbia.

7.3. This Agreement shall be binding upon and enuréedenefit of the parties hereto and their respediiccessors and assigns,
IN WITNESS WHEREOF each of the parties hereto lasimto executed this Agreement as of the dateyeadfirst above written.
ATNA RESOURCES LTD.

Per /s/[ILLEGIBLE] cls
Title PRESIDENT/CEC

EQUITY ENGINEERING LTD.

Per /s/ [ILLEGIBLE] c/s
Title Director

YUKON ZINC CORPORATION

Per /s/[ILLEGIBLE] cls
Title

NET SMELTER RETURN ROYALTY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 16th day of June, 2004.

BETWEEN:
EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD., having an office at Suite 701,
475 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, VE&32
(“Expatriate”)
OF THE FIRST PAR
AND:

ATNA RESOURCES LTD., having an office at Suite 510, 510 Burrard
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3A8

(“Atnaﬂ)
OF THE SECOND PAR

WHEREAS:



(A) Atna and Expatriate entered an Asset Sale Agreemade as of May 31, 2004 (tifeale Agreement”);

(B) Pursuant to the Sale Agreement Expatriate is totgeaAtna a net smelter return interest in angrteduction of silver and
gold from the Mineral Properties described in tladeSAgreement, which properties are more partibuidscribed in Schedule 1 hereto;

©) The Sale Agreement provides for the executionmétasmelter return royalty agreement.
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that for and in consideration of the completioritef transactions contemplated by

the Sale Agreement, the mutual and covenants snAthieement and the Sale Agreement and other gubdauable consideration (the receipt
and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by edfcthe parties), the parties agree as follows:

1. Each capitalized term used in this Agreement widatot defined herein will have the meanings asctithereto in the Sale
Agreement.
2. Atna reserves and Expatriate hereby grants to Atreyalty (the'Royalty” ) in perpetuity equal to a percentage of Net

Smelter Returns (as hereinafter defined) for eagmfent Period, as defined below, as follows:

€) 4.0% of Net Smelter Returns when the price receingtle Payment Period by Expatriate pursuantltofals marketing or
sales agreements for silver is from U.S. $5.00t6& per ounce; and




(b) 10% of Net Smelter Returns when the price receingbe Payment Period by Expatriate pursuant toddritg marketing or
sales agreements for silver is greater than U.S0§%er ounce.

No Royalty is payable for a Payment Period if thiegreceived in the Payment Period by Expatriatsyeant to all of its marketing or sales
agreements for silver is less than U.S. $5.00 pace. If Expatriate is selling silver ores or camcates or silver in any form other than refined
silver, for the purposes of this section 1 it shalldeemed to receive the price for the silveraiort in the ore or concentrate or other product
that it is being credited with for the purpose afctilating the sale proceeds payable to it by tivelmaser.

3. “Net Smelter Returns” will mean the net proceeds from silver and goldethikr as a refined metal, ore, concentrate, dore or
any other form (théPrecious Metals” ) produced from the Mineral Properties or fromitajs or waste from the Mineral Properties. It ol
based on the revenue earned by Expatriate frorealeeto any mint, smelter, refinery or other pusgraf Precious Metals or proceeds rece
from an insurer in respect of Precious Metals daethin any ores and/or concentrates from the Min@roperties, after deducting from such
proceeds the following charges to the extent they tvere not deducted by the purchaser in comppé@ygnents:

€) smelting and refining charges;
(b) penalties, smelter assay costs and umpire assts; cos
(©) cost of freight and handling of ores, metals oraggtirates from the Mineral Properties to any nsntelter, refinery, or other
purchaser if not sold f.o.b. the mine;
(d) marketing costs, not to exceed 2% of the net pgé®m silver and gold less the aggregate of tstscunder subsections 3
(a), 3(b), 3(c), 3(e) and 3(f);
(e) costs of insurance in respect of the transportaifdhe Precious Metals to the smelter or othecgssing facility; and
® customs duties, severance tax, prior existing tmgshs described in Schedule 2 hereto, Ad valaremineral taxes or the
like and export and import taxes or tariffs payahleespect of Precious Metals but not income taxes
4. The Royalty will be calculated and paid on a quérteasis (each quarter beingRayment Period” ) within 45 days after
the end of each calendar quarter in respect oSxwetlter Returns earned during the quarter.
5. The Royalty will be payable as follows:
€)) each payment of Royalty will be accompanied by maudited statement indicating the calculation efRoyalty in

reasonable detail, and Atna will receive, on oobeMarch 31 of each calendar year, a summaryrséat&“Yearly Statement”) of
the calculation of the Royalty for the last cometetalendar year that has been audited by a firchaftered accountants in Canada,
together with copies of such production informatéswill be required to adequately document theutation of the Royalty;
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(b) Atna will have 45 days from the time of receiptioé Yearly Statement to question the accuracy tiénewriting and, failing
such objection, the Yearly Statement will be deetoege correct and unimpeachable thereafter,

(©) if the Yearly Statement is questioned by Atna, gusdich questions cannot be resolved between AtdeExpatriate, Atha
will have 180 days from the time of receipt of tearly Statement to have such audited by an actayfitm of its choice, initially at
its expense;

(d) the audited results obtained under subsectionvi{che final and determinative of the calculatiohthe Royalty for the
audited period and will be binding on the partied any overpayment of Royalty will be deducted frimture payments of Royalty
and any underpayment of Royalty will be paid by &xjate forthwith;

(e) the costs of the audit under subsection 5(c) vélbbrne by Atna if the Annual Statement overstétedRoyalty or
understated the Royalty payable by not more tharat@owill be borne by Expatriate if such statemerderstated the Royalty paya
by greater than 1%. If Expatriate is obligated &g for the audit, it will forthwith reimburse Atrfar the audit costs which it has paid,;
and

) Atna will be entitled, on reasonable written notéced during normal business hours, to examine baoks and records as
are reasonably necessary to verify the paymeirteoRbyalty to it from time to time, provided howeyvinat such examination will not
unreasonably interfere with or hinder Expatriatg&rations or procedures and further providedExatatriate will not be obligated to
disclose any proprietary methods or processes.tEafmwill have the right to make access to iteksand records conditional on
execution by the examining party of a written agreat providing that all information received wik Iheld in confidence and used
solely for the purposes of verification of the pamof the Royalty.

6. Expatriate will dispose of Precious Metals onlyvingfy of sale to arns length parties on commermally reasonable temadsad
the best prices attainable. Any smelting, refinindurther processing of Precious Metals shall pam arm’s length third party on
commercially reasonable terms.

7. The Royalty creates a direct real property interegte Mineral Properties and the Precious Métafavour of Atna,

provided such interest shall be satisfied in resptany particular Precious Metals by the paymerAtna of the Royalty in respect thereof.

The Royalty shall continue in perpetuity, it bethg intent of the parties hereto that the Royaltiyaenstitute a covenant running with the
Mineral Properties and the Precious Metals andwuatessions thereof. If any right, power or inteoé®ither party pertaining to the Royalty
would violate the rule against perpetuities, thechsright, power or interest will terminate at #heiration of 20 years after the death of the last
survivor of all the lineal descendants of Her MajeQueen Elizabeth Il of England, living on theealaf this Agreement. Atna will have the
right from time to time to register or record netiof the Royalty against title to the Mineral Pndj@s or elsewhere, and Expatriate will
cooperate with all such registrations and recorslgagd provide its written consent or signaturenyp @ocuments and do such other things from
time to time as are necessary or desirable totedfesuch registrations or recordings or othervigsprotect the interests of Atna hereunder.

8. The right to receive a percentage of Net SmeltéuiiRe as and when due will not be deemed to comstitna the partner,
agent or legal representative of Expatriate.

9. Expatriate will be entitled to:




€)) make all operational decisions with respect tonle¢hods and extent of mining and processing ofamegentrate, metal and
products produced from the Mineral Properties gctéasonably and in accordance with good miningeargineering practices; and

(b) make all decisions concerning temporary or longiteessation of operations.

10. Commingling of ores in the processing facilitiemswucted for ores from the Mineral Properties wélpermitted and all or
treated in such facilities will be considered torbetallurgically similar as to recovery of metdaleatment charges and penalties charged by the
refiner. Where there is commingling, the Royaltyl Wwe based solely on tonnage and grade of oregaene processing facilities from the
Mineral Properties. Before commingling, Expatrieti# ensure that the Precious Metals from the Matétroperties and ores from other
properties are measured and sampled in accordatiteaund practices for metal content and gradecdiner appropriate parameters and the
portion of total smelter payments that is attrilblgeto Net Smelter Returns hereunder will be deiteechon a pro rata basis with reference to
such metal content and grade.

11. For the purposes of determining Net Smelter Refwathseceipts and disbursements in a currencyrdttean Canadian will be
converted into Canadian currency on the day ofipece disbursement, as the case may be usingabe Bank of Canada rate.

12. Expatriate may, but will not be under any dutyengage in price protection (hedging) or speculatiaesactions such as
futures contracts and commodity options in its stideretion covering all or part of production frahe Mineral Properties and, except in the
case where Precious Metals are actually deliveneldaasale is actually consumed under such pricegtion or speculative transactions, none
of the revenues, costs, profits or losses from $tastsactions will be taken into account in caltnfaNet Smelter Returns or any interest
therein.

13. In addition to Atna’s right to inspect records undebsection 5(f), upon not less than five daysttem notice to Expatriate,
Atna, or its authorized agents or representatives, under the direction and control of Expatriatger in and upon the mine and all surface
and subsurface portions of the Mineral Propertieste purpose of inspecting same, all operatibessbn, and all production records and data
pertaining to all production activities and opesat on or with respect thereto, including withootifation, records and data that are
electronically maintained.

14. Subiject to any limitations caused by concentratettoer product sales agreements entered into bgitEage, Atha may elect,
upon written notice to Expatriate given 60 day®sptd the commencement of any Payment Period cive its Royalty in-kind by having
deposited in an account or accounts opened by Eafgafor Atha an amount of refined Precious Meteltéch is equivalent to the cash value of
the Royalty payable, taking into account the deduastdescribed in section 3. In determining the amof refined Precious Metals to be
deposited to any such account and the amount afa@tiections under section 3 applicable in the ohsay deposit, Expatriate shall value gold
and silver using the London final gold fixing arte tHandy and Harman Silver Price, in United Stdt#kars, both as published by Metals
Week, a publication of McGraw, Hill of New York, stuch other recognized source of metal price gisoisitas may be agreed by Expatriate
and Atna, as quoted on the Business Day preceldnddte of each deposit.

15. Expatriate will indemnify and save Atna and itsgpdrand affiliated companies harmless from any, losst or liability
including, without limitation, reasonable legal $egrising from a claim against Atna in respectrof failure by Expatriate to at all times com
with all applicable present or future federal, pnoial, territorial and local laws, statutes, rylesgulations, permits, ordinances, certificates,
licences and other regulatory requirements, paiaied guidelines relating to Expatriate or
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the Mineral Properties or operations thereon; mredj however, Expatriate will have the right totesh any of the same if such contest does
not jeopardize the Mineral Properties or Atna'sitigthereto or under this Agreement.

16. Expatriate will indemnify and save Atna harmlessrany loss, cost or liability
(including, without limitation, reasonably legakf arising from a claim against Atna in respect of

€) any failure by Expatriate to timely and fully penio all abandonment, restoration, remediation anthneation required by
governmental authorities pertaining or relatecheodperations or activities of Expatriate on ofwespect to the Mineral Properties;

(b) Expatriate causing, suffering, or permitting anydition or activity at, on or in the vicinity of éhMineral Properties which
constitutes a nuisance; or

(©) any failure by Expatriate which results in a vi@atof or liability under any present or future &pable federal, territorial,
provincial or local environmental laws, statuteges, regulations, permits, ordinances, certifisgieences and other regulatory
requirements, policies or guidelines.

17. Expatriate will purchase or otherwise arrangesabwn expense and will keep in force at all timmesurance (including,
without limitation, comprehensive general publeiiity insurance) against claims for bodily injusy death or property damage arising out of
or resulting from activities or operations on othwiespect to the Mineral Properties and in respeldss, theft or destruction of Precious
Metals, in such amounts as will, in Expatriate’asenable opinion, adequately protect ExpatriateaAthe Royalty, the Mineral Properties and
the operations thereon from any and all claimsijliites and damages which may arise and as wéhadtely protect Expatriate and Atna from
loss, theft and destruction of Precious Metals.

18. Any payments not made when due hereunder will marest at an annual rate equal to the Prime Rlag1% calculated
and compounded monthly from the due date to the afiagpayment. For the purposes hereof “Prime Raéns at any particular time the
annual rate of interest announced from time to tijéhe Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, maambin, Vancouver, British Columbia as
a reference rate then in effect for determiningtitoy rates of interest on Canadian dollar loanderia Canada.

19. This Agreement will be construed and governed leylélws enforced in the Province of British Columaiel the courts of
such province will have exclusive jurisdiction tean and determine all disputes arising hereundus. Section 19 will not be construed to af
the rights of a party to enforce a judgment or awartside of British Columbia, including the rightrecord or enforce a judgment or award in
the jurisdiction in which any of the property thégect hereof is situated.

20. Each of the parties hereby covenants and agreeatthay time and from time to time, upon the resjad the other party it
will, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver or caodee done, executed, acknowledged and delivdredeh further acts, deeds, assignments,
transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney andasses as may be required for the better carryinguod performance of all of the terms of
this Agreement.

21. Any notice required or permitted to be given ornid®ly required to be made to any party may be #ffely given or delivere
if it is delivered personally or by facsimile tramission to




€)) In the case of Atna,

#510 - 510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3A8

Attention: David Watkins
Fax: (604) 684-8887

(b) in the case of Expatriate,

Suite 701

475 Howe Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 2B3

Attention: Harlan Meade
Fax: (604) 682-5404

or to such other address as the party entitled teagiving such notice may notify the other pas$yprovided for herein.

A notice will be deemed to have been received byatiidressee on the first Business Day occurrimg tfe date of delivery or transmission
provided that such is a Business Day, and if nothe second Business Day occurring after the afadelivery or transmission.

22. This Agreement will be binding upon and enure ® blenefit of the parties hereto and their respeaiwccessors and assigns.
Nothing herein express or implied is intended tofeoupon any person, other than the parties hamddaheir respective successors
assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations orlit&s under or by reason of this Agreement.

23. This Agreement may be executed in any number oftesparts with the same effect as if all partieghte Agreement had
signed the same document and all counterpartdeitdonstrued together and will constitute one aadsaime instrument.

24, This Agreement together with the Sale Agreemenstitutes the entire agreement between the pami@s@persedes all pri
letters of intent, agreements, representationsantes, statements, promises, information, arnareges and understandings, whether oral or
written, express or implied with respect to thejsabmatter of this Agreement.
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25. No modification or amendment to this Agreement rhaynade unless agreed to by the parties heretatingv
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreeémethe date first above written.

EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD.

i W e

ATNA RESOURCES LTD.

v A At

SCHEDULE 1

MINERAL PROPERTIES




Enargy, Mines and Resources

EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 05 May 200:
#701- 475 Howe Stree
Vancouvel BC Canad:
V6C-2B3
Dear Sir/Madam:
We are able to confirm the status of the followatgm(s):
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NIS #'s
ARCH 1-2 YB89663- YB89664 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 3-4 YB89665- YB89666 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
ARCH 5- 6 YB89667- YB89668 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 7-8 YB89669- YB89670 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
ARCH 9- 10 YB89671- YB89672 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 P
CAP 1 YB87468 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 1- 10 YB45954- YB45963 2015/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 11- 12 YB51608- YB51609 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 13- 20 YB45966- YB45973 2015/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 23- 36 YB51534- YB51547 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
J FOOT 37- 70 YB51548- YB51581 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 71- 80 YB51582- YB51591 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 83- 86 YB51592- YB51595 2016/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 87- 94 YB51596- YB51603 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 95- 148 YB58651- YB58704 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 149 - 170 YB58705 - YB58726 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 171- 174 YB58727- YB58730 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 180 YB59982 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 181- 188 YB59983- YB59990 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 189- 214 YB59991- YB60016 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 215- 216 YB87460- YB87461 2010/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 217- 222 YB60946- YB60951 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 223- 226 YB60952- YB60955 2013/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 227- 231 YB60956- YB60960 2012/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 233- 308 YB61006- YB61081 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 309- 332 YB61082- YB61105 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 333- 358 YB61106- YB61131 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 359 - 382 YB61132 - YB6I155 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G08,
105G09

Total claims selected: 6

Left column indicator legenc
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pending
renewat(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pendin

Right column indicator legeni
L- Indicates the Quartz. Lease. D - Indicates Placer Discovery
F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acri  C - Indicates Place
Codiscovery
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 B - Indicates Placer Fraction

acres)
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EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 05 May 200¢
#701 - 475 Howe Street
Vancouver BC Canada
V6C-2B3
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
FOOT 383- 390 YB61156- YB61163 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 391 - 468 YB61164 - YB61241 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 549- 550 YB61314- YB61315 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 575 YB61756 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 579- 581 YB61760- YB61762 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 582- 584 YB61763- YB61765 2010/03/2C EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 585- 586 YB61766- YB61767 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT 605- 607 YB70737- YB70739 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FOOT A 11-12 YB71274- YB71275 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 P
FOOT FRA 602 YB70735 2010/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
FYD 67- 83 YB62248- YB62264 2005/03/21 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL1-12 YB86778- YB86789 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 13- 18 YB86790- YB86795 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
JILL 19- 22 YB86796- YB86799 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 23- 24 YB86800- YB86801 2007/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
JILL 25 - 28 YB87470 - YB87473 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 100.00 105G09, F
105G08
JILL 29- 32 YB87474- YB87477 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
JILL 36 YB87481 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 37 - 38 YB87482- YB87483 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
JILL 39 YB87484 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
JILL 40- 41 YB87485- YB87486 2006/02/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
KINK 3 YA69009 2018/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
KNOT I - 4 YB89415- YB89418 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 P
KNOT 5- 6 YB89419- YB89420 2005/04/0¢ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
LIN 1 YB87469 2006/03/07 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08 F
PAK 1-20 YB45974- YB45993 2007/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
PAK 21- 36 YB51516- YB51531 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
PAK 37- 60 YB58617- YB58640 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
PAK 63- 64 YB58643- YB58644 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07

Left column indicator legenc

R - Indicates the claim is on one or more penc

renewal(s)

P - Indicates the claim is pendin

Right column indicator legeni

F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<
acres)

L- Indicates the Quartz Leas

Total claims selected: 6

D - Indicates Placer Discove

C - Indicates Placer Codiscove
B - Indicates Placer Fractic




EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 05 May 200¢
#701-475 Howe Street

Vancouver BC Canada
V6C-2B3
Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
PAK 67- 70 YB58647- YB58650 2006/12/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G07
ROPE 7t- 78 YB69160- YB69163 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 97- 100 YB69182- YB69185 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 11+ 118 YB69199- YB69203 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 131- 134 YB69216- YB69219 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 53¢- 540 YB70719- YB70723 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 55(- 551 YB70843- YB70844 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09
ROPE 55z- 553 YB70845- YB70846 2005/04/0€ EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G09 F
TOE1-6 YB56214- YB56219 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 7 YB56220 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 8 YB56221 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 9- 10 YB56222- YB56223 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
TOE 11- 16 YB56224- YB56229 2007/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08
Total claims selected : 6

Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legen:

R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pent L- Indicates the Quartz Leas D - Indicates Placer Discove

renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pending. F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ C - Indicates Placer Codiscovery
acres)
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fractios25 B - Indicates Placer Fraction
acres)




EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD. 05 May 200¢
#701 - 475 Howe Street

Vancouver BC Canada

V6C-2B3

Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
TOE 17-36 YB59962- YB59981 2006/03/31 EXPATRIATE RESOURCES LTD 100.00 105G08

There is no provision in either the Quartz MiningtAr the Placer Mining Act for a Mining Recorderitterpret his/her records to the public.
Where information regarding the status of a minelam is to be used for title opinions or quagjdepurposes, we recommend that certified
true copies of documents be obtained. All bookeobrd and documents filed are open for publiceéasipn, free of charge, during office
hours. An enquirer may employ someone to searchett@rds, or obtain abstracts of record at a do$1 ®0 for the first entry and $.10 for e
additional entry.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitatentact this office.
Yours truly,

Patti McLeod

Mining Recorder

Watson Lake Mining District
P.O. Box 269

Watson Lake YT Canada
YOA-ICO

Ph:(867) 536-7366

fax: (867) 536-7842

Total claims selected: 6

Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legeni
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more penc L - Indicates the Quartz Leas D - Indicates Placer Discove
renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pending. F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ C - Indicates Placer Codiscovery
acres)
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 B - Indicates Placer Fraction
acres)




3.

SCHEDULE 2
PRIOR EXISTING ROYALTIES

A 0.5% net smelter return royalty payable to Eqéihgineering Ltd. (“Equity”) in respect of produmti from the Foot 1-20, Foot 23-
80, Foot 83-94 and Pak 1-36 mineral claims, asriestin an agreement between Equity and Atna dageat March 24, 1995.

A 1% net smelter return royalty payable to Nordaséurces Ltd., now called Strategic Metals Corpama{“Nordac”) in respect of
production from the Kink 3 mineral claim, as delsed in an agreement dated January 5,1995 betwesladland Atna.

A 0.5% net smelter return royalty payable to UwarSidt (“Schmidt”) in respect of production from thiee 1-16 mineral claims, as
described in a letter dated December 8, 1994 fronmfiit to Atna.
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Energy, Minas and Resowces

Claim Status Report 18 October 200

Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
ARCH 1-2 YB89663- YB89664 2022/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 3-4 YBB9665- YBB89I666 2022/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
ARCH 5- 6 YBB9667- YB89668 2022/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
ARCH 7-8 YBB89669- YB89670 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
ARCH 9- 10 YBB89671- YB89672 2022/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 P
CAP 1 YB87468 2008/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 1- 10 YB45954- YB45963 2027/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 11- 12 YB51608- YB51609 2028/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 13- 20 YB4596€- YB45973 2027/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 23- 36 YB51534- YB51547 2010/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 37- 68 YB51548- YB51579 2028/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 69- 70 YB51580- YB51581 2024/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 71- 80 YB51582- YB51591 2016/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 83- 86 YB51592- YB51595 2028/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 87- 94 YB51596- YB51603 2016/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 95- 120 YB58651- YB58676 2018/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 121-130 YB58677- YB58686 2010/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 131- 132 YB58687- YB58688 2022/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 133- 138 YB5868¢- YB58694 2018/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 139- 148 YB58695- YB58704 2010/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 149 - 170 YB58705- YB58726 2008/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 171- 174 YB58727- YB58730 2018/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 180 YB59982 2022/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 181- 188 YB59982- YB59990 2024/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 189- 214 YB59991- YB60016 2008/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 215- 216 YB8746(- YB87461 2022/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 217- 222 YB6094¢€- YB60951 2024/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 223- 226 YB6095Z- YB60955 2025/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 227- 231 YB6095¢- YB60960 2024/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 233- 258 YB61006- YB61031 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 259- 264 YB61032- YB61037 2014/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 265- 280 YB61038- YB61053 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 281- 285 YB61054- YB61058 2014/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 286 YB61059 2010/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 287- 297 YB61060- YB61070 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 298 YB61071 2014/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 299- 308 YB61072- YB61081 2010/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 309 - 332 YB61082 - YB61105 2008/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08,
105G09

Total claims selected : 6

Left column indicator legenc
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pending
renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pendin

Right column Indicator legen:
L - Indicates the Quartz Lease. D - Indicates Placer Discovery
F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (2¢ C - Indicates Placer Codiscovc
acres)
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 B - Indicates Placer Fraction

acres)
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Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
FOOT 333- 358 YB61106- YB61131 2010/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 359 382 YB61132 - YB61155 2008/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 383- 390 YB61156- YB61163 2010/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 391 - 468 YB61164 - YB61241 2008/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08,
105G09
FOOT 549- 550 YB61314- YB61315 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
FOOT 575 YB61756 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 579- 581 YB61760- YB61762 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 582- 584 YB61763- YB61765 2018/03/2C YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 585- 586 YB61766- YB61767 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 605- 606 YB70737- YB70738 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT 607 YB70739 2010/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
FOOT A 11- 12 YB71274- YB71275 2018/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 P
FOOT FRA 602 YB70735 2022/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
JILL1-12 YB86778- YB86789 2009/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09
JILL 13- 14 YB86790- YB8679I 2009/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09 F
JILL 15- 18 YB86792- YB86795 2009/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09 P
JILL 19- 22 YB86796- YB86799 2009/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09
JILL 23- 24 YB86800- YB86801 2009/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
JILL 25 - 28 YB87470 - YB87473 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09, F
105G08
JILL 29- 32 YB87474- YB87477 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
JILL 36 YB87481 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09
JILL 37- 38 YB87482- YB87483 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09 P
JILL 39 YB87484 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09
JILL 40- 41 YB87485- YB87486 2008/02/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G09 F
KINK 3 YA69009 2030/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
LIN 1 YB87469 2008/03/07 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08 F
PAK 1-20 YB45974- YB45993 2007/12/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G07
PAK 21- 36 YB51516- YB51531 2007/12/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G07
PAK 37- 60 YB58617- YB58640 2007/12/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G07
PAK 63- 64 YB58643- YB58644 2007/12/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105007
PAK 67- 70 YB58647- YB58650 2007/12/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G07
TOE 1-7 YB56214- YB56220 2008/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
TOE 8 YB56221 2009/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
TOE 9- 12 YB56222- YB56225 2008/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08
TOE 13- 16 YB56226- YB56229 2009/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08

Total claims selected : 6

Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legeni
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more penc L - Indicates the Quartz Leas D - Indicates Placer Discove
renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pendin F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acr C - Indicates Placer Codiscove
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25 B - Indicates Placer Fraction
acres)
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Claim Name and Nbr. Grant No. Expiry Date Registered Owner % Owned NTS #'s
TOE 17- 36 YB59962- YB59981 2008/03/31 YUKON ZINC CORPORATION 100.00 105G08

Criteria(s) used for search:

CLAIM NAME: ARCH, CAP, FOOT, JILL, KINK, LIN, PAK,TOE CLAIM NUMBER (FROM): 1, 3 CLAIM STATUS: ACTVE &
PENDING OWNER(S): YUKON ZINC CORPORATION REGULA®ON TYPE: QUARTZ

Total claims selected : 6

Left column indicator legenc Right column indicator legen: D - Indicates Placer Discove
R - Indicates the claim is on one or more pending L - Indicates the Quartz Lease. C - Indicates Placer Codiscovery
renewal(s)
P - Indicates the claim is pendin F - Indicates Full Quartz fraction (25+ acri B - Indicates Placer Fractic
P - Indicates Partial Quartz fraction (<25
acres)




Exhibit 10.54
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement ") is made and entered into as of the 4th day aflApO 11 (the “
Effective Date”) by and between Royal Gold, Inc. , a Delawargooation (the ‘Company "), and William M. Zisch (the ‘Executive”).

Recitals

A. The Company desires to continue to employ Execats/®ice President Operations of the Company Exdtutive desires
to continue in such employment with the Compangaid capacity , subject to the at-will employmesiationship between the Company and
Executive ; and

B. Each party desires to set forth in writing the teand conditions of their understandings and ageeésn

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual cams and obligations contained herein, and othed gmd
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequaeyhath the Company and Executive hereby acknowletfigeCompany and Executive hert
agree as follows:

A greement

1. Position.

(@) The Company agrees to employ Executive in the ijposdf Vice President Operations. Executive sketve and
perform the duties which may from time to time lssigned to him by the President and/or the Boailii@ctors of the Company (theBoard
"). The Board may delegate its authority to takg action under this Agreement to the Compensatiominating and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Board (theCompensation Committee”).

(b) Executive agrees to serve as Vice President Opaga#ind agrees that he will devote his best eféortsfull
business time and attention to the Company. Ekexagrees that he will faithfully and diligentlarey out the duties of the Vice President
Operations. Executive further agrees to compth il Company policies as in effect from time itoe¢ and to comply with all laws, rules and
regulations, including, but not limited to, thogmphcable to the Company.

(c) Executive agrees to travel as necessary to petfigrduties under this Agreement.
(d) Nothing herein shall preclude Executive from (ij\véeg as a member of the board of directors ofaupo (2) for-
profit businesses; (ii) serving as a member ofhard of directors of such other affiliated or reffiliated entities at the request of the Board,;

(iii)engaging in charitable and community gittés; ( iv ) participating in industry and trade
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organization activities; and ( v ) managing his aisifamily’s personal investments and affapjvided, that such activities do not
(x) materially interfere with the regular perforneanof his duties and responsibilities under thisekgnent or (y) constitute activities that
compete with the business of Company.

2. Term . The initial term of this Agreement shall commencethe Effective Date and continue until Septenittgr2011 (*
Initial Term ), unless otherwise terminated pursuant to Sectiofithis Agreement. This Agreement shall autécadly renew for two (2)
successive one (1) year terms unless either pa#ig gvritten notice of its or his intent not to eenthis Agreement at least sixty (60) days prior
to the expiration of the then-current term. Exaeis continued employment after the expiratioribedf Initial Term shall be in accordance with
and governed by this Agreement, unless modifiethbyparties to this Agreement in writing. Refersberein to the Term ” shall refer both
to the Initial Term and any successive term astimgext requires.

3. Compensation and Benefits

(@) Base Salary The Company shall pay Executive a base salapp46,000 per year Base Salary ). The Base
Salary may be increased annually by an amount gdmapproved by the Board or the Compensation Gteenand, upon such increase, the
increased amount shall thereafter be deemed toebBase Salary for purposes of this Agreement.

(b) Bonus Opportunities For each fiscal year during the Term, Execusivall be eligible to be considered to receive
incentive compensation (amhnual Bonus”) from the Company in an amount determined byBbard or the Compensation Committee and
in accordance with the Company’s compensation jgaliand practices as in effect from time to time .

(c) LongTerm Incentive Award OpportunitiesExecutive shall be eligible to participate thghout the Term in the
Company’s 2004 Omnibus Long - Term Incentive Ptae (LTIP ") or other equity incentive plans as may be ireefffrom time to time (the “
Equity I ncentive Plans ™) , in accordance with the Company’s compensapiolicies and practices as in effect from time todiand the terms
and provisions of the LTIP or other Equity Incest®lan .

(d) Payment Payment of all compensation to Executive hereustiall be made in accordance with applicable the,
terms of this Agreement and applicable Companyciesiand practices as in effect from time to timeluding normal payroll practices, and
shall be subject to all applicable withholdings éaxks.

(e) Welfare Benefits and Retirement PlanBuring the Term, Executive shall be allowed &otigipate, on the same
basis generally as other similarly situated exeeutifficers of the Company , in all general emppenefit plans and programs, including
improvements or modifications of the same, whichitenEffective Date or thereafter are made availélylthe Company or its affiliates to all
or substantially all of the Company'’s similarlyugited executive officers. Such benefits, pland,@ongrams may include, without limitation,
health, vision care, dental care, medical reimbues#, prescription drug, life insurance,
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disability protection, and qualified and ngnalified retirement plans. Except as specificaligvided herein, nothing in this Agreement is &
construed or interpreted to increase or alter inaay the rights, participation, coverage, or béeefnder such benefit plans or programs from
those provided to similarly situated executiveadfs pursuant to the terms and conditions of sectefit plans and programs. The Company
shall be permitted to modify such benefits fromeito time consistent with any modifications thapaut other similarly situated executive
officers of the Company .

® Fringe Benefits During the Term, Executive shall be entitledringe benefits of the kind and quality which are
provided to similarly situated executive officeffglre Company in accordance with the Company’scpediand practices as in effect from time
to time.

(9) Vacation. Executive shall be entitled to paid vacationdprto four weeks during each calendar year , ac s
vacation shall be taken in accordance with the Gomis policies and practices as in effect from timéme .

(h) Holidays. Executive shall be entitled to paid holidaysspeal days, and sick days consistent with the Goy|s
policies and practices as in effect from time toeti.

® Reimbursement of Expensed$Promptly following presentation of expense staats, receipts , vouchers, or such
other information and documentation as the Compaay reasonably require , t he Company shall reisitxecutive for all business
expenses that are reasonable and necessary aneéby Executive while performing his duties untlés Agreement.

(i) Non-exclusivity of Rights Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or lifBitecutive’s continuing or future
participation in any benefit, bonus, incentive they plan or program provided by the Company amaviich Executive may qualify, nor shall
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such tigjas Executive may have under any other agreewitmthe Company or any of its affiliated
companies . Except as otherwise provided hereiouats which are vested benefits or which Execugivaherwise entitled to receive under
any plan or program of the Company at or subsedoehie date of termination of employment shalpbgable in accordance with such plan or
program.

4. Termination of Employment .

(@) Termination by Company without CauseThe Company may terminate Executive’s employraaut this
Agreement for any reason immediately upon transinitt written notice to Executive in accordancetwiftis Agreement.

(b) Termination by Company for CauseThe Company may terminate Executive’'s employraadtthis Agreement at
any time for Cause. For purposes of this Agreanfebause ” for termination of Executive’s employment by tBempany shall be deemed to
exist if: (i) Executive is found guilty by a cowt having committed fraud , theft , embezzlementn@appropriation against the Company or
any of its affiliates and such conviction is affechon appeal or the time for appeal has expirgdEXiecutive is found guilty
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by a court of having committed a felony or any ottxéme involving moral turpitude and such conwctiis affirmed on appeal or the time for
appeal has expired; (iii) in the reasonable judgméthe Board, Executive has compromised P rogryeand Confidential | nformation (as
defined below) or has engaged in gross or willfigaonduct that causes substantial and material lathe business and operations of the
Company or any of its affiliates, in each casedtetinuation of which will continue to substantyaind materially harm the business and
operations of the Company or any of its affiliaiteshe future ; or (iv) Executive materially breashthis Agreement and fails to cure such
breach within ten (10) days of being informed aftsbreach in writing by the Company.

(c) Termination by Executive for Good Reasofxecutive may terminate his employment and Algigeement for Goo
Reason. For purposes of this Agreeme@pdd Reason ” means , without Executive’s express written caonisthe occurrence of any of the
following circumstances if Executive has given oetof the circumstances within ninety (90) daythefoccurrence and such circumstances
have not been fully corrected within thirty (30)ydaf the notice given in respect thereof: (i) amgterial adverse change in Executive’s title or
responsibilities with the Company, (ii) any matereduction in Executive’s B ase S alary, (i ir§ceipt of notice that Executive 's principal
workplace will be relocated by more than fifty ( bfhiles from the job-site immediately prior to tBéfective Date, or (iv) if a Change of
Control (as defined below) has occurred, failurprmvide for Executives participation in bonus, stock option, restricséatk, incentive awart
and other compensation plans which provide oppiiésro receive compensation that are not less tkjpthe opportunities provided by the
Company to similarly situated executive officergtod Company and (y) the opportunities under arch glans in which the Executive was
participating immediately prior to the date on whacChange of Control occurs.

(d) Termination by Executivevithout Good Reason Executive may terminate his employment and Algigeement for
reasons other than Good Reason upon transmittdlleést sixty (60) days’ written notice to the Guany in accordance with this Agreement.

(e) Disability . The Company may terminate Executive’s employraguitthis Agreement at any time Executive shall
have sustained a Disability (as defined below)etsrthined by the Board, by giving Executive writtetice of its intention to terminate
Executive’s employment, and Executive’s employnwitih the Company shall terminate effective on theetieth (90" ) day after receipt of
such notice (the Disability Effective Date”). For purposes of this AgreementDisability ” means Executive is unable due to a physical or
mental condition to perform the essential functiohkis position with or without reasonable accondtoon for a period of three
(3) consecutive months or based on the writterification of a licensed physician selected by tleail and approved by Executive (which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayreconditioned) of the likely continuation of $ucondition for such period.

(f) Death. This Agreement and Executive’s employment steathinate automatically upon Executive’s death.
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5. Obligations upon Termination . Other than as specifically set forth or referehicethis Agreement, Executive shall not be
entitled to any benefits on or after terminatioreofployment or this Agreement.

(@) Termination by Companw ithout Cause by Executive for Good Reasgor by Company for Failure to Renewlf
(i) the Company terminates Executive’'s employnwarthis Agreement without Cause during the Teri, Eixecutive terminates his
employment or this Agreement for Good Reason dutiegrerm, or (iii) Executive’s employment is tenaied upon the Company'’s election
not to renew the term for one (1) of the two (2assive one (1) year renewal terms pursuant toBez hereof, and any such termination
does not occur within two (2) years after the oceice of a Change of Control, then the Companyl,sifédr receipt of an executed release
agreement between the Company and Executive, w¥ilthonsist in substance of the language attaceeHxhibit A( the “ Release Document
") pay to Executive, and Executive shall be entitie receive, the following:

() the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary athefdate of termination of Executive’'s employmemg
rated through the date of termination, and a payrwgrany vacation Executive has accrued but nedulrough the date of termination pay:i
in accordance with Section 3(d) ;

(i) promptly following submission by Executive of supiiig documentation, any costs and expenses paid or
incurred by Executive which would have been payabiger Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had terminated ; and

(i) one ( 1) times Executive’s Base Salary (tf&Verance Payment ”) , payable within thirty (30) business
days of the date of termination of Executive’s eoyphent.

(b) Termination by the Company for Caudey Executive other than for Good Reason; or bgdtxive for Failure to
Renew. If (i) Executive’s employment is terminated foause , (ii) Executive terminates his employnahéer than for Good Reason or
(iii) Executive terminates his employment uponéilisction not to renew the term for one (1) of tlve {2) successive one (1) year renewal
terms pursuant to Section 2 hereof , then this é&ment shall terminate without further obligationystive Company to Executive under this
Agreement , and the Company shall pay Executive,Eaecutive shall be entitled to receive, the foily:

(i) the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary athefdate of termination of Executigeemployment, pr
rated through the date of termination, and a payrwgrany vacation Executive has accrued but netdulrough the date of termination pay:i
in accordance with Section 3(d) ; and

(i) promptly following submission by Executive of supiimg documentation, any costs and expenses paid o
incurred by Executive which would have been payablger Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had terminated .
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(c) Death. If Executive’s employment is terminated by reasbixecutive’s death, then this Agreement shall
terminate without further obligations by the Compam Executive’s legal representatives under tragse@ment other than those obligations
under the terms of a Company plan or program #iet effect at the date of Executive’s death , farddompany shall pay Executive’s estate,
and Executive’s estate shall be entitled to regehe following:

() the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary athefdate of termination of Executive’'s employmemg
rated through the date of termination, and a payriwgrany vacation Executive has accrued but nedulrough the date of termination pay:i
in accordance with Section 3(d); and

(i) promptly following submission by Executive ’s legapresentativesf supporting documentation, any cc
and expenses paid or incurred by Executive whichldvbhave been payable under Section 3(i) if Exe@etdiemployment had not terminated .

(d) Disability . If Executive’s employment is terminated by masf Executive’s Disability, thethis Agreement she
terminate without further obligations by the Compam Executive under this Agreement except forgdiions which expressly continue after
termination of employment due to Disability, and thompany shall pay Executive, and Executive sfea#ntitled to receive, the following:

0] the unpaid portion of Executive’'s Base Salary athefdate of termination of Executive’'s employmemg
rated through the date of termination, and a payrfeerany vacation Executive has accrued but netiuerough the date of termination payi
in accordance with Section 3(d);

(i) promptly upon submission by Executive of supportilogumentation, any costs and expenses paid or
incurred by Executive which would have been payabiger Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had terminated ; and

(iii) any d isability benefits payable in accordance i Company’s plans, programs and policies affétte
from time to time.

(e) Changeof Control. If (i) the Company terminates Executive’s eayphent or this Agreement without Cause
during the Term, (ii) Executive terminates his émgment or this Agreement for Good Reason durirggTterm, or (iii) Executive’s
employment is terminated upon the Company’s elaatiat to renew the term for one (1) of the twog@gcessive one (1) year renewal terms
pursuant to Section 2 hereof, and any such teripmatcurs within two (2) years after the occureent a Change of Control, therfter receip
of the executed Release Document :




(i) the Company shall pay to Executive, and Executihadl e entitled to receive, the following:

(A) the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary athefdate of termination of Executive’s
employment, pro rated through the date of termimatand a payment for any vacation Executive hasiad but not used through the date of
termination payable in accordance with Section 3(d)

(B) promptly following submission by Executive of supilag documentation, any costs and expenses
paid or incurred by Executive which would have bpagable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employtiead not terminated ;

(C) one and one-half ( 1.5 ) times Executive’s Basar$alpayable within thirty (30) business days
of the date of termination of Executive’s employmemd

(D) one and one-half ( 1.5 ) times the average of thieudl Bonuses paid to Executive for the three
(3) full fiscal years ending immediately prior teetdate of termination of Executive’s employmemtygble within thirty (30) business days of
the date of termination of Executive’s employmemtvided, howevethat if Executive has not been eligible to receimeAnnual Bonus for
three (3) fiscal years at the time of such deteatiam, then the average under this clause (D) &lealased on the lesser number of fiscal years
for which Executive has been eligible to receivedamual Bonus, angrovided, furthethat if Executive has received an Annual Bonusafor
portion of a fiscal year, then the amount of suetméal Bonus shall be annualized solely for purpadéke determination made under this
clause (D) (collectively, clauses (C) and (D) détBection 5(e)(i) the Change of Control Severance Payment” );

(i) if Executive (and Executive’s eligible dependatitsiely elect participation in the Company’s grougatth
insurance plan pursuant to the Consolidated Omrilugiget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amende@@BRA ") or any Colorado statute that
provides for the continuation of benefits underrsplan (“Colorado Continuation Statute "), the Company will pay the normal monthly
employer’s cost of coverage under the Company’smiteealth insurance plan for full-time employeesani such COBRA coverage or
Colorado Continuation Statute coverage for twel@) fnonths following the date of termination of Exive’'s employment . Executive
acknowledges and agrees that Executive is resgerfsibppaying the balance of any costs not paidheyCompany under this Agreement wt
are associated with Executive’s (and Executivalde dependants’) participation in the Comparteslth insurance plan and that Execusve’
failure to pay such costs may result in the tertivmeof Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dedants’) participation in such plan. The
Company'’s obligations under this Section 5(e)(iilf eease on the date on which Executive becomigghtd for health insurance coverage
under another employer’s group health insurance, giad, within five (5) business days of Executieéeoming eligible for health insurance
coverage under another employer’s group healthramse plan, Executive shall inform the Companyuafhsfact in writing; and
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(i) the Company will arrange to provide for Executiged Executive’s eligible dependants) benefits fledi
under any vision care, dental care, medical reisdment, prescription drug, life insurance and diisalprotection group insurance plans
maintained by the Company for full-time employeastivelve (12) months following the date of termioa of Executive’'s employment . If
and to the extent that the Company cannot providerage to Executive (and Executive’s eligible defants) under any such vision care,
dental care, medical reimbursement, prescriptiowg dife insurance and disability protection grangurance plang) solely due to the fact th
Executive is no longer an employee or officer & @ompany or (ii) as a result of the amendmeng¢wnination of any vision care, dental care,
medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life nagsice and disability protection group insurance plthe Company will then pay or provide
for the payment of such vision care, dental carxlioal reimbursement, prescription drug, life irswee and disability protection group
insurance plan during the twelve (12) months follaythe date of termination of Executive’'s emplanh. Executive acknowledges and
agrees that Executive is responsible for payingottiance of any costs not paid by the Company uthile Agreement which are associated
with Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible depent$dnparticipation in any vision care, dental caredical reimbursement, prescription drug,
life insurance and disability protection group irece plan and that Executive’s failure to pay stmsts may result in the termination of
Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dependangsijticipation in such plan. The Company’s obligas under this Section 5(e)(iii) will cease
on the date on which Executive becomes eligibleafor vision care, dental care, medical reimburseénpeascription drug, life insurance and
disability protection group insurance plan (butyowith respect to the particular coverage(s) atédlp and, within five (5) business days of
Executive becoming eligible for any insurance cage(s) under another employer’s group insuranag Rgecutive shall inform the Company
of such fact in writing.

For purposes of this AgreementChange of Control ” mean s any of the following: (i) the dissolutior liquidation of the Company or a
merger, consolidation, or reorganization of the @any with one (1) or more other entities in whilsh Company is not the surviving entity,
(i) a sale of substantially all of the assetshef Company to another person or entity, (i) arapsaction (including without limitation a merger
or reorganization in which the Company is the stng entity) which results in any person or enfyher than persons who are stockholde:

a ffiliates immediately prior to the transactionyrang fifty percent ( 50% ) or more of the combingating power of all classes of stock of the
Company , or (iv) during any period of two (2) nsecutive years, members who at the beginninga¥f pariod constituted the Board shall
have ceased for any reason to constitute a maghetgof, unless the election, or nomination fecgbn by the Company’s equity holders, of
each director shall have been approved by theofcdt least a majority of the directors then stilbffice and who were directors at the
beginning of such period (so long as such dirests not nominated by a person who has expressiedeam to effect a Change of Control or
engage in a proxy or other control contest).

() Resignation from Boards of Directars|f Executive is a director of the Company oy afi its affiliates and his
employment is terminated for any reason, Execughadl, if requested by the Company, immediatelygreas a director of the Company and/or
any affiliate and any committees of such boarddimactors. If such resignation is not received
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within ten ( 1 0) business days after Executivenezs written notice from the Company requestirgrésignations, Executive shall forfeit any
right to receive any payments pursuant to this Agrent.

(g9) Release Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agneent to the contrary, as a condition precedent to
receiving any Severance Payment or Change of Add¢neeranc®ayment, Executive agrees to execute (and not e\tbhk Release Documi
on or before the thirtieth (30 ) business day felfw the date of termination of Executive’s Emplaymh which is when any Severance
Payment or Change of Control Severance Paymethéswise payable in accordance with Section 5(ay(iiSection 5(e)(i)(C), respectively .
If Executive fails to execute and deliver the ReeBocument, or revokes the Release Document, Exe@grees that he shall not be entitled
to receive the Severance Payment or Change of @@ererance Payment, as applicable.

6. Limitations Under Code Section 409A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisrAgment, in the event that, as a
result of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Cold&986, as amended (th&€bde ") (and any related regulations or other pronoursets),
any of the payments that Executive is entitledridar the terms of this Agreement or any other pianlving deferred compensation (as
defined under Section 409A of the Code ) may nanbde at the time contemplated by the terms thevihbut causing Executive to be
subject to constructive receipt at a date priadwal payment and/or an income tax penalty aratést and the timing of payment is the sole
cause of such adverse tax consequences, the Comylamake such payment on the first day permigsilmhder Section 409A of the Code
without Executive incurring such adverse tax conseges. In particular, with respect to any lumm gayment otherwise required hereunder,
in the event of any delay in the payment date salt of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) and (B)(i) dfe Code , the Company will adjust the
payments to reflect the deferred payment date égiting interest thereon at the prime rate in ¢féé¢he time such amount first becomes
payable, as quoted by the Compangtincipal bank. In addition, other provisionglis Agreement or any other such plan notwithstagdhe
Company shall have no right to accelerate any pagiment or to make any such payment as the refsaityospecific event except to the extent
permitted under Section 409A of the Code . The @amy shall not be obligated to reimburse Executiveny tax penalty or interest or
provide a gross-up in connection with any tax lighbf Executive under Section 409A of the Code .

7. Excise TaxRelated Provisions.

(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to tloatrary, if any payment or benefit Executive wotddeive
from the Company pursuant to a Change of Controtloerwise (“Payment ") would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” it the meaning
of Section 280G of the Code, and (i ) but fostBection 7(a) , be subject to the excise tax i@y Section 4999 of the Code (thEXcise
ax "), then such Payment shall be equal to the RedAcedunt (as defined below). For the avoidanceaftd, a Payment shall not be
considered a parachute payment for purposes opénegraph if such Payment is approved by the bbltters of the Company in accordance
with the procedures set forth in Section 280G (§/X)i) and (B) of the Code and the regulationsréhender, and at the time of such
shareholder approval, no stock of the successpocation is readily tradable on an established
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securities market or otherwise (within the mearah&ection 280G(b)(5)(A)(ii)(1) of the Code). ThdReduced Amount ” shall be either

(x) the largest portion of the Payment that waelsllt in no portion of the Payment being subjedhe Excise Tax, or (y ) the Payment or a
portion thereof after payment of the applicableiExd ax, whichever amount after taking into accalhapplicable federal, state and local
employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excisep@gable by Executive (all computed at the highpptieable marginal rate), results in
Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, ofgheatest amount of the Payment to Executive .réfdaiction in payments or benefits
constituting “parachute payments” is necessarhabthe Payment equals the Reduced Amount, redustiall occur in the following order
unless Executive elects in writing a different arflprovided, howeverthat such election shall be subject to Compamyaal if made on or
after the date on which the event that triggersPthgment occurs): by first reducing or eliminatthg portion of the Payments which are not
payable in cash and then by reducing or eliminatggh payments, in each case in reverse orderrbiegiwith payments or benefits which are
to be paid the farthest in time from the Chang€afitrol or other event .

(b) All determinations under this Section 7 shall keden by a nationally recognized public accountingarsulting
firm selected by the Company and subject to theaab of Executive, which approval shall not beaasonably withheld , conditioned or
delayed . Such determination shall be binding upeacutive and the Company. The Company shall dléaxpenses with respect to the
determinations by such accounting or consulting fiequired to be made hereunder.

(c) The accounting or consulting firm engaged to méleedeterminations hereunder shall provide its ¢afimns,
together with detailed supporting documentatiortheoCompany and Executive within fifteen (15) oaler days after the date on which
Executive ’s right to a Payment is triggered (diwested at that time by the Company or Executimeslch other time as requested by the
Company or Executive .

8. Ownership and Protection of Intellectual Property and Confidential Information .

(@) All information, ideas, concepts, improvementscdigeries, and inventions, whether patentable grwloich are
conceived, made, developed or acquired by Executidévidually or in conjunction with others, dugrExecutive’s employment by the
Company or any of its affiliates (whether duringsimess hours or otherwise and whether on the Coynpg@nemises or otherwise) which rel
to the business, products or services of the Cognpaits affiliates (including, without limitatiorgll such information relating to corporate
opportunities ; geological, metallurgical, and otteechnical data and information, including operasi, reserve information and exploration
data; research, financial and sales data ; prighthtrading terms ; evaluations ; opinions ; intetgtions ; acquisition prospects ; the identity of
customers or their requirements ; the identityeyf kontacts within the customer’s organizationwidhin the organization of acquisition
prospects or marketing and merchandising techniques, prosgenaimes, and marks), and all correspondence, maera, notes, records, d
or information, analyses, or other documents (idiclg, without limitation, any computer-generategimputer-stored or electronically-stored
materials) of any type embodying any of
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such items, shall be the sole and exclusive prpmérthe Company or its affiliates, as the case bay

(b) Executive acknowledges that the Compariyisiness is highly competitive and that the Comipeas developed ai
owns valuable information which is confidentialjqure and specific to the Company and its affiligteBroprietary and Confidential
Information ") and which includes, without limitation, finantiaformation;geological, metallurgical, and other technical datd informatior
including operations, reserve information and esqtion data; marketing plans; business and impléatien plans; engineering plans and
processes; models and templates; prospect listmitzal information concerning products, servicesd processes; names and other information
(such as credit and financial data) concerningarusts and business affiliates; and other tradeetearoncepts, ideas, plans, strategies,
analyses, surveys and proprietary information eelad the past, present or anticipated businesedfompany and its affiliates. Executive
further acknowledges that protection of such Pegpriy and Confidential Information against unauttest disclosure and use is of critical
importance to the Company and its affiliates inmteining their competitive position. Executive élgy agrees that he shall not, at any time
during or after his employment by the Company, ldise to others, permit to be disclosed, use, pamiie used, copy or permit to be copied,
any such Proprietary and Confidential Informatiasméther or not developed by Executive and wheth@obreceived as an employee) with
the prior written consent of the Chief Executivdi€sr of the Company. Executive further agreesmtntain in confidence any proprietary and
confidential information of third parties receivedof which he has knowledge as a result of hisleympent. The prohibitions of this Section
8(b) shall not apply, however, to information lire tpublic domain (but only if the same becomes giitie public domain through means other
than a disclosure prohibited hereunder). The aboweithstanding, a disclosure shall not be unaugkd if (i) it is required by law or by a
court of competent jurisdiction or (ii) it is in mnection with any judicial, arbitration, disputesodution or other legal proceeding in which
Executive’s legal rights and obligations as an eygé or under this Agreement are at isfueyided, however, that Executive shall, to the
extent practicable and lawful in any such eventss grior notice to the Company of his intent tealose any such Proprietary and Confidential
Information in such context so as to allow the Campor its affiliates an opportunity (which Exematishall not oppose) to obtain such
protective orders or similar relief with respeatisto as may be deemed appropriate.

(c) All written materials, records, data and informatianalyses, and other documents (including, withimitation, any
computer-generated, computer-stored or electrdpistdred data and other materials), and all cofiieseof, made, composed or received by
Executive solely or jointly with others, and whiate in Executive’s possession, custody or contrdhwhich are related in any manner to the
past, present or anticipated business of the Coynpiaany of its affiliates (collectively, theCompany Documents”) shall be a nd remain the
property of the Company, or its affiliates, as thse may be. Upon termination of Executive’s egmplent with the Company, for any reason,
Executive promptly shall deliver the Company Docutseand all copies thereof, to the Company.

11
9. Covenant Not t€ompete and Other Restrictive Covenants
(@) For a period of twelve (12) monthteathe date of termination of employment, Exeaihall restrict his activities
as follows :
0] Executive shall not, directly or inectly, for himself or others, own, manage, operabntrol, be employe

by (whether in an executive, managerial , superyiso other capacity ) , consult with, assist drestvise engage or participate in or allow his
skill, knowledge, experience or reputation to bedus connection with, the ownership, managemegsration or control of, any company or
other business enterprise engaged in the Subjesih&ss (as defined below) within any of the Subjeetas (as defined belowprovided,
however, that nothing contained herein shall prohibit Exee from making passive investments as long ahtive does not beneficially

own more than one percent ( 1 %) of the equityréttis of a business enterprise listed on a natgew@lrities exchange or publicly traded on a
nationally recognized over-the-counter market eleddg the Subject Business within any of the Subdgeas. For purposes of this paragraph,
“beneficially own” shall have the same meaning &t to that term in Rule 13d-3 under the Secwiigchange Act of 1934, as amended ;

(i) Executive shall not call upon anystamer of the Company or its affiliates for thegmse of soliciting,
diverting or enticing away the business of suclsperr entity, or otherwise disrupting any previguestablished relationship existing between
such person or entity and the Company or its afék;

(iii) Executive shall not solicit, induciefluence or attempt to influence any suppliesstar, lessee, licensor,
partner, joint venturer, potential acquiree or ather person who has a business relationship WétCompany or its affiliates, or who on the
date of termination of Executive’s employment ig&ged in discussions or negotiations to enterarttasiness relationship with the Company
or its affiliates, to discontinue or reduce or lirtie extent of such relationship wit h the Companits affiliates; and

(iv) Without the consent of the Companyeé€itive shall not make contact with any of the kEyges or
consultants of the Company or its affiliates withom he had contact during the course of his empémyrwith the Company for the purpose
soliciting such employee or consultant for hire gt¥ter as an employee or independent contractatherwise disrupting such employee’s or
consultant’s relationship with the Company or ifdiates .

For purpose of this Agreement, (xplibject Areas” mean ( A ') the continents of North America, Cahtand South America, Africa, Europe
and Australia and ( B ) the nation of Russia , @)d Subject Business” means the business of creating, financing, ouatw and managing
royalties involving mineral properties.

(b) Acknowledgemesst.




() Executive acknowledges that (x) tloenpensation provided to Executive during the Tdynthe
agreement to provide the Severance Payment or @hargontrol Severance Payment to Executive in eotion with certain terminations of
Executive’'s
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employment , and (z) the specialized training dredRroprietary and Confidential Information prowdde Executive pursuant to his
employment with the Company give rise to the Congfsaimterest in restraining Executive from compgtimith the Company, that the
noncompetition and nonsolicitation covenants amgied to enforce such consideration , that the @2my's royalty business is worldwide in
geographic scopand that any limitations as to time, geographigscand scope of activity to be restrained as défirezein are reasonable ¢
do not impose a greater restraint than is necessgmotect the goodwill or other business intecdshe Company. Executive further
acknowledges that as an executive of a publiclyetlacompany he falls within the exception to C.&%113(2)(d), which exempts executive
and management personnel , officers and employkesonstitute professional staff to executive arshagement personnel from the
prohibitions of non-compete provisions under Catioréaw .

(i) Executive and the Company herebyeago reasonably allocate an amount of the ChahGerrol
Severance Payment to the non-competition covemarfiorh in this Section 9, which amount will beadgished by the parties in good faith
negotiations, relying upon third party advisershte extent reasonably determined by the partigbedime a C hange of C ontrol transaction is
reasonably likely or at such earlier time as igdatned by the parties in good faith.

(c) Survival of CovenantsSections 8 and 9 shall survive the expiratioteamination of this Agreement for any
reason. Executive agrees not to challenge the egdbility or scope of Sections 8 and 9. Executivther agrees to notify all future persons or
businesses with which he becomes affiliated or eyga, of the restrictions set forth in Sections8 8, prior to the commencement of any
such affiliation or employment.

10. Severability and Reformation If any one or more of the terms, provisions, c@rgs or restrictions of this Agreement
shall be determined by a court of competent jucisoln to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the aémder of the terms, provisions, covenants
and restrictions shall remain in full force andeeff and the invalid, void or unenforceable pransishall be deemed severable. Moreover, if
any one or more of the provisions contained in #gseement shall for any reason be held to be exoely broad as to duration, geographical
scope, activity or subject, it shall be reformedilmjiting and reducing it to the minimum extent eesary, so as to be enforceable to the extent
compatible with the applicable law as it shall tlagapear.

11. Indemnification. The Company and Executive have executed and dethen Indemnification Agreement dated March 24,
2009 (the “Indemnification Agreement ") . To the extent any provision set forth in theemnification Agreement is in conflict with any
provision set forth in this Agreement, the provisiet forth in the Indemnification Agreement slgaiVern. Further, Executive shall be entitled
to coverage under the Directors and Officers Ligbihsurance program to the same extent as othslasly situated executive officers of the
Company .

12. Miscellaneous

(@) Entire AgreemeniThis Agreement sets forth the entire agreement
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between the parties hereto and fully supersedesiahall prior agreements or understandings, wribieoral, between the parties hereto
pertaining to the subject matter hereof.

(b) Notices Whenever under this Agreement it becomes negessgive notice, such notice shall be in writing,
signed by the party or parties giving or making$hene, and shall be served on the person or peimowhom it is intended or who should be
advised or notified, by (i) personal delivery, (fFederal Express or other similar overnight serac(iii) certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressedtigarty at the address set forth below orelt sther address as may be designated by
such party by like notice:

If to the Company:

Royal Gold, Inc.

1660 Wynkoop Street, Suite 1000
Denver, C O 80202

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

If to Executive:

William M. Zisch
4987 Hollyhock Lane
Indian Hills, CO 80454

In the case of personal delivery, such notice eicadshall be effective on the date of deliverythia case of Federal Express or other similar
overnight service, such notice or advice shallffectve on the next business day , and, in thesa$ certified or registered mail, such notice
or advice shall be effective three (3) businessadier deposit into the mails for delivery by thé. Post Office.

(c) Governing Law and VenueThis Agreement is governed by and is to be coadf administered, and enforced in
accordance with the laws of the State of Coloradthout regard to conflicts of law principles. uhder the governing law, any portion of this
Agreement is at any time deemed to be in conflitt &ny applicable statute, rule, regulation, oagice, or other principle of law, such portion
shall be deemed to be modified or altered to thiergxnecessary to conform thereto or, if that ispussible, to be omitted from this
Agreement. Any action or arbitration in regardhis Agreement or arising out of its terms and é¢tmals, pursuant to Sections 12( n) and 12
(0), shall be instituted and litigated only iret@ity and County of Denver, Colorado.

(d) Assignment This Agreement and Executive’s rights and ailigns hereunder may not be assigned by Executive.
Any purported assignment or delegation by Executivéolation of the foregoing shall be null amdid ab initioand of no force and effect.
The C ompany may assign this Agreement and itdgigbgether with its obligations hereunder, taffitiate of the Company or to a person
entity which is a successor in interest to

14




substantially all of the business operations ofGh@mpany. Upon such assignment, the rights atidadgions of the Company hereunder shall
become the rights and obligations of such affilisdaccessor , person or entity.

(e) CounterpartsThis Agreement may be executed in counterpeatsh of which shall take effect as an original, and
all of which shall evidence one and the same Agegm

® AmendmentThis Agreement may be amended only in writingneijby Executive and by a duly authorized
representative of the Company (other than Executive

(9) Construction The headings and captions of this Agreemenpareided for convenience only and are intended to
have no effect in construing or interpreting thigréement. The language in all parts of this Agregrakall be in all cases construed in
accordance to its fair meaning and not strictlydoagainst the Company or Executive.

(h) NorWaiver. The failure by either party to insist upon tlefprmance of any one or more terms, covenants or
conditions of this Agreement shall not be constrag@ waiver or relinquishment of any right grartieceunder or of any future performanci
any such term, covenant or condition, and the akibg of either party with respect hereto shalltgare in full force and effect, unless such
waiver shall be in writing signed by the Companthés than by Executive) and Executive.

0] Use of Name, Likeness and Biograplithe Company shall have the right (but not thiggakion) to use, publish
and broadcast, and to authorize others to do emdme, approved likeness and approved biographiatdrial of Executive to advertise,
publicize and promote the business of Company @naffiliates, but not for the purposes of direatlersement without Executive’s consent.
This right shall terminate upon the terminatiortto§ Agreement. An “approved likeness” and “apgabiographical material” shall be,
respectively, any photograph or other depictioExécutive, or any biographical information or Igf®ry concerning the professional career of
Executive, as approved by Executive from time roeti

Right to Insure The Company shall have the right to securetsiown name or otherwise, and at its own expense,
life, health, accident or other insurance covetixgcutive, and Executive shall have no right, tifénterest in and to such insurance.
Executive shall assist Company in procuring sushiiance by submitting to reasonable examinatiodsgrsigning such applications and
other reasonable instruments as may be requiréldebypsurance carriers to which application is mfatdeny such insurance.

(k) Assistance in Litigation Executive shall reasonably cooperate with then@@any in the defense or prosecution of
any claims or actions now in existence or that tmayprought in the future against or on behalf ef@ompany that relate to events or
occurrences that transpired while Executive wasleyeg by the Company. Executive’s cooperationdnreection with such claims or actions
shall include, but not be limited to, being avaléato meet with counsel to prepare for discoverjriat and to act as a witness on behalf of the
Company at mutually convenient times. Executiw® ahall cooperate fully with the Company
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in connection with any investigation or review bydederal, state, or local regulatory authorityaag such investigation or review relates to
events or occurrences that transpired while Exeewtias employed by the Company. The Company phglExecutive a reasonable hourly
rate for Executive’s cooperation pursuant to thast®n 12( k ).

)] No Inconsistent Obligationg&xecutive represents and warrants that to hisvledge he has no obligations, legal
contract, or otherwise, inconsistent with the teahthis Agreement or with his continued employmeith the Company to perform the duties
described herein. Executive shall not disclosthéoCompany, or use, or induce the Company toarseconfidential, proprietary, or trade
secret information of others. Executive represantswarrants that to his knowledge he has retuafig@toperty and confidential information
belonging to all prior employers, if he is obligat® do so.

(m) Binding Agreement This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of &edinding upon Executive, his heirs and
personal representatives, and the Company anddtessors.

(n) Remedies The parties recognize and affirm that in thentéwd a breach of Sections 8 and 9 of this Agregmen
money damages would be inadequate and the Compaung wot have an adequate remedy at law. Accolgitite parties agree that in the
event of a breach or a threatened breach of Seddi@md 9, the Company may, in addition and supghtany to other rights and remedies
existing in its favor, apply to any court of lawexjuity of competent jurisdiction for specific parhance and/or injunctive or other relief in
order to enforce or prevent any violations of thevgsions hereof (without posting a bond or otherwsity). In addition, Executive agrees that
in the event a court of competent jurisdiction praabitrator finds that Executive violated Sect#yrihe time periods set forth in Section 9 shall
be tolled until such breach or violation has beared. Executive further agrees that the Compaalif bhve the right to offset the amount of
any damages awarded to the Company resulting froreach by Executive of Sections 8 or 9 againstpayynents due Executive under this
Agreement.

(0) Arbitration Other than as stated in Section 12( n ), thégsaagree that any controversy or claim arisingobwr
relating to this Agreement, or the breach thersloéll be resolved by arbitration in accordance wWithEmployment Dispute Resolution
Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Tdwbitration shall take place in Denver , Coloraddl. disputes shall be resolved by one
(1) arbitrator chosen by agreement of the partiectordance with the National Rules for the Regwiwf Employment Disputes. The
arbitrator shall have the authority to award thesaemedies, damages, and costs that a court amaldl. The arbitrator shall issue a reasc
award explaining the decision, the reasons fod#wsion, and any damages awarded. The arbitsadecision shall be final and binding. The
judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator bgeentered in any court having jurisdiction tloéreThe arbitration proceedings, a
record of the same, and the award shall be corideroprietary and Confidential Information undes tAgreement. This provision and any
decision and award hereunder can be enforced tnelérederal Arbitration Act.

(P) Voluntary AgreementEach party to this Agreement has read and fully
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understands the terms and provisions hereof, lhamapportunity to review this Agreement with legaunsel, has executed this Agreement
based upon such party’s own judgment and advicewfsel (if any), and knowingly, voluntarily, andhwout duress, agrees to all of the terms
set forth in this Agreement. The parties haveigp#ted jointly in the negotiation and draftingtbfs Agreement. If an ambiguity or question
of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreemsmll be construed as if drafted jointly by thetigarand no presumption or burden of proof ¢
arise favoring or disfavoring any party becausauwhorship of any provision of this Agreement. &picas expressly set forth in this
Agreement, neither the parties nor their affiliatdvisors and/or their attorneys have made amgseptation or warranty, express or implied,
at law or in equity with respect to the subjectteratontained herein. Without limiting the gengyabf the previous sentence, the Compatsy,
affiliates, advisors, and/or attorneys have madeepoesentation or warranty to Executive concerttiggstate or federal tax consequences to
Executive regarding the transactions contemplayetthils Agreement , other than any determination thay be made pursuant to Section 7(b) .

(@) Jury Trial Waiver THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY JDICIAL PROCEEDING TO
WHICH THEY ARE PARTIES INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY MATTER IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF,
RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT.

(r) Survival The rights and obligations of the Company arddative contained in Sections 8 , 9 and 12(sphisf
Agreement shall survive the termination of the Agnent. Following termination of Executive’s empiognt and this Agreement, each party
shall have the right to enforce all rights, andldbe& bound by all obligations, of such party thed continuing rights and obligations under this
Agreement.

(s) Nordisparagement Executive shall not make any disparaging, damrgar detrimental comments about the
Company or any of its a ffiliate s or any of thdirectors, officers, employees, partners, membeasiagers or shareholders, or any investor or
other person or entity having a business relatipnsith the Company or any of its a ffiliates. e&f@ompany, each of its affiliates and the
directors and officers of the Company and its iafils shall not make any disparaging, derogatodetimental comments about Executive .

(t) Certain Definitions For purposes of this Agreement:

0] an “affiliate” of any person meanso¢her person that directly or indirectly, throumie or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or ilar common control with, such first person, arallides subsidiaries;

(i) a “business dayheans the period from 9:00 am to 5:00 pm on anykdeethat is not a banking holiday
the State of Colorado; and

(iii) a “subsidiary” of any person meamther person, an amount of the voting securitiger voting
ownership or voting partnership interests of whgchufficient to elect at least a majority of iand of directors or other governing body (or, if
there are no
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such voting interests or no board of directorstbengoverning body, fifty percent (50%) or moretloé equity interests of which) is owned
directly or indirectly by such first person.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Executive hewecuted this Agreement, effective as of the dalyyaar first above

written.
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.

By: /s] Tony Jense

Name: Tony Jensel
Title:  President and CE!

/s/ William M. Zisch

William M. Zisch




EXHIBIT A
RELEASE

For and in consideration of the payments and dibaefits due to William M. Zisch (theExecutive ") pursuant to the Employment
Agreement dated as of March 26, 2009 (ttariployment Agreement "), by and between Royal Gold, Inc., a Delawargooation (the “
Company ") and Executive, and for other good and valualblesideration, Executive hereby agrees, for Exeeytixecutives spouse and chi
or children (if any), Executive’s heirs, benefiiés, devisees, executors, administrators, attormpeyrsonal representatives, successors and
assigns, to forever release, discharge and coveatd sue the Company, or any of its divisiofifli@es, subsidiaries, parents, branches,
predecessors, successors, assigns, and, with régpeich entities, their officers, directors, tegs, employees, agents, shareholders,
administrators, general or limited partners, repnégtives, attorneys, insurers and fiduciariest, pessent and future (theReleased Parties ™)
from any and all claims of any kind arising out af related to, his employment with the Comparsyaifiliates and subsidiaries (collectively,
with the Company, the Affiliated Entities”) or Executive’s separation from employment witke tAffiliated Entities, which Executive now has
or may have against the Released Parties, whettogvrkor unknown to Executive, by reason of fact&ciinave occurred on or prior to the
date that Executive has signed this Release. fleased claims include, without limitation, anylail claims relating to the foregoing under
federal, state or local laws pertaining to emplogtnancluding, without limitation, the Age Discrimation in Employment Act, Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C.ti8ac2000e et. seq., the Fair Labor Standardsascgmended, 29 U.S.C. Section 201 et.
seq., the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amehdi2 U.S.C. Section 12101 et. seq. , the Reeangtn Era Civil Rights Act, as amended,
42 U.S.C. Section 1981 et. seq., the Rehabilitaticinof 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 704eet., the Family and Medical Leave Act
of 1992, 29 U.S.C. Section 2601 et. seq., the OMerkers Benefit Protection Act of 1990, the PraggyaDiscrimination Act, the Equal Pay
Act of 1963, the Colorado Civil Rights Act, the Grdo Anti-Discrimination Act and any and all statdocal laws regarding employment
discrimination and/or federal, state or local lasfgny type or description regarding employmentluding but not limited to any claims aris|
from or derivative of Executive’s employment witbr,termination from, the Affiliated Entities, agivas any and all such claims under
contract or tort law , including, without limitatipany and all claims for wrongful discharge, breatimplied or express contract, promissory
estoppel, breach of any covenant of good faithfaimdlealing, intentional or negligent inflictiori emotional distress, defamation, or any claim
that the Company has dealt with Executive unfairlyn bad faith. Executive represents and warrtrdshe has not sold or otherwise assigned
any claim or any portion of any claim to any thiakty.

Executive has read this Release carefully, ackrigds that Executive has been given at least twemty(21) days to consider all of
its terms and has been advised to consult withttamay and any other advisors of Executive’s cagidor to executing this Release .
Executive fully understands that by signing beloxeé&utive is voluntarily giving up any right whiclxécutive may have to sue or bring any
claims against the Released Parties, includingigins and claims under the Age Discrimination mftoyment Act. Executive also
understands that




Executive has a period of seven (7) days afterisigtiis Release within which to revoke his agreeifiy written notice delivered to the
Company in accordance with the Employment Agreemantl that neither the Company nor any other peissobligated to make any
payments or provide any other benefits to Execyiiwesuant to the Employment Agreement until ei@htdays have passed since Executive’s
signing of this Release without Executive’s signatiiaving been revoked , other than any accruadailins or other benefits payable
pursuant to the terms of the Company’s normal ghgractices or employee benefit plans. FinallyeEutive has not been forced or pressured
in any manner whatsoever to sign this ReleaseEaBadutive agrees to all of its terms voluntarily.

Notwithstanding anything else herein to the comtriris Release shall not affect: (i) the Comparmpigations under any
compensation or employee benefit plan, progranrrangement (including, without limitation, obligatis to Executive under the Employment
Agreement, any stock option, stock award or agregsnar obligations under any pension, deferred @mation or retention plan) provided
the Affiliated Entities where Executive’s competigator benefits are intended to continue or Exeevis to be provided with compensation or
benefits, in accordance with the express writtemseof such plan, program or arrangement, beyoadiéite of Executive’s termination;

(ii) rights to indemnification Executive may haveder the Employment Agreement or a separate agréeneered into with the Company; or
(iii) rights Executive may have as a shareholder.

Executive agrees that Executive shall not makedisparaging, derogatory or detrimental commentsiattie Company or any of the
Affiliated Entities or any of their directors, aférs, employees, partners, members, managersrehstaers, or any investor or other person or
entity having a business relationship with the Camypor any of the Affiliated Entities. Executivis@acknowledges that the terms of this
Release constitute Proprietary and Confidentiairimfation (as defined in the Employment Agreement).

This Release is final and binding and may not engkd or modified except in a writing signed byhbparties. This Release is
governed by and is to be construed, administeratieaforced in accordance with the laws of theest&Colorado, without regard to conflicts
of law principles.

William M. Zisch
ROYAL GOLD, INC.
By:

Name:
Title:




QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this dioant

Royal Gold, Inc. and its Subsidiaries

As of June 30, 2011

State/Country of

Name Incorporation Ownership Percentage
Royal Gold, Inc. Delaware, US/
Battle Mountain Gold Exploration LL! Nevada, US/ 100%
*7550359 Canada Inc Canade 100%
Denver Mining Finance Company, In Colorado, USA 100%
Crescent Valley Partners | Colorado, USA Limited Partne!
Greek American Exploration Ltc Bulgaria 50%
High Desert Mineral Resources, In Delaware, USA 100%
DFH Co. of Nevadi Nevada, US/ 100%
Gold Ventures, Inc. Nevada, US/ 100%
IRC Nevada Inc. Nevada, US/ 100%
RG Finance (Barbados) Limite Barbados 100%
RG Mexico, Inc. Delaware, US/ 100%
RG Russia, Inc. Delaware, US/ 100%
*RGLD Gold, Canada, Inc Canadz 100%
RGLD Holdings, LLC Delaware, USA 100%
RG Callco Inc. Ontario, Canad 100%
RG Exchangeco Inc Ontario, Canad 100%
International Royalty Corporatic Canadz 100%
Archean Resources Lt Newfoundland, Canac 100%
**\/oisey's Bay Holding Corporatio Newfoundland, Canac 100%
Canadian Minerals Partnerst Ontario, Canad 99.99%
Labrador Nickel Royalty Limite:
Partnershiy Ontario, Canad 89.90%
McWatters Mining Inc. Quebec, Canac 100% common share
4324421 Canada Inc Canad: 100%
4495152 Canada Inc Canade 100%
Royal Camp Bird, Inc. Colorado, USA 100%
Royal Crescent Valley, Inc Nevada, US/ 100%
Royal Gold Chile Limitad: Chile 100%
Sofia Minerals Ltd. Bulgaria 25%
* Amalgamated into RG Exchangeco Inc. on June 301201

EXHIBIT 21.1

i Amalgamated into Archean Resources Ltd. which sylpsatly changed its name to Voisey's Bay Holdingp@mation on

June 30, 2011
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statements on Form S-3 (188-156376 and No. 333-164975), Form S-4
(No. 333-111590) and on Form S-8 (No. 333-1228%,383-155384, and No. 333-171364) of our repaatedl August 18, 2011, with respect
to the consolidated financial statements of RoyadGInc., and the effectiveness of internal canreer financial reporting of Royal Gold, In
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for thear ended June 30, 2011.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
August 18, 2011
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EXHIBIT 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgnence in the Registration Statements on Forn{l{$63333-156376 and No. 333-164975),
Form S-4 (No. 333-111590) and on Form S-8 (No. 322877, No. 333-155384 and No. 333-171364) of R@@dl, Inc. of our report dated
August 26, 2010, except for Note 3, as to whichdhte is August 18, 2011, relating to the constdiddinancial statements, which appears in
this Form 10-K.

[/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Denver, Colorado

August 18, 2011
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EXHIBIT 31.1

I, Tony Jensen, certify that:

(1)
(@)

3)

(4)

(5)

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KRafyal Gold, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repéairly present in all materiz
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the registramd dave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedureaused such disclosure controls and procedutes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finahetgorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repogdiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslasire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyreddis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regiisanternal control over financial reporting tleaturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

The registrant's other certifying officer and lybalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiorieynal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataummmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; ar

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

August 18, 2011

/s/ TONY JENSEN

Tony Jensen
President and Chief Executive Offic




QuickLinks

EXHIBIT 31.1



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this dioant

EXHIBIT 31.2
I, Stefan Wenger, certify that:

(1) | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KRefyal Gold, Inc.;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this rep&airly present in all materit
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

(4)  The registrant's other certifying officer and | asponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the registramd dave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedureaused such disclosure controls and procedutes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finahetgorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repogdiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantelasire controls and procedures and presentedonmaiusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigisanternal control over financial reporting tleaturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigibal quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

(5)  The registrant's other certifying officer and Ivbalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiorieynal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; ar

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

August 18, 2011

/s/ STEFAN WENGEF

Stefan Wenger
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurt
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EXHIBIT 32.1

In connection with the Annual Report onfdt0-K of Royal Gold, Inc. (the "Company"), for tilear ending June 30, 2011, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelgatof (the "Report"), |, Tony Jensen, Presidedt@hief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section012& adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 that, to my
knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeok1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly grets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
the Company.

August 18, 2011

/sl TONY JENSEN

Tony Jensen
President and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 32.2

In connection with the Annual Report onfdt0-K of Royal Gold, Inc. (the "Company"), for tilear ending June 30, 2011, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on theldatof (the "Report"), |, Stefan Wenger, Chief Ficial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedignt$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 622Mat, to my knowledge:

(D) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
the Company.

August 18, 2011

/s/ STEFAN WENGEF

Stefan Wenger
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurt
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